
Members of Council

Department of Corporate Resources

Committee Secretariat
Legal and Democratic Services
Room 112, 1st Floor
City Hall
Bradford
West Yorkshire
BD1 1HY

Tel: 01274 432435
Contact: Adrian Tumber
Email: adrian.tumber@bradford.gov.uk
Your Ref: AT/Council

Date: 10 February 2021

Dear Councillor

BUDGET MEETING OF COUNCIL – THURSDAY, 18 FEBRUARY 2021

You are requested to attend the meeting of the Budget meeting of  Council to be held 
remotely on Thursday, 18 February 2021 at 4.00 pm.

The agenda for the meeting is set out overleaf.
 
Yours sincerely

Parveen Akhtar
City Solicitor

Notes:

 This agenda can be made available in Braille, large print or tape format.  
 
 The taking of photographs, filming and sound recording of the meeting is allowed 

except if Councillors vote to exclude the public to discuss confidential matters covered 
by Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. Recording activity should be 
respectful to the conduct of the meeting and behaviour that disrupts the meeting (such 
as oral commentary) will not be permitted. Anyone attending the meeting who wishes 
to record or film the meeting's proceedings is advised to liaise with the Agenda 
Contact who will provide guidance and ensure that any necessary arrangements are in 
place. Those present at the meeting should be aware that they may be filmed or sound 
recorded.

Public Document Pack



The Council's Fire Bell and Evacuation Procedure requires people to leave the building in an 
orderly fashion by the nearest exit, should the fire alarm sound.  No one will be allowed to 
stay or return until the building has been checked.

Members are reminded that under the Members’ Code of Conduct, they must register 
within 28 days any changes to their financial and other interests and notify the 
Monitoring Officer of any gift or hospitality received.  

AGENDA
A. PROCEDURAL ITEMS

1.  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 

(Members Code of Conduct - Part 4A of the Constitution)

To receive disclosures of interests from members and co-opted 
members on matters to be considered at the meeting. The disclosure 
must include the nature of the interest.

An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it becomes 
apparent to the member during the meeting.

Notes:

(1) In relation to Agenda Item 7A to approve the following 
recommendations contained in the report of the Monitoring 
Officer (Document “D”) to grant a dispensation to all Members 
who have certain Disclosable Pecuniary Interests listed in 
Appendix A to the report, as defined in the Relevant Authorities 
(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, in the 
decision to approve the budget and to set the level of Council 
Tax and Business Rates for 2021/22 and 2022/23 during the 
Budget Council meetings on 18 February 2021 and 17 February 
2022.

That Council:

(1) Grants a dispensation to the Members of the 
Authority who have requested one, to enable them to 
participate in full in the decision to approve the 
budgets for 2021/22 and 2022/23 and to set the 
Council Tax and Business Rates for 2021/22 and 
2022/23.

(2) Approves the dispensation for a period of two years 
until 18 February 2022.

(3) Notes Members’ personal interests and the 
Monitoring Officer’s advice that personal interests 
that may give rise to a perception of a conflict of 



interest shall not prevent Members from speaking 
and voting at the Budget meetings.

(2) Members may remain in the meeting and take part fully in 
discussion and voting unless the interest is a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or an interest which the Member feels would 
call into question their compliance with the wider principles set 
out in the Code of Conduct.  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
relate to the Member concerned or their spouse/partner.

(3) Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months 
must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget 
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this 
restriction applies to them.  A failure to comply with these 
requirements is a criminal offence under section 106 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.  

(4) Members are also welcome to disclose interests which are not 
disclosable pecuniary interests but which they consider should 
be made in the interest of clarity.

(5) Officers must disclose interests in accordance with Council 
Standing Order 44.

2.  MINUTES 

Recommended –

That the minutes of the meeting held on 8 December 2020 be 
signed as a correct record (previously circulated).

(Adrian Tumber – 01274 432435)

3.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

4.  WRITTEN ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE LORD MAYOR 
(Standing Order 4) 

(To be circulated before the meeting).

5.  INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS 

(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution)

Reports and background papers for agenda items may be inspected by 
contacting the person shown after each agenda item.  Certain reports 
and background papers may be restricted.  

Any request to remove the restriction on a report or background paper 
should be made to the relevant Strategic Director or Assistant Director 
whose name is shown on the front page of the report.  



If that request is refused, there is a right of appeal to this meeting.  

Please contact the officer shown below in advance of the meeting if 
you wish to appeal.  

(Adrian Tumber - 01274 432435)

B. BUSINESS ITEMS

6.  MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES AND JOINT COMMITTEES 
(Standing Order 4) 

To consider any motions (i) to appoint members to a Committee or a 
Joint Committee; or (ii) to appoint Chairs or Deputy Chairs of Committees 
(excluding Area Committees).  

7.  RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE EXECUTIVE AND COMMITTEES 
(Standing Order 15) 

7.1  RECOMMENDATION FROM THE EXECUTIVE - BUDGET 2021/22 
The Executive at its meeting on 16 February 2021 will make 
recommendations to Council on the Budget for 2021/22.

The following reports are submitted:

(i) The Council’s Revenue Estimates for 2021/22

The report of the Director of Finance provides details of the Council’s 
Revenue Estimates for 2021/22 (Executive Document “DL”). This 
report may require updating following the meeting of the Executive on 
16 February 2021.

(Andrew Cross – 07870386523)

(ii) The Council’s Capital Investment Plan for 2021/22 to 2024/25

The report of the Director of Finance proposes the Capital Investment 
Plan for 2021/22 to 2024/25 and a Capital Strategy and Investment 
Strategy for 2021/22 (Executive Document DG”). This report may 
require updating following the meeting of the Executive on 16 February 
2021.

(Chris Chapman – 01274 433656)

(iii) Allocation of the Schools’ Budget 2021/22 Financial Year

The report of the Director of Finance seeks approval of the 
recommendations of Bradford’s Schools Forum in allocating the 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) for 2021/22 (Executive Document 
“DH”).

1 - 204



(Andrew Redding – 01274 432678)

(iv) 2021/22 Budget Proposals and Forecast Reserves – Section 
151 Officer Assessment

The report of the Director of Finance (Executive Document “DI”) sets 
out the S151 Officer’s assessment of the proposed budget for the 
financial year 2021/22, the adequacy of the forecast level of reserves 
and associated risks. The assessment of the Executive’s 
recommendations to Council on the budget may require updating 
following the meeting of the Executive on 16 February 2021.

                                                      (Chris Chapman – 01274 433656)

(v) Budget Update 2021/22

The report of the Director of Finance (Executive Document “DE”) 
presented to the Executive on 2 February 2021 provides an update on 
national announcements and local decisions. It also identifies issues 
and uncertainties which could still have a bearing on the final size of 
the budget for 2021/22 and future financial years. 

In accordance with Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, Council 
needs to have regard to the information contained in Appendix B to 
Executive Document “DE” and the Annex to Appendix B together with 
the equality assessments when considering the Executive’s 
recommendations on the budget proposals for 2021/22.

                                                       (Andrew Cross – 07870386523)

Note
In view of the short timescale between the Executive on 16 
February and the meeting of Council on 18 February the budget 
recommendations from the Executive to Council will be e-mailed 
to all Members of Council following the Executive on 16 February 
and will be published on the Council’s website at 
www.bradford.gov.uk . 

8.  PAY POLICY STATEMENTS 2020/21 AND 2021/22 

In accordance with the Localism Act 2011 Local Authorities are 
required to produce and publish a Pay Policy Statement for each 
financial year.  The report of the Director of Human Resources 
(Document “E”) contains the Pay Policy Statement which must be 
approved by full Council before publication.

Recommended –

That the Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 2020/21 as set 
out at Appendix 1 to Document “E” and the Pay Policy Statement 
for the financial year 2021/22 as set out at Appendix 2 to 
Document “E”, be approved.

205 - 
224



(Tim Barker – 01274 432031)

THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER



LegDem/CC/MB/DJN-22.01.2020
1

D

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

APPLICATIONS FOR DISPENSATION

SECTION 33 OF THE LOCALISM ACT 2011

THE RELEVANT AUTHORITIES (DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS) 
REGULATIONS 2012

18 February 2021

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 To request the Council to grant a dispensation to all Members who have certain 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, as defined in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, in the decision to approve the budget and 
to set the level of Council Tax and Business Rates for 2021/22 and 2022/23 during 
the Budget Council meetings on 18 February 2021 and 17 February 2022.

2.0 Background

2.1 Under the Localism Act 2011 and the Members’ Code of Conduct adopted by 
Bradford Council, a Member is required to consider whether he/she has a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) in a matter to be considered at a formal 
meeting of the Authority.  Dependent upon whether the DPI is included within their 
Register of Interests, Members are then required to disclose the interest to the 
meeting. In either case they may then not speak or vote on the matter concerned.  

2.2 In the decision to approve the budget and to set the level of Council Tax and 
Business Rates for 2021/22 and 2022/23 there are a number of categories of 
interest which give rise to the need for a declaration of a DPI.  

These include the following:

 Property Ownership/ Licences 
 Employment or Business Interests
 Sponsorship/ Membership of Organisations
 Contracts
 Corporate Tenancies
 Securities

2.3 Guidance from the DCLG (“Openness and Transparency on personal interests – a 
guide for councillors”, September 2013) states that any payment of, or liability to 
pay Council Tax does not create a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest. Accordingly, 
members who pay or are liable to pay Council Tax do not require a dispensation to 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1/



LegDem/CC/MB/DJN-22.01.2020
2

take part in the business of setting the Council Tax or precept or local 
arrangements for Council Tax support.

2.4 The DCLG guidance does not extend to similar issues arising with National Non-
Domestic Rates, however, the same arguments would apply, namely that a 
payment of business rates, or a liability to pay business rates relating to 
employment or business interests would not itself create a Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest.  

2.5. All Councillors have completed their Registers of Interests as required by the 
Localism Act 2011 and, as such, Councillors have declared Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests.  Those interests are a matter of public record and available for public 
inspection and on-line.  

2.6 Council on 20 February 2020 approved dispensations for two years, including 
2021/22. The matter is being reported again to Council to ensure all changes in the 
matter of Councillors’ disclosable pecuniary interests are approved for the 
purposes of a dispensation.

3.0 Issues

3.1 Section 31 (4) of the Localism Act 2011 states that where a Member is present at a 
meeting of an Authority and has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to 
be considered, they may not:

 participate, or participate further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting, or

 participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting.

If a Member fails to comply with these requirements, they would potentially commit 
a criminal offence.

3.2 Section 33 of the Act provides that on written request the Authority may grant a 
dispensation relieving the Member from either or both of the above restrictions.

3.3    The Act allows the Council to grant a dispensation in the following circumstances 
for a specified period of time not exceeding 4 years.

(i) The number of Members having DPIs in a matter is so great a proportion of 
the Council that it would impede the transaction of the business; 

(ii) That, without the dispensation, the representation of different political 
groups on the Council would be so upset as to alter the outcome of any vote 
on the matter;

(iii) That the Authority considers that the dispensation is in the interests of 
persons living in the Authority’s area;

(iv) That the Authority considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a 
dispensation.  

Page 2



LegDem/CC/MB/DJN-22.01.2020
3

In the circumstances it is considered that the requests for dispensation fall into all 
four categories set out above.  

3.4 Due to the number of Councillors who have a relevant Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest there is a real risk that without a dispensation, a significant number of 
Councillors would be required to declare an interest and as such be prevented from 
participating in the decision making process.  The lack of the ability for a significant 
number of Councillors to participate could have the impact of either making the 
Council meeting inquorate or upsetting the political balance of the meeting at which 
the decision is to be made. 

3.5 It is in the interests of the citizens of the Bradford District that they are represented 
by their democratically elected Councillors at the debate to approve the budget and 
to set the Council Tax.  These are the most important decisions taken by Council 
and it is therefore imperative that constituents are not disenfranchised by the 
provisions of the Localism Act 2011 relating to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests.

3.6    The Council’s Code of Conduct also requires that where a Member has another 
interest in a matter to be discussed which should be declared in the public interest, 
it should be declared at the meeting. In circumstances where the interest may give 
rise to a perception of a conflict of interest in the matter, the Member must consider 
whether continued participation in the matter would be reasonable.

3.7  On the same grounds as the case for dispensations in respect of DPIs, I advise 
that Members who have personal interests where there is or may be a conflict of 
interest should also not be prevented from speaking and voting at Budget Council 
owing to the number of Councillors likely to be affected.

3.8      Attached as an appendix is a schedule of Members DPIs (part A) and a schedule 
of personal interests (part B). Council is requested to grant dispensations under 
s33 of the Localism Act to permit Members to speak and vote at the Budget 
meetings. It is also recommended that the dispensations continue in force until 
February 2022. 

4.0 Legal Implications 

4.1 The Localism Act enables the Council to consider applications for dispensations in 
accordance with the grounds referred to above. In order to grant a dispensation, 
the Council needs to be satisfied that on the information available, the application 
meets one or more of the criteria for dispensations set out above. 

5.0 Conclusions

5.1 In the circumstances, the Monitoring Officer is satisfied that the criteria are met and 
considers it appropriate for the Council to grant a dispensation to those Members 
of Council who have requested such dispensations for a period of two years so as 
to enable all Members to participate in the decision to approve the Council budget 
and the setting of the Council Tax and Business Rates for 2021/22 and 2022/23.  

6.0 Recommendation

That Council:

Page 3



LegDem/CC/MB/DJN-22.01.2020
4

1. Grants a dispensation to the Members of the Authority who have requested 
one, to enable them to participate in full in the decision to approve the 
budgets for 2021/22 and 2022/23 and to set the Council Tax and Business 
Rates for 2021/22 and 2022/23 (Appendix A).

2. Approves the dispensation for a period of 2 years until 18 February 2022.

3.   Notes Members’ personal interests (Appendix B) and the Monitoring 
Officer’s advice that personal interests that may give rise to a perception of 
a conflict of interest shall not prevent Members from speaking and voting at 
the Budget meetings.  

Parveen Akhtar
Monitoring Officer 

8 February 2021

G:\Legal Services\City Solicitor\Committees\Executive\Executive Budget  2020\Report of Monitoring Officer re Dispensations 20 02 
2020.doc

Page 4



BUDGET COUNCIL MEETING                         
18 FEBRUARY 2021

Appendix “A”

1 | P a g e

Pecuniary 
Interests

List of Elected Members recommended to be granted dispensations under the Localism Act 2011 in relation to their 
declared Disclosable Pecuniary Interests relating to employment, sponsorship, contracts, land, licences, corporate 
tenancies and securities for the purposes of speaking and voting at the Budget Council meeting on 18 February 
2021.

EMPLOYMENT

Labour Con Lib Dem Green BFD Ind The Ind The QW Ind

Amran Brown Sajawal
Berry Green
Hinchcliffe 
Tariq Hussain
Imran Khan
Lal
Salam
Shaheen
Tait
Thornton
Wood

P
age 5



Page 2

SPONSORSHIP

Labour Con Lib Dem Green BFD Ind The Ind The QW Ind Independent

Azam
Dodds
Duffy
Engel
Farley
Godwin
Green
Hinchcliffe
Humphreys
Tariq Hussain 
Iqbal
Jabar
Jenkins
Imran Khan
Mullaney
Ross-Shaw
M Slater
Swallow
Tait
Thirkill
Thornton
Wainwright

Davies
Green
Hargreaves
Heseltine
Pennington
Poulsen
Sullivan
D Winnard
Whitaker

Griffiths
Reid
Stubbs
J Sunderland
R Sunderland
Smith

Love Gibbons

CONTRACTS

Labour Con Lib Dem Green BFD Ind The Ind The QW Ind

Salam
Shafiq

D Smith Naylor

P
age 6



Page 3

LAND

Labour Con Lib Dem Green BFD Ind The Ind The QW Ind Independent
A Ahmed Ali R Ahmed Love K Hussain Hawkesworth L Cromie Gibbons
Amran Barker Griffiths Warnes Sajawal Naylor
Azam Bibby Knox
Berry Brown Reid
Dodds Davies Stubbs
Duffy Goodall J Sunderland
Dunbar Green R Sunderland
Engel Hargreaves Ward
Farley Herd
Ferriby Heseltine
Firth Pennington
Godwin Pollard
Green Poulsen   
Greenwood Riaz
Hinchcliffe D Smith
Humphreys Sullivan
Arshad Hussain Townend
Kamran Hussain Whitaker
Shabir Hussain Whiteley
Tariq Hussain Winnard
Iqbal
Jabar
Jamil
Jenkins
Johnson
Hassan Khan
Imran Khan
Sabiya Khan
Lal
Lee
Lintern
Mir

P
age 7



Page 4

LAND (CONT)

Labour Con Lib Dem Green BFD Ind The Ind The QW Ind

Mohammed
Mukhtar
Mullaney
Nazir
Ross-Shaw
Salam
Shabbir
Shafiq
Shaheen
M Slater
Swallow
Tait 
Thirkill
Thornton
Wainwright
Warburton
Watson
Wood

LICENCES

Labour Con Lib Dem Green BFD Ind The Ind The QW Ind

D Smith J Sunderland

CORPORATE TENANCIES

Labour Con Lib Dem Green BFD Ind The Ind The QW Ind

Cromie

P
age 8



Page 5

SECURITIES

Labour Con Lib Dem Green BFD Ind The Ind The QW Ind
D Smith

G:\Legal Services\City Solicitor\Committees + Meetings\Council\Budget Council 2021\Dispensation all Cllrs 2021 09 02 21 V2.docx

P
age 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 1

Council (All Parties)

Budget Meeting 
18 February 2021

                                                    Disclosures of Interest                           Appendix “B”

The following members have disclosed a personal interest in the item on the agenda 
relating to the Budget  2021– 22 and of the nature and description indicated by each 
category:

1. Members with a spouse, partner or close relative in the employment of the 
Council

Labour
Cllr Ahmed
Cllr Amran
Cllr Dodds
Cllr Firth
Cllr Green
Cllr Kamran Hussain
Cllr Tariq Hussain
Cllr Iqbal
Cllr Jabar
Cllr Jenkins
Cllr Imran Khan
Cllr Lal
Cllr Nazir
Cllr Salam
Cllr Shabbir
Cllr Shafiq
Cllr Slater
Cllr Swallow
Cllr Tait
Cllr Thornton

Conservative
Cllr Brown
Cllr Pennington
Cllr Pollard
Cllr Riaz
Cllr Townend

Lib Dem
Cllr Stubbs
Cllr R Sunderland

Green
Cllr Love

The Independents
Cllr Hawkesworth

2. Members employed by or who have a spouse, partner or close relative 
employed by a voluntary organisation/public body funded by the Council.

Labour
Cllr Duffy
Cllr Jenkins
Cllr Imran Khan
Cllr Lal
Cllr Mullaney
Cllr Shabbir
Cllr Shaheen
Cllr Thirkill

Conservative
Cllr Brown

Other 
Interests

Page 11



Page 2

3. Members who occupied land or who had a spouse, partner or relative who 
did or who were directors of companies or sat on the management 
committee of an organisation that occupies land under a lease or licence 
granted by the Council.

Labour
Cllr Jamil
Cllr Jenkins
Cllr Imran Khan
Cllr Mullaney
Cllr Ross-Shaw

Conservative
Cllr Brown
Cllr Heseltine
Cllr D Smith

Lib Dem

 

Green
Cllr Love

4. Members of other public authorities.

Adoption Panel
Cllr Berry (Lab)
Cllr Whitaker (Con)

Airedale Drainage Commissioners
Cllr Goodall (Con)

Airedale Partnership
Cllr Ross-Shaw (Lab)

Airedale NHS Foundation Trust
Cllr Firth (Lab)

Association for Public Service Excellence (APSE)
Cllr Berry (Lab)

Arts Council North
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)

Better Start Bradford
Cllr Mir (Lab)

Bingley Voluntary Action Trust
Cllr Heseltine (Con)

Bradford Business Improvement District
Cllr Ross-Shaw (Lab)

Bradford College
Cllr Choudhry (Lab)
Cllr Shaheen (Lab)
Cllr Riaz (Con)

Page 12



Page 3

Bradford Deaf Community Association
Cllr Akhtar (Lab)
Cllr Iqbal (Lab)

Bradford Economic Partnership
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)
Cllr Ross-Shaw (Alt) (Lab)

Bradford District Care NHS Foundation Trust
Cllr Aneela Ahmed (Lab)
Cllr Hargreaves (Con)

Bradford Trident
Cllr Mir (Lab)
Cllr Salam (Lab)

Bridge Project
Cllr Berry (Lab)

Christopher Tophams Apprenticing Foundation
Cllr Whiteley (Con)

City Regions Board (LGA)
Cllr Hinchcliffe (VCh) (Lab)

Clayton Community Association
Cllr Thirkill (Lab)

Court of the University of Leeds
Cllr Jamil (Lab)

Drake and Tonson Foundation
Cllr Farley (Lab) 

Fostering Panel
Cllr Aneela Ahmed (Lab)
Cllr Sameena Akhtar (Lab)
Cllr Townend (Con)

Harehills Education Trust
Cllr Lintern (Lab)
Cllr Slater (Lab)
Cllr Brown (Con)

Haworth Exhibition Trust
Cllr Farley (Lab)
Cllr Poulsen (Con)

Ilkley Business Improvement Board
Cllr Ross-Shaw (Lab)

Ilkley Youth & Community Association and Childrens Centre
Cllr Gibbons (Ind)

Page 13



Page 4

Joseph Nutter’s Foundation
Cllr Lee (Lab)
Cllr Thirkill (Lab)

Keighley Community LLED Local Development
Cllr Ali (Con)
Cllr Firth (Lab)

Keighley Business Improvement District
Cllr Ross-Shaw (Lab)

Key Cities
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)
Cllr I Khan (Lab) 

Leeds Bradford International Airport – Consultative Committee
Cllr Ross-Shaw (Lab)
Cllr Lal (Alternate) (Lab)

Leeds City Region Local Enterprise Partnership
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)

Nell Bank Charity
Cllr Ferriby (Lab) – Not appointed by the Council but in her own right.

Northern Acceleration Council
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)

North Regional Association for Sensory Support (NRASS)
Cllr Wainwright (Lab)

Play Partnership
Cllr Swallow (Lab)

Rural Action Yorkshire
Cllr Hawkesworth (The Ind)

Salt Foundation
Cllr Jenkins (Lab)
Cllr Love (Green)

Sir Titus Salt Trust
Cllr Amran (Lab)
Cllr Dunbar (Lab)
Cllr Thirkill (Lab)
Cllr Heseltine (Con)
Cllr Love (Green)

Southern Pennine Rural Regeneration (Pennine Prospects)
Cllr Godwin (Lab)

Page 14



Page 5

Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education (SACRE)
Cllr Nussrat Mohammed (Lab)
 Cllr Swallow (Lab)
Cllr Riaz (Con)
Cllr Reid (Lib Dem & Ind)

Transport for the North
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)

University of Bradford – Court
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)

West Yorkshire Combined Authority    
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)  (Chair)
Cllr I Khan  (Alt) (Lab)
Cllr Davies (Con)
Cllr Poulsen (Con)

West Yorkshire Combined Authority Inclusive Growth and Public Policy
Cllr Ross-Shaw (Lab)

West Yorkshire Combined Authority West Yorkshire & York Investment Panel
Cllr Ross-Shaw (Lab)

West Yorkshire Combined Authority Business Innovation and Growth Panel
Cllr Ross-Shaw (Lab)

West Yorkshire Combined Authority  Business Investment Panel
Cllr Ross-Shaw (Lab)

West Yorkshire Combined Authority Employment Skills Panel
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)
Cllr Imran Khan (Lab)

West Yorkshire Combined Authority Green Economy Panel
Cllr Ferriby (Lab)

West Yorkshire Combined Authority Governance and Audit
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)
Cllr Imran Khan (Alt) (Lab)

West Yorkshire Combined Authority Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)
Cllr Imran Khan (Lab)

West Yorkshire Combined Authority Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Cllr Nazir (Lab)
Cllr Watson (Lab)
Cllr Winnard (Con)
Cllr Dodds (Alt) (Lab) 
Cllr Thirkill (Alt) (Lab) 
Cllr Riaz (Alt) (Con)

Page 15



Page 6

West Yorkshire Combined Authority Place Panel
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)
Cllr Ross-Shaw (Lab)

West Yorkshire Combined Authority Transport Committee
Cllr Engel (Lab)
Cllr Hassan Khan (Lab)
Cllr Salam (Lab)

West Yorkshire  Fire and Rescue Authority
Cllr Mohammed (Lab)
Cllr Shaheen(Lab)
Cllr Tait (Lab)
Cllr Pollard (Con)
Cllr J Sunderland (Lib Dem & Ind)

West Yorkshire Joint Services Committee
Cllr Davies (Con)
Cllr Duffy (Lab)
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)
Cllr Imran Khan (Lab) 
Cllr Lal (Alt)
Cllr Salam (Alt) (Lab)
Cllr Winnard (Alt) (Con)

West Yorkshire Pension Fund Investment Advisory Panel
Cllr Thornton (Lab)
Cllr Winnard (Con)

West Yorkshire Pension Fund Joint Advisory Group 
Cllr Salam (Lab)
Cllr Thornton (Lab)
Cllr Winnard (Con)

West Yorkshire Pension Fund - The Pension  Board
Cllr Lal (Lab)

West Yorkshire Police & Crime Panel  
Cllr Dunbar (Lab)
Cllr Tariq Hussain (Lab)
Cllr Brown (Con)

Woodroyd Nursery
Cllr Talat Sajawal (Bfd Ind) on the Board as a Trustee for the charity

Wrose Carnival Management Committee
Cllr Greenwood (Lab)
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)
Cllr Ross-Shaw (Lab)

Yorkshire and Humber – Employers Association (Local Authorities)
Cllr Duffy (Lab)

Yorkshire Leaders’ Board
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)

Page 16



Page 7

Yorkshire Libraries and Information
Cllr Ferriby (Lab)

Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation Procurement Holdings Ltd
Cllr Salam (Lab)
Cllr Whiteley (Con)
Cllr Lal (Alt) (Lab)

Yorkshire Regional Flood & Coastal Committee
Cllr Firth (Sub Member) (Lab)

Parish Councillors.

Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)
Cllr Ross-Shaw (Lab)
Cllr Thirkill (Lab)

Cllr Herd (Con)
Cllr Heseltine (Con)
Cllr Pennington (Con)
Cllr D Smith (Con)
Cllr Sullivan (Con)
Cllr Whitaker (Con)
Cllr Winnard (Con)

 
Cllr Naylor (The Independents)

Cllr Gibbons (Ind)

5. Members who sit on the management committee/ trustee volunteer of a 
voluntary organisation in receipt of Council Funding.

Labour
Cllr Berry
Cllr Dodds
Cllr Ferriby
Cllr Hinchcliffe
Cllr Tariq Hussain
Cllr Jabar
Cllr Jamil
Cllr Imran Khan
Cllr Tait
Cllr Thirkill

Conservative
Cllr Davies
Cllr Hargreaves
Cllr Heseltine
Cllr Poulsen
Cllr Riaz

Conservative (Cont)
Cllr D Smith
Cllr Townend
Cllr Winnard

Lib Dem
Cllr Ahmed
Cllr Stubbs
Cllr J Sunderland

Bradford Independent Group
Cllr Khadim Hussain
Cllr Sajawal

The Independents
Cllr Hawkesworth

Page 17



Page 8

6. Members who are members of a Council funded organisation. 

Labour
Cllr Imran Khan
Cllr Thirkill
Cllr Ross-Shaw 

Conservative
Cllr Brown 
Cllr D Smith

Lib Dem
Cllr Ahmed
Cllr Ward

The Independents
Cllr Hawkesworth 

Independent
Cllr Gibbons 

7. Members appointed by the Council to a public body with an interest in the 
Council’s budget

Cathedral Council
Cllr Dodds (Lab)

Community and Arts Umbrella
Cllr Warnes  (Green)

Keighley Towns Fund Board
Cllr Ross-Shaw (Lab)

Saffron Dean Community Association 
Cllr Duffy (Lab)

Shipley Towns Fund Board
Cllr Ross-Shaw (Lab)

8(i) Members who are appointed to external bodies

Abbeyfield The Dales and its associated companies
Cllr D Smith (Con)

Baildon in Bloom
Cllr Pollard (Con)

Bradford City Challenge Limited
Cllr Mukhtar (Lab)

Bradford City Challenge Foundation Limited
Cllr Imran Khan (Lab)
Cllr Wainwright (Lab)

Bradford Teaching Hospital NHS Trust
Cllr Tariq Hussain (Lab)

Page 18



Page 9

Bradford Twin Towns Association
Cllr Lee (Lab)
Cllr D Smith (Con)

Canal Road Urban Village
Cllr Ross -Shaw (Lab)

Canterbury Imagination Library
Cllr D Smith (Con)

City of Film
Cllr Ferriby (Lab)

Cougarmania Foundation Charity
Cllr Lee (Lab) Committee Member

Exceed Academy Trust
Cllr D Smith (Con)

Friends of Brackenhill Park
Cllr Tariq Hussain (Lab)
Cllr Jabar (Lab)

Friends of Harold Park
Cllr Tait (Lab)

Hainworth Wood Community Centre
Cllr Firth (Lab)
Cllr Slater (Lab)

Great Horton Partnership
Cllr Jabar (Lab)

Keighley Association Women and Children’s Centre (KAWACC)
Cllr Lee (Lab)

Kirklands (Menston) Trust
Cllr D Smith (Con)

Long Lee Village Hall
Cllr Firth (Lab)
Cllr Slater (Lab)

Patrol Adjudication Joint Committee and BLASJC
Cllr Lal (Lab)
Cllr Thirkill (Lab)

Ummid/Himmat Management Board
Cllr Jabar (Lab)

Page 19



Page 10

8(ii) Other Interests

Association of Liberal Democratic Councillors
Cllr Stubbs
Cllr J Sunderland

BMA/Royal College of Pathologists
Cllr Godwin (Lab)

Chartered Institute of Housing
Cllr Tariq Hussain (Lab)

Communication Workers’ Union
Cllr Watson (Lab)

Community
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)
Cllr Jamil (Lab)
Cllr Wainwright (Lab)

Co-operative Party
Cllr Dodds (Lab)
Cllr Lal (Lab)
Cllr Swallow (Lab)

Conservative Councillor Association
Cllr Heseltine (Con)

Dry Stone Walling Association
Cllr Love (Green)

GMB
Cllr Ahmed (Lib Dem)
Cllr Akhtar (Lab)
Cllr Engel (Lab)
Cllr Green (Lab)
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)
Cllr Kamran Hussain (Lab)
Cllr Shabir Hussain (Lab)
Cllr Jamil (Lab)
Cllr Hassan Khan (Lab)
Cllr Imran Khan (Lab)
Cllr Lintern (Lab)
Cllr Swallow (Lab)
Cllr Tate (Lab)
Cllr Thornton (Lab)
Cllr Warburton (Lab)

HENRY
Cllr Mukhtar (Lab)

Law Society
Cllr Farley (Lab)

Page 20



Page 11

National Craft Butchers
Cllr Herd (Con)

National Education Union
Cllr Mukhtar (Lab)
Cllr Warnes (Green)

NHS Research Institute
Cllr Riaz (Con)

Prospect
Cllr Duffy (Lab)

Unison
Cllr Azam (Lab)
Cllr Berry (Lab)
Cllr Dodds (Lab)
Cllr Firth (Lab)
Cllr Greenwood (Lab)
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)
Cllr Tariq Hussain (Lab)
Cllr Jabar (Lab)
Cllr Lal (Lab)
Cllr Lee (Lab)
Cllr Mir (Lab)
Cllr Ross-Shaw (Lab)
Cllr Shafiq (Lab)
Cllr Shaheen (Lab)
Cllr Wood (Lab)

Unite
Cllr Amran (Lab)
Cllr Azam (Lab)
Cllr Berry (Lab)
Cllr Choudhry (Lab)
Cllr Duffy (Lab)
Cllr Engel (Lab)
Cllr Farley (Lab)
Cllr Ferriby (Lab)
Cllr Hinchcliffe (Lab)
Cllr Kamran Hussain (Lab)
Cllr Khadim Hussain (Lab)
Cllr Iqbal (Lab)
Cllr Jamil (Lab)
Cllr Jenkins (Lab)
Cllr Sabiya Khan (Lab)
Cllr Mullaney (Lab)
Cllr Salam (Lab)
Cllr Thirkill (Lab)

University and College Union
Cllr Mukhtar (Lab)
Cllr Swallow (Lab)

Page 21



Page 12

West Bowling Training and Advice Centre
Cllr Mir (Lab) (Ch)

Yorkshire & Humber Patient Safety Transitional Research Centre
Cllr Riaz (Con)

Yorkshire Quality and Safety Research Group
Cllr Riaz (Con)

9. Members who are school governors. 

Labour
Cllr Duffy
Cllr Dunbar
Cllr Farley
Cllr Ferriby
Cllr Firth
Cllr Godwin
Cllr Jamil
Cllr Mukhtar
Cllr Shafiq
Cllr Swallow 
Cllr Tait
Cllr Watson

Conservative
Cllr Brown
Cllr Hargreaves
Cllr Pollard
Cllr Poulsen
Cllr D Smith

        
Bradford Independent Group
Cllr Sajawal

10. Other Governors and Trustees

Airedale General Hospital
Cllr Firth - Council Governor (Lab)

Bolton NHS Trust
Cllr Riaz – Elected Governor (Con)

Wilsden Village Nursery School
Cllr Riaz – Trustee (Con)

11. Members entitled to receive an allowance paid by the Council

All members of the Council in attendance.

12. All members who are in receipt of a West Yorkshire Pension Fund pension.
All members who are in receipt of a West Yorkshire Police Pension.

G:\Legal Services\City Solicitor\Committees + Meetings\Council\Budget Council 2021\All Parties (Disclosures of Interest 2021) 
Amendment 9 Feb V2.doc

Page 22



Executive Committee 16th February 2021 
 
Bradford Council Executive’s Budget and Council Tax proposals for 2021/22: 

Amended budget recommendation to full council 
 
Introduction 

This is a strong budget of investment and recovery for the Bradford District. It’s a 

budget that strengthens the universal services we provide for everyone in the district, 
supports our local economy and provides new investment through difficult times to 
help people access the support they need in their local neighbourhoods, when they 
need it. 

 
We have prudently managed the budget when dealing with ten years of government 
austerity preceding the pandemic and this has enabled us to draw on reserves to 
make critical investments when the district needs it most - in a time of national crisis. 

Thanks to our careful management, we are now able to make these reinvestments 
into frontline services that residents rightly care about. We have listened to our 
residents and partners through the budget consultation and on the ground during our 
Covid response. Therefore, through this amendment we propose to invest in cleaner 

streets and stronger services rooted in local communities. This is also a budget that 
invests significantly in our young people to fulfil their potential and in support for our 
older citizens. The future of local government finance is still unclear, there is no 
certainty of funding for councils beyond next financial year from national 

Government. We must continue to transform services to make them sustainable. In 
short, this is a budget of investment to enable the strongest possible recovery. 
 
While investing more in everyday services, we are also maintaining strong support 

for the district’s high-level priorities and long-term ambitions – the building blocks of 
education, skills and jobs in our city, towns and villages. The pandemic, which has 
hit underprivileged communities and key workers hardest and exposed unacceptable 
inequalities in our society, has highlighted the need to deliver on these ambitions. 

Our values drive us to tackle these inequalities head on and achieve social justice for 
all, so that everyone has the chance to live well and better themselves whatever their 
background. We will work with partners to address the root causes of inequalities in 
health, wealth and education, so that every child living in this district can fulfil their 

unique potential. The comprehensive response during the pandemic has shown the 
importance of good quality local services. We will also deliver on our major 
regeneration projects and our ambitious culture-led regeneration programme. 
 

This is a budget of resilience but also of hope for building a better future. Now more 
than ever as we emerge collectively from the pandemic, we need to invest in our 
local communities and provide strong support for our local economy to create a 
future where more people enjoy the benefits of growth.  

 
We give our thanks to council staff, all key workers and the people of the district who 
have helped one another through this pandemic with fortitude and resilience, and we 
offer our heartfelt condolences to all those families who have lost loved ones. As a 

district, we will remember them. 
 
Cllr Susan Hinchcliffe, Leader of Bradford Council 

Page 23

Agenda Item 71/



New investments 

The investments proposed below build on those we previously announced in 
December and have been developed while taking account of the feedback we 

received from residents and partner organisations in the consultation. 
 
Street cleansing - £600,000 base budget 

 

We propose to invest new recurring funds into this core service that matters to every 
council tax and business rate payer. The need for cleaner streets is a universal 
concern in all our neighbourhoods across the district – our communities are 
overwhelmingly united in the common cause to eliminate litter, fouling and fly tipping, 

which are a blight on our streets and green spaces. In spite of the government cuts 
over recent years we have maintained high service standards thanks to the hard 
work of clean teams and environmental wardens and the introduction of new ways of 
working. We have introduced new technology (such as solar powered litter bins and 

electric vacuum cleaners) and an increase in enforcement in terms of fines for fly 
tipping, litter from vehicles and people littering on the street. Our use of surveillance 
cameras has also had a positive impact in catching offenders. This, together with a 
number of high profile anti-litter, chewing gum, dog fouling and fly tipping campaigns 

over the last five years has increased awareness of environmental issues. In 
addition, the help of individuals and community groups across the district to organise 
clean-ups and litter picks has been invaluable and we will continue to support that 
activity. This additional investment will fund more street cleaning as well as 

strengthen our prevention and enforcement activity to clean up our streets, deal with 
the culprits and address the root causes so that we can all live in cleaner and 
healthier environments. The investment will pay for more frontline staff and cleansing 
equipment, more surveillance cameras for enforcement, increase the environmental 

campaigns targeting litterers and fly tippers and provide extra resources for 
community groups organising clean-ups. 
 
Ward teams – support for communities - £600,000 base budget 

 
This investment will be used to refresh our approach to how we support communities 
on a local level, helping them to respond to local issues, address local priorities and 
shape their own futures. It will strengthen Neighbourhood Management, Ward 

Member support and locally based work to help people address issues and problems 
in their lives at the earliest possible stage before they reach crisis point. Working in 
localities during the pandemic has brought increased inter-agency working which has 
benefitted residents. Learning from this, the refreshed approach to locality working 

will be developed in consultation with councillors, particularly Area Committee 
Chairs, staff across council departments and partner organisations. It will enhance 
the delivery of our services on a local level and empower local people and their 
representatives who know their communities best. It will be used to support our 

ambition for greater co-ordination of council and other public services at a local level, 
helping to deliver services more efficiently and effectively. People will be better 
supported to help themselves as part of our ‘People Can’ programme of support for 
volunteering and unlocking the potential of local community assets. Knowledge and 

understanding of our communities on the ground, what they need and what they can 
offer has been critical in delivering an effective response to the pandemic. This 
investment reflects the importance of working together with communities and across 

Page 24



council departments and partner organisations at the local level to build resilience 
and support a strong and inclusive recovery. We want to deepen our connection with 
all our communities so that our residents can more easily access the local services, 

resources and support they need when they need them. 
 
Youth services – retain our ongoing investment 

 

Last year we postponed the scheduled reduction of £513,000 in spending on youth 
services. This was a cut we never wanted to make but which was made in response 
to the national government cuts. Through this amendment, the Executive proposes 
to remove the planned cut altogether and commit to retaining at least the current 

level of funding for youth services in base budget for future years without the threat 
of reduction. We believe it’s the right thing to do, given the invaluable work of the 
Youth Service during the pandemic which is likely to continue to be needed in future 
years. This has also shone through in the public consultation which has made clear 

the value of services for our young people. 
 
Welfare Advice – amendment to previous budget decision 

 

The budget reduction in Welfare Advice scheduled previously was based around a 
fundamental change to the way the council and its partners deliver customer facing 
services and customers getting the ‘right support at the right time’. Now however, a 
time of national emergency is not the right time to remodel this service. We therefore 

propose to delay full implementation of the £844,000 approved saving to 2022/23, 
and a review is underway into how they can best be delivered over the longer term. 
 
Investing in education and skills for a strong recovery 

 
At the start of the consultation for this budget we were clear about the importance of 
investing in Education and Skills to support a strong recovery. We are investing 
significantly to support our children’s learning and to help them catch up after such a 

disruptive year. Every child matters, therefore our strategy is to support the learning 
of every child regardless of the type of school they attend. In addition, we are 
investing in skills to help individuals and families particularly those whose 
employment has been hit by the pandemic and economic downturn. Our pioneering 

local jobs and skills programmes have strong track records and now more than ever 
is the right time to invest in them to support our residents. 
 
Post-Covid Education Recovery Plan 

 
Our post-Covid Education Recovery Plan builds on the work undertaken particularly 
over the last year and is a collaboration between the council and schools across the 
district. It is a comprehensive approach that seeks to address the root causes, not 

just the symptoms, of underachievement. It will support the building blocks of 
language, literacy and numeracy early in Key Stages 1 and 2; core skills in Maths 
and English for those pupils who need additional support in Key Stages 3 and 4; a 
relentless focus on persistent absence across all ages; continued investment in 

therapeutic support for children to aid their learning; strengthening leadership and 
governance; and a substantial investment in capital funding to support the delivery of 
our programme to ensure digital inclusion for all our children and young people. 

Page 25



 
SkillsHouse expansion 

 

Our investment in SkillsHouse will help respond to the expected significant increase 
in unemployment caused by the pandemic. It will enable SkillsHouse to rapidly 
expand its service and build the capacity of partners to support individuals across the 
district in accessing training and employment opportunities. We have a successful 

track record as a partnership of supporting jobseekers into sustained work, and 
businesses to recruit locally. The additional investment will enable us to upscale this 
through interventions that address the immediate job losses of the Covid-19 
recession and underlying local need: skills gaps, low pay, low productivity and social 

inequalities; and it will also build the capacity of deprived communities and residents 
to access training to secure sustainable employment and careers. Ramping up the 
successful work of SkillsHouse is vital if the system is to have the capacity to support 
jobseekers and employers so that when the economy recovers, it does so in a way 

that is sustainable and inclusive for all our communities. 
 
Government policy on council tax and social care precept 

 

The government’s long-running policy of reducing its core funding to councils and 
shifting the responsibility on to the local council taxpayer to fund local services has 
resulted in the vast majority of councils across the country having to increase their 
council tax over the past 10 years. Unfortunately, the funds this has raised have 

fallen well short of the gap left by the government cuts – hence the extensive loss of 
local services across the country since 2010. The government’s approach of placing 
a greater reliance on council tax rises also means that councils in wealthier parts of 
the country, which have more expensive properties and higher council tax incomes 

to begin with, have been able to raise even more income than less well-off areas. 
 
Council funding remains uncertain 

 

While we have welcomed all of the necessary additional one-off funding that has 
supported our pandemic response, local government finance remains in a fragile 
position and councils require new and sustained funding to secure their viability. It is 
worth noting that 87% of the £2.2bn increase in core spending power that was 

recently announced by Government actually comes from council tax increases and is 
accompanied by relatively low increases in grant funding. During austerity the 
proportion of the council’s net budget funded by council tax has risen from around 
35% to approximately 55% currently. And we now face an added pressure, as the 

council’s income from council tax has reduced for the first time in living memory this 
year by £3.5 million because of the huge economic downturn. 
 
Council tax funds essential services 

 
We spend every penny of council tax raised locally wisely and well.  It has enabled 
us to save services that are valued by our local communities across the district. We 
never take any decision lightly to increase council tax – more so than ever this year 

when so many people are feeling the brunt of the economic downturn. But the events 
of this year have also demonstrated the value of local services. In addition, there is 

Page 26



always the need to simply try to keep pace with inflation in order for services at the 
very least to stand still amid rising costs as well as rising demands.  
 

Council services have literally been a lifeline for many residents this year. For 
example our food provision to children and families, putting in enhanced test, trace 
and isolation measures to help keep people safe, our partnership work with the 
health and care sector to support older people and others, and our work with schools 

and other partners to ensure the safeguarding and education of our young people 
throughout such a difficult period. Doorstep waste collections have been hugely 
valued by our communities and continued throughout the lockdowns, similarly our 
top-class parks and green spaces have proven to be a mental and physical health 

lifeline for many. We are determined not only to maintain all these facilities and 
more, but we are ambitious to invest and improve them for a better future. 
 
The Executive recommendation is, in common with most other councils, to proceed 

with a 1.99% council tax rise, plus the maximum permissible 3% adult social care 
precept to pay towards demographic growth pressures and better pay and conditions 
for care workers. This total of 4.99% will amount to an increase of, for example, 
£56.22 per year for a property in Band A and £84.33 per year in Band D. 

 
We fundamentally disagree with Government that the essential services of adult and 
children’s social care should be funded solely by council tax, not by national 
government. They are however leaving us with no other option in challenging 

financial times. We are however doing everything we can to mitigate the impact of 
council tax increases on those with the lowest incomes. The Executive is proposing 
that we enhance our council tax support for taxpayers who need it. We will provide a 
discount of up to £100 for all residents who qualify for Council Tax Reduction. This is 

on top of the £38 million we already fund annually to support Council Tax Reduction 
claimants. 
 
Again we must be clear that it is Government’s decision to instruct councils to 

implement an additional adult social care precept to pay for increased social care 
costs. The fact of the matter is that it should be Government’s duty to fund the 
increase in costs in services at a time when people are struggling most. No other 
funding for the Adult Social Care sector is guaranteed to be forthcoming from 

government next year, yet we need £5m as a minimum just for care wages to keep 
up with the cumulative impact of year-on-year inflation. This would provide for a 3% 
increase in weekly rates to care homes and a 7.2% increase for homecare. In 
addition, we need £1.1m for demographic pressures – more people are eligible for 

services and there is greater complexity of need. This £6.1m will be funded by the 
3% adult social care precept. Social care workers have given so much for this 
country and its vulnerable citizens over the last year. They deserve thanks, praise 
but also a decent pay settlement from a Government that cares enough to fund adult 

social care properly and sustainably. 
 

Staff Pay 

As in previous years we cannot know the outcome of any pay negotiations which are 

yet to take place, however we are continuing to budget for a 2% pay increase for 
staff and we are again committed to ensuring that all council employees will be paid 

Page 27



the Real Living Wage next year. This year more than any other year council staff 
have gone above and beyond to keep the district moving and we thank them 
sincerely. 

 
Use of reserves 

 
When the above are taken into account, the financial gap to be covered by reserves 

in 2021/22 will be approximately £6.4m. Although using reserves is far from ideal, we 
are in extraordinary times, and our budget strikes the right balance between 
providing much needed services with prudent financial management. 
 
Green growth 

 
Through last year’s budget we launched our ambitious plans  to tackle the climate 
emergency and support a green recovery. It’s as crucial as ever that we deliver 

these measures at pace as we emerge from Covid and rebuild with clean new jobs 
and infrastructure. We need to extract best possible value from the £25m investment 
which continues to be delivered, including £24m for transformational plans and £1m 
to support community projects. 

 
The continuing £24m investment in transformational capital projects includes: 
• LED smart streetlights 
• District heat network 

• Electric vehicles and infrastructure 
• Renewable energy 
• Hydrogen. 
 

The £1m funding is being used to support community projects, including our flagship 
“tree for every primary school child” scheme (55,000 trees); upgrading the fleet; 
extending 20mph zones; ward-level climate initiatives; upgrading the council estate; 
flood alleviation works; and increasing recycling rates. Just this year in delivering on 

green measures in spite of the emergency pandemic response, we have secured 
funding for an advanced fuel centre for more environmentally friendly HGVs, we 
have secured Unesco City of Trees status, we have invested in new anti-flytipping 
cameras and our tree for every child initiative has captured imaginations young and 

old. We must push on and accelerate our progress. 
 
Our vision is for a green new deal for our residents and businesses in which these 
projects and investments are delivered to support living and working in greener, 

more productive ways, with the development of new technologies, jobs and 
infrastructure coupled with harnessing the energy of our children and young people – 
as it is the younger generation who will be driving this forward in the years to come. 
We want to position the Bradford District at the heart of a green new North 

connected to new jobs and opportunities and which enables people to live healthier 
lives and enjoy fulfilling careers. Our transformational transport plans are at the heart 
of this, most notably our campaign for a Bradford city centre stop on Northern 
Powerhouse Rail which will boost the economy of the North by £15bn and bring 

thousands of new jobs to the district and region. It is the kind of essential and truly 
transformational project needed to make the levelling-up aspiration a reality. 
 

Page 28



We have instructed officers to ensure that every new investment we make has top-
class green credentials at its core so that our recovery from Covid and our next wave 
of growth addresses the climate emergency, reduces our carbon footprint and 

creates and cleaner and greener district for everyone’s benefit. 
 
Continuation of our emergency Covid support for communities 

 

Alongside this budget we will continue investing in our priorities for the district as part 
of our comprehensive pandemic response to support people and businesses. The 
funding we have lobbied for and received from government to date has been much-
needed by the council and our communities. We now need the government to follow 

up with a sustainable funding plan for local authorities that matches levels of need 
and people’s desire for a better future. Yet more austerity cannot provide the 
solutions that our communities and businesses need. 
 

We have plans to use the remainder of Covid funding wisely and efficiently to bolster 
our support across the district. In particular, we will invest it in vital support such as: 
 

 Keeping children warm and well fed 

 Funding additional pressures in children’s social care 

 Extending our support for mental health services 

 Continuing our successful Youth Covid Ambassador provision 

 Funding improvements to paths and rights of way, which have seen a 
significant increase in use as people exercised locally during the lockdowns 

 
These planned investments are in addition to the measures and activities approved 

by Executive Committee on 2nd February, such as our £2.4m plan to raise 
educational attainment, £1.019m for SkillsHouse; £5.3m for adult social care; 
£500,000 to support victims of sexual abuse and domestic violence; £90,000 for 
communicable disease control and £218,000 for the MAST team which is a 

partnership of voluntary and community sector organisations assisting with timely 
discharges from hospital and other positive health interventions to help our residents 
and the wider health system. 
 
Closing comments 

 
This is a budget to support the district through the pandemic and prepare us for a 
strong recovery that maintains - and strengthens - the council’s key role in 
supporting our people and businesses. This is a budget to support resilience amidst 

a hugely challenging situation for the economy of the district, region and country. It is 
an investment in our young people’s futures and for a good quality of life for our older 
citizens too. And it invests in the everyday services that make such a difference to all 
people wherever they live in the district. It also includes significant capital plans that 

aim to deliver on our ambitions to transform the district’s work and leisure 
opportunities, for example in the delivery of Wyke Sports Village, our successful 
laptops for children programme and the prime One City Park development that will 
bring more quality new jobs to the district. Our investment in and support for the 

Stronger Towns regeneration initiatives in Keighley and Shipley will also bring growth 
and jobs as part of our work across the district to boost our economy and create new 
opportunities for our people and businesses. 

Page 29



 
The Executive would like to place on record its thanks to residents, council staff and 
our partners, who have truly gone above and beyond to support the district through 

this historic challenge. Individually and collectively they have put in sterling work 
through the pandemic, showing flexibility and resolve, taking on additional 
responsibilities to support communities and maintaining business as usual services. 
This budget will strengthen our work across the district to tackle inequality, ensure 

continued support for those who need it and rise to the challenge of ensuring the 
strongest possible recovery for our people and businesses. 

Page 30



EXECUTIVE 
18 February 2021

BUDGET 2021/22

Recommended to Council – 

COUNCIL BUDGET 2021/22

(1) 1.1 REVENUE ESTIMATES 2021/22

(a) That the Base Revenue Forecast of £385,373m for 2021/22 be 
approved as set out in the updated Council’s Revenue Estimates 
for 2021/22

(b) That the recurring pressures and investment proposals of 
£13.611m in 2021/22 as set out in Appendix B to Council 
Document “F” be approved.

(c) That the additional service savings and additional income of 
£0.745m in 2021/22 as set out in Appendix C to Council 
Document “F” be approved.

(d) That the prior agreed savings be noted and the amendment to 
previous budget decisions totalling £1.608mm in 2021/22 as set 
out in Appendix E to Council Document “F” be approved. 

(e) That it be noted that within the revenue budget there is a net use 
of £6.395m in revenue reserves in 2021/22 as set out in Appendix 
F to Council Document “F”.

(f) That the service savings proposals for 2021/22 be approved, 
requiring the Chief Executive, Strategic Directors and Directors to 
take necessary action during 2020/21 to ensure those savings are 
fully achievable for 2021/22.

(g) That the comments of Director of Finance set out in Section 151 
Officer’s Assessment of the proposed budgets on the robustness 
of the estimates and the adequacy of reserves taking account of 
the recommendations made at 1.1 (a) to (f) above be noted.

1.2 PROPOSED COUNCIL TAX 2021/22

That it be noted that the projected council tax base and expenditure 
forecasts outlined in this report together with the 2021/22 resources 
and the budget variations approved in 1.1 produce a proposed Band 
D council tax of £1,499.11 for 2021/22.

Page 31



1.3 PAYMENT DATES FOR COUNCIL TAX AND NATIONAL NON-
DOMESTIC RATES

That the first instalment date for payment of National Non-Domestic 
Rates and Council Tax shall be specified by the s151 Officer.

1.4 DELEGATION TO OFFICERS

That for the avoidance of doubt and without prejudice to any of the 
powers contained in Article 14 of Part 2 of the Council's Constitution on 
the Function of Officers, the s151 Officer shall have full delegated 
powers to act on behalf of the Council on all matters relating to the 
Council Tax, Non-Domestic Rates and Accounts Receivable Debtors 
including (without prejudice to the generality of the delegation) entry 
into any business rate pilot, assessments, determinations, recovery, 
enforcement and, in accordance with the statutory scheme, full 
delegated powers to act on behalf of the Council with regard to all 
aspects of the granting of Discretionary and Hardship Rate Relief to 
qualifying ratepayers.

1.5 PREPARATION OF ACCOUNTS

(a) That in preparing the Final Accounts for 2020/21, the s151 Officer 
be empowered to take appropriate steps to secure the best 
advantage for the Council's financial position.

(b) That the s151 Officer be empowered to deal with items which 
involve the transfer of net spending between the financial years 
2020/21 and 2021/22 in a manner which secures the best advantage 
for the Council's financial position.

(c) That the s151 Officer report any action taken in pursuance of 1.5 
(a) and 1.5 (b) above when reporting on the Final Accounts for 
2020/21.

1.6 COUNCIL TAX REQUIREMENT 2021/22

(a) That the council tax base figures for 2021/22 calculated by the 
Council at its meeting on 5th January 2021 in respect of the whole 
of the Council’s area and individual parish and town council areas 
be noted.

(b) That the only special items for 2021/22 under Section 35 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 are local parish and town 
council precepts and no expenses are to be treated as special 
expenses under Section 35(1) (b) of that Act.

(c) That the Council Tax Requirement, excluding parish and town 
council precepts, be calculated as follows:

Page 32



Gross expenditure £1,097,743,943
Income £882,225,822
Council Tax requirement £215,518,121
Council tax base 142,000
Basic amount of council tax £1,517.73
Adjustment in respect of parish and town council 
precepts

£  18.62

Basic amount excluding parish and town councils £1,499.11

Page 33



(d) That the precepts of parish and town councils are noted and the resulting 
basic council tax amounts for particular areas of the Council be calculated 
as follows:

Parish or Town Council Area
Local 

Precept
Council Tax 

Base
Parish/Town 
Council Tax 

Whole Area 
Council Tax

Basic Council 
Tax Amount

£ £ £ £

Addingham 98,800 1,756   56.26 1,499.11 1,555.37

Baildon 304,000 6,226   48.83 1,499.11 1,547.94

Bingley 187,396 8,491   22.07 1,499.11 1,521.18

Burley 245,754 2,997   82.00 1,499.11 1,581.11

Clayton 72,740 2,423   30.02 1,499.11 1,529.13

Cullingworth 40,155 1,277   31.44 1,499.11 1,530.55

Denholme 51,660 1,148   45.00 1,499.11 1,544.11

Harden 37,755 839   45.00 1,499.11 1,544.11

Haworth, Crossroads and 
Stanbury 105,456 2,343   45.01 1,499.11 1,544.12

Ilkley 338,788 7,191   47.11 1,499.11 1,546.22

Keighley 595,548 15,005   39.69 1,499.11 1,538.80

Menston 117,450 2,175   54.00 1,499.11 1,553.11

Oxenhope 35,875 1,025   35.00 1,499.11 1,534.11

Sandy Lane 15,678 871   18.00 1,499.11 1,517.11

Shipley 139,937 4663   30.01 1,499.11 1,529.12

Silsden 86,800 3,023   28.71 1,499.11 1,527.82

Steeton with Eastburn 79,462 1,769   44.92 1,499.11 1,544.03

Wilsden 62,169 1,739   35.75 1,499.11 1,534.86

Wrose * 28,998 2,148   13.50 1,499.11 1,512.61

Total of all local precepts 2,644,421 67,109

Page 34



 (e) That the council tax amounts for dwellings in different valuation bands in 
respect of the Council’s budget requirement, taking into account parish 
and town council precepts applicable to only part of the Council’s area, be 
calculated as follows, 

Council Tax Amount for Each Valuation Band
Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
All parts of the 
Council’s area 
other than those 
below

 999.41 1,165.97 1,332.54 1,499.11 1,832.25 2,165.38 2,498.52 2,998.22

The parish and 
town council 
areas of:

Addingham 1,036.91 1,209.73 1,382.55 1,555.37 1,901.01 2,246.65 2,592.28 3,110.74

Baildon 1,031.96 1,203.95 1,375.95 1,547.94 1,891.93 2,235.91 2,579.90 3,095.88

Bingley 1,014.12 1,183.14 1,352.16 1,521.18 1,859.22 2,197.26 2,535.30 3,042.36

Burley 1,054.07 1,229.75 1,405.43 1,581.11 1,932.47 2,283.83 2,635.18 3,162.22

Clayton 1,019.42 1,189.32 1,359.23 1,529.13 1,868.94 2,208.74 2,548.55 3,058.26

Cullingworth 1,020.37 1,190.43 1,360.49 1,530.55 1,870.67 2,210.79 2,550.92 3,061.10

Denholme 1,029.41 1,200.97 1,372.54 1,544.11 1,887.25 2,230.38 2,573.52 3,088.22

Harden 1,029.41 1,200.97 1,372.54 1,544.11 1,887.25 2,230.38 2,573.52 3,088.22
Haworth, 
Crossroads and 
Stanbury

1,029.41 1,200.98 1,372.55 1,544.12 1,887.26 2,230.40 2,573.53 3,088.24

Ilkley 1,030.81 1,202.62 1,374.42 1,546.22 1,889.82 2,233.43 2,577.03 3,092.44

Keighley * 1,025.87 1,196.84 1,367.82 1,538.80 1,880.76 2,222.71 2,564.67 3,077.60

Menston 1,035.41 1,207.97 1,380.54 1,553.11 1,898.25 2,243.38 2,588.52 3,106.22

Oxenhope 1,022.74 1,193.20 1,363.65 1,534.11 1,875.02 2,215.94 2,556.85 3,068.22

Sandy Lane 1,011.41 1,179.97 1,348.54 1,517.11 1,854.25 2,191.38 2,528.52 3,034.22

Shipley 1,019.41 1,189.32 1,359.22 1,529.12 1,868.92 2,208.73 2,548.53 3,058.24

Silsden 1,018.55 1,188.30 1,358.06 1,527.82 1,867.34 2,206.85 2,546.37 3,055.64
Steeton with 
Eastburn 1,029.35 1,200.91 1,372.47 1,544.03 1,887.15 2,230.27 2,573.38 3,088.06

Wilsden 1,023.24 1,193.78 1,364.32 1,534.86 1,875.94 2,217.02 2,558.10 3,069.72

Wrose * 1,008.41 1,176.47 1,344.54 1,512.61 1,848.75 2,184.88 2,521.02 3,025.22

Page 35



(f) That it be noted that for the year 2021/22 the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority (WYFRA) 
have indicated the following precepts (provisional and still to be 
confirmed).

Precept Council Tax Amount for Each Valuation Band
Amount Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority 

9,539,560 44.79 52.25 59.72 67.18 82.11 97.04 111.97 134.36

Police and Crime Commissioner for West Yorkshire 
30,001,760 140.85 164.33 187.80 211.28 258.23 305.18 352.13 422.56

(g) That having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at (e) 
and (f) above, the Council set the following amounts of council tax for 
2021-22 in each of the categories of dwellings shown below: 

Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

All parts of the 
Council’s area 
other than those 
below

1,185.05 1,382.55 1,580.06 1,777.57 2,172.59 2,567.60 2,962.62 3,555.14

The parish and 
town council 
areas of:

Addingham 1,222.55 1,426.31 1,630.07 1,833.83 2,241.35 2,648.87 3,056.38 3,667.66

Page 36



Baildon 1,217.60 1,420.53 1,623.47 1,826.40 2,232.27 2,638.13 3,044.00 3,652.80

Bingley 1,199.76 1,399.72 1,599.68 1,799.64 2,199.56 2,599.48 2,999.40 3,599.28

Burley 1,239.71 1,446.33 1,652.95 1,859.57 2,272.81 2,686.05 3,099.28 3,719.14

Clayton 1,205.06 1,405.90 1,606.75 1,807.59 2,209.28 2,610.96 3,012.65 3,615.18

Cullingworth 1,206.01 1,407.01 1,608.01 1,809.01 2,211.01 2,613.01 3,015.02 3,618.02

Denholme 1,215.05 1,417.55 1,620.06 1,822.57 2,227.59 2,632.60 3,037.62 3,645.14

Harden 1,215.05 1,417.55 1,620.06 1,822.57 2,227.59 2,632.60 3,037.62 3,645.14
Haworth, 
Crossroads and 
Stanbury

1,215.05 1,417.56 1,620.07 1,822.58 2,227.60 2,632.62 3,037.63 3,645.16

Ilkley 1,216.45 1,419.20 1,621.94 1,824.68 2,230.16 2,635.65 3,041.13 3,649.36

Keighley * 1,211.51 1,413.42 1,615.34 1,817.26 2,221.10 2,624.93 3,028.77 3,634.52

Menston 1,221.05 1,424.55 1,628.06 1,831.57 2,238.59 2,645.60 3,052.62 3,663.14

Oxenhope 1,208.38 1,409.78 1,611.17 1,812.57 2,215.36 2,618.16 3,020.95 3,625.14

Sandy Lane 1,197.05 1,396.55 1,596.06 1,795.57 2,194.59 2,593.60 2,992.62 3,591.14

Shipley 1,205.05 1,405.90 1,606.74 1,807.58 2,209.26 2,610.95 3,012.63 3,615.16

Silsden 1,204.19 1,404.88 1,605.58 1,806.28 2,207.68 2,609.07 3,010.47 3,612.56

Steeton with 
Eastburn 1,214.99 1,417.49 1,619.99 1,822.49 2,227.49 2,632.49 3,037.48 3,644.98

Wilsden 1,208.88 1,410.36 1,611.84 1,813.32 2,216.28 2,619.24 3,022.20 3,626.64

Wrose * 1,194.05 1,393.05 1,592.06 1,791.07 2,189.09 2,587.10 2,985.12 3,582.14

 
(h) That Council notes the movement in Band D equivalent charges for 

2021/22 over 2020/21 as set out in the table below.

 
Council Tax 

2021-22
Council Tax 

2020-21

Percentage 
change 2021-
22 on 2020-21

 
Band D 

Equivalent
Band D 

Equivalent  

Bradford Metropolitan District Council 1,499.11 1,427.86 4.99%

West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority * 67.18 65.87 1.99% 

West Yorkshire Police Authority * 211.28 196.28 7.64%
 
Local (Parish Council) Precepts:

Addingham 56.26 56.32 -0.1%
Baildon 48.83 48.83 0.0%
Bingley 22.07 20.13 9.6%
Burley 82.00 82.00 0.0%
Clayton 30.02 29.94 0.3%
Cullingworth 31.44 29.79 5.5%
Denholme 45.00 42.00 7.1%
Harden 45.00 45.00 0.0%
Haworth etc 45.01 45.01 0.0%
Ilkley 47.11 45.00 4.7%

Page 37



Keighley 39.69 34.73 14.3%
Menston 54.00 54.00 0.0%
Oxenhope 35.00 35.00 0.0%
Sandy Lane 18.00 18.00 0.0%
Shipley 30.01 30.01 0.0%
Silsden 28.71 28.93 -0.8%
Steeton/ Eastburn 44.92 41.00 9.6%
Wilsden 35.75 35.75 0.0%
Wrose *  13.50 13.50 0.0%
*Provisional figures

(2) ALLOCATION OF THE SCHOOLS BUDGET 2021/22 FINANCIAL YEAR

2.1 That the proposals for the allocation of the 2021/22 Dedicated Schools 
Grant as set out in Executive Document “DH” be accepted and approved.

2.2 That the total amount of £634.679m to be appropriated in respect of all 
schools covered by the Bradford Scheme for the Local Management of 
Schools, so as to establish the Individual Schools Budget for 2021/22.

(3) CAPITAL INVESTMENT PLAN 2021/22 TO 2024/25

3.1 That Council had regard to the information contained within Executive 
Document “DG” in considering the Capital Investment Plan for 2021/22.

3.2 That commitments against reserve schemes and contingencies can only 
be made after a business case has been assessed by Project Appraisal 
Group and approved by the Executive. 

3.3 That delegated authority be given to the Section 151 Officer to repay 
debt on an annuity basis, for chosen properties purchased during or 
after 2018-19. Delegated authority could only be exercised if two 
conditions are met:

1. the asset retains or increases its value;
2. the return from the capital scheme is sufficient to repay the capital 
sum invested. 

3.4 That the proposed 2021/22 MRP policy set out in Appendix 2 to 
Executive Document “DG" be approved.

3.5 That the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy be approved. 

3.6 That specific approval be given for the following schemes previously 
approved by Executive to commence following a detailed review by 
Project Appraisal Group:

• The 2021/22 Property Programme has a proposed total cost of £2.5m 
and this will be funded by the £2m allocated and the movement of 

Page 38



£0.5m from the Argus Chambers Property Scheme.
 
• IT Processes and Systems – End to End Review. The scheme is for a 

planned programme of improvement work to systems and processes in 
Children’s Services. The cost of the capital spend is £0.330m and it will be 
funded by corporate borrowing.

(4) 2021/22 BUDGET PROPOSALS AND FORECAST RESERVES – SECTION 
151 OFFICER’S ASSESSMENT

4.1 That Members have regard to Executive Document “DI” and the 
Addendum in setting the budget, and in particular note the conclusions 
that: 

 the estimates presented to Council are sufficiently robust.

 the reserves are adequate for the 2021/22 proposed budget.

 the projected corporate reserves, on current estimates, are adequate in 
the medium term, subject to the implementation of the rest of the 
proposed financial plan.

 the Medium Term Financial Strategy will be updated and reported to 
Executive as clarity on future local government funding is received.

4.2 That in accordance with Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, Council has 
regard to the information contained in Executive Document “DE”, 
appendix B and the annex to Appendix B, together with the equality 
assessments presented to the Executive on 2 February 2021 when 
considering the Executive’s recommendations to Council on budget 
proposals for 2021/22.

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Report of the Director of Finance to the meeting of 
Executive to be held on 16 February 2021 and Council 
to be held on 18 February 2021 

    Updated Revenue Estimates 

 
 

Subject:   
 
The Council’s Revenue Estimates for 2021/22 - updated 
 
 

Summary Statement: 
 

The report provides Members with details of the Council’s Revenue Estimates for 

2021/22 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Chris Chapman 
Director of Finance 

Portfolio:   

 
Leader 

 
 

Report Contact:   

Andrew Cross 

Phone: 07870386523 
E-mail: andrew.cross@bradford.gov.uk 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 

Corporate 

 

 

Page 41

mailto:andrew.cross@bradford.gov.uk


 2  

THE COUNCIL’S REVENUE ESTIMATES FOR 2021/22 
 

1. PURPOSE 
 

1.1 This report proposes the estimates of net revenue expenditure be recommended to 
Council for approval as the Council’s balanced revenue budget for 2021/22. 

 
1.2 The revenue estimates are part of the overall budget proposal for the Council which 

includes: 
 

 the recommended Capital Investment Plan  
 the allocation of the Schools Budget 2021/22 
 Section 151 Officer’s Assessment of the proposed budgets 

 

1.3 This report is submitted to enable the Executive to make recommendations to Budget 
Council on the setting of the 2021/22 budget and the Council Tax for 2021/22, as 
required by Part 3C of the Council's Constitution. 

 
2. PROPOSED REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 
 

2.1 The balanced 2021/22 revenue budget is predicated on total available general 
resources (Council Tax income, Business Rates income, general government grant 

and use of reserves) of £385.373m in 2021/22. 
 
2.2 The total expenditure takes account of changes to the underlying (base) level of 

expenditure at the start of the year arising from: 

 
 Recurring budget pressures and investment proposals totalling £13.611m in 

2021/22 (Appendix B and Appendix Bii) 
 New proposals amounting to a reduction in the budget of £0.745m in 2021/22 

(Appendix C) 
 The net effect of previous years’ policy decisions, including decisions made by 

Budget Council in February 2019 and 2020 in respect of 2021/22 which amounted 
to a net reduction in the budget for 2021/22 of £9.142m (Appendix D). Appendix E 

sets out amendments to prior decisions at a cost of £1.608m 
 Provision for pay increases of 2% for 2021/22 at a cost of £5.4m, and  c£1.7m to 

account for the 2020-21 pay award that was 0.75% higher than had been 
budgeted on a recurring basis1. 

 Provision for CPI price increases of 1.2% with additional amounts for National 
Living Wage increases in contracts; increases in Social Care contract costs, and 
price increases that are included within the Council’s main waste disposal 
contract.  

 Provision for demographic growth of £1.85m. 
 The impact on the Council’s funding arising from 2021/22 Final Local Government 

Settlement. 
 Council’s decisions about changes to Council Tax, with an increase of 1.99% plus a 

further 3% Adult Social Care Precept, a total of 4.99% 

 The proposal to balance the budget by using £6.395m of reserves as outlined in 
Appendix F. 

                                              
1 As the pay award for 2020/21 was unknown in February 2020, the Council budgeted for a 2% pay increase, and 
an extra £1.7m was put into an Indexation pressures reserve to fund any pay award in excess of 2% in 2020/21 
only.  

Page 42



 3  

 
 

2.3 Key changes since the publication of the Proposed Financial Plan updated 2021/22 
(approved by Executive 2 February 2021) are: 

 
 £2.1m of additional net income from the Local Council Tax Support Grant. This 

results from applying £2.1m of the £6.1m Local Council Tax Support Grant that 
has been provided by the Government, to cover the costs of higher number of 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme claimants due to the Pandemic. The remainder 
will be used to provide a Hardship Discount of up to £100 per Council Tax 

Reduction Scheme claimant. This Council Tax Hardship Discount is awarded 
under Section 13a (1)c of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

 Proposal to invest £0.6m in Street Cleansing and £0.6m in Ward Teams to 
provide support to communities. 

 Proposal to delete the previously approved £0.513m Youth Services saving, 
rather than the prior proposal which was to defer the saving to 2022/23. 

 
 This reduces the call on reserves from c£7.3m to c£6.4m.  

 
2.4 The reserves that are proposed to be used to fund the gap in 2021-22 are.  

 Insurance Risk reserve £1.793m  
 Council Tax reserves £0.575m 

 NDR Volatility reserve £1.735m 
 Energy Reserve £0.100m 
 Transition and Risk Reserve £2.192m 

 

2.5 The summary position is shown at Appendix A, with further detail contained in 
Appendices B to F. 

 
 Recurring pressures and investment proposals (Appendix B) 

 New budget proposals (Appendix C) 
 Schedule of 2020/21 agreed savings previously consulted upon (for reference 

only) (Appendix D) 
 Schedule of proposed amendments to previous budget decisions (Appendix E) 

 Proposed Use of reserves statement (Appendix F). 
 

3. COUNCIL TAX IMPLICATIONS 
 

3.1 In setting the Council Tax for 2021/22, Council will have regard to the Council Tax 
base approved by the Executive on 5 January 2021. The Council will also wish to note 
the precepts of the parish and town councils. 

 
4. MATTERS RELATING TO 2020/21 FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

4.1 The 2020/21 financial position is contingent upon the 2020/21 audited out-turn. The 
Executive is therefore asked to give the s151 Officer authority to secure the best 
position for the Council in respect of 2020/21 in preparing the Final Accounts for 

2020/21. 
 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 

5.1 The uncertainties regarding the funding that will be available to the Council are 

Page 43



 4  

considered within the Section 151 Officer’s Report. Existing governance 
arrangements around the Council’s financial monitoring will continue. 

 
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL 
 

6.1 It is necessary to ensure that Executive have comprehensive information when 

considering the recommendations to make to Council on the budget for 2021/22 at 
their meeting on 18 February 2021. It is a legal requirement that Members have 
regard to all relevant information. The information in this report and any updated 
information produced to Executive on 16 February 2021 following their consideration 

on 2 February 2021 of the feedback received to date from the on-going consultation 
processes and their consideration of equality issues are considered important in this 
context. It will also be necessary to consider any further information produced to the 
16 February 2021 Executive meeting. 

 
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY 

 

7.1.1 The equality implications of the new budget proposals and the proposed amendments 
to previous budget decisions were highlighted in the separate report presented to the 
meeting of Executive on 2 February 2020 (Document DE). The equality implications of 

the 2021/22 proposals previously approved by Budget Council in February 2020 were 
fully considered by Council at that time. 

 
7.1.2 Equality impact assessments are undertaken on all budget proposals. Where 

impacts are identified on particular protected characteristic groups, the assessments 
are published, consulted on and then further updated reflecting on any feedback 
received. These assessments for the 2021/22 proposals are accessible via this link: 

 https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/equality- 

impact-assessments/ 
 
 Elected Members should consider the Equality Impact Assessments in full. The 

consultation provides the opportunity for the Council to better understand: 

 
 The consequences for individuals with protected characteristics affected by 

changes, particularly related to proposals relating to social care; 
 Any cumulative impact on groups with protected characteristics. 

 
7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.2.1 There are no direct sustainability implications resulting from this report. 

 
7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS 
 

7.3.1 There are no direct greenhouse gas emissions implications resulting from this report. 
 
7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.4.1 There are no direct community safety implications of new budget proposals. 
 

 

Page 44

https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/equality-impact-assessments/
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/equality-impact-assessments/


 5  

7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 
 

7.5.1 Any human rights implications resulting from this report are referred to in the Equality 
Impact Assessments. 

 
7.6 TRADE UNION 

 

7.6.1 The feedback from the consultation programme on the Council’s new budget 
proposals and the proposed amendments to previous budget decisions were detailed 
in a separate report presented to the meeting of Executive on 2 February 2021 

(Document DE). The consultation feedback on the proposals previously approved by 
Budget Council was fully considered by Council at that time. 

 
7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS 

 

7.7.1 In general terms, where proposals affect services to the public, the impact will 
typically be felt across all wards. Some proposals will have a more direct local 
impact on individual organisations and/or communities. 

 
7.8 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING 
 

7.8.1 Any implications for corporate parenting are addressed in the detailed budget 

proposals 
 
7.9 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT   ASSESMENT 
 

 None. 
 
8. RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL 
 

 Executive is asked to approve the following recommendations to Council: 
 
8.1 REVENUE ESTIMATES 2021/22 
 

(a) That the Base Revenue Forecast of £385,373m for 2021/22 be approved as set 
out in this report. 

 
(b) That the recurring pressures and investment proposals of £13.611m in 2021/22 

as set out in Appendix B be approved. 
 
(c) That the additional service savings and additional income of £0.745m in 2021/22 

as set out in Appendix C be approved. 

 
(d) That the prior agreed savings be noted and the amendment to previous budget 

decisions totalling £1.608mm in 2021/22 as set out in Appendix E be approved.  
 
(e) That it be noted that within the revenue budget there is a net use of £6.395m in 

revenue reserves in 2021/22 as set out in Appendix F 
 
(f) That the service savings proposals for 2021/22 be approved, requiring the Chief 

Executive, Strategic Directors and Directors to take necessary action during 

2020/21 to ensure those savings are fully achievable for 2021/22. 

Page 45



 6  

 
(g) That the comments of Director of Finance set out in Section 151 Officer’s 

Assessment of the proposed budgets on the robustness of the estimates and the 
adequacy of reserves taking account of the recommendations made at 8.1(a) to 
(f) above be noted. 

 
8.2 PROPOSED COUNCIL TAX 2021/22 
 

8.2.1 That it be noted that the projected council tax base and expenditure forecasts outlined 
in this report together with the 2021/22 resources and the budget variations approved 

in 8.1 produce a proposed Band D council tax of £1,499.11 for 2021/22. 
 
8.3 PAYMENT DATES FOR COUNCIL TAX AND NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC 

RATES 

 

8.3.1 That the first instalment date for payment of National Non-Domestic Rates and 
Council Tax shall be specified by the s151 Officer. 

 
8.4 DELEGATION TO OFFICERS 
 

8.4.1 That for the avoidance of doubt and without prejudice to any of the powers contained 
in Article 14 of Part 2 of the Council's Constitution on the Function of Officers, the 

s151 Officer shall have full delegated powers to act on behalf of the Council on all 
matters relating to the Council Tax, Non-Domestic Rates and Accounts Receivable 
Debtors including (without prejudice to the generality of the delegation) entry into any 
business rate pilot, assessments, determinations, recovery, enforcement and, in 

accordance with the statutory scheme, full delegated powers to act on behalf of the 
Council with regard to all aspects of the granting of Discretionary and Hardship Rate 
Relief to qualifying ratepayers. 

 

 
8.5 PREPARATION OF ACCOUNTS 

 

(a) That in preparing the Final Accounts for 2020/21, the s151 Officer be 

empowered to take appropriate steps to secure the best advantage for the 
Council's financial position. 
 

(b) That the s151 Officer be empowered to deal with items which involve the 

transfer of net spending between the financial years 2020/21 and 2021/22 in a 
manner which secures the best advantage for the Council's financial position. 

 
(c) That the s151 Officer report any action taken in pursuance of 8.5(a) and 8.5 (b) 

above when reporting on the Final Accounts for 2020/21. 
 
 

8.6    COUNCIL TAX REQUIREMENT 2021/22 

 
(a) That the council tax base figures for 2021/22 calculated by the Council at its 

meeting on 5th January 2021 in respect of the whole of the Council’s area and 

individual parish and town council areas be noted. 
 
(b) That the only special items for 2021/22 under Section 35 of the Local 

Page 46



 7  

Government Finance Act 1992 are local parish and town council precepts and 
no expenses are to be treated as special expenses under Section 35(1) (b) of 

that Act. 
 
(c) That the Council Tax Requirement, excluding parish and town council precepts, 

be calculated as follows: 
 

Gross expenditure  £1,097,743,943 

Income £882,225,822 

Council Tax requirement  £215,518,121 

Council tax base 142,000 

Basic amount of council tax £1,517.73 

Adjustment in respect of parish and town council 
precepts 

£  18.62 

Basic amount excluding parish and town councils £1,499.11 

 

Page 47



 8  

That the precepts of parish and town councils are noted and the resulting basic council tax 
amounts for particular areas of the Council be calculated as follows: 

 

Parish or Town Council Area 
Local 

Precept 
Council Tax 

Base 
Parish/Town 
Council Tax  

Whole Area 
Council Tax 

Basic Council 
Tax Amount 

 £  £ £ £ 

      

Addingham 98,800 1,756   56.26 1,499.11 1,555.37 

Baildon 304,000 6,226   48.83 1,499.11 1,547.94 

Bingley 187,396 8,491   22.07 1,499.11 1,521.18 

Burley 245,754 2,997   82.00 1,499.11 1,581.11 

Clayton 72,740 2,423   30.02 1,499.11 1,529.13 

Cullingworth 40,155 1,277   31.44 1,499.11 1,530.55 

Denholme 51,660 1,148   45.00 1,499.11 1,544.11 

Harden 37,755 839   45.00 1,499.11 1,544.11 

Haworth, Crossroads and 
Stanbury 105,456 2,343   45.01 1,499.11 1,544.12 

Ilkley 338,788 7,191   47.11 1,499.11 1,546.22 

Keighley  595,548 15,005   39.69 1,499.11 1,538.80 

Menston 117,450 2,175   54.00 1,499.11 1,553.11 

Oxenhope 35,875 1,025   35.00 1,499.11 1,534.11 

Sandy Lane 15,678 871   18.00 1,499.11 1,517.11 

Shipley 139,937 4663   30.01 1,499.11 1,529.12 

Silsden 86,800 3,023   28.71 1,499.11 1,527.82 

Steeton with Eastburn 79,462 1,769   44.92 1,499.11 1,544.03 

Wilsden 62,169 1,739   35.75 1,499.11 1,534.86 

Wrose * 28,998 2,148   13.50 1,499.11 1,512.61 

      

Total of all local precepts 2,644,421 67,109    

 
  

Page 48



 9  

  (e) That the council tax amounts for dwellings in different valuation bands in respect of 
the Council’s budget requirement, taking into account parish and town council 

precepts applicable to only part of the Council’s area, be calculated as follows:  
 

 Council Tax Amount for Each Valuation Band 

 Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H 
 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

All parts of the 
Council’s area 

other than those 
below 

 999.41 1,165.97 1,332.54 1,499.11 1,832.25 2,165.38 2,498.52 2,998.22 

         

The parish and 
town council 

areas of: 
        

Addingham 1,036.91 1,209.73 1,382.55 1,555.37 1,901.01 2,246.65 2,592.28 3,110.74 

Baildon 1,031.96 1,203.95 1,375.95 1,547.94 1,891.93 2,235.91 2,579.90 3,095.88 

Bingley 1,014.12 1,183.14 1,352.16 1,521.18 1,859.22 2,197.26 2,535.30 3,042.36 

Burley 1,054.07 1,229.75 1,405.43 1,581.11 1,932.47 2,283.83 2,635.18 3,162.22 

Clayton 1,019.42 1,189.32 1,359.23 1,529.13 1,868.94 2,208.74 2,548.55 3,058.26 

Cullingworth 1,020.37 1,190.43 1,360.49 1,530.55 1,870.67 2,210.79 2,550.92 3,061.10 

Denholme 1,029.41 1,200.97 1,372.54 1,544.11 1,887.25 2,230.38 2,573.52 3,088.22 

Harden 1,029.41 1,200.97 1,372.54 1,544.11 1,887.25 2,230.38 2,573.52 3,088.22 

Haworth, 

Crossroads and 
Stanbury 

1,029.41 1,200.98 1,372.55 1,544.12 1,887.26 2,230.40 2,573.53 3,088.24 

Ilkley 1,030.81 1,202.62 1,374.42 1,546.22 1,889.82 2,233.43 2,577.03 3,092.44 

Keighley * 1,025.87 1,196.84 1,367.82 1,538.80 1,880.76 2,222.71 2,564.67 3,077.60 

Menston 1,035.41 1,207.97 1,380.54 1,553.11 1,898.25 2,243.38 2,588.52 3,106.22 

Oxenhope 1,022.74 1,193.20 1,363.65 1,534.11 1,875.02 2,215.94 2,556.85 3,068.22 

Sandy Lane 1,011.41 1,179.97 1,348.54 1,517.11 1,854.25 2,191.38 2,528.52 3,034.22 

Shipley 1,019.41 1,189.32 1,359.22 1,529.12 1,868.92 2,208.73 2,548.53 3,058.24 

Silsden 1,018.55 1,188.30 1,358.06 1,527.82 1,867.34 2,206.85 2,546.37 3,055.64 

Steeton with 
Eastburn 

1,029.35 1,200.91 1,372.47 1,544.03 1,887.15 2,230.27 2,573.38 3,088.06 

Wilsden 1,023.24 1,193.78 1,364.32 1,534.86 1,875.94 2,217.02 2,558.10 3,069.72 

Wrose * 1,008.41 1,176.47 1,344.54 1,512.61 1,848.75 2,184.88 2,521.02 3,025.22 

         

 
  

Page 49



 10  

(f) That it be noted that for the year 2021-22 the Police and Crime Commissioner and 

West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority (WYFRA) have indicated the following 

precepts (provisional and still to be confirmed). 

Precept Council Tax Amount for Each Valuation Band 

Amount Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H 
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

         

West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority  

9,539,560 44.79 52.25 59.72 67.18 82.11 97.04 111.97 134.36 
         

Police and Crime Commissioner for West Yorkshire  
30,001,760 140.85 164.33 187.80 211.28 258.23 305.18 352.13 422.56 

         
 

(g) That having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at (e) and (f) 

above, the Council set the following amounts of council tax for 2021-22 in each of 
the categories of dwellings shown below:  

 Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H 
 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

All parts of the 
Council’s area 

other than those 
below 

1,185.05 1,382.55 1,580.06 1,777.57 2,172.59 2,567.60 2,962.62 3,555.14 

         

The parish and 
town council 

areas of: 
        

Addingham 1,222.55 1,426.31 1,630.07 1,833.83 2,241.35 2,648.87 3,056.38 3,667.66 

Baildon 1,217.60 1,420.53 1,623.47 1,826.40 2,232.27 2,638.13 3,044.00 3,652.80 

Bingley 1,199.76 1,399.72 1,599.68 1,799.64 2,199.56 2,599.48 2,999.40 3,599.28 

Burley 1,239.71 1,446.33 1,652.95 1,859.57 2,272.81 2,686.05 3,099.28 3,719.14 

Clayton 1,205.06 1,405.90 1,606.75 1,807.59 2,209.28 2,610.96 3,012.65 3,615.18 

Cullingworth 1,206.01 1,407.01 1,608.01 1,809.01 2,211.01 2,613.01 3,015.02 3,618.02 

Denholme 1,215.05 1,417.55 1,620.06 1,822.57 2,227.59 2,632.60 3,037.62 3,645.14 

Harden 1,215.05 1,417.55 1,620.06 1,822.57 2,227.59 2,632.60 3,037.62 3,645.14 

Haworth, 

Crossroads and 
Stanbury 

1,215.05 1,417.56 1,620.07 1,822.58 2,227.60 2,632.62 3,037.63 3,645.16 

Ilkley 1,216.45 1,419.20 1,621.94 1,824.68 2,230.16 2,635.65 3,041.13 3,649.36 

Keighley * 1,211.51 1,413.42 1,615.34 1,817.26 2,221.10 2,624.93 3,028.77 3,634.52 

Menston 1,221.05 1,424.55 1,628.06 1,831.57 2,238.59 2,645.60 3,052.62 3,663.14 

Oxenhope 1,208.38 1,409.78 1,611.17 1,812.57 2,215.36 2,618.16 3,020.95 3,625.14 

Sandy Lane 1,197.05 1,396.55 1,596.06 1,795.57 2,194.59 2,593.60 2,992.62 3,591.14 

Shipley 1,205.05 1,405.90 1,606.74 1,807.58 2,209.26 2,610.95 3,012.63 3,615.16 

Silsden 1,204.19 1,404.88 1,605.58 1,806.28 2,207.68 2,609.07 3,010.47 3,612.56 

Steeton with 
Eastburn 

1,214.99 1,417.49 1,619.99 1,822.49 2,227.49 2,632.49 3,037.48 3,644.98 

Wilsden 1,208.88 1,410.36 1,611.84 1,813.32 2,216.28 2,619.24 3,022.20 3,626.64 

Wrose * 1,194.05 1,393.05 1,592.06 1,791.07 2,189.09 2,587.10 2,985.12 3,582.14 

         

  

Page 50



 11  

(h) That Council notes the movement in Band D equivalent charges for 2021-22 over 
 2020-21 as set out in the table below. 

 

  
Council Tax 

2021-22 
Council Tax 

2020-21 

Percentage 

change 2021-
22 on 2020-21 

  
Band D 

Equiv alent 
Band D 

Equiv alent   

Bradford Metropolitan District Council 1,499.11 1,427.86 4.99% 

West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority * 67.18 65.87 1.99%  

West Yorkshire Police Authority * 211.28 196.28 7.64% 
     

Local (Parish Council) Precepts:    
Addingham 56.26 56.32 -0.1% 

Baildon 48.83 48.83 0.0% 

Bingley 22.07 20.13 9.6% 

Burley 82.00 82.00 0.0% 

Clayton 30.02 29.94 0.3% 

Cullingworth 31.44 29.79 5.5% 

Denholme 45.00 42.00 7.1% 

Harden 45.00 45.00 0.0% 

Haworth etc 45.01 45.01 0.0% 

Ilkley 47.11 45.00 4.7% 

Keighley  39.69 34.73 14.3% 

Menston 54.00 54.00 0.0% 

Oxenhope 35.00 35.00 0.0% 

Sandy Lane 18.00 18.00 0.0% 

Shipley 30.01 30.01 0.0% 

Silsden 28.71 28.93 -0.8% 

Steeton/ Eastburn 44.92 41.00 9.6% 

Wilsden 35.75 35.75 0.0% 

Wrose *   13.50 13.50 0.0% 

*Prov isional figures    

    

 

 
 

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

 

Executive reports 
 

 16th February 2021: 2021/22 Budget Proposals and Forecast Reserves 

– s151 Officer Assessment 

 2nd February 2021: 2021-22 Budget Update Report 

 2nd February 2021: Qtr 3 Finance Position Statement 2020-21 

 5th January 2021: Calculation of Bradford’s Council Tax Base and 

Business Rates Base for 2021/22 

 1st December 2020 Proposed Financial Plan and Budget proposals for 2021/22 and 
Addendum 

 

 18th February 2020 - The Council’s Revenue Estimates for 2020/21 – 
Budget Council 

Page 51



 12  

 
 

 
10 APPENDICES 
 

10.1 Appendix A: Council Cumulative Budget 2021/22 

 
10.2 Appendix B: Recurring pressures and investment proposals 
 
10.3 Appendix C: New Proposals that were subject to consultation 

 
10.5 Appendix D: Schedule of 2021/22 agreed savings previously consulted upon 
  (for reference only) 
 

10.6 Appendix E: Schedule of proposed amendments to previous budget decisions 
 
10.7 Appendix F: Proposed Use of Reserves statement 
 

Page 52



 13  

Appendix A 
COUNCIL CUMULATIVE BUDGET 2021/22  

 
SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
 

2021/22 
Budget  

£’000 

  

NET EXPENDITURE    
    
2020/21 Budget brought forward 378,080   
Reversal of non-recurring investment from 2020/21 (5,630)   
Sub total 372,450   
    
Proposed Recurring Investments in 2021-22 (Appendix B + Bii) 13,611   
Funding Changes (7,237)   
    
Inflation incl Pay Award 14,120   
    
Base Net Expenditure Requirement 392,944   
    
Demographic pressures in Adults, Children’s and Waste 1,850   
Capital financing and central budget adjustments (1,143)   
Previously approved budget savings (Appendix D) (9,142)   
Amended prior Budget decisions (Appendix E) 1,608   
New Budget proposals for consultation (Appendix C) (745)   
    
Net Expenditure Requirement 385,373   
    
RESOURCES    
Localised Business Rates (62,458)   
BR Collection fund deficit from 2020-21                      924   
BR Collection fund deficit compensation scheme (75%) (693)   
Adj to enable remaining 25% deficit to be split over 3 yeas                     (231)   
Remaining forecast BR fund deficit repayment (£231k split over 3 years) 77   
Top Up Grant (69,259)   
Revenue Support Grant (34,800)   
Council Tax & Adult Social Care Precept              (212,874)   
CTax fund deficit from 2020-21                    6,400   
CTax 2020-21 fund deficit compensation scheme                  (4,800)   
Adj to enable remaining 25% deficit to split over 3 years                  (1,600)   
Remaining 2020-21 CTax fund deficit repayment (£1.6m split over 3 years)                      533   
Pre-approved use of reserves (198)   
Proposed use of reserves to balance 2021-22 budget (Appendix F) (6,395)   
Total Resources (385,373)   
    
Budget (surplus)/shortfall 0   
    
    

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



 14  

Appendix B - Recurring pressures and investment proposals which were open for 
Consultation until 15th January 2021 

 
Appendix Costs and Savings are shown for both 2021-22 and 2022-23 in comparison to the 2020-21 Budget  

 Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22 for Consultation 
  

2021-22 2022-23 

    £’000 £’000 

CHR8.1 Children’s Services demand pressures & improvement       6,500        6,500  

CHR8.3 Skills House – Investment (£1m investment in 21-22 to be funded 
from Covid Grants)  

0        1,019  

PR8.1 Waste Services demand & lower recycling income       1,000        1,000  

CR8.1 Learning & Development and equalities       1,250        1,250  

CR8.2 IT requirements to support Children’s Services           843        174  

CR8.3 SEND Transport Demographic Growth          500           500  

HWR8.1 Adults Commissioning Team expansion          500        1,000  

PR8.2 Stronger Communities Team           250           500  

CRR8.4 Legal Services, to support children service demands          442           577  

PR8.3 Culture investment           258           461  

CRR8.5 Craft working review          210           210  

PR8.4 Housing First          360           360  

CXR8.1 Safeguarding Pressure          128           128  

CRR8.6 Continuing support for Community Asset Transfers          120           120  

HWR8.1 Financial Inclusion            50             50  

CRR8.7 Microsoft licences                0             700  

   Total      12,411    14,549  

 
Appendix B II) - Recurring pressures and investment proposals 
Additional proposals submitted on 16th February 2021 
  

 Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22 
  

2021-22 2022-23 

    £’000 £’000 

 Street Cleansing      600        600 

 Ward Teams – support for communities 600        600 

   Total      1,200    1,200  

 
Appendix C - New proposals which were open for Consultation until 15th January 2021     

 
New budget proposals for consultation  2021-22 2022-23 

    £’000 £’000 

8CR1 Reduce added years pensions budget as saving already delivered -500 -500 

8CR2 Saving in Cash handling and transit as saving already delivered -160 -160 

8P2 Fund contract manager post from European Structural Investment Programme 0.6FTE -35 -35 

8P3 Vacant post - delete vacant Housing Technician post -27 -27 

  Total  -745  -745  

Page 54



 15  

Appendix D - Schedule of agreed savings previously consulted on (for reference only)      
Schedule of agreed savings previously consulted on (for reference only) 
  

2021-22 2022-23 

    £’000 £’000 

4A1 Adults - Overall Demand Management Strategy - moving from a 
dependency model to one that promotes independence and resilience (e.g. 
reducing numbers coming in to care, care system culture change, speeding up 
integration, redesign enablement, reviewing financial needs, and continued 
personalisation). 

-8,379 -13,868 

T1-T6 Remaining Travel Assistance Saving -250 -250 

5E2 Youth Service – The Youth service saving will be delayed by one year to 
2022-23 as outlined in Table 4 

-513 -513 

  Total -        9,142  -     14,631  

 
Appendix E - Schedule of proposed amendments to previous budget decisions open for 

consultation until 15th January 2021 
 

Amended prior year budget savings for Consultation 
  

2021-22 2022-23 

    £’000 £’000 

4L1 Legal and Democratic Services – to reflect the reduced size and scope of the 
Council, reductions to Civic, Legal and Committee Services, including 
Overview and Scrutiny are proposed – Delete the saving as the work of the 
service has not reduced as expected 

50 50 

4R14 Asset Management Saving -  "Seek to invest in non-operational property to 
generate surplus income" -  Defer the saving as the investment market is 
impacted by the current economical position created by Covid. 

500 500 

4E8 Events and Festivals Saving - review to develop a more sustainable and 
balanced events programme – Delete saving as part of investment in City 
of Culture bid 

120 120 

5X1 5X1 - Reduce total cost of top management - the scope is the 
senior management (Strategic and Assistant Directors) and 
their PA structure – Delete saving as original  proposal not valid 

75 75 

6X1 Welfare Advice & Customer Service - Fundamental change to the way the 
Council and its partners deliver customer facing Services, focussed on 
customers getting the ‘right support at the right time’. - Delay the full 
implementation of the £844k approved saving to 2022-23 as these 
services are critical to the on-going response to Covid and continue to 
review their approach to delivery 

350 0 

5E2 Youth Services Saving – delay the  £513k saving to 2022/23 at a cost of 
£513k as response to Covid has been critical  

513 513 

  Cost of deleting or delaying the implementation of previously agreed savings     1,608     1,258  

 
Appendix F Proposed Used of Reserves 

The reserves that are proposed to be used to fund the gap in 2021-22 are. 
Amended prior year budget savings for Consultation 
  

2021-22 

    £’000 

 Insurance Risk Reserve 1,793 

 Council Tax Reserve 575 

 NDR Volatility Reserve 1,735 

 Energy Price Reserve 100 

 Transition and Risk Reserve 2,192 

 Total Reserve draw down 6,395 
 

Page 55



 16  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



Report of the Director of Finance to the meeting of 
Executive to be held on 16 February 2021

DG

Subject: 

Capital Investment Plan 2021-22 to 2024-25

Summary statement:

Section A of this report presents the Council’s Capital investment Plan 2021-22 to 2024-
25.

Section B presents an updated Capital Strategy for 2021-22. This strategy underpins the 
spending proposals within the Capital Investment Plan.

Section C presents the Investment Strategy for 2021-22. This provides an update to the 
Investment Strategy, with particular reference to recent Government announcements. 

Chris Chapman
Director of Finance

Portfolio:  

Corporate

Report Contact:  Chris Chapman
Director of Finance & IT 
Phone: (01274) 43 3656
E-mail: Chris.Chapman@bradford.gov.uk

 Overview & Scrutiny Area: 

Corporate

Page 57



1. SUMMARY

1.1 This report proposes the Council’s Capital Investment Plan (CIP) from 2021-22 to 
2024-25. The report also includes for 2021-22: The Capital Strategy (Section B) 
and the Investment Strategy (Section C).

1.2 This report is part of the overall 2021-22 budget proposal for the Council which also 
includes:

 The Council’s Revenue Estimates for 2021-22 (Document DE)
 Allocation of the Schools Budget 2021-22 Financial Year (Document DH)
 Section 151 Officer’s Assessment of the proposed budgets (Document DI)

2. OVERVIEW

2.1 SECTION A of this report outlines the 2021-22 Capital Investment Plan (CIP). This 
includes:

 Capital Investment Plan - Background
 The Capital Schemes
 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
 The Prudential Indicators

2.2 SECTION B of this report sets out the 2021-22 Capital Strategy. This includes:

 Guiding Principles
 Governance Framework for Capital Decisions
 Capital Resources to support Capital Expenditure
 Commercial Property Investments
 Loans to External Organisations
 Asset Management Planning
 Risks
 Prudence, Affordability, Sustainability
 Skills & Knowledge
 Capital Strategy Actions

2.3 Section C updates the 2021-22 Investment Strategy.

SECTION A: CAPITAL INVESTMENT PLAN 2021-22

3. CAPITAL INVESTMENT PLAN - BACKGROUND

3.1 The Capital Investment Plan (CIP) is the Council’s budget for expenditure on long-
term infrastructure items, such as buildings and vehicles. These items are one-off, 
so need to provide value to the Council across a number of financial years; the 
items are also paid for across different financial years.

3.2 Expenditure in the CIP therefore differs significantly from that in Revenue Estimates 
– these estimates present ongoing expenditure, such as salaries, used up and 

Page 58



funded within one financial year.

3.3 The CIP is governed by statutory requirements set out in the 2003 Capital 
Regulations. The key points are:

 Capital expenditure within the CIP provides benefits to Council residents that 
lasts for more than one financial year, such as a new sports centre.

 The construction process, for example a new sports centre, can also stretch 
across a number of financial years. For these reasons the CIP budget is 
presented as a rolling programme across a number of future years. 

 Capital expenditure can only be funded from a limited number of sources: 
external grants (designated by the grant provider as for a capital purpose); 
funding provided by the Revenue Estimates (Direct Revenue Financing); 
funding from reserves, including the Major Repairs Reserve in the case of the 
Housing Revenue Account and borrowing. 

 All the above funding sources involve paying for capital expenditure directly and 
immediately, except when borrowing is required. The borrowing principal and 
the related interest charges are repaid gradually through successive Revenue 
Estimates. The impact of the borrowing principal and interest payments are 
known technically as capital financing charges.

 There are some further points to note around capital financing charges. The 
provision of funding for the principal repayments is governed by strict rules. 
These rules determine how this funding is identified and set aside within 
successive years of the Revenue Estimates. The rules are known technically as 
the Minimum Revenue Policy (MRP). This funding is set aside irrespective and 
unrelated to the actual principal repayments, which is managed within the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy. 

 Interest charges on the borrowing are charged to the Revenue Estimates based 
on the year to which these relate.

 Capital Expenditure is monitored using what are called Prudential Indicators. 
These aim to measure and weigh the Council’s level of indebtedness and any 
impacts on the Revenue Estimates for future generations. This check is due to 
the importance of ensuring value from capital expenditure: it significantly 
impacts both on service provision and finances for many years in the future.

3.4 One other point about borrowing is the overall purpose from the Council’s 
perspective. One purpose is to fund one-off expenditure to deliver an ongoing 
improvement to service provision for the residents’ districts (The Council calls this 
Corporate Borrowing).

3.5 Sometimes the purpose of the one-off expenditure is to enable the same service 
provision to be delivered more efficiently: for example, the Council could purchase 
vehicles as opposed to paying to rent them. Such borrowing schemes are known as 
“Invest to Save” because the capital financing costs are mitigated by the savings 
they generate in the Revenue Estimates. 

Page 59



4. THE CAPITAL SCHEMES

4.1 As noted above, the CIP is always a rolling programme, because it continues 
across financial years. Therefore, the starting point for the proposed 2021-22 CIP is 
the quarter 3 monitoring position for the 2020-21 CIP. This is shown in Table 1 
below:

Table 1: Quarter 3 Capital Investment Plan

Q2 Re 
profiled 
Budget 

2020-21 Changes

 Re 
profile 
Budget 

2020-21

Spend      
31 Dec 

2020
Budget 

21-22
Budget  
 22-23

Budget 
23-24 

onwards Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Health and Wellbeing 1.6 0 1.6 0.3 4.2 1.5 0 7.3

Children's Services 24.1 0.2 24.3 13.2 11.0 2.3 0 37.6

Place - Economy & Development Services 14.4 0.1 14.5 3.1 41.5 21.6 8.6 86.2

Place - Planning, Transport & Highways 28.3 1.7 30.0 13.4 65.4 112.0 16.5 223.9

Place - Other 20.4 0.5 20.9 8.9 12.3 14.0 10.5 57.7

Corp Service – Estates & Property Services 12.7 0.3 13.0 3.6 5.0 0.1 0 18.1

TOTAL – General Fund Services 101.5 2.8 104.3 42.5 139.4 151.5 35.6 430.8

HRA 0.6 1.1 1.7 0 2.0 8.0 18.7 30.4

Reserve Schemes & Contingencies 31.4 -0.9 30.5 0 110.3 101.7 38.6 281.1

Council TOTAL 133.5 3.0 136.5 42.5 251.7 261.2 92.9 742.3

4.2 In order to draw up the 2021-22 CIP proposed changes are:

 Revisions for estimated slippage in the current 2020-21 financial year. 
 Ongoing schemes continued for the additional 2024-25 year added to the CIP.
 New schemes for CIP.
 Changes related to the HRA CIP schemes.

4.3 The first change is the ongoing schemes continued into 2024-25. These are 
detailed below:

 Replacement of Vehicles - £3m
 Property Programme - £2m
 General contingency for unforeseen capital expenditure - £1m

4.5 The new schemes proposed for the CIP are set out and described in Table 2 below. 
It is proposed these be identified as ‘reserve’ schemes, pending the presentation of 
full project appraisals to the Project Appraisal Group for review before seeking 
Executive approval.

Page 60



Table 2: New proposed schemes for the 2021-22 CIP
Proposed Scheme Total

Budget
£000

Description / Benefit

Health & Wellbeing
PCS1 BACES 3,300

Additional 300k 
2021-22 and 
750k per year 
for 4 years, 
2022-23 
onwards

Additional Investment in Bradford & Airedale
Community Equipment Service (BACES) is
required beyond the currently approved funding
period. The capital budget is an essential part of
the BACES requirement for small and minor
adaptations to people’s homes that are not
Disabled Facilities Grant eligible or for larger 
items of equipment such as Stair lifts and 
Hoists. It is intended that there will be a future 
requirement of £350k for Learning Disability 
service users and £400k for more general 
BACES capital items.

PCS2 Great 
Places to Grow 
Old – Saltaire 
Residential Care 
Home

2,400 The Scheme is already in the CIP for the 
construction of a new 50 bed short stay 
residential home on the site of Neville Grange in 
Saltaire.

Place – Sport & Culture
PCS3 Marley 
Playing Field

500 Works to riverbank next to the playing field.

Corporate Resources
PCS4 Core IT 
Infrastructure

1,220
2021-22

This is for SAP developments and the Digital
Strategy capital innovation fund. It will be funded
by £0.4m already in the 20-21 Programme, 
£0.2m
revenue contribution and the remainder 
corporate
borrowing.

Children’s Services
PCS5 SEND 
Expansion 

6,000
2,000 per year 
for 3 years

This is the estimate of the additional budget 
need above current Basic Needs Grant. It would 
be funded by corporate borrowing and be used 
to complete SEND expansion in mainstream 
schools and SEN schools. 

PCS6 IT 
Processes and 
Systems – End to 
End Review

330 A planned programme of work to systems and
processes. The improvements to the systems 
are designed to promote better practice 
including facilitating improvements in the quality 
of analysis and the extent to which the child’s 
lived experience is captured. This in turn will 
contribute to enhanced planning and review, 
helping us to ensure that progress towards clear 
targets is monitored.

Page 61



PCS7 Laptops for 
Children

2,200 split
over two
financial
years
(one
academic
year)

Investment programme for raising attainment
across the District. It includes continuing to 
invest capital funding in Digital Inclusion for
Disadvantaged Children & Young People by
investing in an infrastructure to support the
programme.

4.6 In addition to the schemes above there are other possible schemes that are at a 
very early stage of development. Further work and investigations will be completed 
and they will be brought to Executive for approval.  Schemes currently being 
considered are:

 A Waste Recycling Facility
 Crag Road Phase 2 Development
 A Business Development Zone
 A potential increase of £0.5m for the Saltaire Residential Care Home Scheme

4.7 The proposed new schemes in Table 2 are at different stages as regards the 
development of the relevant business cases. Points to note are:
 The 2021-22 Property Programme have already been subject to a detailed 

business case and approved by the Project Advisory Group. The total cost of 
the proposed Programme is £2.5m and this will be funded by the £2m included 
in Reserves and the movement of £0.5m from the Argus Chambers Property 
Scheme. 

 IT Processes and Systems – End to End Review has already been reviewed by 
PAG. The scheme is for a planned programme of improvement work to systems 
and processes in Children’s Services. The cost of the capital spend is £0.330m 
and it will be funded by corporate borrowing.    

The remaining schemes are subject to further work and a detailed, costed business 
case. The new schemes are held in a Reserves & Contingencies section of the CIP 
and as such cannot be released to budget managers.

4.8 The proposed 2020-21 to 2024-25 Capital Investment Programme is a rolling 
programme including the quarter 3 capital budget, with the addition of the new 
schemes detailed in table 2. This is set out in Appendix 1, along with a funding 
analysis.

5 MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP) POLICY

5.1 It is a statutory requirement for Full Council to set the Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) policy each year. As noted, it is a technical term but refers to the rules 
governing how much funding is set aside from successive Revenue Estimates each 
year to repay debt.

5.2 The overall purpose of the policy is to charge the costs of capital schemes to 
current and future years in proportion to the amount of service benefit delivered in 
each year. The aim is to allocate costs between time periods and different 
generations in a fair and reasonable way. This means: 

Page 62



 Costs are charged only when schemes are in operation and not in the 
construction phase.

 Costs are generally allocated over the expected timespan in which any scheme 
is operational. 

 The policy only relates to the repayment of borrowing: the elements of schemes 
funded directly, for example by grants, do not cause any future funding 
pressures on the Revenue Estimates.

5.3 The proposed policy is set out in Appendix 2. Compared to previous years, the only 
change to the policy is an update for the Council’s new Housing Revenue Account. 
This allows funding to repay debt to be redirected to investment in the housing 
stock, providing that sufficient upkeep and improvement on the buildings is 
delivered.

5.4 The main elements of the policy set out in Appendix 2 are set out below:

 Pre 2008 debt, which cannot be distinguished against specific assets, is being 
repaid over 50 years on an equal instalment basis.

 Some debt taken out between 2008 and 2012 is currently being repaid on an 
annuity basis. This reflects policy and regulations during this period.

 Funding set aside for debt repayments within the HRA is calculated on a 
depreciation charge.

 All other debt is repaid on an equal life basis: as determined by the expected 
lifespan of each individual asset. 

 The policy also provides some discretion to the Section 151 officer in 
determining debt repayments. However, this is subject to the relevant scheme 
meeting targets.

6. PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS

6.1 The Prudential Indicators are calculated on the basis that the CIP in future years is 
delivered in full and that there is no slippage. However, slippage has been included 
for the 2021-22 year.

6.2 The 2003 Capital Regulations authorise Councils to borrow for a capital purpose 
only. This is subject to tests of sustainability and affordable, using the Prudential 
Indicators.

6.3 One key Prudential Indicator, therefore, is a measure of the Council’s outstanding 
debt. Outstanding debt is the Council’s cumulative borrowing less any funding for 
debt repayment set aside within the Revenue Estimates. This Prudential Indicator is 
called the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The indicator is shown in Table 3a 
below:

Page 63



Table 3a: Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)
2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£m £m £m £m £m £m
Opening Capital 
Financing Requirement 700 711 753 845 939 936
Increase in borrowing 29 66 121 127 35 11
Less MRP and other 
financing movements -18 -24 -28 -33 -38 -40

Closing Capital 
Financing Requirement 711 753 845 939 936 907

6.4 Table 3a above shows:

 The actual CFR at 31 March 2020 was £711m. This figure is also shown in the 
Council’s statement of accounts and has been externally audited.

 The CFR is projected to increase, peaking at £939m in 31 March 2023. There is 
an increase when borrowing in year for a capital purpose is more than the 
amounts set aside to fund the principal repayments.

 The borrowing is estimated (apart from 31/03/2020) based on the proposed 
2021-22 CIP, as set out in Appendix 1.

 Outstanding debt increases when new borrowing is higher than the principal 
payments charged to the Revenue Estimates.

6.5 When the Council borrows cash, this is nearly always from the Public Works Loan 
Board. However, cash borrowing is significantly lower than the CFR. A 
reconciliation between the CFR and the Council’s loans is shown below in the 
Prudential Indicator for the external debt projection:

Table 3b: External Debt Projection
31/03/20 31/03/21 31/03/22 31/03/23 31/03/24 31/03/25 
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£m £m £m £m £m £m
Opening Capital 
Financing Requirement 700 711 753 845 939 936
Private Finance Initiative -169 -161 -157 -153 -148 -144
Earmarked Reserves -229 -243 -202 -202 -202 -202
Investments 52 96 45 45 45 45
Working Capital -36 -28 -28 -28 -28 -28
(ii) Opening External 
Debt 1 April 318 375 411 508 606 607

Under-borrowing 382 336 341 337 333 328

Page 64



6.6 Regarding Table 3b above:

 External debt increases generally when the CFR increases but is significantly 
lower.

 The amount by which External debt is lower than the CFR is called under-
borrowing. For example, under-borrowing is estimated to be £336m at 31 March 
2021.

 The reasons for the under-borrowing are reconciled in the above table. One 
significant reason is that some of the borrowing is in the form of a lease 
arrangement (the Private Finance Initiative) rather than cash. The other is that 
the Council borrows from its own internal earmarked reserves, rather than 
borrowing, because it is less expensive. 

6.7 As noted, the increase in the CFR drives the increase in external debts. This CFR 
increase in turn is caused by that part of the CIP funded from borrowing. The 
element of the CIP funded from borrowing is shown in the performance indicator 
below:

Table 3c: Analysis of Capital Spend Requiring Borrowing
31/03/20 31/03/21 31/03/22 31/03/23 31/03/24 31/03/25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£m £m £m £m £m £m
Total Capital Spend 81 137 255 268 76 27
Capital Spend not funded 
from borrowing 52 71 134 141 41 16

Capital spend funded 
from borrowing 29 66 121 127 35 11

6.8 Another Prudential Indicator measures the impact of the Capital Financing Costs 
(debt repayments and interest) on the Revenue Estimates. This impact measures 
the annual costs as a ratio as the Net Expenditure Requirement shown in the 2021-
22 Revenue Estimates (Document DE).

6.9 This Indicator is called the ratio of capital financing costs to the Net Revenue 
Stream. The indicator is shown in Table 4 below, together with a separate analysis 
for Invest to Save schemes:

Table 4: Ratio of Capital Financing costs to the Net Revenue Stream
2020-21

£m
2021-22

£m
2022-23

£m
2023-24

£m
2024-25

£m
Total Capital Financing 
Costs

56.6 60.8 66.4 71 72.5

Projected Net Expenditure 
Requirement

391.3 391.3 391.3 391.3 391.3

Ratio: Capital Financing 
costs to Net Expenditure 
Requirement

14.5% 15.5% 17.0% 18.1% 18.5%

Invest to Save element of 
Total Capital Financing Costs

6.7 8.1 11.3 13.9 15.3

Page 65



Invest to Save contribution to 
Ratio to Net Expenditure 
Requirement

2.1% 1.9% 1.5% 1.3% 1.2%

6.10 Key points about the above Prudential Indicator are:

 The ratio of capital financing costs to the Net Expenditure Requirement 
increases between 2020-21 and 2024-25. 

 Most of the increase in the ratio is driven by borrowing for Invest to Save 
schemes. Such schemes should generate mitigating savings which are not 
shown in the Prudential Indicator.

 The Prudential Indicator reflects a number assumptions including: that interest 
rates are 1.4% in 2020-21, 1.5% in 2021-22, 1.6% in 2022-23, 1.6% in 2023-24 
and 1.8% in 2024-25. The CIP has also been reprofiled to reflect lower spend in 
2020-21. The costs shown are particularly sensitive to unforeseen changes to 
interest rates.

 A reconciliation between the Prudential Indicator and the capital financing costs 
shown in the Revenue Estimates Budget is also shown in the table below: 

Table 5: Capital Financing Costs in the Revenue Estimates Budget

 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
 

 £m £m £m £m £m
Total Capital Financing 
Costs  56.6 60.8 66.4 71 72.5

Direct Funding Schemes 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
PFI interest virement  -16.0 -15.5 -14.9 -14.2 -13.6
PFI virement  -7.9 -8.1 -8.6 -8.8 -9.0
Prudential borrowing 
virement  -6.7 -8.4 -12.9 -16.4 -17.8

Corporate Capital 
Financing Costs within 
Revenue Estimates

27 29.9 31.1 32.6 33.3

6.11 Items of expenditure such as PFI interest and the PFI Lease virement are treated 
as capital expenditure under accounting rules and therefore come within the remit 
of the Prudential Indicator. However, this expenditure is already included elsewhere 
the Revenue Estimates.

6.12 Similarly, borrowing for self-financing schemes is being funded from services, as 
set out in the Prudential borrowing virement shown in Table 5 above.

6.13 All the Prudential Indicators, including additional analysis, are set out fully in 
Appendix 3 of this report.

Page 66



7 FLEXIBLE USE OF CAPITAL RECEIPTS STRATEGY

7.1 Until the end of the 2021-22 financial year, Councils have been given the option of 
using capital receipts to fund the Revenue Estimates. This subject to a number of 
conditions detailed below:

 The funding is for what can be termed transformation projects.
 Such projects will result in ongoing revenue savings for the Council.
 The costs of the project are one-off and strictly time limited.

7.2 The Council’s current strategy is to use capital receipts to reduce the borrowing 
need for capital expenditure. The proposal in this report is to delegate authority to 
the Section 151 officer to have the option to adjust this strategy and fund 
transformation projects from capital receipts.

7.3 The Council is also awaiting the introduction of a new funding regime for Local 
Government.

8 FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

8.1 The finance and resourcing implications are set out in the body of this report.

9 RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

9.1 The risk implications are set out in the body of this report.

10 LEGAL APPRAISAL

10.1 The report complies with the Council’s statutory obligations and the requirement to 
follow statutory guidance.

11 OTHER IMPLICATIONS

11.1 Equality and Diversity

None

11.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct sustainability implications arising from this report, sustainability 
implications are considered as part of individual capital project appraisals

11.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

There are no direct impacts arising from this report

11.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

Page 67



There are no direct impacts arising from this report

11.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

None

11.6 TRADE UNION

None

11.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS

None.

11.8 AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS
(for reports to Area Committees only)

None

11.9 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

None

11.10 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT

None

11.11 NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

None

11.12. OPTIONS

None

12 RECOMMENDATIONS 

12.1 Executive are asked to note the contents of this report and to have regard to the 
information contained within this report when considering the recommendations to 
make to Council on the CIP for 2021-22.

12.2 Commitments against reserve schemes and contingencies can only be made after 
a business case has been assessed by Project Appraisal Group and approved by 
Executive. 

12.3 Delegated authority is given to Section 151 Officer to repay debt on an annuity 
basis, for chosen properties purchased during or after 2018-19. Delegated authority 
could only be exercised if two conditions are met:

1. the asset retains or increases its value;

Page 68



2. the return from the capital scheme is sufficient to repay the capital sum 
invested. 

12.4 The proposed 2021-22 MRP policy set out in Appendix 2 is approved

12.5 The Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy is approved. 

12.6 Specific approval be given for the following schemes previously approved by 
Executive to commence following a detailed review by Project Appraisal Group:

 The 2021-22 Property Programme has a proposed total cost of £2.5m and this 
will be funded by the £2m allocated and the movement of £0.5m from the Argus 
Chambers Property Scheme. 

 IT Processes and Systems – End to End Review. The scheme is for a planned 
programme of improvement work to systems and processes in Children’s 
Services. The cost of the capital spend is £0.330m and it will be funded by 
corporate borrowing.    

13 APPENDICES

Appendix 1: The 2020-21 to 2023-24 Capital Investment Plan

Appendix 2: Proposed Minimum Revenue Policy and Prudential Indicators

Appendix 3: Supporting Tables for the Capital Strategy

Page 69



SECTION B: CAPITAL STRATEGY 2021-2022

Capital Strategy
2021-22

Page 70



8 CAPITAL STRATEGY (BACKGROUND)

8.1 The Council’s Capital Strategy is a policy framework for the development; 
management and monitoring of its capital investment plan.

8.2 In respect of timeframes, the strategy is also both a plan for the current year and 
the long-term, with emphasis on the next ten years.

8.3 The strategy is the means by which the Council ensures compliance with 
mandatory statutory guidance contained in the Prudential Code for Capital Finance 
in Local Authorities issued in December 2017. The headline message delivered by 
the Code is the requirement for the Council to consider key judgement criteria of 
Prudence, Affordability and Sustainability when making and reviewing decisions 
about the use of its capital resources.

8.4 The simple purpose of the strategy is also to ensure that capital expenditure is 
deployed in such a way as to maximise the provision of the services needed by 
Council residents. Delivering this purpose involves selecting and project managing 
capital schemes; while coordinating their implications for risk, treasury and 
resourcing.

8.5 Capital Expenditure is defined as expenditure on the acquisition, creation or 
enhancement of assets that have a useful life or more than one year. This means 
items of expenditure on buildings, vehicles and substantial equipment. Local 
Government also has the statutory right to include within this definition, expenditure 
on assets owned by third parties, or loans given to third parties. 

8.6 Capital expenditure schemes are also constructed, financed and used to deliver 
services across multiple financial years; so each one is a substantial commitment 
by the Council. 

9 GUIDING PRINCIPLES 
9.1 To ensure the efficient use of all of its assets the Council will not permit any project 

to be included in its Capital Investment Plan (CIP) unless it furthers its strategic 
priorities and objectives. These strategic priorities include the statutory duties that 
Councils are responsible for undertaking.

9.2 Overall, the following principles will apply to all capital investment decisions:
I. They should reflect the priorities identified in the Council Plan and its supporting 

strategies. 
II. They will be prioritised by availability of resources and allocated funding, and 

supported by a business case review.  
III. Priority will be given to schemes financed from capital grants or Invest to Save 

income streams. 
IV. The cost of financing each capital scheme will be incorporated into the relevant 

annual policy, resources strategy and budget (e.g Capital Investment Plan 2021-22 
to 2024-25). 

V. Commissioning and procuring for capital schemes will be legally compliant, which 
will be established by early and appropriate due diligence.

10 LINKS TO COUNCIL POLICIES, STRATEGIES AND OBJECTIVES
10.1 The Council’s Capital Programme covers a four-year period: the latest proposed in 

Page 71



this report will cover 2021-2025. The proposed commitments in the programme 
reflect the Council Plan:

i. Better Skills, More Good Jobs and a Growing Economy
ii. Decent Homes
iii. Good Start, Great Schools
iv. Better Health, Better Lives
v. Safe, Strong and Active Communities
vi. A Sustainable District
vii. An Enabling Council

11 GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK FOR CAPITAL DECISIONS 
11.1 The Council’s relevant democratic decision-making and scrutiny processes are set 

out in its Constitution and include:
i. A Council Plan which sets out strategic priorities.
ii. Approval of the Capital Strategy, Treasury Management Strategy and Capital 

Investment Programme, including the prudential indicators referred to within them.
iii. The current Capital Investment Plan (CIP). Each scheme in the CIP is approved 

by both the Executive and Full Council. The CIP is monitored by the appropriate 
responsible officer, finance and the Project Appraisal Group (PAG) in order to 
detect and deal with any variances to the plan. Updates are reported to the 
Executive on a regular basis.  

iv. The Council’s Financial Regulations. Under these regulations the PAG will assess 
unfunded capital expenditure proposals. Schemes funded from capital grants or 
Direct Revenue Financing can be progressed and approved directly by Executive. 
Any new capital expenditure proposals that are not wholly funded from capital 
grants or by the proceeds of sale of land must be either financed directly from the 
Revenue Estimates or be formally authorised from an identified capital scheme or 
approved additional borrowing. 

v. A mandatory Capital Business Case to identify the projected running costs and 
financing costs of the relevant asset and assess its affordability.

vi. The Project Appraisal Group (PAG). Currently its membership comprises finance, 
legal, procurement, project management and property expertise and it is chaired by 
the Director of Finance. Its prime responsibility is to review the Capital Business 
Case. 

vii. Investment assets are subject to specific approval processes, involving the 
Investment Advisory Group, discussed below.

viii. There is also discussion and a review underway to develop the support provided 
around project delivery as well as processes around contract management.

12 CAPITAL RESOURCES TO SUPPORT CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
12.1 Proposed future schemes are set out in the Capital Investment Plan 2021-22, due 

to be considered by Full Council on 18 February 2021.

Page 72



12.2 Schemes not funded directly by grants, receipts from asset disposals or reserves 
generate Capital Financing Costs, which have to be paid for out of the annual 
Revenue Estimates (Document DE for 2021-22). Capital Financing Costs derive 
from the cumulative effect of previous years’ borrowing to fund capital investment; 
net of amounts previously paid. These costs are not impacted by the current year 
capital expenditure: they can only be matched against service benefit when the 
related asset is operational.

12.3 Invest to Save (self-financing) schemes generate savings or additional income in 
the Revenue Estimates which offset the Capital Financing Costs. Such schemes 
and their related savings or additional income are projected to have an increasing 
impact on the Revenue Estimates and the Medium Term Financial Strategy in 
future years. 

12.4 Corporate Borrowing schemes do not generate savings or additional income 
in the Revenue Estimates. Such schemes are chosen for their direct delivery of 
service provision. Of course, in practice individual schemes can generate some 
savings or additional income but also require a corporate borrowing contribution. 

13 COMMERCIAL PROPERTY INVESTMENTS
13.1 A commercial property investment strategy was approved by Executive on 4 April 

2017. This permitted investment in commercial property both to create long term 
income generation; or to promote economic development, service provision and 
regeneration within the District.

13.2 Since 2017, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
has announced a number of changes in relation to borrowing for commercial 
property investments. These are summarised below:

 From 1 April 2018, Local Authorities were required to approve an Investment 
Strategy at Full Council. The definition of Local Authority investments was also 
updated to include investment property and loans to third parties and related 
companies.

 It was also announced (1 April 2018) that Local Authorities were no longer able to 
borrow in advance of their Capital Financing Requirements, solely for the purpose 
of investment yield. The impact was to restrict commercial investment where 
Councils’ actual cash or finance lease borrowing was equal to their underlying need 
to borrow for a capital purpose (The Capital Financing Requirement). This did not 
apply to Bradford Council. Bradford internally borrowed from earmarked reserves, 
so that actual borrowing is below the Capital Financing Requirement (See Table 4b 
Capital Investment Programme 2020-21 to 2021-25)

 On 10 September 2019, the MHCLG increased the interest rate on borrowing by 
1%. The reason given for this increase was to reduce the level of borrowing by 
Local Authorities for the purpose of acquiring commercial property portfolios.

 On 11 March 2020, the Government rescinded the 1% interest increase but only for 
borrowing related to the construction of social housing. The Government also 
announced a consultation on Local Authorities’ commercial property portfolios.

Page 73



 On 26 November 2020, the MHCLG rescinded the 1% increase on all borrowing 
from the PWLB. However, at the same time, the results of the consultation were 
that councils seeking to borrow from the PWLB will now have to confirm they are 
not borrowing primarily for yield at any point or from any source for a period of 3 
years. MHCLG will monitor compliance by reviewing capital plans; in Bradford’s 
case, the Capital Investment Programme 2020-21 to 2024-25. 

13.3 As a result, Bradford can no longer invest in commercial property to create long 
term income generation. The prior criteria for investment in commercial property 
(see Criteria B below) has now been updated (see Criteria A below):

Criteria A
i A proven ability to promote economic development, service provision and 

regeneration within the District.
Criteria B

i. Risks associated with the investment
ii. The likelihood of being able to sell the investment in extremis
iii. The location of the investment, with preference being firstly within the District and 

secondly within the Leeds City Region
iv. The security of direct rental payments, with consideration given to the reliability of 

tenants
v. The income stream from the investment, current and potential
vi. The potential increase to the capital value of the investment
vii. The sector in which the investment is made, eg retail or warehouses
viii. The detailed business case for investment 

14 LOANS TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS
14.1 The Council may make loans to local enterprises, local charities, wholly owned 

companies and joint ventures as part of strategy for local regeneration and 
economic growth. In such cases, a realistic assessment of potential policy gains 
could justify the loan even when liquidity and security considerations might indicate 
that it is not prudent.

14.2 In such cases, a cost may be chargeable to the Revenue Estimates, either in 
accordance with the Council’s Minimum Revenue (MRP) Policy or, alternatively, an 
expected credit loss model in line with IFRS 9 (financial instruments) would be 
required. 

14.3 Loans to external organisations are covered under the Council’s MRP policy 
because as noted above, they fall within the Local Authority definition of capital 
expenditure. The Council’s MRP Policy sets out that the Capital Financing Costs 
can only be fully met from the loan repayments under the following conditions:

 The loan repayment schedule covers the full cost of the original loan.
 That there continues to be confidence that loan repayments will be repaid.
 That the external organisation adheres to the loan schedule.

Page 74



14.4 In addition, a loan to an external organisation may reduce the interest income 
received into the Revenue Estimates. This will happen when the interest charged 
on the loan is less that the amount that would be received from an alternative 
investment.

14.5 Technical accounting rules many also require applying the credit loss model. This 
calculates a nominal cost to the Council equivalent to the monetary value of the 
difference between the interest charged on the external loan and the commercial 
rate. However, currently the Council is entitled to make an adjustment, so that there 
is no real impact in the Revenue Estimates.

15 ASSET MANAGEMENT PLANNING
15.1 The Council Estate Management Service manages its existing assets to reduce 

costs and maximise service benefit according to objectives listed in the Estates 
Strategy, which is due to be reviewed and updated to link to this Capital Strategy 
and to quantify the cost of repair and maintenance costs against the savings from 
extending the lives of Council buildings from 2021-22 onwards.

15.2 The review will also cover disposals of buildings. As noted, the receipt from such 
disposals are a regulated funding source for the Capital Investment Programme. 
The fact that the property has been sold, can also reduce the repair and 
maintenance on the Council’s estate. Table 5 (in Appendix 3) summarises the 
Council’s achievements in rationalising the estate between 2009-10 and 2019-20.

15.3 The Council’s Estates Strategy, including disposals of buildings, has been delayed 
due to the pandemic. Further the pandemic has had a significant impact of estates 
usage, some of which will be temporary. This includes the closure of buildings, the 
repurposing of assets, changes in priorities and a reduction in the occupancy rates 
of office space. All the above will be considered as part of a comprehensive review 
of the Estates Strategy in 2021-22. 

16 RISKS
16.1 In considering the Capital Investment Programme 2021-22 to 2024-25 and the 

Capital Strategy, there are a number of key risks. These are summarised below:

 Interest rates are higher than expected. The current estimate of capital financing 
costs is based on interest rate forecasts. Such forecasts are inherently subject to 
change. Such changes could significantly increase capital financing costs.

 Overspends. The capital projects could overspend, or alternatively the expected 
funding may be lower than expected. This will reduce value for money and increase 
the future costs charged to the Revenue Estimates.

 Project delivery impaired. As well as the financial impacts, poor project delivery 
reduces the quality of service provision for residents.

 Unanticipated Revenue Consequences of Capital Investment. There could be 
additional costs in the Revenue Estimates that are not fully anticipated in the 
Business Case; for example, additional repair and maintenance costs.

 Obsolete assets. Technological changes, changes in Local Government or 

Page 75



different choices could make an asset obsolete, reducing the expected service 
provision. If this causes a reduction in the expected life of the asset, debt 
repayments may need to be made out of the Revenue Estimates over a shorter 
period of time.

 Invest to Save schemes rely on over-optimistic revenue projections. The 
revenue savings or income generation forecasted from a scheme may not 
materialise. This is a particular risk, because as noted above, budget projections for 
the Revenue Estimates are increasingly reliant on such forecasts.

 Change to regulations. The Government may change current regulations, so that 
the financial impact of debt and borrowing on the Revenue Estimates could 
increase. 

 Committed Capital Expenditure. During the construction phase, new information 
may become available, for example as a result of a site investigation or other 
circumstances, which prevents a scheme progressing. In such circumstances, the 
committed costs add no value and are written off against the Revenue Estimates.

 The value of property reduces and/or it is more difficult to dispose of 
property. The anticipated capital receipts in the CIP are over-optimistic, more 
borrowing is required and Capital Financing Costs increase. 

 Actual or prospective loans to external parties are not repaid. If external loans 
are not repaid, they will have to written off, with the cost charged directly against the 
Revenue Estimates. Such write offs could increase costs unexpectedly. 

 Change in Government Policy. There are assumptions in the CIP that some 
Government grants are recurring. If these assumptions are incorrect, the Council 
will have to choose between reducing service provision or using additional financial 
resources.

16.2 The policy framework in the Capital Strategy aims to mitigate the risks identified 
above. Other risk mitigations are set out in the proposed Capital Strategy actions. 

17. PRUDENCE, AFFORDABILITY, SUSTAINABILITY
17.1 As noted, the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities issued in 

December 2017 requires the Council to consider the key judgement criteria of 
Prudence, Affordability and Sustainability when considering the Capital Programme.

17.2 Some considerations around this are:

 At 1 April 2020, the Council had £1,000m of long-term assets, when valued 
according to their potential to provide service provision to the Council. Outstanding 
debt on these assets is £711m.

 The CIP 2020-21 to 2024-25 proposes £763m of new capital expenditure: funded 
by £396m of capital grants and miscellaneous items; £190m of Invest to Save 
borrowing; and £167m of corporate borrowing. Individual schemes are detailed in 
Appendix 1 by department and analysed according their individual funding 
requirements. 

 Current interest rates are very low by historical standards. For example, the current 
interest rate from the PWLB on a 50-year loan repaid at maturity, is lower than the 
Bank of England inflation target (2% as measured by the consumer price index). 
However, these interest rates fluctuate and can be volatile.

 Other potential risks are outlined in the Risk section above (see 16 Risks).
 The CIP is a rolling programme. Current schemes include those approved as part of 

the budget process last year and individual schemes progressed, developed and 

Page 76



approved at Executive during the current financial year. Each scheme’s contribution 
to the Council’s service provision and its resource requirement is assessed 
individually.

 The Prudential indicators set out in Appendix 3, Table 4, show the ratio of capital 
financing costs to the net revenue requirement increasing from 14.5% to 18.5% 
between 2020-1 to 2024-25.

 The increase in the ratio of capital financing costs is mitigated within the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy by: savings and income generation from the Invest to Save 
schemes; some technical accounting adjustments impacting on the profile of the 
repayments of debt for the Public Finance Initiative. 

17.3 Overall the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) of £711m and will be paid for 
from Capital Financing Costs charged to future revenue estimates. The proposed 
CIP 2020-21 to 2024-25 requires substantial new borrowing, increasing the CFR 
and the amount of funding set aside from future revenue estimates. 

17.4 The projected CFR and Capital Financing Costs are shown in detail by the 
Prudential Indicators. These are used to test the affordability of the proposed CIP.

17.5 Most of the Council’s long-term borrowing is from the PWLB; which was £375m at 1 
April 2020. A further £161.7m of borrowing relates to the private finance initiative 
with a private company and will be repaid from future contracted lease payments.

17.6 Borrowing decisions are made on a cash flow basis so are not directly aligned with 
the Capital Financing Costs charged to the Revenue Estimates. In practice, the 
Council’s earmarked reserves are used to reduce actual borrowing. This is because 
borrowing costs are higher that the interest the Council received on its investments. 
However, the relationship between the CFR, earmarked reserves and other assets 
and liabilities is summarised in Table 4, Appendix 3.

18 SKILLS AND KNOWLEDGE
18.1 The Council has professionally qualified staff across a range of disciplines including 

finance, legal and property. A programme of continuous professional development 
(CPD) is undertaken and employees attend courses on an ongoing basis to keep 
abreast of new developments and skills. The Council establishes project teams 
from all the professional disciplines from across the Council as and when required.

18.2 The Council uses external advisors where necessary in order to complement the 
knowledge its own officers hold. Some of these advisors are contracted on long-
term contracts or are appointed on an ad-hoc basis when necessary. The Council 
currently employs Link Asset Services as treasury management advisors and PWC 
as VAT advisors. This approach ensures the Council has access to specialist 
expertise when needed to support its staff, commensurate with its risk appetite.

18.3 Internal and external training is offered to members to ensure they have up to date 
knowledge and expertise to understand and challenge capital and treasury 
decisions taken by the Director of Finance.

19. CAPITAL STRATEGY ACTIONS
19.1 These are intended to align the Council’s operations with the CFR, and are listed in 

Schedule 2 of the Capital Strategy. The Actions represent the programme for 

Page 77



implementation of the Capital Strategy, which as a high-level document omits much 
operational detail in favour of a strategic overview of how the Council will manage 
and optimise its use of its capital assets. 

Page 78



SECTION C: INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2021-2022

Investment Strategy
2021-22

Page 79



INVESTMENT STRATEGY

20. BACKGROUND:

This strategy document sets out the Council’s annual Investment Strategy as is required 
by the 3rd Edition of the Section 15 guidance on local government finance issued by the 
Secretary of State under section 15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003 in 2018. It 
covers the budget year 2021-22 onwards. The overall objective of the strategy is to 
provide high-level guidance on acquiring and managing investments in order to improve 
the financial resilience of the Council, the income base for its services and to ensure that 
its financial assets are applied efficiently for the benefit, improvement or development of 
the area through the acquisition, retention and management of good quality investments 
and the granting of loans.

The 2011 Localism Act provides a general power of competence which permits local 
authorities to do anything they consider likely to promote or improve the economic, social 
and environmental well-being of their area. This means that the annual Investment 
Strategy closely links to the Council’s Economic Strategy in order to deliver economic 
growth, tackle inequality and create change in the area that benefits everyone. 

This Investment Strategy also provides an update for recent announcements. The Ministry 
of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) has determined that councils 
seeking to borrow from the PWLB can no longer incur capital expenditure primarily for 
yield at any point or from any source for a period of 3 years. 

21. INVESTMENTS – DEFINITION

The section 15 guidance issued on 1 April defined investments as including both financial 
assets and commercial property, held primarily for yield. 

The guidance was issued in part as a response to the increasing investment of Local 
Authorities in commercial property. As such, commercial property was specifically 
identified as falling within the terms of the guidance and this strategy. 

Most of the Council’s commercial property portfolio is historic, with just two additional 
investments in recent times. At 1 April 2020, this commercial property portfolio was valued 
at £54.5m (2019-20 audited statement of accounts), a small proportion of overall long-term 
assets of £1000.2m. 

The definition of an investment also covers loans made by the Council to one of its wholly-
owned companies, a joint venture, or to a third party. However, this strategy does not 
cover investments managed within the treasury management scheme of delegation. 
These are considered within the annual Treasury Management Strategy.

Page 80



22. KEY STRATEGIC PRINCIPLES
This Investment Strategy sets objective criteria for any investment. These are listed below:

i. Is within the General Power of Competence (2011 Localism Act)
ii. Transparency and democratic accountability
iii. Contribution
iv. Use of indicators
v. Security, Liquidity and Yield
vi. Investment Limit

22.1 Transparency and democratic accountability:

The Council is required to prepare at least one annual Investment Strategy that contains 
the details specified in the 2018 guidance and is approved by full Council.

22.2 Contribution to Council’s overall purposes: 

Investments made by local authorities can be classified into one of two main categories:

 Investments held for treasury management purposes; and 
 Other Investments, which are not held for treasury management purposes

Investments held for treasury management purposes usually comprises short term lending 
to banks, financial institutions and other local authorities, when the Council has a cash 
surplus. These are managed within Treasury Management Strategy, so do not need to be 
considered within this Investment Strategy.

Other investments previously made by the authority are commercial property investments 
and loans to third parties. Future decisions will be assessed on the contribution made, 
using the criteria set out below. A key measure of contribution will be the delivery of 
service provision, as set out in the General Power of Competence within the Localism Act: 
therefore. the supporting business case assessment should demonstrate that the 
investment forms part of a project in the Council’s Plan or some other formal statement of 
the Council’s strategic or policy aims.

The full criteria to measure contribution and make investment decisions (as included in the 
Capital Strategy is set out below:

Criteria A

i A proven ability to promote economic development, service provision and 
regeneration within the District.

Criteria B

i. Risks associated with the investment
ii. The likelihood of being able to sell the investment in extremis
iii. The location of the investment, with preference being firstly within the District and 

secondly within the Leeds City Region

Page 81



iv. The security of direct rental payments, with consideration given to the reliability of 
tenants

v. The income stream from the investment, current and potential
vi. The potential increase to the capital value of the investment
vii. The sector in which the investment is made, eg retail or warehouses
viii. The detailed business case for investment

i. Falls within the General Power of Competence (Where an investment is classified as 
contributing to regeneration or local economic benefit)
ii. Yield
iii. Regeneration
iv. Economic benefit/business rates growth
v. Responding to local market failure
vi. Treasury management
vii. Invest to Save Schemes capacity to reduce costs or generate additional income from 
an asset (including a sensitivity analysis to test the robustness of the expected savings).

All business case proposals for investments will be evaluated by the Project Appraisal 
Group, including using the key strategic principles and the contribution criteria.

As noted, the Council can no longer invest in commercial property primarily for yield. 
However, yield is important criteria where service provision can be financed, or partly 
financed by savings or income generation. This is also consistent with the Capital 
Strategy, which aims to encourage the identification of Invest to Save (or self-financing) 
schemes.

The Council’s Housing Revenue Account (HRA), which aims to increase affordable 
housing in the district, meets criteria A. 

22.3 Investment indicators:
The Council proposes to adopt a system of quantitative indicators to guide and inform 
investment decisions relating to Other Investments. The Council proposes to initially adopt 
the indicators proposed within the Guidance (see the Annex to this Investment Strategy). 
These indicators will be reported upon and reviewed annually. 

The Council’s proposed range of indicators will allow members and other interested 
parties to understand the total exposure from borrowing and investment decisions. They 
will cover both the Council’s current position and the expected position assuming all 
planned investments for the following year are completed. They will not take account of 
Treasury Management investments which will continue to be reported within the Treasury 
Management report.

22.4 Security, Liquidity and Yield:
In this context, Security means protecting the capital sum invested from loss; and Liquidity 
means ensuring the funds invested are available for expenditure when needed. Yield is 
the expected return of the investment over its lifetime, and can be expressed either in 
financial terms or as the achievement of policy or strategic aims. 
In considering Other Investments the balance between security, liquidity and yield will be 
considered as part of the business case, alongside the contribution the Other Investment 
can make to achieving policy objectives.

Page 82



22.5 Investment Limit
The Council will from time to time set one or more Investment Limits and keep them under 
review. The Council will use prudential borrowing to fund Other Investments / strategic 
acquisitions. Currently interest rates remain at a low level and the rental income / 
Contribution from Other Investments should more than cover the associated debt costs, 
whilst also providing a net yield to support the Council’s revenue budget. The Council has 
the ability to fix interest over the long-term which removes the risk of interest rate volatility.

Provision of £40 million has been included in the capital programme, phased across the 
programme and funded by prudential borrowing. A small £0.7m budget is also included, as 
part of the Leeds City Region Revolving Investment Fund. 

23. GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS
The Council has set up an Investment Advisory Board to consider specific business
cases in relation to investing in Other Investments / strategic acquisitions. The core
group consists of:

 Leader of the Council – (Chair)
 Cllr Alex Ross Shaw – portfolio holder for Regeneration, Planning & Transportation
 A representative nominated by the Leader of the Conservatives
 Cllr Jeanette Sunderland – Leader of Liberal Democrat & Independent Group
 Strategic Director of Corporate Resources
 Strategic Director of Place
 Director of Finance / s151 Officer
 Assistant Director Estates & Property
 City solicitor / Monitoring Officer
Other officers will attend as relevant to the specific business case.

24. RISK ASSESSMENT

Any capital expenditure falling within the definition of investment (but excluding Treasury 
Management) will be risk assessed as follows:

i. Whether, and if so, on what terms the Council uses external advisors as treasury 
management advisors, property investment advisors or any other relevant persons. 
In each case such engagements will be on the Council’s standard terms and 
conditions unless there is an agreed exception, as is provided for under No. 17 of 
the Council’s Contracts Standing Orders. 

ii. The outcome of any monitoring by the Council of the quality of advice provided by 
its external advisors.

iii. To what extent, if at all, any risk assessment is based on credit ratings issued by 
credit ratings agencies, and the reliability of such ratings given the current degree of 
engagement between the rating agency and the market under assessment.

iv. Where credit ratings are used, how frequently they are monitored and the 
procedures for taking action if credit ratings change.

v. What other sources of information are used to assess and monitor risk.

Page 83



vi. Any specific property-related risks – covenant strength, lease period/s, condition, 
maintenance costs, etc. 

Risk Assessment will be undertaken as part of business case considerations and regularly 
reviewed.

25. CAPACITY, SKILLS AND CULTURE

The Investment Strategy Guidance requires that Councillors and Officers involved in 
investment decisions need the appropriate capacity, skills and information to enable then 
to take an informed decision as to whether or not to enter into a specific investment. As 
part of this, the Council will procure specialist legal and financial support as required. 

26 PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS
As noted above, the Council has a historic portfolio of commercial property. This has been 
expanded recently, with just two investments.

Overall Return
2019-20

£m
Rental income -2.74
Service charges -0.12
Repairs and Maintenance 0.95
Capital Financing costs & other 0.27
Total return -2.48
Source 2019-20 Statement of Accounts

The value of the Council’s investment property as at 31 March 2019 was £54.5m, making 
a return of 4.5%. The historic investment property has been revalued upwards above its 
purchase cost, so taking this into account, the return would be higher. This means historic 
spend on investment property is supporting the current revenue estimates. 
The Council also recently completed an additional two investments in the Bradford area. 
Debt to Net Service Expenditure (NSE) Ratio
This indicator measures the gross debt associated with property investment as a 
percentage of the Council’s net expenditure requirement, where the Net Expenditure 
Requirement is a proxy for the size and financial strength of a council.

2020/21 
Actual
£000

2021/22 
Actual
£000

2022/23 
Actual
£000

Gross Debt 11,177 10,902 11,037

Page 84



Net Service 
Expenditure

391,300 391,300 391,300

Debt to NSE Ratio 2.9 2.8% 2.8%

The indicator shows the proposed debt level arising from the Council’s two recent 
investments. This shows that the debt ratio from investment in a property portfolio will be 
approximately less than 3% of the Council’s net revenue budget if the investment in 
commercial property is funded solely from borrowing. There is no specific debt that can be 
identified against the Council’s historic portfolio. No additional investments are assumed in 
the indicator at present, in the light of the MHCLG guidance.

Commercial Income to NSE Ratio
This indicator measures the Council’s dependence on the income from property 
investments to deliver core functions.
The income generated from property investments will fund 0.6% of the Council’s’ net 
service expenditure over the medium term. This shows that the Council’s reliance on 
income from property investments is low.

2020/21 
Actual
£000

2021/22 
Estimate

£000

2022/23 
Estimate

£000
Commercial Income 2,500 2,500 2,500
Net Service 
Expenditure

391,300 391,300 391,300

Commercial Income to 
NSE Ratio

0.6% 0.6% 0.6%

Investment Cover Ratio
This indicator measures the total net income from property investments compared to 
interest expense.

2020/21 
Estimate

£000

2021/22 
Estimate

£000

2022/23 
Estimate

£000
Investment Cover 
Ratio

0.59 0.43 0.38

The indicator shows that net income from property investments is lower than the interest 
expense. However, interest rates have since reduced.

Loan to Value Ratio
This indicator measure the amount of debt compared to the total asset value. In the period 
immediately after purchase it is normal for the directly attributable costs of purchasing 
commercial property investments to be greater than the realisable value of the asset (for 

Page 85



example, because of non value adding costs such as stamp duty and fees). The Loan to 
value ration should gradually decrease, reflecting the assumption that property values will 
remain constant while borrowings will be repaid.

2020/21 
Estimate

£000

2021/22 
Estimate

£000

2022/23 
Estimate

£000
Loan to value Ratio 1.01 0.99 0.96

Target Income Returns
This indicator shows net revenue income compared to equity and is a measure of the 
achievement of the property portfolio.

2020/21 
Estimate

£000

2021/22 
Estimate

£000

2022/23 
Estimate

£000
Target Income Returns 1.8% 1.5% 1.4%

Gross and Net Income
The net income targets are included in the Councils financial projections. The achievement 
of target income streams will be managed as part of the Council’s standard budget 
monitoring process. Targets are dependent upon investments being made. 

2020/21 
Estimate

£000

2021/22 
Estimate

£000

2022/23 
Estimate

£000
Gross Income 800 800 800
Net Income 200 200 200

Operating Costs
Operating costs relate to the cost of the Council’s internal Estate Management function in 
relation to managing assets acquired under the property investment strategy.
Additional operating costs may be incurred as a result of the purchase of investment 
properties. Any such costs will be factored into financial appraisals as part of the purchase 
assessment to ensure that target net rates of return are achieved. This indictor may 
therefore be revised once investments are made.

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Page 86



Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Operating Costs 400 400 400

Vacancy Levels and Tenant Exposures
2020/21 
Actual
£000

2021/22 
Estimate

£000

2022/23 
Estimate

£000
Void periods 0% 0% 0%

The target of 0% reflects the strong tenant covenant strengths that will be required under 
the commercial property investment strategy. Void periods will be factored into financial 
appraisals as part of the assessment criteria where relevant, therefore this indicator may 
be revised once investments have been made.

Page 87



Page 88



Appendix 1

Scheme No Scheme Description

 2020-21 
Budget as 

at Q3 
February 

2021
Budget 

2021-22
Budget 

2022-23 
  Budget 
2023-24

  Budget 
2024-25 

onwards 
Budget 

Total

Specific 
Grants,       

cap 
receipts, 
reserves

Invest to 
Save 

Funding
Corporate 
Borrowing

Funding 
Total

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Health and Wellbeing    
CS0237a Great Places to Grow Old 500 3,000 1,500 0 0 5,000 0 0 5,000 5,000
CS0237c Keighley Rd Residential Care Valley View 350 0 0 0 0 350 350 0 0 350
CS0373 BACES DFG 465 443 0 0 0 908 0 0 908 908
CS0239 Community Capacity Grant 202 750 0 0 0 952 952 0 0 952
CS0311 Autism Innovation Capital Grant 19 0 0 0 0 19 19 0 0 19
CS0312 Integrated IT system 90 0 0 0 0 90 90 0 0 90

    
Total - Health and Wellbeing 1,626 4,193 1,500 0 0 7,319 1,411 0 5,908 7,319

   
Children's Services    
CS0249 Schools DRF 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CS0022 Devolved Formula Capital 1,868 0 0 0 0 1,868 1,868 0 0 1,868
CS0030 Capital Improvement Work 484 0 0 0 0 484 484 0 0 484
CS0240 Capital Maintenance Grant 4,014 2,869 0 0 0 6,883 6,883 0 0 6,883
CS0244a Primary Schools Expansion Programme 2,358 1,298 0 0 0 3,656 3,656 0 0 3,656
CS0244b Silsden School 7,207 2,000 465 0 0 9,672 9,672 0 0 9,672
CS0244c SEN School Expansions 3,628 1,000 0 0 0 4,628 4,628 0 0 4,628
CS0362 Secondary School Expansion 2,401 2,500 1,798 0 0 6,699 6,699 0 0 6,699
CS0421 Healthy Pupil Capital Grant 65 120 0 0 0 185 185 0 0 185
CS0436 Children’s Home (A) & (B) 900 0 0 0 0 900 250 0 650 900
CS0488 Digital Strategy 1,200 0 0 0 0 1,200 0 0 1,200 1,200
CS0314 Foster Homes Adaptation 25 0 0 0 0 25 25 0 0 25
CS0500 TFD new scheme 200 1,200 0 0 0 1,400 0 0 1,400 1,400

   
Total - Children's Services 24,350 10,987 2,263 0 0 37,600 34,350 0 3,250 37,600

  
HRA
CS0237b Keighley Rd Extra Care Fletcher Court 196 0 0 0 0 196 0 0 196 196
CS0160 Repayment of Grant 51 0 0 0 0 51 51 0 0 51
CS0308 Afford Housing Programme 15 -18 979 0 0 0 0 979 1,075 -96 0 979
Reserve Schemes & Contingencies
CS0407z Affordable Housing 500 2,000 8,000 10,724 8,000 29,224 14,430 14,794 0 29,224

P
age 89



Scheme No Scheme Description

 2020-21 
Budget as 

at Q3 
February 

2021
Budget 

2021-22
Budget 

2022-23 
  Budget 
2023-24

  Budget 
2024-25 

onwards 
Budget 

Total

Specific 
Grants,       

cap 
receipts, 
reserves

Invest to 
Save 

Funding
Corporate 
Borrowing

Funding 
Total

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Total - HRA 1,726 2,000 8,000 10,724 8,000 30,450 15,556 14,698 196 30,450

  
Place - Economy & Development Services    
CS0136 Disabled Housing Facilities Grant 4,098 4,000 4,392 2,028 5,753 20,271 14,518 0 5,753 20,271
CS0137 Development of Equity Loans 800 1,195 1,211 451 0 3,657 1,727 0 1,930 3,657
CS0144 Empty Private Sector Homes Strat 1,151 825 831 0 0 2,807 0 0 2,807 2,807
CS0250 Goitside 0 178 0 0 0 178 0 0 178 178
CS0280 Temp Housing Clergy House 46 0 0 0 0 46 0 0 46 46
CS0496 Town Fund Keighley & Shipley 1,500 0 0 0 0 1,500 1,500 0 0 1,500
CS0084 City Park 192 0 0 0 0 192 0 0 192 192
CS0085 City Centre Growth Zone 883 600 0 0 0 1,483 0 0 1,483 1,483
CS0228 Canal Road 0 100 0 0 0 100 0 0 100 100
CS0241 Re-use of Forrmer College Builds Kghly 356 0 0 0 0 356 0 0 356 356
CS0266 Superconnected Cities 329 500 0 0 0 829 0 0 829 829

CS0446 Staithgate La Enterprise Zone site Site 
Investigation works 13 0 0 0 0 13 13 0 0 13

CS0291 One City Park 800 23,900 10,300 0 0 35,000 7,500 15,300 12,200 35,000
CS0265 LCR Revolving Econ Invest Fund 658 0 0 0 0 658 658 0 0 658
CS0345 Develop Land at Crag Rd, Shply 43 0 0 0 0 43 0 0 43 43
CS0107 Markets  21 0 0 0 0 21 0 0 21 21
CS0363 Markets Red'mnt - City Cntr 3,001 9,160 4,900 400 0 17,461 800 5,824 10,837 17,461

CS0363b Markets Red'mnt - City Cntr Public 
Realm 596 1,000 0 0 0 1,596 0 0 1,596 1,596

   
Total - Place - Economy & Development Services 14,487 41,458 21,634 2,879 5,753 86,211 26,716 21,124 38,371 86,211

   
Place - Planning, Transportation & Highways    
CS0131 Kghly Town Centre Heritage Initiative 151 0 0 0 0 151 151 0 0 151
CS0178 Ilkley Moor 14 0 0 0 0 14 14 0 0 14
CS0285 Blight Sites 517 650 0 0 0 1,167 0 0 1,167 1,167
CS0071 Highways S106 Projects 528 0 0 0 0 528 528 0 0 528
CS0372 Countryside S106 Projects 564 0 0 0 0 564 564 0 0 564
CS0091 Capital Highway Maintenance 4,952 0 0 0 0 4,952 4,952 0 0 4,952
CS0095 Bridges 201 0 0 0 0 201 201 0 0 201
CS0096 Street Lighting 132 0 0 0 0 132 132 0 0 132
CS0099 Integrated Transport 73 0 0 0 0 73 73 0 0 73
CS0168 Connecting the City (Westfield) 9 0 0 0 0 9 9 0 0 9
CS0172 Saltaire R/bout Cong& Safety Works 279 0 0 0 0 279 279 0 0 279
CS0282 Highways Strategic Acquisitions 176 0 0 0 0 176 176 0 0 176
CS0289 Local Pinch Point Fund 495 0 0 0 0 495 495 0 0 495

P
age 90



Scheme No Scheme Description

 2020-21 
Budget as 

at Q3 
February 

2021
Budget 

2021-22
Budget 

2022-23 
  Budget 
2023-24

  Budget 
2024-25 

onwards 
Budget 

Total

Specific 
Grants,       

cap 
receipts, 
reserves

Invest to 
Save 

Funding
Corporate 
Borrowing

Funding 
Total

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
CS0293 West Yorks & York Transport Fund 4,807 34,448 93,147 0 0 132,402 132,402 0 0 132,402
CS0396 WYTF Corridor Imp Projects 2,720 5,077 3,000 0 0 10,797 10,797 0 0 10,797
CS0296 Pothole Funds 3,536 400 0 0 0 3,936 3,936 0 0 3,936

CS0306a Strategic Transport Infrastructure 
Priorities 780 2,000 0 0 0 2,780 0 0 2,780 2,780

CS0302 Highways Prop Liab Redn Strat 59 0 0 0 0 59 59 0 0 59
CS0319 Challenge Fund 1,092 800 0 0 0 1,892 1,892 0 0 1,892
CS0323 Flood Risk Mgmt 177 0 0 0 0 177 177 0 0 177

CS0329 Damens County Park 106 0 0 0 0 106 0 0 106 106

CS0370 LTP IP3 Safer Roads 29 500 0 0 0 529 529 0 0 529
CS0386 Cycling & Walking Schemes LTP3 17 0 0 0 0 17 17 0 0 17
CS0414 LTP IP3 Safer Rds 10 0 0 0 0 10 10 0 0 10
CS0398 Bfd City Ctre Townscape Heritage 560 845 290 1,000 0 2,695 2,445 0 250 2,695
CS0430 Hwys Maint Fund Oct18 382 0 0 0 0 382 382 0 0 382
CS0432 Steeton/Silsden Crossing 90 0 0 0 0 90 90 0 0 90
CS0423 Highways IT upgrade 50 0 0 0 0 50 0 50 0 50
CS0433 Gain Lane / Leeds Rd Jct 29 0 0 0 0 29 29 0 0 29
CS0450 CILS payments 180 0 0 0 0 180 180 0 0 180

CS0453 IP3 Safer Rds 1920 196 0 0 0 0 196 196 0 0 196

CS0454 Area Comm ITS 1920 72 0 0 0 0 72 72 0 0 72
CS0434 Smart Street Lighting 670 14,399 14,852 14,128 1,370 45,419 0 45,419 0 45,419
CS0455 IP4  projects 1,389 1,201 0 0 0 2,590 2,590 0 0 2,590
CS0456 WY Integrated UTMC Centre 432 0 0 0 0 432 432 0 0 432
CS0464 Ben Rhydding Railway Station Car Park 845 500 750 0 0 2,095 2,095 0 0 2,095
CS0467 Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) 261 0 0 0 0 261 261 0 0 261
CS0469 IP4 Safer Roads  20-21 932 0 0 0 0 932 932 0 0 932
CS0470 IP4 Safer Roads  21-22 0 932 0 0 0 932 932 0 0 932
CS0471 Clean Air Zone 747 2,132 0 0 0 2,879 2,879 0 0 2,879
CS0483 LTP grant 2021 40 0 0 0 0 40 40 0 0 40
CS0486 Active Travel Fund Programme 1,238 1,000 0 0 0 2,238 2,238 0 0 2,238
CS0494 City Centre Bollards 210 0 0 0 0 210 0 0 210 210

CS0502 Corridor Improvement Programme 
(CIP2) 200 470 0 0 0 670 670 0 0 670

CS0499 Buck Mill Footbridge 40 0 0 0 0 40 0 0 40 40
    

Total Place - Planning, Transportation & Highways 29,987 65,354 112,039 15,128 1,370 223,878 173,856 45,469 4,553 223,878

Dept of Place - Waste, Fleet & Transport    
CS0060 Replacement of Vehicles 4,356 3,000 3,000 0 0 10,356 0 10,356 0 10,356

P
age 91



Scheme No Scheme Description

 2020-21 
Budget as 

at Q3 
February 

2021
Budget 

2021-22
Budget 

2022-23 
  Budget 
2023-24

  Budget 
2024-25 

onwards 
Budget 

Total

Specific 
Grants,       

cap 
receipts, 
reserves

Invest to 
Save 

Funding
Corporate 
Borrowing

Funding 
Total

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
CS0435 Sugden End Landfill Site 1,145 500 0 0 0 1,645 0 0 1,645 1,645
CS0415 Shearbridge Depot Security 89 0 0 0 0 89 0 0 89 89
CS0359 Community Resilience Grant 13 0 0 0 0 13 13 0 0 13
CS0463 Waste Trommel 115 0 0 0 0 115 0 115 0 115
CS0497 Climate Change Initiatives – Vehicles 25 0 0 0 0 25 25 0 0 25
CS0503 Environmental Delivery Works 50 125 125 0 0 300 0 0 300 300

    
Total Place - Waste, Fleet & Transport 5,793 3,625 3,125 0 0 12,543 38 10,471 2,034 12,543

Dept of Place - Neighbourhoods & Customer Services    
CS0066 Ward Investment Fund 0 35 0 0 0 35 0 0 35 35
CS0466 Parks Depots 203 0 0 0 0 203 0 0 203 203
CS0378 Cust Services Strategy 158 0 0 0 0 158 0 0 158 158

   
Total Place - Neighbourhoods & Customer Services 361 35 0 0 0 396 0 0 396 396

Dept of Place - Sports & Culture    
CS0151 Building Safer Communities 26 0 0 0 0 26 26 0 0 26

CS0328 Cliffe Castle Various 15 0 0 0 0 15 15 0 0 15

CS0340 St George's Hall 33 0 0 0 0 33 0 0 33 33
CS0487 Alhambra Theatre Lift 90 0 0 0 0 90 0 0 90 90
CS0129 Scholemoor Project 0 0 0 83 0 83 83 0 0 83
CS0162 Capital Projects - Recreation 1,346 10 0 0 0 1,356 1,356 0 0 1,356
CS0229 Cliffe Castle Restoration 88 0 0 0 0 88 88 0 0 88
CS0004 S106 Recreation 100 0 0 0 0 100 100 0 0 100
CS0501 Parks Development Fund 250 250 0 0 0 500 500 0 0 500
CS0367 King George V Playing Fields 200 820 0 0 0 1,020 700 0 320 1,020
CS0403 Bereavement Strategy 7,086 4,750 8,100 3,245 0 23,181 0 7,000 16,181 23,181
CS0277 Wyke Community Sport Hub 2,613 2,665 523 0 0 5,801 2,474 0 3,327 5,801
CS0245 Doe Park 37 0 0 0 0 37 37 0 0 37
CS0459 Ilkley Lido Tank 374 0 0 0 0 374 0 115 259 374
CS0461 Shipley Gym extension & equipment 163 0 0 0 0 163 0 0 163 163
CS0458 Doe Park Drainage 40 0 0 0 0 40 0 0 40 40
CS0468 Bowling Pool extension 483 0 0 0 0 483 0 433 50 483
CS0356 Sedbergh SFIP 758 0 0 0 0 758 0 0 758 758
CS0354 Squire Lane Sports Facility 0 0 2,300 5,400 1,700 9,400 0 0 9,400 9,400
CS0482 Marley Replacement Pitch 329 0 0 0 0 329 329 0 0 329
CS0489 Lister Park Playable Spaces 650 0 0 0 0 650 0 0 650 650
CS0498 Libraries IT Infrastructure 50 170 0 0 0 220 0 60 160 220

P
age 92



Scheme No Scheme Description

 2020-21 
Budget as 

at Q3 
February 

2021
Budget 

2021-22
Budget 

2022-23 
  Budget 
2023-24

  Budget 
2024-25 

onwards 
Budget 

Total

Specific 
Grants,       

cap 
receipts, 
reserves

Invest to 
Save 

Funding
Corporate 
Borrowing

Funding 
Total

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
   

Total - Dept of Place - Sports & Culture 14,731 8,665 10,923 8,728 1,700 44,747 5,708 7,608 31,431 44,747
       
Corp Resources - Estates & Property Services    

CS0094 Museum Store 500 0 0 0 0 500 0 0 500 500

CS0333 Argus Chambers / Britannia House 689 0 0 0 0 689 0 0 689 689
CS0443 Property Programme 19-20 643 0 0 0 0 643 0 0 643 643
CS0460 Mitre Court CPU Property & Equip 1,690 0 0 0 0 1,690 250 0 1,440 1,690
CS0475 Property Programme 20-21 1,755 525 0 0 0 2,280 0 0 2,280 2,280
CS0230 Beechgrove Allotments 0 148 0 0 0 148 148 0 0 148
CS0408 Top of Town - purchase 21 St Johns St 325 0 0 0 0 325 0 0 325 325
CS0050 Carbon Management 544 250 0 0 0 794 0 0 794 794

CS0420 Electric vehicle charging Infr (Taxi 
Scheme) 436 93 0 0 0 529 529 0 0 529

CS0495 Bradford LAD1 Scheme 421 1,000 0 0 0 1,421 1,421 0 0 1,421
CS2000 DDA 50 62 59 50 0 221 0 0 221 221
CS0381 Godwin St 1,559 0 0 0 0 1,559 1,559 0 0 1,559
CS0409 Coroner's Court and Accommodation 1,898 1,778 0 0 0 3,676 0 0 3,676 3,676
CS0383 Jacobs Well demolition 87 0 0 0 0 87 0 0 87 87
CS0427 Coroner's Equipment 285 0 0 0 0 285 0 0 285 285
CS0457 Simpson Green - roof 41 0 0 0 0 41 0 0 41 41
CS0445 Core IT Infrastructure 2,064 1,194 0 0 0 3,258 64 0 3,194 3,258

   
Total Corp Resources – Estates & Property Services 12,987 5,050 59 50 0 18,146 3,971 0 14,175 18,146

Reserve Schemes & Contingencies    
CS0395z General Contingency 429 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 3,429 0 0 3,429 3,429
CS0397z Property Programme 0 2,000 2,000 2,000 0 6,000 0 0 6,000 6,000
CS0399z Strategic Acquisition 13,460 10,000 10,000 10,000 0 43,460 0 43,460 0 43,460
CS0400z Keighley One Public Sector Est 500 4,000 9,500 4,000 0 18,000 0 18,000 0 18,000
CS0402z Canal Road Land Assembly 0 450 0 0 0 450 0 0 450 450
CS0401z Depots 0 3,000 0 0 0 3,000 0 0 3,000 3,000

2018-19 Schemes     
CS0404z Sports Pitches 0 1,068 4,248 4,250 0 9,566 2,400 0 7,166 9,566
CS0404zb Playgrounds 85 2,900 2,750 0 0 5,735 1,385 0 4,350 5,735
CS0405z City Hall / RFL 0 4,000 5,000 3,000 0 12,000 2,000 5,000 5,000 12,000
CS0408z Top of town 0 0 2,675 0 0 2,675 0 0 2,675 2,675
CS0381z Godwin St (fmr Odeon) 4,000 5,500 2,000 0 0 11,500 0 11,500 0 11,500

2020-21 Schemes     

P
age 93



Scheme No Scheme Description

 2020-21 
Budget as 

at Q3 
February 

2021
Budget 

2021-22
Budget 

2022-23 
  Budget 
2023-24

  Budget 
2024-25 

onwards 
Budget 

Total

Specific 
Grants,       

cap 
receipts, 
reserves

Invest to 
Save 

Funding
Corporate 
Borrowing

Funding 
Total

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
CS0060z Vehicles 0 0 0 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000
CS0060zb Electric vehicles/ New street cleansing 1,804 0 0 0 0 1,804 0 1,804 0 1,804
CS0472z District Heating 250 250 4,752 6,702 2,361 14,315 6,459 2,871 4,985 14,315
CS0473z Renewable Energy 500 3,000 1,500 0 0 5,000 2,000 3,000 0 5,000
CS0476z Additional Building controls 250 1,000 500 750 0 2,500 0 0 2,500 2,500
CS0477z CCTV 500 475 0 0 0 975 0 0 975 975
CS0474z Transforming cities fund 2,250 33,000 30,750 0 0 66,000 66,000 0 0 66,000
CS0480z Flood Alleviation 200 0 0 0 0 200 200 0 0 200
CS0481z City Centre Regeneration Fund 500 9,000 0 0 0 9,500 0 9,500 0 9,500
CS0471z Clean Air Zone 2,943 26,026 24,400 0 0 53,369 53,369 0 0 53,369
CS0445z Core IT Infrastructure 20-21 0 506 0 0 0 506 0 0 506 506
CS0484z New Reserve 1,000 1,000 0 0 0 2,000 0 0 2,000 2,000
CS0485z Alternative Fuel Centre 1,813 2,114 120 60 1,440 5,547 795 4,752 0 5,547
CS0485z Alternative Fuel Centre - additional 0 0 483 0 0 483 0 0 483 483

2021-22 Schemes
Great Places to Grow Old - Saltaire 0 0 2,400 0 0 2,400 0 0 2,400 2,400

CS0060z Vehicles 0 0 0 0 3,000 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000
CS0397z Property Programme 0 0 0 0 2,000 2,000 0 0 2,000 2,000
CS0395z General Contingency 0 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 0 0 1,000 1,000

BACES 0 300 750 750 1,500 3,300 0 0 3,300 3,300
IT – End to End 0 330 0 0 0 330 0 0 330 330
Lap tops for Children 0 1,100 1,100 0 0 2,200 0 0 2,200 2,200
SEND 0 1,000 2,000 3,000 0 6,000 0 0 6,000 6,000
Marley Playing Field 0 500 0 0 0 500 0 0 500 500
IT 0 0 1,220 0 0 1,220 200 0 1,020 1,220

   
Total - Reserve Schemes & Contingencies 30,484 113,519 109,148 38,512 11,301 302,964 134,808 105,887 62,269 302,964
TOTAL - All Services 136,532 254,886 268,691 76,021 28,124 764,254 396,414 205,257 162,583 764,254

P
age 94



Appendix 2: Minimum Revenue Policy (Proposed 2021-22)

1.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to make a provision for the 
repayment of borrowing used to finance its capital expenditure, known as the Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP).

1.2 The MRP is the amount of principal capital repayment that is set aside each year in 
order to repay the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) based on the requirement of 
statutory regulation and the Council’s own accounting policies.

1.3 The Council is required to state as part of its budget process the policy for determining 
its MRP. The method for calculating the MRP on each category of debt is outlined below:

a) The policy for charging MRP on historic supported borrowing is on the asset life method 
calculated on an equal instalment basis over 50 years.

b) Unsupported or prudential borrowing MRP is based on the Asset Life method – that is, 
the expenditure financed from borrowing is divided by the expected asset life. For 
schemes funded before 31st March 2012 the MRP is calculated on the annuity basis and 
for schemes funded after 1st April 2012 the MRP is calculated on an equal instalment 
basis. This means no change to existing policy.

c) Since 2009-10 the appropriate financing costs for the Council’s Building Schools for the 
Future (BSF) Private Finance Initiative (PFI) schemes have been included in MRP 
calculations. In 2018-19 the MRP policy for PFI assets was brought into line with the main 
MRP Policy and the charge of the principal to the revenue account is now over the life of 
the school building assets.

d) Asset lives are reviewed on an ongoing basis to match the MRP charge to the Revenue 
Estimates with the service benefit derived from the asset.

e) Where the Council has made property investments [or an invest to save investment] 
during or after 2018-19, the Section 151 Officer may choose to repay debt over the asset 
life using the annuity method. This is subject to an in house valuation that the investment 
property has retained or increased in value. Further it is subject to the condition that the in-
year yield is above that average for Treasury Investments and this is expected to continue 
into the future.

1.4 The CFR represents the amount of capital expenditure that has been financed from 
borrowing, less any amounts that the Council has set aside to repay that debt through the 
MRP. Borrowing may come from loans taken from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 
or commercial banks, finance leases (including PFI) or from the use of the Council’s own 
cash balances.

1.5 External debt can be less than the CFR. External debt cannot exceed the CFR (other 
than for short term cash flow purposes or cash flow management.)

1.6 There is an International Financial Reporting Standards requirement that assets 
funded from finance leases (including PFI deals) are brought onto the balance sheet. This 
also includes the liability as well as the asset. Therefore, the term borrowing does not just 
include loans from the Public Works Loan Board and banks, but also the liability implicit in 
PFI and other finance leases.

Page 95



1.7 The CIP will need to be reviewed through the planning cycle to ensure it remains 
affordable within revenue resources and to take account of the actual implementation of 
capital schemes.

1.8 Loans to third parties for a capital purpose can be repaid with the repayments
providing the following conditions are met: the capital scheme is self-financing; that
there is overall confidence that the loan will be repaid; that the third party adheres
to the agreed repayment schedule.

1.9 The funding to be set aside for the repayment of debt within the Housing Revenue 
Account will be equal to the depreciation charge, as calculated over 60 years. Further an 
amount equal to the set-aside will be used to fund capital expenditure on the housing 
stock.

Page 96



APPENDIX 3: CAPITAL STRATEGY TABLES 

Table (i)

Asset Balance Sheet values as at 31 March 2020

Category Value as at 31 March 2020
£’000

Council Dwellings 36,274
Land & Buildings 566,826
Vehicles, Plant, Furniture & Equipment 20,500
Infrastructure 232,086
Community Assets 54,278
Surplus Assets 12,640
Assets Under Construction 13,223
Heritage Assets 37,413
Investment Property 54,580
Intangible Assets 379
Total 1,028,199
Source: Statement of Accounts 2019-20

Table (ii)

Capital Investment Plan 2021-22

2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-25 Total
Funding: £m £m £m £m £m
Grants 67 125 132 37 13 374
Miscellaneous 6 10 11 3 1 31
Borrowing 66 121 127 35 10 359
Total Spend: 137 256 269 76 24 763

Page 97



Table (iii)

Split of Invest to Save Borrowing

2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-24 2024-25 Total
Funding: £m £m £m £m £m £m
Borrowing: 
Invest to Save

35 64 67 19 5 190

Borrowing: Other 31 57 60 16 5 169
Total borrowing 66 121 127 35 10 359

Table (iv)

Capital financing costs

2020-21
£m

2021-22
£m

2022-23
£m

2023-24
£m

2024-25
£m

MRP overprovision 0 0 0 0 0
MRP, excluding PFI 19.7 23.9 28.9 33.7 35.9
MRP PFI, finance lease 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Old West Yorkshire Waste debt 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2
Interest on external borrowing 16.3 16.8 18.0 18.5 18.5
Interest on PFI 16.2 15.6 15.0 14.3 13.7
Premium on debt repayment 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3
Investment income -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5

Total Capital Financing Costs 56.6 60.8 66.4 71.0 72.5
Projected Net Revenue Stream 391.3 391.3 391.3 391.3 391.3

Ratio to Net Revenue Stream 14.5% 15.5% 17.0% 18.1% 18.5%
Invest to Save element of Total 
Capital Financing Costs 6.7 8.1 11.3 13.9 15.3

Invest to Save contribution to 
Ratio to Net Revenue Stream 2.1% 1.9% 1.5% 1.3% 1.2%

Page 98



Table (v)

             Backlog maintenance

Backlog maintenance 2009-10 2017-18 2019-20
Operational Estate £ms 83 46 44
Non-Operational £ms 13 8 8
Total Backlog maintenance £ms 96 54 52
Operational Estate size GIAm2 000s 319 228 231
Non-Operational Estate size GIAm2 
000s

27 37 33

Total 346 265 267

Table (vi): 
Capital Financing Requirement 31 March 2020

Balance Sheet 31/03/2020
£m

Capital financing Requirement 711
Private finance Initiative -161
Underlying Borrowing Requirement 550
Investments Held 96
Cash Reserves -274
Less School Balances 31
Provisions/Collection Fund -28
Borrowing from Public Works Loan
Board

375

Under-Borrowing 175

Page 99



Table vii: 
Projected increased in Capital Financing Requirement

(see Prudential Indicators)

Table viii: 
Affordability measures

Table ix

Capital Strategy Actions
Measure Current Position Potential Position
Total Borrowing related to 
long term assets

As at 31-03-2020 £375m total 
borrowing is 36% of long 
terms assets of £1,028m.

CIP2020-21 to 2024-25 has 
£169m of Corporate 
Borrowing and £190m of 
Invest to Save (self-financing 
borrowing), totalling an 
assumed increase of £359m 
in borrowing to £731m. 
Assuming this increases long 
term assets also by £359m 
to £1,387m, this is 53% of 
long term assets.

Total Borrowing costs as a 
percentage of net budget

For 2020-21 borrowing costs 
of £49.9m plus Invest to Save 
borrowing costs of £6.7m, 
totalling £56.6m are 14.5% of 
net budget

At 2022-23 borrowing costs 
of £52.7m plus invest to save 
of £8.1m total £60.8m. 
15.5% of the net revenue 
budget.

Page 100



Table ix

Capital Strategy Actions

NUMBER ISSUE ACTION 

1. Management of the 
Balance Sheet

A balance sheet projection and analysis is 
included in the Council’s quarterly monitoring 
reports to Executive and Council. The purpose of 
this is to monitor the Council’s assets and 
liabilities going forward and report on any 
increase in liabilities. Further, it would develop 
the reporting of potential financial risks to the 
Council in relation to the Capital Investment Plan 
and other expenditure.

2. Loans to External 
Organisations

i. A responsible officer is assigned to 
monitor all outstanding loans to external 
organisations and assess on a quarterly 
basis any risk of non-payment.

ii. The rate of interest on loans to external 
organisations will reflect the level of risk 
and liquidity of them. Where additional 
loans are considered, the rate of interest 
may be above the rate at which the 
Council can borrow from the Public Works 
Loan Board. The Capital Strategy 
proposes that a more detailed policy is 
drawn up.

iii. Loans for regeneration and local growth 
purposes may be granted at discounted 
rates (soft loans). Indicators on 
proportionality and total level of loans by 
type will be developed by the responsible 
officer.

iv. The responsible officer will also maintain 
a central list of financial guarantees 
provided to external organisations.

v. The purpose is to ensure that the 
Council’s long term debts are fully repaid 
or any future difficulties are anticipated so 
mitigating action can be taken. Any loans 
given to an external organisation used for 
capital expenditure increase the Council’s 
Capital Financing Requirement. If it looks 
likely that the loan will not be repaid, 

Page 101



additional capital financing costs will be a 
cost pressure within the revenue 
estimates.

3. Forecasts of spend 
against the Capital 
Investment Plan

i. Responsible finance officers will arrange 
departmental meetings to provide 
accurate capital forecasting of the 2021-
22 Capital Investment Plan. As part of this 
to develop the Council’s shared 
understanding of the critical paths of the 
capital schemes.

ii. The Treasury Management Officer will 
monitor current interest rates and 
expectations of future rate increases on a 
daily basis.

iii. The Treasury Management Officer will 
develop options to contractually borrow in 
the future at current interest rates.

iv. A responsible officer will calculative the 
sensitivity of Invest to Save schemes to 
interest rate increases.

v. The overall purpose is to enable the 
Council to take out borrowing at the most 
optimal time. Accurate forecasting will 
help the Council understand when 
borrowing will be required. 

vi. The purpose of the option to contractually 
borrow in the future at current interest 
rates would reduce the risk of interest 
rates rising. An interest rate rise would 
increase capital financing costs. Further 
the calculations for the Invest to Save 
schemes, embody assumptions about 
interest rates which may be incorrect.

4. Investigate borrowing 
with annuity loans

i. The Treasury Management Officer and 
Business Advisor Capital will assess the 
optimal use of annuity loans compared to 
repayment at maturity loans.

ii. The Treasury Management Officer and 
Business Advisor Capital also consider 
whether equal instalment of principal 
loans would be appropriate.

iii. The purpose is to take out borrowing in a 

Page 102



way which minimises the Council’s costs. 
Repayment at maturity loans requires the 
Council to repay the loan principal at the 
end of the period of the loan and pay 
annual interest on the outstanding 
amount. Annuity loans require the Council 
to make a uniform payment each year 
over the whole term of the loan. This 
method of repayment would align more 
closely with how capital financing costs 
are charged in practice to the Revenue 
Estimates. Such alignment could help the 
Council manage its cash flow, reducing 
overall capital financing costs. Annuity 
loans may be more appropriate where 
there is an expectation that the size of the 
Capital Investment Plan reduces in future 
years.

iv. Equal instalments of principal loans 
require that an equal amount of the 
principal repaid each year. The purpose 
of investigating this option is to ascertain 
whether this would reduce capital 
financing costs and improve cash flow.

5. Review leases 
arrangements that 
involve an asset to 
determine if a purchase 
arrangement would be 
more cost effective

i. A responsible officer to review lease 
arrangements to determine if it would 
more cost effective to buy any assets 
outright.

ii. The purpose is to ensure that lease 
arrangements are as cost effective as 
possible. Further the purpose is to 
prepare for a likely change in accounting 
rules which may increase the Council’s 
capital financing costs arising from lease 
arrangements.

6.  Project Appraisal Group 
(PAG)

i. Any new proposals which are not funded 
from capital grants or receipts from the 
sale of land buildings would have to be: 
either financed directly from the Revenue 
Estimates and vired from another capital 
scheme.

ii. The quarterly monitoring of capital spend 
will be reported to Project Appraisal 
Group. As part of the Capital Strategy’s 
aim to continually align the Capital 

Page 103



Investment Plan with Council strategies, 
budget challenge sessions will be 
conducted with senior officers and 
Councillors during May and June 2021. 

iii. Key strategies are the Council Plan and 
the Invest in Bradford Economic Strategy. 
Project Appraisal Group will assign an 
officer to participate on refreshing these 
strategies. This will further improve 
linkages between the Capital Strategy 
and other Council strategies.

iv. Post completion statements for schemes 
costing in excess of £10m will be brought 
to Project Appraisal Group to appraise 
value for money and achievement against 
the Council Plan. As part of this, a revised 
process for evaluating benefits will be 
developed during 2021-22 by the 
Business Advisor Capital.

v. Project Appraisal Group will determine 
whether there are opportunities to share 
expertise in accessing capital grants 
across the Council.

vi. The schemes in the 2021-22 Capital 
Investment are formerly linked for 
reporting purposes to the Council’s 
strategies. Capital Financing Costs are 
modelled over the asset life as standard, 
under the guidance of the Business 
Advisor Capital.

vii. A representative from the Council’s 
procurement section will attend Project 
Appraisal Group. 

viii. The purpose is to minimise the Council’s 
requirement for borrowing and to 
streamline the Project Appraisal Group.

7. Risk Reporting i. A responsible officer will be assigned to 
develop the reporting and escalation of 

Page 104



risks arising from the Capital Investment 
Plan and monitoring of balance sheet 
liabilities. This would involve the Project 
Appraisal Group, the Section 151 Officer 
and to align with the Corporate Risk 
Register as appropriate.

ii. The Council’s risk appetite is low. This is 
consistent with the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code of Practice which 
stipulates that investments are prioritised 
according to security, liquidity and yield, in 
that order of importance. Subject to 
careful due diligence, the Council will 
consider a moderately higher level of risk 
for capital schemes which meet an 
important objective in the Council plan 
and generate significant non-financial 
benefits for the District.

iii. A specific risk as a VAT registered body is 
the recovery of exempt VAT only up to a 
value of 5% of all the VAT it incurs. This is 
known as the de-minimis limit. Monitoring 
and control of exempt input tax is 
essential for the Council as where exempt 
input tax exceeds the 5% limit the whole 
amount is irrecoverable and will represent 
an additional cost to the council. Each 
capital investment will be closely reviewed 
to assess its VAT implications. 

iv. Inflation risk will be managed by using 
fixed price contracts wherever possible. 
Further the Capital Investment Plan 
includes £2m annual contingency. There 
is an additional risk contingency for the 
capital financing costs in the revenue 
estimates. 

v. The purpose is to ensure that risks are 
monitored and escalated appropriately.

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



Version 4 FINAL 

Report of the Director of Finance to the meeting of the 
Executive to be held on 16 February 2021 and Council 
to be held on 18 February 2021.

DH

Subject:  

Allocation of the Schools Budget 2021/22 Financial Year

Summary statement:

The report seeks Executive approval of the recommendations of Bradford’s Schools 
Forum in allocating the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) for 2021/22 and subsequent 
recommendation to Full Council.

EQUALITY & DIVERSITY:

The Schools Budget proposed for 2021/22 is put forward to retain a significant amount of 
continuity on current practice, Dedicated Schools Grant distribution and formula funding 
policy and methodology.

Schools Block

Council has previously (for April 2018) determined to mirror the DfE's National Funding 
Formula (NFF) for the calculation of primary and secondary school / academy delegated 
funding allocations. There is no change in this policy in 2021/22 and only minor technical 
change in the NFF itself. As such, we continue to align with the DfE regarding the National 
Formula Funding policy and its priorities and impacts on the funding of children and young 
people that share protected characteristics. 

In setting the School’s Budget for 2021/22, Council is asked to approve that the Minimum 
Funding Guarantee (MFG) for primary and secondary schools / academies is set at + 
2.0%, which is the maximum permitted by the Regulations. The purpose and consequence 
of this proposal is to uplift the funding of schools / academies that remain on the MFG, in 
particular in the primary phase where 64% of schools / academies are on this in 2021/22. 
This is to ensure that funding is available to these schools / academies to use in support of 
all pupils including those that share protected characteristics.

Page 107

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/schools-national-funding-formulae-equalities-impact-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/schools-national-funding-formulae-equalities-impact-assessment


Version 4 FINAL

High Needs Block

Council is asked to approve, for the allocation of Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) 
top up funding to schools and providers, the continued application of the Banded Model, 
which was first introduced at April 2020. The impact of this Model, on the funding of 
schools and providers for all children and young people with EHCPs, is assessed to 
continue to be entirely positive. The Banded Model continues to improve the way schools 
and providers in Bradford are funded for children and young people with SEND with 
EHCPs. Although it cannot be evidenced at this stage that this change has directly 
advanced equality of opportunity for children and young people that share a protected 
characteristic, it is expected that this Model will support this.

Council is asked to approve the proposal to amend the Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) Funding Floor for mainstream schools in 2021/22. As well as 
supporting provision for pupils with EHCPs, the new approach is aimed at protecting the 
funding used by schools / academies to support their wider Additional Educational Needs 
(AEN), SEND and Alternative Provision (AP) activities. This will better financially support 
schools / academies that have higher proportions of pupils with EHCPs, in support of 
inclusion, combining also to support schools / academies that may have lower levels of 
AEN formula funding and that may be smaller in size. It will also support schools / 
academies that may have some turbulence in formula funding as a result of in year pupil 
numbers changes. The impact of this new Floor, combined with the increases in the 
minimum level of per pupil funding and continuing protection for named identified schools / 
academies, is assessed to be entirely positive.

Early Years Block

Council is asked to approve the continued protection of maintained nursery schools, at this 
time for the period April to August 2021 with arrangements from September 2021 to be 
further discussed once the DfE confirms the position. This protection is funded using the 
specific supplement within the Early Years Block, supported by one off monies. The 
numbers of children with SEND and from more deprived backgrounds is higher in the 
nursery schools sector and this protection continues to support provision for these 
children.

The Early Years Pupil Premium, as well as the Disability Access Fund and Early Inclusion 
Funds, will continue to complement the Early Years Single Funding Formula and will 
provide additional funds to support children with SEND as these have done in 2020/21. 
The proposal to increase Disability Access Funding, from £615 to £1,000 for eligible 
children, is put forward with the aim of further supporting providers in meeting the needs of 
eligible children with SEND in 2021/22.

Council is asked to approve the recommendation to pause the previously planned further 
reduction in spend on the Deprivation & SEND supplement, meaning that spending on this 
supplement will be retained at 8% in 2021/22. This proposal is put forward in recognition of 
the current impact of the COVID-19 situation and the Authority’s concern to maximise the 
amount of funding that will be allocated to early years providers to support children from 
more deprived backgrounds next year. 

The position of the Deprivation & SEND supplement  will need to be reviewed again for 

Page 108



Version 4 FINAL

2022/23. The average of our statistical neighbours, at last measurement, was 6%. The 
Authority set out in consultation in autumn 2019 how brought forward balances (one off 
monies) are currently being used within the Early Years Block to protect the current value 
of the Universal Base Rate (UBR) following the national early years funding reform in 
2017. However, the use of one off monies is not a permanent solution. To keep within the 
funding settlement currently available, either the UBR or spending on other factors 
(including the Deprivation & SEND supplement) will need to reduce. Protecting and 
uplifting the UBR annually for all providers helps support universal good quality provision 
for all children. However, the Authority sees that reducing the Deprivation & SEND 
supplement to better afford the UBR in 2021/22 will not help providers manage the impact 
of the COVID-19 situation on children from more deprived background. For this reason, 
the pausing of the reduction is strongly supported by the Schools Forum.

Chris Chapman
Director of Finance 

Portfolio:  Leader of Council

Report Contact:  Andrew Redding 
Phone: (01274) 432678
E-mail: andrew.redding@bradford.gov.uk

 Overview & Scrutiny Area: Corporate

Page 109

mailto:andrew.redding@bradford.gov.uk


Version 4 FINAL

1. SUMMARY

1.1 This report informs the Executive of the allocation of the Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG) and the proposed Schools Budget for the 2021/22 financial year. The 
proposed Schools Budget incorporates the decisions and recommendations that 
were made by the Schools Forum on 13 January 2021. 

1.2 The Schools Budget is part of the overall budget proposal for the Council, which  
includes:

 The recommended Capital Investment Plan (Document “DG”)

 The Revenue Estimates (Document “DL”)

1.3 This report is submitted to enable the Executive to make recommendations to 
Council, on the setting of the budget and the Council Tax for 2021/22, as required 
by Article 4 of the Council's Constitution.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Under national Regulations, every local authority is required to operate a Schools 
Forum. The Schools Forum is a decision making and consultative body dealing with 
the Dedicated Schools Grant and the Schools Budget. The Forum acts as a 
consultative body on some issues and a decision making body on others. 

The Forum acts in a consultative role for:

 Changes to the local funding formula for schools and academies.
 Changes to the operation of the Minimum Funding Guarantee.
 Arrangements for the funding of the early years entitlements.
 Financial arrangements for pupils with special educational needs and 

disabilities, and for pupils in pupil referral units, including arrangement for paying 
top-up funding for pupils with Education Health and Care Plans.

 Changes to or new contracts that are funded from the Schools Budget.

The Forum is responsible for decisions on:

 How much funding is centrally retained within the Dedicated Schools Grant.
 Growth Funding and Falling Rolls Funding within the Schools Block.
 The movement of Schools Block funding to other DSG Blocks. 
 Proposals to de-delegate funding from maintained schools.
 Changes to the Scheme of financial management that governs maintained 

schools.

Page 110



Version 4 FINAL

Therefore, one of  primary functions of the Schools Forum is to recommend to the 
Authority how the funding, which the Government provides for schools and 
individual pupils (known as the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)), is managed.

2.2 Following the Government’s ‘National Funding Formula’ reforms, which began at 
April 2018, the DSG is constructed in four blocks with each block having a ‘national 
formula’ basis. The movement to National Funding Formula is accompanied by 
transitional protections.

All four blocks continue to include capping and floors in 2021/22.  However, these 
have been adjusted by the Government’s settlement, which, most significantly, 
means that Bradford’s High Needs Block has increased by 12% per pupil (+ 
£9.23m). This is the second year of significant high needs funding increase; 
Bradford received an additional 17% per pupil (+ £11.47m) in 2020/21. These 
increases have placed our High Needs Block in a stronger position. As a 
consequence, it is not proposed for 2021/22 to transfer monies out of the Schools 
Block in support of high needs pressures.

2.3 The Government has recently again re-affirmed its intention to implement a ‘hard’ 
National Funding Formula for primary and secondary schools / academies. 
Although local responsibility is expected to be retained for the High Needs Block, 
Early Years Block and Central Schools Services Block, the main Schools Block 
primary and secondary funding formula is expected to be calculated nationally and 
only ‘passported’ by the Authority to schools. However, the Authority continues in 
2021/22 to have responsibility for deciding all formula funding arrangements locally 
albeit within tight regulations.

2.4 Given this direction of travel, a key decision for all authorities has been whether to 
adopt locally the Government’s National Funding Formula for the allocation of the 
Schools Block to primary and secondary schools / academies. Council took this 
decision at April 2018 and the Schools Block recommendations for 2021/22 are put 
forward to ensure that we continue to mirror the Government’s National Funding 
Formula as this annually incrementally develops.

The Government’s 2021/22 Schools Block primary and secondary mainstream 
National Funding Formula provides broadly for an increase in funding per pupil of 
3.0%. This is a little lower than the 4.0% increase in 2020/21 but is still substantially 
improved on the increases in recent prior years. However, schools / academies will 
not uniformly receive 3.0%. Increases will depend on data and on pupil numbers 
changes but also signficantly on the school’s / academy’s relationships to both the 
Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) and the Government’s mandatory minimum 
per pupil funding levels. On a simple basis, increases in per pupil funding in 
mainstream primary and secondary schools / academies in Bradford, prior to the 
impact of data and pupil numbers changes, range between + 2.0% and + 6.7%.

In consultation with the Schools Forum, the Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) for 
primary and secondary schools / academies is proposed to be set at + 2.0% in 
2021/22, meaning all schools / academies will receive a minimum 2.0% increase in 
per pupil funding using the DfE’s prescribed methodology. 2.0% is the maximum 

Page 111



Version 4 FINAL

permitted by the Regulations. The MFG is a very significant factor in Bradford, in 
particular for our primary phase where 99 out of 156 (64%) schools / academies 
receive funding through it. In total, 109 out of 191 (57%) primary and secondary 
schools / academies in Bradford are funded on the MFG set at + 2.0% in 2021/22.

A significant element of the Government’s National Funding Formula for 
mainstream primary and secondary schools / academies in 2021/22 is the 
requirement that all primary schools / academies receive a minimum of £4,180, and 
all secondary schools / academies a minimum of £5,415, per pupil. This continues 
to deliver the Government’s intention to ‘level up’. The funding of 40 (out of 156) 
primary schools / academies and 3 (out of 31) secondary schools / academies in 
Bradford is increased by this requirement. 

2.5 The increases allocated by the national settlement for the Early Years Block for 
2021/22 are lower than by the settlement for primary and secondary schools / 
academies. Bradford’s rate of funding for 3&4 year olds is increased by £0.06 per 
hour to £4.69 (+ 1.30%) and for 2 year olds is increased by £0.08 per hour to £5.36 
(+ 1.52%).

In the context of the current COVID-19 situation, the Authority remains concerned 
about the potential for sizeable additional unexpected costs or losses in DSG 
income that could be incurred during 2021/22 especially within the Early Years 
Block. The Authority will continue to monitor closely COVID-19 matters in relation to 
our 2021/22 early years entitlement funding arrangements (EYSFF). After our 
‘normal’ arrangements have been agreed, we will continue to respond appropriately
during the year, but in line with the Finance Regulations and with the DfE’s 
expectations and guidance. Local authorities are not permitted to alter their EYSFF 
arrangements in year without DfE approval, so we are minded to continue to ensure 
that there is sufficient “controlled flexibility” within our arrangements, especially 
flexibility in our entitlement delivery counting arrangements, to enable us to respond 
to any unexpected exceptional circumstances.

Also within the Early Years Block, a matter of significant uncertainty has been the 
settlement for maintained nursery schools. Bradford currently receives a discrete 
sum (a ‘supplement’), which is used to protect our 7 nursery schools at historic 
funding levels. Without this supplement, these schools would each lose in the 
region of a third of their funding, meaning that they are unlikely to remain financially 
viable in their current forms. 

At the time of writing this report, the DfE has only confirmed supplement funding up 
to the end of August 2021. Although the DfE has published supplement allocations 
for the period September 2021 to March 2022, these allocations are described as 
“conditional” and the DfE has instructed authorities to treat these as unconfirmed. 
We are only able at this time therefore, to confirm our proposals for nursery school 
funding for the period April to August 2021. Depending on what the DfE confirms, 
we may need to consult with the Schools Forum and nursery schools again 
specifically on this matter. If the DfE confirms the continuation of our supplement, 
and that we are permitted to continue to protect nursery school funding as we do 
currently, the Authority anticipates proposing to extend our April to August 2021 

Page 112



Version 4 FINAL

arrangements to the period September 2021 to March 2022. 

2.6 The proposed allocation of the High Needs Block in Bradford continues to 
incorporate our responses to the growth in the needs of children and young people 
as well as the structural changes taking place in the delivery of provision across the 
District. 

The planned budget for 2021/22 fully allocates the additional £9.23m received 
within the 2021/22 settlement and incorporates the following continuing headline 
structural changes:

 The development of additional specialist SEND places, including the 
development of Authority-led resourced provisions in mainstream primary and 
secondary schools / academies.

 The restructuring of our PRU provision, where our High Needs Block funded 
PRUs going forward deliver provision for pupils permanently excluded.

 The re-alignment of responsibility between the High Needs Block and schools 
for the funding of alternative provision that is commissioned by schools.

Members are reminded that the Council introduced at April 2020 a new Banded 
Model for the funding of top up for Education Health and Care Plans (EHCPs). It is 
our intention to use this model in 2021/22 as the vehicle through which to release to 
SEND providers a significant proportion of the additional £9.23m High Needs Block 
funding. The minimum value of increase proposed in EHCP top up funding is 6.6% 
(with increases ranging between 6.6% and 13.8%). It is important to continue to 
emphasise that the way we moved to the new Banded Model has meant that no 
EHCP that was in place at 1 April 2020 has reduced in value as a result of this 
change.

The £9.23m is also allocated to increase the number of specialist places and to 
meet the increased provision costs resulting from the continued growth in the 
numbers of children and young people with EHCPs.

Our current four year forecast indicates that our High Needs Block should not 
develop a structural deficit problem in the medium term. The retention of the 
brought forward balance that is forecasted to be held at the close of 2020/21 is an 
important part of this current view. Our forecast does confirm the need to continue 
to monitor key aspects, to ensure value for money and to control expenditure, in 
particular, through the continued development of ‘local’ specialist places. This 
forecast does also rely on continued growth in funding from Government year on 
year, which if not received via the national DSG settlements will require us to take 
mitigating action.

2.7 The reports to Council on the Schools Budget, presented in previous years, have 
highlighted the extent to which increases in funding have not been sufficient to 
match growth in costs, especially in salaries, leading to schools and other providers 
being required to deliver structural budget savings. However,

Page 113



Version 4 FINAL

 The increases provided by this current year’s DSG settlement were substantially 
improved and the increases for 2021/22 continue on this basis. 

 We highlight in particular that primary schools / academies funded on the 
increased mandatory minimum of £4,180 per pupil will see significant (up to 
6.7% per pupil) growth. 

 Two thirds of secondary schools / academies will broadly see 3% per pupil.
 

 The Teacher Pay and Pensions Grants, which are transferred into, and are 
secured within, the DSG from April 2021, continue to support schools / 
academies to meet a large proportion of the growth in the employer’s costs of 
teacher salaries that took place in 2018 and again in 2019. 

 Through our Banded Model, we are proposing to continue to substantially 
increase funding allocated to schools and providers in support of EHCPs. This 
will continue to improve the position of all providers and of special schools in 
particular. We have also consulted on, and now propose, to strengthen our 
SEND Funding Floor arrangement, which will better support mainstream schools 
/ academies in meeting their responsibilities for the first £6,000 of the cost of the 
additional needs of all pupils.

 Locally, education budgets will still be required to absorb the impact of pay 
award, incorporating employer contributions to staff pension costs and the 
increase in the national living wage, as well as increases in the prices of goods 
and services. However, an overall headline pay freeze for teachers at 
September 2021 will positively benefit school /  academy budgets and should 
mean headroom is available to be re-deployed.

Against this position however, it is forecasted that the COVID-19 situation will have 
some negative impact on education budgets in this current financial year. This is 
due to the additional expenditure that has been incurred, as well as losses in 
funding and in private income streams, that may not be fully covered by the 
Government’s national support schemes. This is a matter the Authority and the 
Schools Forum continue to monitor. COVID-19 is likely to continue to have financial 
impact into 2021/22. Schools, academies and other providers will need to take 
focused decisions on how they use the totality of their budget resources, including 
the Government’s COVID-19 Catch Up Premium, to support their pupils. This is 
likely to include re-prioritising budget allocations in line with a re-focused school 
development plan as well as continuing to manage other financial implications 
related to additional expenditure and reduced income.

Also against this position, as set out in paragraphs 2.4 and 2.5, the health of the 
budgets of individual schools, academies, and other providers will be dependent on 
a number of factors. In terms of areas of possible pressure in Bradford, we 
highlight:

 The settlement for two thirds of primary schools / academies, and a third of 
secondary schools / academies, is at the level of the Minimum Funding 

Page 114



Version 4 FINAL

Guarantee at + 2.0%, which is lower than the ‘national headline’ of + 3.0%.

 In the context of meeting the cost pay award, including the increase in the 
national living wage (+ 2.2%), the combined overall settlement for early years 
providers is lower than + 1.5%. 

 There is uncertainty still over the funding of maintained nursery schools from 
September 2021. Even where the supplement continues, the national early 
years funding settlement does not currently recognise that the cost base of 
maintained nursery schools has increased in recent years. 

 Pupil Premium Grant (PPG), which is a substantial funding stream for schools / 
academies in Bradford focused on supporting children from more deprived 
backgrounds, is not increased in value in 2021/22. The DfE has also adjusted 
the methodology, to use the October 2020 census rather than the January 2021 
census, meaning that children that would have become eligible for the PPG over 
the autumn term after the October census was taken will now not be funded.

 The specific Year 7 Catch Up Premium, allocated to secondary schools / 
academies for lower achieving pupils, has ceased and is now contained within 
the COVID-19 Catch Up Premium.

Schools and providers, in their management of their delegated funds, continue to 
need to take prudent decisions understanding that there is significant uncertainty for 
the near-future. The Government has re-stated its commitment to completing in 
2022/23 the “£7.1bn over 3 years” school funding increase. However, the position 
of the DSG in 2022/23 is not yet clear in detail and the extent to which school 
funding settlements after 2022/23 will be affected by public sector spending 
restraint following COVID-19 is unclear.  The status, and timescale for the delivery, 
of the Government’s intended increase in the minimum salary of qualified teachers 
to £30,000 and the knock-on implications for salaries across main pay scale 
especially (which was previously announced for September 2022 and which will 
significantly increase salaries expenditure in schools) is also currently uncertain.

2.8 In summary, Bradford has received in 2021/22 compared against 2020/21:

 An additional £32.74m within the Schools Block (+ 7.49%). £18.95m comes 
from the transfer of the Teacher Pay and Teacher Pension Grants, so this is not 
new money into the District. £12.74m comes from the Government’s broad 3% 
uplift of its National Funding Formula alongside its commitment to allocate an 
increased minimum level of per pupil funding. £2.02m comes from the continued 
growth in pupil numbers in our secondary schools / academies netted against 
the continued reduction in pupil numbers in the primary phase. Other 
adjustments account for a reduction of £0.97m.

 An additional £11.19m within the High Needs Block (+ 13.8%). £1.24m comes 
from the transfer of the Teacher Pay and Teacher Pension Grants, so this is not 
new money into the District.  £9.23m comes from the Government’s uplift of its 

Page 115



Version 4 FINAL

National Funding Formula. £0.72m comes from the growth of our special school 
population and from other minor adjustments.

 An additional £0.55m within the Early Years Block (+ 1.28%). This is the total 
increase resulting from the Government’s National Funding Formula uplift, net of 
adjustments for changes in estimated entitlement delivery numbers. The Early 
Years Block continues to include an estimated / “conditional” full year value of 
the supplement for maintained nursery schools.

 An additional £0.51m within the Central Schools Services Block (+ 17.4%). 
£0.41m comes from the transfer of the Teacher Pay and Teacher Pension 
Grants, so this is not new money into the District. £0.10m comes from the 
Government’s uplift of its National Funding Formula, which is partially offset by 
the  reduction in funding for our historic commitments.

2.9 The total estimated amount of DSG available for distribution in 2021/22 is 
£634.679m, which includes a forecasted cumulative value of under-spend (one off 
carry forward balance) up to 31 March 2021 of £25.271m (4.0%). The 
recommended distribution of this Schools Budget is summarised in this table:

Description Early 
Years 
Block 

£m

Schools 
Block £m

High 
Needs 

Block £m

Central 
Schools 
Services 

Block 
£m

Total DSG 
£m

Estimated DSG available 
2021/22 (inc. transfers)

£43.514 £470.038 £92.678 £3.178 £609.408

Estimated DSG B’fwd from 
2020/21

£3.273 £6.550 £15.449 £0.000 £25.271

Total Estimated DSG 
(Schools Budget) 2021/22

£46.787 £476.588 £108.127 £3.178 £634.679

Delegated to Schools / 
Providers

£43.389 £467.673 £85.249 £0.000 £596.310

Non-Delegated Items £0.126 £1.899 £7.429 £3.178 £12.632
Allocation of One Off £0.615 £0.430 £0.235 £0.000 £1.280
Total Funding Allocated £44.130 £470.001 £92.912 £3.178 £610.221
Difference (C'Fwd) £2.657 £6.587 £15.214 £0.000 £24.458
Please note due to roundings the total may not add up exactly

2.10 Members are asked to consider and to approve the 2021/22 Schools Budget as 
proposed in this report. This proposed Schools Budget incorporates the decisions 
and recommendations that were made by the Schools Forum on 13 January 2021. 
Should Members wish to propose amendments to this Schools Budget then 
representation must be made back to the Schools Forum.

Page 116



Version 4 FINAL

3. SCHOOLS FORUM DECISIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS ON THE 
ALLOCATION OF THE SCHOOLS BUDGET 2021/22

       (£000)

Total Estimated DSG (Schools Budget) Available 2021/22           £634,679

3.1 The Schools Block              £470,038

This Block funds formula-based delegated allocations for mainstream primary and 
secondary schools / academies, services funded by de-delegation from maintained 
school budgets, a Growth Fund for primary and secondary schools / academies and 
a Falling Rolls Fund for primary schools and primary academies. 

For 2021/22, the Schools Block is calculated on National Funding Formula-based 
primary and secondary per pupil values x October 2020 census pupil numbers, plus 
additional defined cash allocations. Bradford’s primary amount per pupil (£app) is 
£4,596 (+6.98% on 2020/21; +2.79% excluding grant transfer); our secondary £app 
is £6,042 (+8.13% on 2020/21; +3.38% excluding grant transfer). These values 
have been derived by the DfE through the amalgamation of the allocations that 
individual schools / academies in Bradford would receive via the National Funding 
Formula and following the application of minimum floors. They also now include the 
former Teacher Pay and Pensions Grants (£18.95m) that have been transferred 
into the Schools Block at 1 April 2021. Additional cash allocations total £13.30m, for 
Business Rates (£3.98m), split sites (£0.42m), PFI (£6.70m) and Pupil Numbers 
Growth (£2.20m). 

Please note that the funding for the delegated budgets of academies is ‘top sliced’ 
from this Block so that these settings can be funded directly by the Education & 
Skills Funding Agency.

3.2 The High Needs Block   £92,678

This Block funds resources for pupils in mainstream schools with Special 
Educational Needs & Disabilities (with Education Health and Care Plans), 
delegated budgets for Special Schools, Pupil Referral Units and resourced 
provisions. These budgets are calculated under the national ‘Place-Plus’ 
framework. Other DSG provision relating to high needs pupils, both centrally 
managed and devolved, is also funded from this Block. This includes school SEND 
mainstream teaching support services, Education in Hospital provision and home 
tuition (medical needs). It also includes the cost of the placement of Bradford 
children in out of authority and non-maintained / independent provisions.

High Needs Block allocations are calculated via National Funding Formula under 
transitional arrangements. Bradford receives £4,661 for pupils in special schools 
and academies (including independent special schools), plus 50% of the value of 
our High Needs Block spending as it was in 2017/18, plus a capped allocation 

Page 117



Version 4 FINAL

(+12% per pupil) on the new National Funding Formula, which is based on 
population, deprivation and other needs-led data. An adjustment is made to 
recognise the cross border movement of children between authority areas. The 
Authority then also receives specific allocations (£1.94m in 2021/22) for Education 
in Hospital and home tuition (medical needs) provision and £0.25m in respect of the 
former Teacher Pension Grant that is allocated to alternative provisions and that is 
transferred into the High Needs Block at 1 April 2021.

Please note that the funding for high needs places in Bradford-located academies 
and Post 16 settings is ‘top sliced’ from this Block so that these settings can be 
funded directly by the Education & Skills Funding Agency.

       (£000)

3.3 The Early Years Block  £43,514

This Block funds delegated allocations, and a smaller value of funds held centrally, 
relating to the delivery of the entitlements to early years education for eligible 2, 3 
and 4 year olds in nursery schools, in primary schools / academies with nursery 
classes and in Private, Voluntary and Independent (PVI) settings. The value of this 
Block is currently estimated and will be finalised, on current guidance, on the 
number of eligible children recorded in the January 2021 and January 2022 
censuses x £4,456 per FTE (£4.69 per hour) for children aged 3 & 4 and £5,092 per 
FTE (£5.36 per hour) for children aged 2. 

Estimated figures of £0.407m and £0.196m are included for the Early Years Pupil 
Premium and for the Disability Access Fund. In addition, an estimated £1.213m is 
currently included for the DfE’s Maintained Nursery School supplement. Please see 
the introduction of this report for further explanation of the current unconfirmed 
status of this supplement.

3.4 The Central Schools Services Block    £3,178

The Central Schools Services Block was established at April 2018, when a number 
of items previously funded via ‘top-slice’ within the Schools Block were transferred 
to this Block and given a formula basis. These included Pupil Admissions and Local 
Authority statutory duties in respect of all state funded schools and academies that 
were previously funded through the now ceased Education Services Grant.

The 2021/22 allocation is calculated on a National Funding Formula. Bradford 
receives £35.44 per pupil x October 2020 census numbers recorded in primary and 
secondary schools and academies, plus a lump sum of £0.28m to match 60% of the 
value of our ‘historic commitments’ spend we recorded in 2017/18. This additional 
£0.28m has been reduced from the £0.35m (80%) funded in 2020/21 and is set to 
be fully phased out by the DfE over time. The £35.44 per pupil includes the former 
Teacher Pension Grant monies (£0.41m) in respect of centrally employed teachers 
that are transferred into the DSG at 1 April 2021.

Page 118



Version 4 FINAL

       (£000)

3.5 Estimated DSG Balance Brought Forward from 2020/21                      £25,271

Final DSG allocations are not confirmed by the DfE until later in the financial year 
and the Authority’s proposals are based on estimates of expenditure especially 
within the High Needs and Early Years Blocks. These estimates are reconciled at 
the end of each year and differences are added to the DSG in the next year’s 
planned budget. Decisions taken in previous years have already committed a 
proportion of the sum estimated to be carried forward from 2020/21.

The table in paragraph 2.9 separates the total estimated DSG carry forward 
balance into the four blocks. This follows our local informal ‘block earmarking’ 
approach to the management of DSG balances that has been agreed with the 
Schools Forum. For formal (external) purposes however, a single DSG carry 
forward figure is recorded. DSG balances are not ring-fenced by the Regulations 
and can be used cross-block.

4. ALLOCATION TO DELEGATED BUDGETS      (£000)

Total Allocated to School / Provider Delegated Budgets           £596,310

Broken down as follows:
 

4.1 Early Years Providers via Single Funding Formula  £43,389

This is funding delegated to maintained nursery schools, nursery classes in 
maintained primary schools and primary academies and Private, Voluntary and 
Independent (PVI) providers, to support the delivery of the entitlements to early 
years education:

 Maintained Nursery Schools 3 / 4 year old universal and extended entitlements, 
incorporating the estimated Maintained Nursery School supplement £3.708m.

 Nursery Classes in Maintained Primary Provisions 3 /4 year old universal and 
extended entitlements £6.918m.

 PVI Providers (including academies) 3 / 4 year old universal and extended 
entitlements £24.321m.

 The entitlement for the 40% most deprived 2 year olds £7.954m.
 Early Years SEND Inclusion for 2 Year Olds £0.100m.
 Early Years SEND Inclusion for 3&4 Year Olds £0.400m.
 Early Years Pupil Premium £0.407m.
 Disability Access Fund £0.196m.
 Adjustment for the planned spending of balance brought forward (minus) 

£0.615m.

Page 119



Version 4 FINAL

Members are reminded of what is said in paragraph 2.5 regarding the uncertainty 
the COVID-19 situation creates for early years entitlement funding. This report asks 
the Council to agree our ‘normal’ funding arrangements for 2021/22.

Due to the timing of the DfE’s announcements on early years funding for 2021/22, 
which were significantly later than usual, the Authority completed on 3 February a 
short consultation on our Early Years Single Funding Formula (EYSFF) proposals. 
At its meeting on 13 January, the Schools Forum gave its full formal support to the 
Authority’s proposals. 3 other responses to the consultation were received; 1 from a 
PVI provider and 2 from maintained nursery schools. These responses also 
supported the Authority’s proposals for 2021/22. In their responses however, the 
maintained nursery schools emphasised the extremely difficult financial situation 
they currently face.
 
The Authority therefore, following the Forum’s support, recommends that the Early 
Years Single Funding Formula (EYSFF) that was set out in the Authority’s 
consultation is used to calculate budget shares for all providers delivering provision 
for 2 and 3 & 4 year olds in 2021/22. A summary of Bradford’s recommended 
EYSFF is attached at Appendix 3. In headline:

 Providers will be funded for the delivery of the 2 year old entitlement on a single 
flat rate per hour of £5.36, which fully passes on the £0.08 per hour increase 
allocated to our Early Years Block by the Government.

 Regarding the main 3 & 4 year old entitlement, the Universal Base Rate (UBR) 
will be set at £4.25 per hour. This is an uplift of +£0.06 on the £4.19 set for 
2020/21 and passes through to providers in full the increase Bradford has 
received from the Government. We propose to ‘pause’ the previously planned 
further reduction in spend on the Deprivation & SEND supplement, meaning that 
spending on this supplement will be retained at 8% in 2021/22. The planned 
reduction, ultimately to 6%, will be reviewed again for 2022/23. We do not 
introduce any more supplements into our 3 & 4 year old EYSFF. New 
supplements would dilute further both the UBR and the Deprivation & SEND 
rates at a time when we see our priority to be to maximise the values of these 
rates for providers.

 Regarding the funding of the 3&4 year old entitlements in Maintained Nursery 
Schools, proposed for the period April 2021 to August 2021 only at this time, the 
protected setting base rate will be set at £5.84 per hour. This is the 2020/21 
protected rate uplifted by £0.06 per hour in line with the uplift delivered in the 
3&4 year old Universal Base Rate. The Deprivation and SEND rates for each 
nursery school will continue to be retained at their 2016/17 values. The nursery 
school lump sum for sustainability will continue to be calculated on existing 
variable values using the current methodology. Proposals for the period 
September 2021 to March 2022 will be put forward following the DfE’s 
confirmation of the status of the supplement, as explained in the introduction.

 Our current SEND Inclusion Fund will continue to be used to allocate additional 
monies to early years providers to support their meeting the needs of eligible 

Page 120



Version 4 FINAL

children identified with low level emerging SEND.

 We will increase the value of the Disability Access Fund (DAF)  allocation paid 
per child in 2021/22, from the minimum required of £615 to £1,000, using a 
proportion of the balance brought forward in support of the cost of this increase, 
if this is required. 

98.0% of our 2021/22 3&4 year old entitlement funding will be passed-through to 
providers. Our Early Years Block planned budget complies with the DfE’s statutory 
restrictions for the funding of 3&4 year old hours delivery concerning a) the 
minimum 95% pass-through and b) the maximum 10% spend on supplements.

As far as we are able to confirm at this time, for the period April to August 2021, 
our planned budget also complies with the DfE’s expectation that the specific 
Maintained Nursery School supplement is allocated to protect nursery school 
funding at pre-national reform (2016/17) rates.

(£000)

4.2 Primary and Secondary Schools and Academies           £467,673

Primary £250.682m. 
Secondary £216.991m. 

The Schools Forum has recommended to:

 Use the formula outlined in Appendix 1 to calculate delegated budget shares for 
primary and secondary schools / academies. This formula has been agreed 
following consultation with schools / academies in autumn 2020. We submitted 
the final version of the required Pro-forma on 15 January 2021 and this is 
subject to final validation by the Education & Skills Funding Agency.

 Continue to fully mirror the Government’s National Funding Formula, meaning 
that we:

Amend our minimum levels of per pupil funding to match the mandatory values 
of £4,180 primary and £5,415 secondary.

Amend our local formula to mirror the Government’s 2021/22 National Funding 
Formula values for existing factors. The values of these factors have broadly 
increased by 3% on 2020/21.

 Set the Minimum Funding Guarantee at + 2.00%. 

 Continue to use our existing local formula for the funding of schools / academies 
on split sites as this is not yet covered by the National Funding Formula. 
Continue to pass through the specific Building Schools for the Future DSG 
affordability gap values using our current method. Continue to fund business 
rates at actual cost, with this cost currently estimated.

Page 121



Version 4 FINAL

 Continue to use our existing methodology for the definition of notional SEND 
budgets for mainstream primary and secondary schools / academies within the 
Schools Block funding formulae.

 Retain, with their existing criteria and methodologies, the additional funds that 
are initially managed centrally within the Schools Block (with some then 
released to eligible schools / academies during the year) – Growth Fund, Falling 
Rolls Fund (primary phase only), De-delegated Funds (maintained schools 
only).

Please note that the funding for the delegated budgets of academies is ‘top sliced’ 
so that these settings can be funded directly by the Education & Skills Funding 
Agency.

(£000)

4.3 Special Schools and Special Academies   £34,550

The national high needs funding approach is based on the financial definition of a 
‘High Needs’ child or young person being one whose education, incorporating all 
additional support, costs more than £10,000 per annum. This threshold lays the 
foundation of the national ‘Place Plus’ framework and the basis of the definition of 
the responsibility that maintained schools, academies and other providers have for 
meeting the needs of children and young people from their delegated budgets. 

Delegated high needs funding has two parts a) core (or place) funding and b) top-
up (or plus) funding. At its simplest level, the basic “Place” element has been set 
nationally at £10,000 for both SEND and Alternative Provision settings. The “Plus” 
element is the top up above the “Place” funding and is based on an assessment of 
the additional needs of an individual pupil. Local authorities are permitted to 
establish bands for this element of funding. 

The 2021/22 planned budget of £34.550m is calculated on 1,500 places on a full 
year 2021/22 academic year basis across eight special schools / academies.

As stated in paragraph 2.6, the Council introduced at April 2020 a new Banded 
Model for the funding of top up for Education Health and Care Plans (EHCPs). This 
Banded Model, as set out in Appendix 2 for 2021/22, is proposed to continue to be 
used to allocate top up funding for pupils with EHCPs placed in special schools and 
in special academies.

Please note that the place funding for academy special schools is ‘top sliced’ from 
the High Needs Block so that these settings can be funded directly by the 
Education & Skills Funding Agency.

4.4 Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) & Alternative Providers    £3,985

Two key strategic provision changes that have adjusted the 2021/22 High Needs 

Page 122



Version 4 FINAL

Block planned budget are:

 The restructuring of our PRUs, where our High Needs Block funded PRUs going 
forward deliver turn-around provision for pupils permanently excluded.

 The re-alignment of responsibility for the funding of alternative provision that is 
commissioned by schools.

We have now moved to a position where schools / academies are responsible for 
paying from their delegated budgets the cost of placements they commission (for 
pupils without EHCPs and that are not permanently excluded). The Authority retains 
responsibility for funding from the High Needs Block provision for pupils that the 
Authority places (those with EHCPs and that are permanently excluded). 

The 2021/22 planned budget makes provision in total for 165 places on a full year 
basis to be available for turn-around provision for pupils permanently excluded. We 
propose to continue to calculate top up for this provision using the Day Rate Model, 
which was first introduced at April 2020. The rate of funding allocated by the Day 
Rate Model is proposed to increase in 2021/22 by 7.29%.

Please also note that the place funding for academy PRUs is ‘top sliced’ from the 
High Needs Block so that these settings can be funded directly by the Education & 
Skills Funding Agency.

(£000)

4.5 School-Led SEND Resourced Provisions (Primary & Secondary)    £6,300

School-Led SEND Resourced Provisions are provisions attached to mainstream 
primary and secondary schools / academies where the school / academy under 
Service Level Agreement manages this provision and employs its staffing. Place 
and top up funding is fully delegated.

The planned budget of £6.300m is calculated on 343 places across 23 provisions 
for the 2021/22 academic year.

School-Led SEND resourced provisions are funded using the Place-Plus framework 
and the Banded Model as set out in Appendix 2.

Please note that the place funding for resourced provisons in academies is ‘top 
sliced’ from the High Needs Block so that these settings can be funded directly by 
the Education & Skills Funding Agency.

  
4.6 Authority-Led SEND Resourced Provisions (Primary & Secondary)    £5,090

Authority-Led SEND Resourced Provisions are provisions attached to mainstream 
primary and secondary schools / academies where the Authority, rather than the 
school / academy, manages this provision and employs its staffing.  Funding is 

Page 123



Version 4 FINAL

partly delegated and partly retained. The top up is retained and managed by the 
Authority. The host school / academy retains the first element of place funding 
(broadly £4,000) to cover its basic curriculum and site costs. 

The planned budget for Authority-Led SEND Resourced Provisions incorporates 
both the budget for the established sensory provisions as well as the growing 
budget for the SEND resourced provisions that began to be established from 2019 
as part of the strategy to deliver additional specialist SEND places.

The planned budget of £5.090m is calculated on 236 places in total for the 2021/22 
academic year, with 100 places attached to the 4 established sensory provisions 
and 136 places attached to 7 developing SEND provisions.

Authority-Led SEND resourced provisions are funded using the Place-Plus 
framework and the Banded Model as set out in Appendix 2.

Please note that a proportion of the planned budget is centally retained. However, 
recognising that this budget is spent directly on provision within schools / 
academies, and in the interests of simplicity, the full budget is recorded here as 
delegated.

(£000)

4.7 Pupils with EHCPs in Mainstream Schools and Academies             £12,513

Top up funding is delegated to mainstream schools / academies for pupils with 
EHCPs. The Banded Model, as set out in Appendix 2, is proposed to apply to the 
calculation of this top up for 2021/22. The planned budget of £12.513m 
incorporates a forecasted 12% increase in cost as a result of the continued growth 
in the numbers of EHCPs that are anticipated to be placed in mainstream schools / 
academies during 2021/22.

The national high need funding system works on the basis that mainstream schools 
/ academies have sufficient funding already within their delegated allocations to 
enable them to meet the additional costs of the SEND of their pupils, up to the 
threshold of £6,000 per pupil. Local authorities are required to define for each 
primary and secondary school / academy the value of their formula funding that is 
‘notionally’ allocated for SEND to be used in meeting costs up to the £6,000 
threshold.

The planned budget of £12.513m incorporates the SEND Funding Floor, which is a 
factor that ensures a minimum level of funding for SEND provision in primary and 
secondary schools / academies. Following our consultation on this matter in autumn 
2020, we propose to amend our SEND Funding Floor for the 2021/22 financial year. 
This proposal is supported by the Schools Forum and is put forward as a trial, for 
one year only, and being subject to further review including in the light of the 
outcomes of the DfE’s expected national reviews. 

The amended formula is aimed at ensuring that no mainstream primary or 

Page 124



Version 4 FINAL

secondary school / academy will have to manage from their own formula funding an 
above phase-average cost pressure in respect of their commitment to fund the first 
£6,000 of cost for their pupils with EHCPs. As well as supporting provision for pupils 
with EHCPs, the new approach is aimed at protecting the funding used by schools / 
academies to support their wider AEN (Additional Educational Needs), SEND and 
AP (Alternative Provision) activities. It will directly financially support schools / 
academies that have higher proportions of pupils with EHCPs, in support of 
inclusion, combining also to support schools / academies that may have lower 
levels of AEN formula funding and that may be smaller in size. It will also support 
schools / academies that may have some turbulence in formula funding as a result 
of in year pupil numbers changes.

Given that we expect a DfE review, we have not previously seen merit in adjusting 
our SEND Floor for this to be immediately changed by a new national policy. Our 
current SEND Funding Floor however, was substantially affected by our 
movement at April 2018 to the National Funding Formula for mainstream primary 
and secondary funding. Since then, the values of SEND Floor allocations received 
by individual primary and secondary schools / academies have been protected at 
2017/18 cash levels.

The current status of the DfE’s national reviews is not confirmed. At the same time 
however, we are starting to see a greater number of issues being raised by 
schools / academies in respect of the sufficiency of their funding in relation to 
their numbers of EHCPs. These issues are expanding as the numbers of pupils with 
EHCPs that are educated in mainstream settings continue to grow. We also identify 
that, due to the DfE’s ‘levelling up’ of mainstream formula funding, in particular 
where all mainstream primary schools / academies will receive a minimum of 
£4,180 in per pupil funding in 2021/22, many schools / academies that would 
continue to have their previous Floor allocations protected are now allocated 
significantly higher levels of relevant formula funding. It does not feel to be correct 
to continue in 2021/22 to protect previous allocations where it is clear a school’s / 
academy’s circumstances have changed.

(£000)

4.8 Post 16 Further Education / Special Post 17 Institutions (SPIs)    £5,329

The transfer to the DSG of the full cost of Post 16 High Needs provision was 
completed at April 2017. Places are funded at £6,000. For top up, Further 
Education providers and SPIs are funded for the vast majority of their Post 16 
students at 60% of the values prescribed by the Banded Model as set out in 
Appendix 2. The main exception are students with the primary need of sensory 
impairment (hearing / visual), where funding is calculated on an actual cost basis.

The planned budget of £5.329m is calculated on 341 places commissioned by the 
Authority in the 3 main Bradford-located FE colleges for the 2021/22 academic 
year, plus provision for the estimated cost of top up allocations to all Post 16 
provisions and for the cost of potential growth in places during the year.

Page 125



Version 4 FINAL

Please note that the place funding for the 3 FE colleges is ‘top sliced’ from the High 
Needs Block so that these settings can be funded directly by the Education & Skills 
Funding Agency.

(£000)

4.9 Early Years Resourced Provisions               £1,315

Early years resourced provisions are attached to 5 maintained nursery schools and 
will continue to be funded via the Place-Plus framework. The Banded Model set out 
in Appendix 2 applies to the calculation of top up from April 2021. 

These provisions operate as school-led SEND resourced provisions, where the 
school under Service Level Agreement manages the provision and employs its 
staffing. Place and top up funding is fully delegated.

The planned budget of £1.315m is calculated on an allocation of 78 FTE places for 
the 2021/22 academic year. 

4.10 Placements in Out of Authority & Independent Settings             £10,745

The cost of placements of pupils with EHCPs in out of authority and in independent 
settings is calculated on an actuals basis with this total cost appropriately shared 
between the DSG (education), health and social care. The funding of independent 
providers currently sits outside the national Place-Plus framework. The number and 
cost of placements commissioned by the Authority has continued to increase due to 
demand. The planned budget of £10.745m is calculated estimating that the cost will 
continue to grow at current rates.

4.11 Provision for the Creation of Additional SEND Places     £3,000

The planned budget includes £3.000m full year provision to support the creation of 
a further 120 specialist SEND places. Given the projected continued growth in 
demand, the Authority will continue to seek to create SEND places on an on-going 
basis and will make budget provision for this from the High Needs Block.

4.12 Additional Provision for the Banded Model       £1,000

The 2021/22 planned budget retains a reduced earmarked contingency provision 
(of £1.000m reduces from £2.000m held in 2020/21)  which is available to cover 
further costs that may potentially come from the embedding of our EHCP Banded 
Model in its second year of operation.

4.13 Former Teacher Pay and Pensions Grants    £1,422

We are required to add into our formula funding arrangements for specialist settings 

Page 126



Version 4 FINAL

the allocation of the Teacher Pay Grant (TPG) and the Teacher Pension Grant 
(TPECG). This change is required in response to these grants being transferred 
into the High Needs Block at April 2021. These grants have previously been 
allocated separately and in addition to place-plus funding.

These monies are described by the DfE as “additional place funding” and we 
propose to allocate them in 2021/22 on a place-led basis as we set out for 
consultation in autumn term 2020. 

Unlike main place-element funding, the Authority will allocate these monies to 
academies as well as to maintained schools and PRUs.

5. ALLOCATED TO NON-DELEGATED BUDGETS     (£000)

Total Allocated to non-delegated Budgets  £12,632

Broken down as follows:

The School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations (as amended) have, 
over time and in preparation for National Funding Formula, altered the treatment of 
non-delegated items and contingencies. The Regulations require a greater 
proportion of the DSG to be delegated to schools, academies and other providers 
and also require that the Schools Forum makes recommendations (and some 
decisions) for permitted centrally managed items individually and, in some cases, 
on a phase specific basis. 

5.1 Schools Block non-delegated budgets     £1,899

A total of £1.899m is recommended to be held within the Schools Block for the 
following purposes. Please note that some of the monies below that are initially held 
will actually be delegated to schools and academies during the year.

 £0.772m for items de-delegated from maintained mainstream primary and 
secondary schools. De-delegated funds continue in line with 2020/21.

 £1.127m of provision for new growth (pupil numbers expansions in primary and 
secondary schools / academies) at September 2021. £0.952m of this is for 
growth in the secondary phase; £0.175m is for growth in the primary phase.

 £0.000m for the Falling Rolls Fund for the primary phase, to support eligible 
primary schools and primary academies, rated Good or Outstanding by Ofsted, 
that are managing ‘blips’ in pupil numbers, where their surplus capacity is 
forecasted to be filled within 3 years. The cost of the 2021/22 Falling Rolls Fund 
will be met from the balance that will be brought forward from 2020/21 rather 
than by taking new budget from the 2021/22 Schools Block.

    

Page 127



Version 4 FINAL

    (£000)

5.2 High Needs Block non-delegated budgets    £7,429

A total of £7.429m is recommended to be held centrally within the High Needs 
Block for the following purposes: 

 £4.830m for centrally managed SEND teaching support services. In support of 
the particular difficulties and pressures that exist within the Early Years Block in 
2021/22, the Authority proposes that the £0.448m, that would have been the 
Early Years Block’s contribution to high needs support services, including 
portage, the pre-5 service and the administration and management of the Early 
Years SEND Inclusion Fund, is transferred to be funded by the High Needs 
Block. The Authority would expect to move this budget back to the Early Years 
Block in 2022/23. 
 

 £1.341m for the Authority’s statutory home tuition and education in hospital 
provision for children and young people not able to access school for medical 
reasons.

 £0.800m for the DSG’s contribution to the Affordability Gap for Building Schools 
for the Future for special schools.

 £0.458m of smaller budgets, including copyright licences for special schools and 
PRUs, speech and language therapy services and specialist equipment. 

5.3 Early Years Block non-delegated budgets       £126

A total of £0.126m is recommended to be held centrally within the Early Years 
Block for the following purposes:

 £0.094m for nursery schools to access relevant agreed ‘de-delegated’ funds.

 £0.032m for copyright licences.

98.0% of our 2021/22 3&4 year old entitlement funding will be passed-through to 
providers in 2021/22.

5.4 Central Schools Services Block    £3,178

The £3.178m is recommended to be allocated as follows:

 £0.010m Schools Forum costs.

 £0.737m Pupil Admissions.

Page 128



Version 4 FINAL

 £1.495m Statutory duties delivered by the Authority on behalf of all state funded 
schools including academies.

 £0.349m Copyright Licences Schools Block.

 £0.423m Education Access Officers

 £0.164m Teachers Pension Grant. £0.406m has been received within the 
2021/22 settlement for the continuation of former Teacher Pension Grant 
monies allocated in respect of centrally employed teachers. £0.242m of this is 
transferred to the High Needs Block to ensure that all DSG income relating to 
centrally managed teachers, employed within the SEND teaching support 
services and within the central Education in Hospital and Medical Home Tuition 
Service, is accounted for within the High Needs Block where their expenditure is 
also charged. 

6. ALLOCATION OF BALANCES BROUGHT FORWARD (ONE OFF)     (£000)

Total allocated on a one off basis in 2021/22                  £1,280

The £1.280m is made up of the following 3 recommended allocations:

 Schools Block: £0.430m, which is the estimated cost of the financial support for 
Beckfoot Upper Heaton Academy to be allocated via the long-standing agreed 
model. 2021/22 is the final year of this support model.

 Early Years Block: £0.615m, which is allocated to support the estimated cost of 
our Early Years Single Funding Formula (EYSFF) in 2021/22.

 High Needs Block: £0.235m, which is allocated to formally ‘balance’ the 2021/22 
planned budget at this stage. 

7. AMOUNT NOT ALLOCATED IN 2021/22     (£000)

Total amount not allocated in 2021/22  £24,458

The £24.458m of balance forecasted to be retained at the planned budget stage /  
carried forward into 2022/23 is made up of the following sums.

Schools Block £6.587m:

 £0.956m of Growth Fund balance ring-fenced to support additional costs of pupil 
numbers growth.

Page 129



Version 4 FINAL

 £0.500m retained as the ring-fenced balance for the primary phase Falling Rolls 
Fund. We do expect to agree allocations from this fund with the Schools Forum 
in March 2021 and March 2022. However, we have shown the Fund as fully 
unspent at this time so that it can clearly been seen that two years’ of budget 
provision totalling £500,000 is now available. This helps to explain the rationale 
for the proposal that we ‘pause’ taking new budget provision from the 2021/22 
Schools Block.

 £1.091m of balance ring-fenced to de-delegated funds for maintained schools. 
An amount of this balance (£0.20m) is planned to be released in 2021/22 to 
support the cost of contribution to the maternity / paternity insurance scheme. 
The balance will also be used to support any further costs arising from deficits 
held by sponsored primary academy converters, as no new budget is de-
delegated for this purpose.

 £0.650m for the deficit of a school converting to academy status. 

 £0.917m of primary phase headroom from the 2020/21 and 2021/22 settlements 
that is earmarked to be spent in support of the primary-phase funding formula 
(provisionally the one off application of the reception uplift factor) in 2022/23.

 £2.473m resilience reserve. This sum is effectively the remaining unallocated 
balance within the Schools Block.

Early Years Block £2.657m: 

 £0.072m of balance ring-fenced to de-delegated funds for maintained nursery 
schools.

 £0.460m retained and earmarked for the Disability Access Fund (DAF). As well 
as carrying out work to better understand why providers may not be fully 
claiming DAF funds, and to encourage higher take up, the Authority proposes to 
increase the value of the DAF allocation paid per child in 2021/22, from £615 to 
£1,000, and to use a proportion of the £0.460m balance in support of the cost of 
this increase if this is required.

 £2.125m retained to be used in support of the cost, including any unexpected or 
higher than expected cost, of the Early Years Funding Formula (EYSFF) in 
2021/22 and going forward. 

High Needs Block £15.214m: 

 The first call on the £15.214m, after balancing the planned budget, will be 
meeting any unexpected or higher than expected costs that may arise across 
the remainder of the 2020/21 and then the 2021/22 financial years, noting that 
the £15.214m figure itself is significantly estimated.

 The balance of the £15.214m will then be retained to support the avoidance of 

Page 130



Version 4 FINAL

cumulative deficit in the High Needs Block over the medium term, with its use 
forming part of our DSG Management Plan. 

8. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

This appraisal is given thoughout this report. The table provided in paragraph 2.9 
demonstrates that a balanced Schools Budget for 2021/22 is put forward for the 
Council’s approval. 

9. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

If the allocations set out in this report are not fully agreed by Elected Members then 
representations must be made to the Schools Forum. In the event that agreement 
cannot be reached with the Schools Forum, for certain items, the Council must refer 
the matter to the Department for Education (DfE).

10. LEGAL APPRAISAL

Section 45 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 provides that, for the 
purposes of the financing of maintained schools by local authorities, every such 
school shall have for each funding period a budget share, which is allocated to it by 
the authority which maintains it to be determined in accordance with that Act and 
regulations. 

Section 47(A) of the Act requires that every local authority must, in accordance with 
regulations, establish for their area a body to be known as a schools forum. The 
purpose of a schools forum is to advise the local authority on such matters relating 
to the authority's schools budget as may be prescribed by regulations. Local 
authorities must have regard to advice given by schools forum and or consult them 
on certain matters before taking prescribed decisions.

Schools forum generally have a consultative role and some decision making 
powers in relation to school budget functions. The role of the Local Authority is to 
make proposals to the Schools Forum on those matters, which the Schools Forum 
can decide, and to consult the Schools Forum annually in connection with various 
schools budget functions. Where the Schools Forum and the Local Authority are in 
disagreement about proposals made by the Authority, the Secretary of State for 
Education will adjudicate in certain circumstances.

The new National Funding Formula (NFF) for schools, high needs and central 
school services came into effect from April 2018. A national funding formula for 
early years was introduced at April 2017. The NFF now determines how the DSG is 
allocated to local authorities. The core basic structure of the schools national 
funding formula has not changed for 2021/2022. The National Funding Formula for 
schools and high needs 2021-22 contains some formula and technical changes, 
which are highlighted in the body of the Report. It is the Government’s stated 

Page 131



Version 4 FINAL

intention to introduce a ‘hard’ NFF in the future whereby every primary and 
secondary mainstream school’s / academy’s budget share will be set on the basis 
of a single national formula. The Local Authority currently maintains some flexibility 
over how it distributes the funding it receives through the NFF locally in consultation 
with schools.

The School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations require the Local 
Authority to calculate budgets for all maintained schools, and amounts to be 
allocated in repect of early years provision, using a funding formula and to decide 
the formula it will use for the funding period. It  must, not later than 28 February, (a) 
make an initial determination of its schools budget; and (b) give notice of that 
determination to the governing bodies of the schools which it maintains. 

Under new provisions set out in the School and Early Years Finance (England) 
Regulations 2020, and in the DSG conditions of grant for 2021-22, local authorities 
will have either to carry forward any cumulative deficit in their Schools Budget to set 
against DSG in the next funding period (Y+1); or carry forward some or all of the 
deficit to the funding period after that (Y+2), in order to determine how much 
resource is available to be spent during the funding period (Y+1). 

11. OTHER IMPLICATIONS

11.1 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct implications resulting from this report.

11.2 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

There are no direct implications resulting from this report.

11.3 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct implications resulting from this report.  

11.4 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

There are no direct implications resulting from this report.  

11.5 TRADE UNION

There are no direct implications resulting from this report.  

11.6 WARD IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct implications resulting from this report.  

11.7 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

Page 132



Version 4 FINAL

There are no direct implications resulting from this report.  

11.8 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT

There are no issues resulting from this report.  

12. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

None.

13. OPTIONS

Please see the recommendations below.

14. RECOMMENDATIONS

14.1 It is recommended that the Executive asks Council to:

a) Accept and approve the proposals for the allocation of the 2021/22 Dedicated 
Schools Grant as set out in this report.

b) Approve the total amount of £634.679m to be appropriated in respect of all 
schools covered by the Bradford Scheme for the Local Management of 
Schools, so as to establish the Individual Schools Budget for 2021/22.

15. APPENDICES

 Appendix 1 – Local Authority Funding Reform Pro-Forma 2021/22 (Schools Block).

 Appendix 2 –Banded Model for EHCP Top Up Funding (High Needs Block).

 Appendix 3 – Early Years Single Funding Formula 2021/22 (Early Years Block).

16. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

 Decisions List of the Schools Forum meeting 13 January 2021 (link to webpage)
 Consultation on the High Needs Funding Model 2021/22 (link to webpage)
 Consultation on the Early Years Single Funding Formula 2021/22 (link to webpage)
 Consultation on Schools Block Funding Arrangements 2021/22 (link to webpage)
 SEND Places Sufficiency Report (within 9 December Schools Forum reports)
 High Needs Block DSG Management Plan (within 13 January Schools Forum 

reports)
 Section 151 Officer’s Report – Executive 16 February 2021

Page 133

https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=160&Year=0
https://bso.bradford.gov.uk/content/formula-funding-consultations-and-presentations
https://bso.bradford.gov.uk/content/formula-funding-consultations-and-presentations
https://bso.bradford.gov.uk/content/formula-funding-consultations-and-presentations
https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=160&Year=0
https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=160&Year=0


This page is intentionally left blank



Local Authority Funding Reform Proforma Appendix 1

LA Name: Bradford
LA Number: 380

Primary minimum per pupil funding
level

Secondary (KS3 only) minimum per
pupil funding level

Secondary (KS4 only) minimum per pupil
funding level

Secondary minimum per pupil funding level
Disapplication number where
alternative MPPF values are

used£4,180 £5,215.00 £5,715.00 £5,415.00

Pupil Led Factors

1) Basic Entitlement
Age Weighted Pupil Unit (AWPU)

Reception uplift No Pupil Units 0.00

Description Amount per pupil Pupil Units Sub Total Total
Proportion of total pre MFG

funding (%)
Notional SEN (%)

Primary (Years R-6) £3,123.50 54,197.00 £169,284,312
£328,765,997

36.58% 7.51%
Key Stage 3  (Years 7-9) £4,404.70 21,246.00 £93,582,355 20.22% 6.28%
Key Stage 4 (Years 10-11) £4,963.79 13,276.00 £65,899,330 14.24% 6.28%

Description
Primary amount

per pupil
Secondary amount

per pupil
Eligible proportion

of primary NOR
Eligible proportion of

secondary NOR
Sub Total Total

Proportion of total pre MFG
funding (%)

Primary
Notional SEN

(%)

Secondary
Notional SEN

(%)

2) Deprivation

FSM £460.07 £460.07 13,360.00 8,819.81 £10,204,346

£55,139,786 11.91%

23.08% 10.16%
FSM6 £575.09 £840.13 14,645.61 12,269.41 £18,730,527 23.08% 10.16%
IDACI Band  F £215.03 £310.05 7,379.87 4,921.36 £3,112,793 22.45% 19.18%
IDACI Band  E £260.04 £415.07 9,702.38 6,504.58 £5,222,858 22.45% 19.18%
IDACI Band  D £410.07 £580.09 5,888.40 4,039.67 £4,758,016 22.45% 19.18%
IDACI Band  C £445.07 £630.10 6,101.79 3,897.51 £5,171,551 22.45% 19.18%
IDACI Band  B £475.08 £680.11 5,772.02 3,709.66 £5,265,124 22.45% 19.18%
IDACI Band  A £620.10 £865.14 2,333.14 1,419.19 £2,674,572 22.45% 19.18%

Description
Primary amount

per pupil
Secondary amount

per pupil
Eligible proportion

of primary NOR
Eligible proportion of

secondary NOR
Sub Total Total

Proportion of total pre MFG
funding (%)

Primary
Notional SEN

(%)

Secondary
Notional SEN

(%)
3) Looked After Children (LAC) LAC March 19 643.13 £0

£7,133,561

0.00%
4) English as an Additional
Language (EAL)

EAL 3 Primary £550.09 10,359.91 £5,698,864
1.51%

EAL 3 Secondary £1,485.24 873.85 £1,297,876

5) Mobility
Pupils starting school outside of
normal entry dates

£900.14 £1,290.21 111.06 28.56 £136,821 0.03%

Description Weighting

Amount per pupil
(primary or
secondary

respectively)

Percentage of
eligible pupils

Eligible proportion of
primary and

secondary NOR
respectively

Sub Total Total
Proportion of total pre MFG

funding (%)

Primary
Notional SEN

(%)

Secondary
Notional SEN

(%)

6) Low prior attainment

Primary low prior attainment £1,095.18 32.89% 17,822.88 £19,519,172

£34,120,013 7.37%

100.00%
Secondary low prior attainment (year
7)

64.53%

£1,660.27

24.84%

8,794.28 £14,600,841 100.00%

Secondary low prior attainment (year
8)

64.53% 24.96%

Secondary low prior attainment (year
9)

63.59% 25.58%

Secondary low prior attainment (year
10)

58.05% 25.87%

Secondary low prior attainment (year
11)

48.02% 26.21%

Other Factors

Factor
Lump Sum per

Primary School (£)

Lump Sum per
Secondary School

(£)

Lump Sum per
Middle School (£)

Lump Sum per All-
through School (£)

Total (£)
Proportion of total pre MFG

funding (%)
Notional SEN (%)

7) Lump Sum £117,818.85 £117,818.85 £22,503,400 4.86%
8) Sparsity factor £0 0.00%
Please provide alternative distance and pupil number thresholds for the sparsity factor below. Please leave blank if you want to use the default thresholds. Also specify whether you want to use a tapered lump sum or the NFF weighting for any of the phases.

Primary distance threshold  (miles)
Primary pupil number average year
group threshold

Fixed, tapered or NFF sparsity primary lump sum? Fixed

Secondary  distance threshold
(miles)

Secondary pupil number average year
group threshold

Fixed, tapered or NFF sparsity secondary lump sum? Fixed

Middle schools distance threshold
(miles)

Middle school pupil number average
year group threshold

Fixed, tapered or NFF sparsity middle school lump sum? Fixed

All-through  schools distance
threshold (miles)

All-through pupil number average year
group threshold

Fixed, tapered or NFF sparsity all-through lump sum? Fixed

9) Fringe Payments £0 0.00%
10) Split Sites £441,196 0.10%
11) Rates £3,770,879 0.81%
12) PFI funding £6,612,385 1.43%
13 ) Exceptional circumstances (can only be used with prior agreement of ESFA)

Circumstance Total (£)
Proportion of total pre MFG

funding (%)
Notional SEN (%)

Additional lump sum for schools amalgamated during FY20-21 £0 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Additional sparsity lump sum for small schools £0 0.00%
Exceptional Circumstance3 £0 0.00%
Exceptional Circumstance4 £0 0.00%
Exceptional Circumstance5 £0 0.00%
Exceptional Circumstance6 £0 0.00%
Exceptional Circumstance7 £0 0.00%

Total Funding for Schools Block Formula (excluding minimum per pupil funding level and MFG Funding Total) £458,487,218 99.07%

14) Additional funding to meet minimum per pupil funding level £4,308,746 0.93%
Total Funding for Schools Block Formula (excluding MFG Funding Total) £462,795,964 100.00%

15) Minimum Funding Guarantee 2.00% £5,315,273
Where a value less than 0.5% or greater than 2% has been entered please provide the disapplication reference number authorising the value
Apply capping and scaling factors? (gains may be capped above a specific ceiling and/or scaled) No
Capping Factor (%) Scaling Factor (%)

Total deduction if capping and scaling factors are applied £0

Total (£)
Proportion of Total

funding(%)
Notional SEN (%)

MFG  Net Total Funding (MFG + deduction from capping and scaling) £5,315,273 1.13%
Total Funding for Schools Block Formula £468,111,237 £67,131,336

High Needs threshold (only fill in if, exceptionally, a high needs threshold different from £6,000 has been approved)
Additional funding from the high needs budget £2,158,569.00
Growth fund (if applicable) £1,789,294.17
Falling rolls fund (if applicable) £0.00

Other Adjustment to 20-21 Budget Shares £100,867
Total Funding For Schools Block Formula (including growth and falling rolls funding) £470,001,398
% Distributed through Basic Entitlement 71.04%
% Pupil Led Funding 91.87%
Primary: Secondary Ratio 1 : 1.37

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Appendix 2 - The Banded Model for Funding Pupil-Led Need EHCP Top Up 2021/22

Introduction

1.1 Top-up funding (also known as Element 3 or ‘Plus’ funding) is the funding required by an institution, over 
and above place funding, to enable a child or young person with high needs to participate in education and 
learning. Top-up funding is expected to reflect the cost of additional support an institution incurs related to the 
individual needs of the child or young person. 

1.2 As with many authorities, Bradford allocates top up funding using a band system. This model is used to 
assign EHCPs into bands of need for funding purposes. Each band has an applicable level of funding and 
every EHCP assigned to a band is allocated a set value of funding.

1.3 We would like to remind providers that the current Banded Model was first introduced at April 2020. This 
model replaced our previous ‘Ranges Model’ and quite significantly uplifted the funding of EHCPs in all 
settings, both mainstream and specialist. This model includes protections, which have ensured, and will 
continue to ensure, that no EHCP in place on 1 April 2020 reduces in value as a result of funding model 
change.

1.4 A band system is more responsive to the needs of an individual child or young person than a blanket 
lump sum style approach but is not quite as sensitive as an approach where the cost of the needs of a child 
or young person is calculated on an exact basis. Blanket, band, and individually-costed systems all have pros 
and cons. The main positive features of band models, and of our Banded Model, are that these help promote 
consistency and transparency, reduce complication, support the quick assessment and release of funds, 
whilst also enabling the SEND Panel to find a ‘close fit’ for funding the needs of an individual child or young 
person with an EHCP.

1.5 In continuing to use our Banded Model in 2021/22, the Council’s intention is still to retain a uniform 
framework for calculating top-up funding for EHCPs. The Council’s expectation continues to be that this 
framework will enable a close fit to be found for the funding of the vast majority of EHCPs and will ensure 
consistency of approach in the funding of high needs across mainstream and specialist settings both pre and 
post 16. It is accepted that there will be a small number of children or young people that will sit outside this 
banded framework, most of whom will be placed in specialist independent provisions.

The Banded Model 2021/22

2.1 The Banded Model uses at its base the Bradford Matrix of Need, which outlines waves of intervention:

 Band 1 (Quality First Teaching)
 Band 2 (SEND Support) 
 Band 3 (EHCP) – typically mainstream - this is the band at which Element 3 EHCP funding begins
 Band 4 (EHCP Plus) – typically specialist provision

This Matrix identifies the responsibilities of schools and providers in their use of already delegated funds in 
meeting the cost of support up to Band 3. It then identifies the point at which top up funding will begin in our 
model, which is EHCP Band 3. 

2.2 The Banded Model has 6 bands and 6 funding steps, with values for 1 April 2021 as set out in the table 
below. This table shows the value of top up by band and the value of Element 2 contributions, which schools 
and providers will add to the top up from their budgets to produce the total value of funding available for 
supporting the costs of an EHCP.

Page 137

https://bso.bradford.gov.uk/content/send-documentation


2

In all steps within the model  the school / provider, with the exception of EHCPs for 2, 3 and 4 year olds (in 
pre-reception) in mainstream not specialist provision, is expected to contribute Element 2 funding, currently at 
a value of £6,000 per 1 FTE, to the cost of the additional needs set out in the EHCP. For EHCPs for 2, 3 and 
4 year olds (in pre-reception) in mainstream not specialist provision, that are only funded through the Early 
Years Single Funding Formula (EYSFF), because the EYSFF does not allocate Element 2 funding, Element 2 
is allocated on an FTE basis in addition to the top up value for these EHCPs until these children enter 
reception year. This addition does not apply to early years children that are placed in special schools or in 
resourced provisions as these provisions are funded on a place-led basis, which includes Element 2.

Top Up Value at  April 
2021

Element 2 Value FTE 
the school / provider 

adds

Total Value of Funding 
to support the EHCP

Band 3 Low (3L) £1,900 £6,000 £7,900

Band 3 Medium (3M) £3,626 £6,000 £9,626

Band 3 High (3H) £5,302 £6,000 £11,302

Band 4 Low (4L) £8,435 £6,000 £14,435

Band 4 Medium (4M) £12,235 £6,000 £18,235

Band 4 High (4H) £16,148 £6,000 £22,148

Protected 7 £26,534 £6,000 £32,534

The model is calculated on a provision-mapping approach. The additional educational needs of a child with 
an EHCP typically will be met through additional adult contact time. Typically this will be delivered in a 
combination of individual time and time in smaller groups. The overall volume of time will increase as needs 
increase and the proportion of this time that is delivered on a more bespoke basis will also increase as needs 
increase. The values of the bands have been built up on ‘notional assumptions’ about the proportion of 
additional support given to an EHCP, with this support split between bespoke time and time in smaller 
groups. This is a model for the SEND Panel to use to determine the volume and type of support required to 
then closely meet the needs of an individual EHCP. 

2.3 Band 3 (EHCP) typically will support the cost of EHCPs placed in mainstream provisions. Band 4 (EHCP 
plus) typically will support the cost of EHCPs placed in specialist provisions. However, this is not an absolute 
position and the SEND Panel will use the model flexibly to closely meet need.

The Band 3 values are calculated on assumptions on additional ‘support assistant’ time (where bespoke 
means 1:1 and group time is in groups of 1:3). The cost per hour assumption within the indicative 2021/22 
financial year model, on a term time only basis and incorporating assumptions about on-costs, is £16.10. This 
represents a 3% increase on the £15.63 that was used in the 2020/21 model. 

The Band 4 values are calculated on assumptions on both support assistant time (where bespoke means 1:1 
and group time is in groups of 1:2) and teacher time in group sizes of 1:12, 1:8 and 1:6. The cost per hour 
assumption for support assistant time within the indicative 2021/22 financial year model is £16.10 as in Band 
3. The indicative cost per hour assumption for teacher time in the model is £45.03. This represents a 9.35% 
increase on the £41.18 that was used in the 2020/21 model. 

2.4 Each EHCP will be funded at the band value that provides the closest fit for meeting the cost of the needs 
of the child or young person. In the model, the closest fit may also be found by combining (‘stacking’) more 
than one band value. The facility to combine values means that the SEND Panel can use the model in a 

Page 138



3

flexible way to find a very close fit for the funding especially of children and young people with significant 
secondary needs as well as those that require additional functional support both within and outside of the 
standard taught school day where this is not already funded within a single band value.

2.5 It is helpful to continue to highlight the main differences between the Banded Model and the previous 
Ranges Model that was used up to 31 March 2020:

 The Banded Model does not have a 7th step (the equivalent of the previous Range 7). It is expected that 
stacking will deliver a level of support higher than the single band 4H where this is necessary. Specific 
transition arrangements are in place for Range 7 EHCPs that existed at 1 April 2020.

 The Panel can ‘stack’ values (meaning an EHCP can be allocated more than one value) in order to find a 
close fit.

 The Banded Model does not use primary need as a marker for the placement of an EHCP into a band. 
Placement is based on assessed level of need.

 Whereas the previous Ranges Model defined need in terms of 1:1 hours of support, the Banded Model 
uses a notional provision mapping approach and a combination of bespoke time and time in smaller 
groups.

 The values allocated by the Banded Model are significantly increased on those allocated by the Ranges 
Model. These increases are the result of two main adjustments; a) refreshing the assumptions about the 
salaries of support assistants and teachers - the Banded Model uses estimates of salaries and on-costs 
for 2021/22; b) allowing the top up model now to compensate for the fixed £6,000 Element 2. Because the 
£6,000 Element 2 has not increased since the implementation of the national model in 2013/14, and has 
not increased in 2021/22 vs. 2020/21, the annual increase in the costs of support from increased salaries 
must be met solely by the top up element otherwise there is an annual erosion of funding in real terms. 
This is the reason why the % increases in top up funding on their own are significantly higher than 
inflation / pay award. However, when top up funding is added to the fixed £6,000 Element 2, the true total 
% increases in funding available to meet need are reduced. Previously, under the Ranges Model, there 
was not sufficient funding in the High Needs Block to adjust for this erosion.

 The Banded Model works alongside a clarified / amended approach to the sharing of the cost of specialist 
equipment. 

2.6 To highlight how the Banded Model continues to be the same or similar to the previous Ranges Model:

 Decisions on the application of the Banded Model – which of the 6 bands an EHCP is placed in and 
whether an EHCP is given more than one band value - continue to be taken by Bradford Council’s SEND 
Panel with reference to the evidence submitted through the EHCP assessment process. Appeals and 
disputes also continue to be resolved through the Panel process.

 In all steps within the model, the school / provider, with the exception of EHCPs for 2, 3 and 4 years olds 
(pre-reception) in mainstream not specialist provision, is expected to contribute Element 2 funding 
currently at a value of £6,000 to the cost of additional needs. 

 The bottom ‘threshold’ for the 1st step of Band 3 (3 Low) is the same as the Ranges Model. The Banded 
Model itself has not changed the threshold at which EHCP funding can initiate nor has it changed the 
points of access to an EHCP. It simply has changed the options that are available to the SEND Panel to 
use to ensure that an EHCP is appropriately and accurately funded.

Page 139



4

 For the top-up funding of post 16 high needs students with EHCPs in the Further Education sector, it has 
been agreed previously with the relevant providers that, as, on average, colleges deliver around 60% of 
the hours delivered by schools, colleges are funded for the vast majority of students at 60% of the 
Banded Model value for the primary need of the student. The exceptions are students with the primary 
need of sensory impairment (Hearing / Visual), where funding continues to be allocated on an actual cost 
basis. Due to the specific support needs of these students in Further Education, and the diverse nature of 
their curriculum choices, it is not possible to formularise this funding element. This approach is continued 
in the application Banded Model.

 The ‘technical framework’ is the same for the operation of the Banded Model during the year e.g. the 
monthly re-calculation of EHCP funding from the census of EHCPs on roll on 10th of each month.

 An assessment place (which was Range 4D) has become Band 4L. This funds EHCPs placed in 
specialist provisions until a final determination of band from the Panel is received. Funding is changed at 
this point if this is different from 4L.  Band 4L also continues to be used to permanently fund all 
placements in the Early Years ESPs that are attached to maintained nursery schools.  

A reminder of the transition from the previous Ranges Model

3.1 It is helpful to remind providers of how we moved from the Ranges Model to the now established Banded 
Model at 1 April 2020 and what protections continue to be in place.

3.2 All EHCPs in place at 1 April 2020 were automatically transferred on to the new Banded Model system at 
1 April 2020 as follows:

Range  Band
Range 4A became Band 3L
Range 4B became Band 3M
Range 4C became Band 3H
Range 4D became Band 4L
Range 5 became Band 4M
Range 6 became Band 4H
Range 7 became Protected 7

3.3 Most existing EHCPs on an on-going basis will remain within the band they were transferred to. The 
SEND Panel will continue to review, through the annual review process, individual EHCPs where the banding 
may be disputed, where there are obvious existing inaccuracies or where the needs of the child or young 
person have changed.

3.4 The Banded Model operates under the guarantee that, for EHCPs in place at 1 April 2020, the EHCP will 
not ever drop to a lower valued band unless the SEND Panel agrees that the needs of the child or young 
person are reduced when compared against the needs presented to the Panel in the original EHCP 
determination. This guarantee remains in place until the pupil reaches the end of year 11. This guarantee 
does not extend to assessment places that were funded at 1 April 2020 (as these pupils did not yet have 
EHCPs).

3.5 The Banded Model retains a transitional ‘Protected 7’ band, which will continue to fund EHCPs that we 
graded at Range 7 under the old model. These Range 7 pupils will stay funded by the Protected 7 band 
unless an annual review gives them a higher level of funding using the new model (via stacking), when the 
pupil would be transferred onto the new model at this point, or where the pupil’s needs are agreed to have 
reduced when compared against the needs presented to the Panel in the original EHCP Range 7 
determination. This guarantee remains in place until the pupil reaches the end of year 11.  The value of 
Protected 7 will be uplifted each year by the same % that is applied to Band 4H.

Page 140



5

Page 141



6

Summary of Place-Plus and how this works for different providers in Bradford

Pre-16 Pre-16 Post-16 Post-16
Type of Provision Place (Core) 

Funding
Top-Up Funding 
(Pupil-Led Need)

Place Funding Top-Up Funding 
(Pupil-Led Need)

Setting-Led Need 
Factors

Additional 
Support 
Measures 

Mainstream primary 
& secondary 
(maintained schools, 
academies and free 
schools)

Element 1 is 
included within the 
per-pupil funding 
allocated through 
the local school 
funding formula 
(NFF-based).

Element 2 - 
the first £6,000 of 
additional support 
cost – is also 
already delegated 
with the school’s 
formula funding 
allocation.

Notional SEND 
defines the value of 
funding already 
allocated

Agreed per-pupil top 
up paid by the 
commissioning local 
authority.

Allocated in ‘real time’ 
during the year. 
Changes for starters 
and leavers.

Uses the Banded 
Model.

The top up funding is 
allocated to and 
retained by the 
school.

Element 1 (based on 
the 16-19 national 
funding formula) plus 
Element 2 (£6,000) 
based on the number 
of places to be 
commissioned.

Agreed per-pupil 
top up paid by the 
commissioning 
local authority.

Allocated in ‘real 
time’ during the 
year. Changes for 
starters and 
leavers.

Uses the Banded 
Model.

The top up funding 
is allocated to and 
retained by the 
school.

None. SEND Funding 
Floor support 
Element 2 cost in 
pre-16 provisions 

Mainstream early 
years (nursery 
schools, classes and 
PVI providers)

Element 1 is 
included within the 
per-pupil funding 
allocated through 
the local EYSFF.

Early Years SEND 
Inclusion Grant 
allocates Element 2 
(£6,000) for eligible 
low level emerging 
SEND (non-EHCP) 

Agreed per-pupil top 
up paid by the 
commissioning local 
authority.

Allocated in ‘real time’ 
during the year. 
Changes for starters 
and leavers.

Uses the Banded 
Model.

n/a n/a None. Early Years 
SEND Inclusion 
Grant.

DAF Grant.

P
age 142



7

as agreed by Panel.

Element 2 is 
allocated to early 
years EHCPs in 
addition to top up.

The top up funding is 
allocated to and 
retained by the school 
or provider.

School-led 
Resourced 
Provisions 
(mainstream primary 
& secondary)

(formerly known as 
DSPs).

Elements 1 & 2 are 
allocated through a 
combination of per-
pupil funding 
allocated through 
the local school’s 
funding formula plus 
£6,000 per place for 
places occupied by 
pupils on roll in 
October in the 
previous year and 
£10,000 per place 
for the remainder of 
places agreed to be 
commissioned.

Additional place-
funding is allocated 
in real time where 
occupancy is 
exceeded, with an 
end of year 
reconciliation to 
ensure no overall 
overpayment of 
additional place-led 
funding for the 
actual total 
composite 
occupancy across 
the year.

Agreed per-pupil top 
up paid by the 
commissioning local 
authority.

Allocated in ‘real time’ 
during the year. 
Changes for starters 
and leavers.

Uses the Banded 
Model.

The top up funding is 
allocated to and 
retained by the 
school.

Element 1 (based on 
the 16-19 national 
funding formula) plus 
Element 2 (£6,000) 
based on the number 
of places to be 
commissioned.

Both Elements 1 and 
2 are retained by the 
school.

Agreed per-pupil 
top up paid by the 
commissioning 
local authority.

Allocated in ‘real 
time’ during the 
year. Changes for 
starters and 
leavers.

Uses the Banded 
Model.

The top up funding 
is allocated to and 
retained by the 
school.

Small Setting 
Protection.

3% Cash Budget 
Protection.

Teacher Pay and 
Teacher 
Pensions Grants 
(for places un-
occupied in the 
October 2020 
Census)

P
age 143



8

Both Elements 1 and 
2 are retained by the 
school.

Element 1 is set at a 
minimum of £4,000 
per agreed place.

Local Authority-led 
Sensory Need 
Resourced 
Provisions 
(mainstream primary 
& secondary).

(formerly known as 
ARCs).

.

Elements 1 & 2 are 
allocated through a 
combination of per-
pupil funding 
allocated through 
the local school’s 
funding formula plus 
£6,000 per place for 
those occupied by 
pupils on roll in 
October in the 
previous year and 
£10,000 per place 
for the remainder of 
places agreed to be 
commissioned.

The host school 
retains Element 1, 
set at a minimum of 
£4,000 per agreed 
place. 

Element 2 funding is 
retained by Bradford 
Council. This 
currently requires 
host schools to 
repay Element 2 
back to the Council.
Additional place-
funding is allocated 

Agreed per-pupil top 
up paid by the 
commissioning local 
authority.

Allocated in ‘real time’ 
during the year. 
Changes for starters 
and leavers.

Uses the Banded 
Model.

The top up funding is 
retained by Bradford 
Council.

Element 1 (based on 
the 16-19 national 
funding formula) plus 
Element 2 (£6,000) 
based on the number 
of places to be 
commissioned.

The host school 
retains Element 1. 

Element 2 funding is 
retained by Bradford 
Council. This currently 
requires host schools 
to repay Element 2 
back to the Council.

Agreed per-pupil 
top up paid by the 
commissioning 
local authority.

Allocated in ‘real 
time’ during the 
year. Changes for 
starters and 
leavers.

Uses the Banded 
Model.

The top up funding 
is retained by 
Bradford Council.

None. Teacher Pay and 
Teacher 
Pensions Grants

P
age 144



9

in real time where 
occupancy is 
exceeded, with an 
end of year 
reconciliation to 
ensure no overall 
overpayment of 
additional place-led 
funding for the 
actual total 
composite 
occupancy across 
the year.

Local Authority-led 
Resourced 
Provisions 
(mainstream primary 
& secondary).

(established from 
2019).

Element 1 is 
allocated through a 
combination of per-
pupil funding 
allocated through 
the local school’s 
funding formula plus 
£4,000 for places to 
agreed to be 
commissioned but 
not occupied by 
pupils on roll in 
October in the 
previous year.

The host school 
retains Element 1, 
set at a minimum of 
£4,000 per agreed 
place. 

Element 2 funding is 
calculated at £6,000 
per commissioned 
place and is retained 
by Bradford Council.

Agreed per-pupil top 
up paid by the 
commissioning local 
authority.

Allocated in ‘real time’ 
during the year. 
Changes for starters 
and leavers.

Uses the Banded 
Model.

The top up funding is 
retained by Bradford 
Council.

Element 1 (based on 
the 16-19 national 
funding formula) plus 
Element 2 (£6,000) 
based on the number 
of places to be 
commissioned.

The host school 
retains Element 1. 

Element 2 funding is 
retained by Bradford 
Council.

Agreed per-pupil 
top up paid by the 
commissioning 
local authority.

Allocated in ‘real 
time’ during the 
year. Changes for 
starters and 
leavers.

Uses the Banded 
Model.

The top up funding 
is retained by 
Bradford Council.

None. Teacher Pay and 
Teacher 
Pensions Grants

P
age 145



10

Early Years 
Enhanced Specialist 
Provisions  
(maintained nursery 
schools)

Elements 1 & 2 are 
allocated through a 
combination of per-
pupil funding 
allocated through 
the local EYSFF 
plus £6,000 per FTE 
commissioned 
place. 

Both Elements 1 and 
2 are retained by the 
school.

Additional Element 1 
funding is paid using 
EYSFF rates for any 
FTE places not 
occupied in the 
EYSFF termly 
censuses. 

Additional place-
funding is allocated 
in real time where 
occupancy is 
exceeded, with an 
end of year 
reconciliation to 
ensure no overall 
overpayment of 
additional place-led 
funding for the 
actual total 
composite 
occupancy across 
the year.

Agreed per-pupil top 
up paid by the 
commissioning local 
authority.

Allocated in ‘real time’ 
during the year. 
Changes for starters 
and leavers.

Uses the Banded 
Model. All EYESP 
places funded at Band 
4L. 

The top up funding is 
allocated to and 
retained by the 
school.

n/a n/a Small Setting 
Protection. 

Teacher Pay and 
Teacher 
Pensions Grants

Maintained Special 
Schools & Special 

Elements 1 and 2 
are combined in a 

Agreed per-pupil top 
up paid by the 

£10,000 per place 
based on an agreed 

Uses the Banded 
Model.

Split Sites. Teacher Pay and 
Teacher 

P
age 146



11

School Academies fixed £10,000 per 
place, based on an 
agreed number of 
places to be 
commissioned.
Additional place-
funding is allocated 
in real time where 
occupancy is 
exceeded, with an 
end of year 
reconciliation to 
ensure no overall 
overpayment of 
additional place-led 
funding for the 
actual total 
composite 
occupancy across 
the year.

Retained by the 
school.

commissioning local 
authority.

Allocated in ‘real time’ 
during the year. 
Changes for starters 
and leavers.

Uses the Banded 
Model. 

The top up funding is 
allocated to and 
retained by the 
school.

number of places.

Additional place-
funding is allocated in 
real time where 
occupancy is 
exceeded, with an 
end of year 
reconciliation to 
ensure no overall 
overpayment of 
additional place-led 
funding for actual total 
composite occupancy 
across the year.

Retained by the 
school.

Post 16 Element 1 
enhancement.

New Services 
Delegation.

Small Setting 
Protection (Not 
currently needed).

3% Cash Budget 
Protection.

Pensions Grants

PRUs & AP 
Academies (funding 
provision for pupils 
permanently 
excluded).

Elements 1 and 2 
are combined in a 
fixed £10,000 per 
place, based on an 
agreed number of 
places to be 
commissioned.

Retained by the 
PRU.

Additional place-
funding is allocated 
in real time where 
occupancy is 
exceeded, with an 

Agreed per-pupil top 
up paid by the 
commissioning local 
authority.

Allocated in ‘real time’ 
during the year. 
Changes for starters 
and leavers.

Uses the Day Rate 
Model.

The top up funding is 
allocated to and 
retained by the PRU.

n/a n/a No specific 
additional factors –
setting-led need 
costs are to be 
covered within the 
calculation of the 
Day Rate.

Teacher Pay and 
Teacher 
Pensions Grants

P
age 147



12

end of year 
reconciliation to 
ensure no overall 
overpayment of 
additional place-led 
funding for the 
actual total 
composite 
occupancy across 
the year.

Hospital Education, 
Tracks and Medical 
Home Tuition.

The funding of the 
centrally managed 
services operates 
outside the Place-
Plus mechanism, 
working within the 
discrete allocation 
provided for this 
service within our 
HNB. This will be 
subject to annual 
review to incorporate 
any changes in the 
DfE’s funding 
methodology and 
requirements.

n/a n/a n/a None. Teacher Pay and 
Teacher 
Pensions Grants

Further Education 
Institutions, special 
institutions and 
ILPs (post 16) 

n/a n/a Element 1 (based on 
the 16-19 national 
funding formula) plus 
Element 2 (£6,000) 
based on the number 
of places to be 
funded.

Additional place-
funding (element 2 
only) can be allocated 
in year where 

Agreed per-pupil 
top up paid by the 
commissioning 
local authority.

Allocated in ‘real 
time’ during the 
year. Changes for 
starters and 
leavers.

Uses the Banded 

None. None.

P
age 148



13

occupancy exceeds 
agreed places, with 
an end of year 
reconciliation to 
ensure no overall 
overpayment.

Both Elements 1 and 
2 are retained by the 
institution.

Model.

Typically values 
are funded at 60% 
for most 
placements. Higher 
cost placements 
(low incidence high 
need) are typically 
funded on an 
actual cost basis.

Independent 
Schools

The place funding 
system doesn’t 
operate in 
independent 
schools.

Agreed per-pupil top 
up paid by the 
commissioning local 
authority.

The place funding 
system doesn’t 
operate in 
independent schools.

Agreed per-pupil 
top up paid by the 
commissioning 
local authority.

None. Teacher 
Pensions Grant 
(for EHCPs)

P
age 149



14

Page 150



Early Years Block / Early Years Single Funding Formula Pro-Forma 2021/22 Appendix 3

% budget pass-through 3&4 year old EYSFF (excluding one off monies); Must be greater than 95%: 98.0%

% spend 3&4 year old EYSFF on supplements - SEND& Deprivation (excluding one off monies); Cannot exceed 10%: 8.0%

1. EYSFF (3 & 4 year olds):
Base rate

Description Unit Value (£)
Unit

Applied

Number of Units (Universal) Number of Units (Extended) Anticipated Budget (£)

Universal Base Rate Applicable to all Providers
PVI Nursery

School
Primary

Nursery Class PVI Nursery
School

Primary
Nursery Class PVI Nursery

School

Primary
Nursery

Class
PVI Nursery

School
Primary

Nursery Class TOTAL

£4.25 £4.25 £4.25 per hour 4,470,860 445,160 1,306,400 819,875 66,748 188,111 £22,485,624 £2,175,610 £6,351,672 £31,012,905

2. EYSFF (3 & 4 year olds):
Other formula factors Description Unit Value (£) Number of Units (Universal & Additional 15 hours) Anticipated Budget (£)

PVI Nursery
School

Primary
Nursery Class PVI Nursery School Primary Nursery Class PVI Nursery

School
Primary

Nursery Class TOTAL

2.
Supplements

Variable 1
Deprivation
(Mandatory)

All providers (variable rate) calculated using a 3
year rolling average of Index of Multiple
Deprivation (IMD) scores.

PVI Nursery
School

Primary
Nursery Class

Unit
Applied PVI Nursery School Primary Nursery Class PVI Nursery

School
Primary

Nursery Class TOTAL

£0.74 £0.74 £0.74 per hour 1,875,610 235,500 572,734 £1,379,873 £173,256 £421,357 £1,974,485

Variable 2
Deprivation
(Mandatory)

Rates include a weighting, to allocate additional
funding to providers that have above average
levels of deprivation as measured by IMD.

PVI Nursery
School

Primary
Nursery Class

Unit
Applied PVI Nursery School Primary Nursery Class PVI Nursery

School
Primary

Nursery Class TOTAL

£0.19 £0.19 £0.19 per hour 2,437,852 363,383 775,127 £455,812 £67,943 £144,928 £668,682

3. Maintained nursery school (MNS) lump
sums

Description PVI Nursery
School

Primary
Nursery Class

Unit
Applied PVI Nursery School Primary Nursery Class PVI Nursery

School
Primary

Nursery Class TOTAL

1) Nursery Schools Sustainability Top-Up: this
funding tops up the school to a minimum level of
funding based on that school's specific
circumstances, taking into account premises,
rates, insurance, base allocations, mainstreamed
grants. 2) Additional lump sums allocate the MNS
Supplement to ensure that the base per hour rate
of funding for each nursery school is £5.84 & the
deprivation rate is the same as that used in
2016/17. Arrangements confirmed only for the
period April - August 2021

Variable lump sums 7 £1,291,263 £1,291,263

TOTAL FUNDING FOR EARLY YEARS SINGLE FUNDING FORMULA (3 & 4 YEAR OLDS): £34,947,335

EYSFF (2 year olds) Description Unit Value (£) Number of Units Anticipated Budget (£)

PVI Nursery
School

Primary
Nursery Class PVI Nursery

School
Primary

Nursery Class PVI Nursery
School

Primary
Nursery Class TOTAL

4. Base Rate(s) per hour, per provider
type Universal Base Rate Applicable to all Providers PVI Nursery

School
Primary

Nursery Class
Unit

Applied PVI Nursery
School

Primary
Nursery Class PVI Nursery

School
Primary

Nursery Class TOTAL

£5.36 £5.36 £5.36 per hour 1,280,127 119,184 84,482 £6,861,481 £638,824 £452,821 £7,953,126
TOTAL FUNDING FOR EARLY YEARS SINGLE FUNDING FORMULA (2 YEAR OLDS): £7,953,126

5. SEN Inclusion Fund (funded  directly
to providers) Description

Anticipated total budget (£)

PVI Nursery
School

Primary
Nursery Class TOTAL

(a) 3 & 4 Year Olds
(Mandatory)

(ai) Funding
allocated from EY
Block

Funding for Early Years SEND Inclusion (element 2 replication) - allocated using agreed criteria and method. See Early Years Technical Statement on Bradford Schools Online £183,051 £75,000 £141,949 £400,000

(aii) Funding
allocated from HN
Block

EY SEND Inclusion is 100% funded from the Early Years Block

(b) 2 Year Olds (if
applicable)

(bi) Funding
allocated from EY
Block

Funding for Early Years SEND Inclusion (element 2 replication) - allocated using agreed criteria and method. See Early Years Technical Statement on Bradford Schools Online £66,667 £10,000 £23,333 £100,000

(bii) Funding
allocated from HN
Block

EY SEND Inclusion is 100% funded from the Early Years Block

TOTAL FUNDING FOR SEN INCLUSION FUND (TOP-UP GRANT ELEMENT): £500,000

6. Early years contingency funding Description Anticipated total budget (£)
3 & 4 Year Olds no contingencies are held £0
2 Year Olds no contingencies are held £0
7. Early years centrally retained funding Description Anticipated total budget (£)
3 & 4 Year Olds See Document MQ Appendix 1 (de-delegated funds for nursery schools). Budgets for EY SEND activities & EYIF management are transferred to the High Needs Block in 2021/22 £94,348
2 Year Olds no central funds for 2 year olds are held £0

TOTAL FUNDING FOR EARLY YEARS CENTRAL EXPENDITURE: £94,348

8. Early years pupil premium Anticipated total budget (£)
3 & 4 Year Olds £407,271

TOTAL FUNDING FOR EARLY YEARS PUPIL PREMIUM: £407,271

9. Disability access fund Anticipated total budget (£)
3 & 4 Year Olds £196,185

TOTAL FUNDING FOR EARLY YEARS DISABILITY ACCESS FUND: £196,185

P
age 151



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report of the Director of Finance to the meeting of 
Executive to be held on 16 February 2021 and Council 
to be held on 18 February 2021

DI

Subject:  

2021/22 Budget Proposals and Forecast Reserves – S151 Officer Assessment

Summary statement:

This report assesses the robustness of the proposed budget for 2021/22, the adequacy of 
forecast levels of reserves and associated risks.  

It concludes that the estimates are sufficiently robust for the Council to set the budget.  
It also concludes that the General Fund and unallocated reserves should be maintained at 
their current levels over the period of the financial strategy to ensure the continued 
financial resilience of the Council.

Chris Chapman
Director of Finance & IT

Portfolio:  

Leader of Council and Corporate

Report Contact:  Chris Chapman – 
Director of Finance & IT
Phone: (01274) 433656
E-mail: chris.chapman@bradford.gov.uk

Overview & Scrutiny Area: 

Corporate

Page 153



1. SUMMARY

This report assesses the robustness of the proposed budget for 2021/22, the adequacy of 
the forecast levels of reserves and associated risks in the context of the Council’s medium 
term financial outlook.   

The Council is setting its budget for 2021/22, including proposals for savings and proposals 
for investment which will require implementation action to be undertaken during 2021/22.  

It should be noted the proposal is a single year budget, pending clarity of future national local 
government settlement data and any progression of fair funding, business rate and other 
outstanding reviews of local government finances. As this evolves the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy will be updated and resources will continue to be aligned to achieve 
the outcomes in the Council Plan. 

For the past five budget rounds, the Council’s S151 Officer has concluded that the General 
Fund reserve at a level of £15.0m and unallocated reserves in the range of £10-15m is 
adequate and this report concurs with that view, subject to specific earmarked reserves 
being identified and maintained where relevant. Where opportunities arise to exceed this 
level, these should be exploited given the continued uncertainty in the local government 
finance environment.  

The report concludes that the estimates are sufficiently robust for the Council to set the 
budget for 2021/22.  However, it should be noted that there are significant and uncertain 
medium term risks to the Council’s financial position that require identified mitigating actions 
to continue to be implemented and monitored during the 2021/22 financial year.

 
2. BACKGROUND

Under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003, when the Council sets the budget, the 
Council’s S151 Officer is required to report on:

- the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the calculations, and 
- the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves.

This report comments on the revenue and capital estimates in the proposed budget.  The 
assessment is informed by extensive review, scrutiny and personal involvement in the 
development of the proposed budget.

3. OPTIONS

This report does not set out alternative options.  Legislation requires the Council to have 
regard to this report and the assessment when setting the budget. 

Page 154



4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

The financial appraisal underpinning this assessment is set out in the separate reports to this 
Executive on planned revenue and capital spending.  

2021/22 Onwards Budget Appraisal

Context
- In setting the budget it is important to recognise the context and consequence of austerity 

measures implemented in 2011/12; the impact of Covd19 and difficulties in forecasting the 
future impacts of Covid19 on Council resources; and the current uncertainties of national 
local government settlement and funding arrangements.

- In the period from 2011/12 to 2021/22 the Council has had to take measures to reduce 
costs and increase income amounting to over £300m. 

- The following sections seek to highlight changes to the Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, the risks of those changes and how they impact on the delivery of the 2021/22 
budget and our longer term financial and reserve strategies.

2020/21 Projected Position
- The Q3 monitoring report presented to Executive on 2 February 2021 forecasts a £0.4m 

underspend for 2020/21.

- Whilst this signals a likely continuation in the Council’s ability to broadly manage its 
finances within budget, year on year, it does also mask a number of in year financial 
challenges and has only been possible via the inclusion of both fortuitous and managed 
one-off items.  

   
- The Council has well established procedures for measuring progress against agreed 

savings plans and these monitoring reports are presented and discussed monthly to CMT 
and quarterly to Executive. In this financial year, the impact of Covid has been significant 
against individual budget lines, therefore monitoring reports included additional detail to 
report both Covid related variances and non-Covid related variances; and to report on the 
additional Covid funding received by Central Government and any additional expenditure / 
investment commitments made.

- In prior years the achievement of savings represented cause for concern and additional 
monitoring and governance processes introduced during 2019/20 have ensured a higher 
proportion of planned savings are delivered, the Q3 report forecasts 70% will be delivered, 
with a number of those not delivered having been constrained by the Covid pandemic.

- Alongside the non-delivery of savings, the Council has continued to face financial 
pressures in Waste and Children’s Services.  In the latter, this is both in relation to a sharp 
increase in the number of Children Looked After and costs associated to the ‘Inadequate’ 
OFSTED inspection judgement reported in October 2018. Additional core budget 

Page 155



allocation has been invested in to these areas over the past two financial years, which 
should help mitigate these pressures in future years. 

- Budget variances have been reduced through management action to reduce expenditure 
and increase income in other areas, and through a number of one-off fortuitous items such 
as a VAT refund, savings on interest and capital financing costs and savings against 
Corporate contingencies. 

- Improvements introduced to the financial control environment, such as extended use of 
Business Intelligence reporting and the production of enhanced monthly reporting at 
Departmental Management Team level; enhancements to Capital approval processes 
through enhanced Project Appraisal Group approval processes; formal capital monitoring 
processes including challenge sessions chaired by the Leader of the Council; combined 
with prompt and effective management action to manage budgets within overall approval 
levels have improved the effectiveness of financial governance, reporting and 
performance.  

- This serves to show the Council has deployed appropriate arrangements to mitigate 
identified risks, address optimism bias from prior years, and ensure effective monitoring 
and governance processes are in place to identify, manage and address budget 
challenges promptly and effectively. 

Funding and Resources
- Over the last year we have been required to amend our assumptions around future 

funding, with Members being regularly updated on developments around the Fair Funding 
Review and Business Rates localisation. Uncertainties over local government financing 
continue, both in the quantum of funding and in distribution mechanisms, therefore 
prudence is still required when it comes to predicting external funding levels. For these 
reasons a one-year budget has been set for 2021/22, with the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy updated based on current best assumptions, considering the significant 
uncertainty over future national funding levels and distribution mechanisms. 

- Council Tax remains our most stable and reliable revenue stream and will account for 55% 
of our net expenditure requirement in 2020/21, up from 35% in 2010/11.  As a historically 
low taxing authority, it continues to be important to maximise the on-going benefit of 
increases in the Band D rate as and when they are available and this budget proposes the 
maximum allowable increase in the general rate (1.99%) and the application of the Social 
Care precept (3%). This equates to a weekly rise of £1.37 for a Band D property.

Formulating the 2021/22 Budget
- One of the Council’s key functions in terms of managing its finances is securing value for 

money from its activities, something which is measured on an annual basis by our external 
auditors.  Given the challenges we have experienced in delivering agreed savings in 
2017/18 and 2018/19, and budget pressures identified in 2019/20 it was clear that budget 
re-alignment would be required to ensure we effectively manage resources to achieve 
council objectives and protect essential services. The Budget proposals for 2021/22 
include a number of key proposals to mitigate the worst impacts of the COVID-19 

Page 156



pandemic on our children and young people and our economy, to support communities, 
care for vulnerable adults and build workforce capacity; including:

o £6.5m to support the District’s most vulnerable children. 
o £0.5m to improve commissioning of services for vulnerable adults.
o £2.4m to raise educational attainment, to help children to catch up in the wake 

of the COVID-19 pandemic.
o £1.0m to help improve skills and employability in response to increased 

unemployment, by supporting skills development through Bradford’s Skills 
House.

o £1.0m to meet demand and market price volatility pressures in Waste Services.
o £1.25m for Workforce Development to ensure that the workforce has sufficient 

capacity and skills to sustain services, build local leadership and reduce 
inequality.

- In delivering a balanced budget a strategic decision was taken to seek to limit new savings 
proposals for 2021/22, and defer a number of planned savings for a further year. This was 
mainly recognising our role in aiding and supporting the District’s socio-economic recovery 
at a macro level, and the negative impact cuts to essential services would entail and partly 
in recognition of the difficulty in forecasting future demand levels across a number of 
services due to the impact of Covid. In combination with a programme of 
“Grip...Reset...Transform” activity and further progression of early help and prevention this 
will enable the Council to re-frame ambitions and service delivery to best secure outcomes 
in line with budget availability.  

Other Expenditure Pressures
- The 2021/22 budget assumes pay awards at 2% pending further national negotiation on 

this issue. The current MTFS assumes pay awards of 2% to all employees in subsequent 
years. Should pay rates be settled at a higher rate this will create a structural cost 
pressure for the Council given each 1% in pay equates to c.£2.3m.     

- The 2021/22 budget assumes inflationary increases of 2% in line with CPI forecasts, 
combined with pressures upon social care contracts and other contracts. The MTFS 
makes provision for total inflationary increases to our cost base in future years of 2% with 
additional amounts to account for National Living Wage increases. Should inflation be 
higher this will create a structural cost pressure for the Council given each 1% in prices 
equates to c.£2.0m.     

Other Considerations
- There is still a high degree of uncertainty over local government funding, both in quantum 

and allocation mechanisms; and in medium term impacts of Covid, especially upon 
Council Tax and Business Rate revenues. However, based on current assumptions and 
indications, the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy and flexibility of earmarked 
reserves will enable the council to continue to plan effectively over a medium term. This is 
further enabled if the Council continues to proactively transform its approach to service 
delivery including making potentially difficult decisions about service provision levels, 
clearly refines and aligns its outcomes to resources in the next iteration of the Council 
Plan and maximises the current opportunity afforded by its resilient balance sheet.

Page 157



- The proposed allocation of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) has been the subject of 
extensive and detailed development, scrutiny and ratification by the Schools Forum and its 
working groups.  

- In terms of Capital, the budget makes provision for additional investment in capital 
schemes. The increase in the Capital Investment Programme will incur some additional 
borrowing with a consequential affordable increase in our capital financing budget to cover 
the cost of a number of new significant regeneration projects designed to stimulate the 
local economy. It is noted PWLB rates are currently at a low level which makes it a good 
point to invest, further aiding recovery.

- Continuing developments in the integration of health and social care, which will likely be 
further impacted by the delayed Green Paper, may bring consequences to our longer term 
financial planning assumptions not currently factored in.

- Building on this last point, it is important to acknowledge the growing interdependencies in 
public sector finances, and in particular Health, and the way that we use our funds, and 
partners use theirs, will have an increasing bearing on outcomes in the district.   

CIPFA Financial Resilience Index
CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, the professional public sector 
accountancy body) issued their Financial Resilience Index in December 2019 (this year’s 
data is not yet available). The index provides an assessment of an authority’s financial 
resilience across a number of indicators relative to other authorities.
The index shows Bradford Council is in a relatively resilient position, with the main concern 
being the proportion of its budget allocated to Children and Adults services. 
An extract of the index results for the Council, with comparison to all Metropolitan Authorities 
is shown below. The 2019-20 index is expected to continue to show the Council to be in a 
relatively good position, as through prudent financial management we have maintained 
reserves at a consistent and prudent level. 

Page 158



Summary
Given the steps set out in the earlier sections of this paper, it is concluded that the estimates 
are sufficiently robust for Council to set the 2021/22 budget. 
Members should have assurance that a number of prior risks have been mitigated in part, for 
example, capital estimates are now more accurate, monthly budget monitoring at CMT has 
improved management of the budget, the MTFS position is more favourable, key reserves 
have been maintained and some underlying budget pressures have been addressed wholly 
or for the next 12-months.
However, Members need to be mindful of the significant challenges that remain in 2021/22 
and beyond, which will require proactive work in the coming year to ensure the longer term 
financial sustainability of the authority.

Reserves

Page 159



The Council’s financial strategy during the period of austerity has been to maintain the 
strength of the reserves held within the balance sheet in order to provide resilience in a 
turbulent environment, whilst reducing the recurrent net cost base.  The Council adopted and 
has adhered to a policy on the use of reserves which has served it well.  

The reserves held within the balance sheet include: 

 The General Fund Reserve
 Unallocated Corporate Reserves
 Reserves set aside for designated purposes and for specific liabilities and risks.

The first two reserves are essentially the Council’s backstop for unforeseen risks and 
pressures.  Previous budget decisions, including setting aside funding for transformation, 
means that the General Fund Reserve remains unchanged at £15.0m and Unallocated 
Corporate Reserves currently sit at £10.3m, and the MTFS will propose retaining these 
reserves at this level. 

As can be seen in the Budget Appraisal above, the financial challenges facing the Council 
are significant and put into context, the combined total of the two reserves is sufficient to fund 
only 24 days of Council activity.

Therefore, the projected levels for 2020/21 and beyond remain adequate only if 

- The 2021/22 budget, with its focus on corrective action and more robust planning, is 
delivered to plan

- Indicative savings, spending and transformational plans in future years are effectively 
implemented, and especially the focus on early help and prevention addresses rising 
costs and demands in Children’s services

- The amount of contingency in the annual base budget remains adequate 
- Potential liabilities are manageable within the balance sheet’s provisions and reserves
- Local sources of taxation and other income turn out as planned.

It is therefore concluded that:

- The reserves are adequate for the 2021/22 proposed budget
- The Council has a clear reserves plan for the medium term
- The key to financial resilience lies firmly in successfully implementing plans.

5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

The potential impacts of the identified risks have been modelled in Appendix 1 to this paper.  
This risk analysis will be used to inform management action during the year.  The existing 
and proposed governance mechanisms to manage the budget are examined as part of the 
risk assessment.

Page 160



6. LEGAL APPRAISAL

This assessment is made in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Acts 
1972 and 2003.  The Council’s Constitution provides that each year, before the budget is 
determined the s151 Officer will produce a report for the Executive showing ongoing 
commitments and a forecast of the total resources available to the Council to enable the 
Executive to determine any financial strategy guidelines.  

7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS

7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY

The Equality and Diversity issues arising from the new budget proposals are analysed in the 
reports accompanying the budget documentation presented to Executive on 2 February 2021 
and 16 February 2021. The Interim Trade Union feedback on the budget proposals is 
documented and reported in a similar way. The Trade Union feedback and the feedback from 
the public engagement and consultation programme on the proposals previously approved 
by Budget Council in prior years was fully considered by Council at that time.  

7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

Sustainability implications are identified in the budget reports as presented to Executive on 1 
December 2020, 5 January 2021, 2 February 2021 and 16 February 2021. 

7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

The budget proposals for both revenue and capital investment include Climate Emergency 
impacts, more detail will develop in due course as these schemes progress.

7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

Where there are any community safety implications arising from individual budget proposals 
these will be covered in the consultation exercise. Any implications arising from the 
consultation will be presented to subsequent meetings of the Executive.

7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

There are no direct human rights implications arising from this report.

7.6 TRADE UNION

The statutory requirement to consult with Trade Unions under S188 Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 where 20 or more redundancies are proposed within a 
90-day period does not arise in respect of the new budget proposals for 2021/22 as these 
new proposals have no staffing implications.   

Page 161



The Council previously declared a proposed 111 FTE reductions for 20 /21 and commenced 
consultation with the Trade Unions on those on 26 November 2018 in accordance with the 
requirements of Section 188 Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

It should be noted that consultation on workforce implications on budget changes agreed in 
previous years will continue to take place.

Where a proposal gives rise to a transfer under the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Employment) Regulations 2006, trade union consultations will be carried out in accordance 
with those regulations. It should be noted there are no proposals within the 2021/22 budget 
that would give rise to TUPE.

The financial position and the proposals were explained at a Trade Union briefing on 1 
December 2020 formally commencing the consultation. Further Consultation was held via 
service based level 2 and level 3 OJC meetings. Any Trade Union feedback relating to these 
budget proposals for 2021/22 will be collated and will be reported at Executive in February 
2021 as an addendum to the budget report.  

A briefing for all employees on the budget proposals has been issued through line 
management and key communications/Bradnet and will be cascaded accordingly.

7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS

In general terms, where the proposed cuts affect services to the public, the impact will 
typically be felt across all wards. Some proposals could potentially have a more direct local 
impact on individual organisations and/or communities. It is expected that the consultation 
process will allow an analysis of local impacts to inform final decisions.

8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

None.

9. RECOMMENDATIONS

That Members have regard to this report in setting the budget, and in particular note the 
conclusions that:

 the estimates presented to Council are sufficiently robust 

 the reserves are adequate for the 2021/22 proposed budget

 the projected corporate reserves, on current estimates, are adequate in the medium 
term, subject to the implementation of the rest of the proposed financial plan

 the Medium Term Financial Strategy will be updated and reported to Executive as 
clarity on future local government funding is received.  

Page 162



As with all budgets there is the potential for amendments to be proposed/agreed which could 
change the overall package of proposals. In that respect, it should be highlighted that this 
statement would be amended or added to if a decision was proposed that lead to the 
Council’s reserves falling below their recommended level. In addition, any other amendments 
would be considered against the scale of the overall budget and depending upon the extent 
and nature, may result in a revised statement.

10. APPENDICES

10.1 Appendix 1: Risk-Based Assessment

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Executive reports and supporting information / working papers
 2nd February 2021: Capital Investment Plan (includes Capital and Investment 

Strategies) 2021 to 2024-25
 2nd February 2021: Quarter 3 Finance Position Statement 2020/21 
 2nd February 2021: 2021/22 Revenue Estimates
 5th January 2021: Calculation of Bradford’s Council Tax Base and Business Rates 

Base for 2021/22
 1st December 2020: Proposed Financial Plan and Budget Proposal for 2021/22
 9th November 2020: Covid19 Response, Resilience, Recovery
 9th November 2020: Quarter 2 Finance Position Statement 2020/21
 8 September 2020: Medium Term Financial Strategy Update, 2020/21 to 2022/23
 7th July 2020: Finance Position Statement for 2019/20
 7th July 2020: Quarter 1 Finance Position Statement for 2019/20 
 9th June 2020: Building a Better Future: Living with Covid19 and laying the 

foundations for a better future
 30th April 2020: The Response to Covd19 and the Forecast Financial Impact on the 

Council including Decisions Taken using Emergency Powers
 24th March 2020: Quarter 4 Finance Position Statement for 2019/20 
 18th February 2020: The Council’s Revenue Estimates for 2020/21
 18th February 2020: The Council’s Capital Investment Plan for 2020/21 – 2023/24
 18th February 2020: 2020/21 Budget Proposals and Forecast Reserves – s151 Officer 

Assessment
 4th February 2020: 2020/21 Budget Update
 4th February 2020: Quarter 3 Finance Position Statement for 2019/20

Plus
 Monthly Change Programme Reports to CMT
 Monthly Finance position statements to CMT
 Medium Term Financial Strategy / Budget Working Papers

Page 163



APPENDIX 1
Risk-Based Assessment of Potential Events Affecting the Proposed 2020/21 Budget and Beyond

The table outlines: the risk event that could occur and cause the plan to vary; the mitigations that are in place; and an 
assessment of the potential quantified impact of the individual risk materialising, together with the additional mitigating factors.
Risk Event Description and Mitigation in Place Residual Risk Rating 

(Likelihood/Impact) and Contingency
Likelihood: Low <20% <Medium < 50%< 
High<70%
Impact: Low <£2m< Medium < £3m < High < 
£5m

Outcome of Central 
Government 
reviews such as 
fair funding review 
and/or business 
rate review 
adversely impact 
Bradford funding 
levels

There is little mitigation we can undertake directly as this is 
an external Central Government review.
However, the expectation would be for funding to additionally 
recognise the impact of deprivation and other factors upon 
Councils and address prior funding streams which have 
seen Met/ Unitary Councils adversely impacted more than 
others.
The MTFS reflects current funding patterns and future year 
budgets are not predicated on assumptions of large funding 
increases or upon large savings. Our MTFS budget is 
therefore consistent with current budget.
The Council additionally has reserves that could be drawn 
upon in the short to medium term to enable a medium term 
approach to any future funding reductions if they occur.

Low / Medium

Indication are that funding revisions 
would be beneficial. 

The MTFS has prudent assumptions, 
whilst the level or reserves, including 
earmarked reserves, enables impacts to 
be managed over a medium term

Financial impact of 
Covid exceeds 
government 
funding

Covid has had a significant impact on Council finances in 
terms of additional direct expenditure (egPPE); lost revenue 
(eg from closed Theatres and Leisure facilities); additional 
investment requirements (eg to protect the vulnerable) and 
medium term impacts upon the collection fund.
Ongoing infection control measures, Lateral Flow Testing 
facilities and measures to protect the vulnerable, support 
communities, support businesses and keep essential 
services running continue to impact. Various funding 
allocations have been received from Central Govt and 
further funding was announced as part of the Spending 

Medium / High

Investment decisions taken to mitigate 
the worst implications and support future 
recovery action. 

Funding to date has met direct cost 
implications. 
 

P
age 164



Risk Event Description and Mitigation in Place Residual Risk Rating 
(Likelihood/Impact) and Contingency
Likelihood: Low <20% <Medium < 50%< 
High<70%
Impact: Low <£2m< Medium < £3m < High < 
£5m

Review. 
The duration of Covid related impacts and the length of 
subsequent recovery will determine whether funding has 
been sufficient to meet all financial implications.   

Demand for 
services increase 
placing pressure 
on budgets

Demand for services may increase both in terms of general 
service demands and specific Covid related demands. 

MTFS includes provision for general demand pressures such 
as demographics and additional budget provision for 
services where demand is currently forecast to increase or 
generate an upward pressure on budgets. 
Covid funding has been allocated to seek to mitigate impacts 
whilst seeking to protect the vulnerable, support businesses 
and communities and keep essential services running. In 
responding to Covid the focus has been on supporting 
recovery post Covid. 

Medium / Medium

MTFS includes allocation of budget to 
reflect key demographics and spend 
pressures.
Covid response and investment has 
considered mitigating impact and 
supporting recovery

Taxation streams 
are unstable

Additional uncertainty caused by Covid and potential post 
Covid impacts; eg potential significant business 
restructuring, e.g impact of pandemic on office space & 
retail, Brexit impact e.g on services. Lower impact of 
housebuilding on Council Tax
Collection Rates, bad debt provisions, appeals provisions, 
rateable property and the cost of the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme are all volatile and are regularly monitored. 
Business Rates performance continues to be more volatile 
than Council Tax, with the outcome of appeals significantly 
reducing the tax yield. In year losses and gains can be 
handled through the Collection Fund, while variances can be 
dealt with in future year’s plans.
(Note: Impact of Covid assessed in row above)

Medium/Medium

Contingency provided through 
adjustment of plans for subsequent 
years.  

P
age 165



Risk Event Description and Mitigation in Place Residual Risk Rating 
(Likelihood/Impact) and Contingency
Likelihood: Low <20% <Medium < 50%< 
High<70%
Impact: Low <£2m< Medium < £3m < High < 
£5m

Other income 
streams unstable

Non-taxation income streams remain less volatile than in 
previous years. NHS funding streams may be at risk in the 
wake of current financial control difficulties and planned 
change to ICS. Past performance suggests that unplanned 
income may materialise, offsetting generally the risks against 
the aggregate net revenue budget.  The Council is becoming 
more successful at securing competitive grants. 
(Note: Impact of Covid assessed in row above)

Low/Low

Contingency provided through in-year 
budget control.

Continuous dialogue with NHS partners 
over funding flows

More active bidding for external funds

Close monitoring of trading
Non-payment of 
debtors leading to 
additional write-offs

Potential economic downturn may result in additional non-
payment of debts over and above existing bad debt 
provisions. 
Existing mitigation is through existing debt management 
processes and recovery action. 
Where possible services are paid at point of service; or 
through debtor invoice processes enabling effective 
monitoring and tracking of debt to enable recovery 

Low / Low

Contingency provided through bad debt 
provision. 

Should a trend be identified MTFS will 
be adjusted to reflect additional bad debt 
provision / write off requirements and 
amendments proposed to provision of 
services where possible

Member support 
for the budget 
diminishes

The Executive and individual Portfolio Holders have been 
involved at a very detailed level in the development of the 
proposals. The financial plan reflects the current Council 
Plan which has also had significant member input.  

Low/Low

Contingency provided through 
adjustment of plans for subsequent 
years

Plans for 
implementation of 
savings are not 

Each savings proposal is required to be accompanied by a 
project plan setting out the implementation path.  This 
process has been strengthened further through Change 

Low / Low

Mitigation provided through continuous 

P
age 166



Risk Event Description and Mitigation in Place Residual Risk Rating 
(Likelihood/Impact) and Contingency
Likelihood: Low <20% <Medium < 50%< 
High<70%
Impact: Low <£2m< Medium < £3m < High < 
£5m

robust Programme Board and monthly CMT budget monitoring 
report, including specific savings tracker. The impact of the 
plans has been tested in consultation.  The degree of risk in 
each individual proposed change varies, and requires 
continuous project management. Implementation requires a 
dedicated project management resource (which continues to 
be funded in the budget). 

improvement of plans and regular 
monitoring reports through CMT.
Risk reduced as no additional savings 
proposed for 2021/22

Plans for 
implementation of 
change projects do 
not deliver 
expected outcomes

Investment made in 2020/21 budget for transformational 
change has been deferred due to essential Covid related 
activity. 
Budget proposals for 2021/22 reference need for 
implementation of sound financial governance, including 
through the Grip…Reset…Transform programme, which has 
been fleshed out into identified projects.
Transformational activity within Adults, Childrens, Early Help 
and Prevention and localities are progressing 

Low / Low

Transformational plans developed into 
some detail. 
Budget does not include a ‘targeted’ 
saving from transformation and therefore 
is not predicated upon achieving an 
outcome.
Transformation is expected to feed into 
future MTFS and mitigate a level of 
future savings and /or enable investment 
in services

Planning is  
insufficiently 
flexible to respond 
to unexpected 
events

Governance arrangements allow Strategic Directors, under 
delegated authorities, and in consultation with Portfolio 
Holders, to flex plans during the year.  If necessary, recourse 
can be had to the Executive to approve changes within the 
overall agreed budget envelope

Low/Low

Evidenced through high extensive period 
of need to be flexible to effectively 
manage Covid related events

Risks to timely 
implementation of 
changes to 
packages of care in 

The programme of change for Adult Services is proving 
effective in ensuring the right level of care is provided at the 
right time. Change Programme Impacts are being realised 
through the budget. The residual risk is the requirement for 

Medium/High

Use of dedicated programme 
management resource

P
age 167



Risk Event Description and Mitigation in Place Residual Risk Rating 
(Likelihood/Impact) and Contingency
Likelihood: Low <20% <Medium < 50%< 
High<70%
Impact: Low <£2m< Medium < £3m < High < 
£5m

adults and children 
services

further demand management activity to be implemented to 
meet budget savings targets to 2022/23.

The programme for change for Childrens and Early Help & 
Prevention including locality working is starting to evidence 
achievements. 

The package of proposals to reform entitlements to and 
methods of transporting children with high needs to and from 
school has not yet yielded the intended financial benefits. 

Continued collaboration with NHS and 
other partners

Learning from developments in other 
local authorities and engagement of 
Impower to provide external 
support/expertise/ challenge/ change.

The risk is part mitigated as additional 
budgetary resource included in MTFS 
for Children’s services

Uncertainties over 
the integration of 
health and social 
care, including 
delays in 
developing new 
models of care to 
support changes to 
service delivery

The future of adult social care is heavily influenced by 
national policy on integration.  Progression of ICS model 
over next year may trigger changes, but could also 
potentially delay changes, with potential adverse financial 
and client impacts.  Governance mechanisms including the 
Health and Wellbeing Board and supporting bodies are in 
place, allowing shared planning with NHS partners, and joint 
participation in nationally led initiatives. Strategic and 
operational arrangements improved further over Covid joint 
working. Negotiations continue over the distribution of the 
Better Care Fund.  

Medium / Low

The Council may have to make 
unilateral changes if the pace of change 
is too slow

Impact judged as low as budget is not 
predicated on integration

Changes related to 
staff cannot be 
implemented to 
plan

No new staff savings as part of 2020/21 proposals or 
2021/22 proposals, which also see some prior savings being 
deferred. Any implementation of current planned savings will 
focus on avoiding compulsory redundancy.  

Low/Low

Use of voluntary redundancy and 
vacancy management to mitigate 
impacts. Savings not predicated on 
staffing reductions

Demographic The proposed budget has been increased for demographic Low/Low

P
age 168



Risk Event Description and Mitigation in Place Residual Risk Rating 
(Likelihood/Impact) and Contingency
Likelihood: Low <20% <Medium < 50%< 
High<70%
Impact: Low <£2m< Medium < £3m < High < 
£5m

changes place 
unplanned burden 
on resources

growth in Adults and Childrens, with further core budget 
proposed within Childrens. The waste/refuse collection 
budget has been increased to reflect demographic and 
household growth.  The Schools budgets (funded by the 
DSG) reflect the latest pupil census. It is expected that 
demographic growth and changes in the composition of the 
population will continue to lead to service pressures, which 
may need to be factored into future plans. 

Budget provision has been provided to 
address demographic growth in key 
areas
Further contingency may be needed if 
growth exceeds budget provision 

Insufficient inflation 
allowance is 
provided in the 
plan

Expenditure budgets have been selectively inflated at 
indices appropriate for the relevant line.  Where appropriate, 
budget managers will need to absorb unfunded inflation 
through reducing consumption of goods and services.  Pay 
budgets have been inflated for 2021/22 by 2, and price 
inflation has been included at 2%. The MTFS includes pay 
award indexation at 2%, and price indexation (CPI) at 2%. 
The impact of potential greater inflationary pressures in the 
economy on the MTFS will need to be managed.

Low/Low

Compensating action to reduce net 
costs

Capital investment 
is poorly controlled

Experience from prior years suggests capital projects take 
longer to implement than planned with a significant degree of 
slippage. 
PAG processes have been updated, and period capital 
monitoring, including Leader and Portfolio Holder 
engagement implemented. Proposals to enhance project 
management, particularly larger / more complex projects are 
being developed.

Low/Low

Close monitoring is required to ensure 
that schemes do not overspend and 
deliver to plan.

Contingency provided through 
adjustment of plans for subsequent 
years

Sources of funds 
for capital 
investment do not 
materialise

In addition, to the capital receipts expected to be released as 
a result of specific schemes, the Capital Investment Plan 
assumes an annual £2m of general capital receipts from 
emerging sales of Council property. If they do not 

Low/Low

Contingency provided through 
adjustment of plans for subsequent 

P
age 169



Risk Event Description and Mitigation in Place Residual Risk Rating 
(Likelihood/Impact) and Contingency
Likelihood: Low <20% <Medium < 50%< 
High<70%
Impact: Low <£2m< Medium < £3m < High < 
£5m

materialise, the plan (or individual projects within it which are 
dependent on receipts) will need to be reviewed.

years, and ability to flex the capital 
programme or borrow relatively cheaply
 

Capital projects do 
not deliver 
expected Invest to 
Save returns

A number of capital projects have been approved on an 
Invest to Save basis, with financial benefits forecast to offset 
capital borrowing costs. If these savings do not materialise 
the relevant service area will have a budget pressure in 
meeting these costs.  

Low / Medium

Business plan approval subject to 
service sign off and PAG approval, 
before being approved by Executive. 

Capital monitoring processes.

Interest Rates are 
higher than 
anticipated over 
the life of the plan

Should there be sharp rate rises, this would have a 
corresponding impact on the capital financing budget as 
external borrowing becomes more expensive.  This may in 
turn have an impact on the affordability of the capital 
programme, in particular in later years. Interest Rates 
assumed in the budget are based on the latest available 
information from professional treasury management 
advisors.  Regular updates are received and form part of our 
monitoring processes.

Medium/Medium

Compensating action to reduce net 
costs

Re-profiling and reprioritisation of the 
capital plan

Strong link between capital forecast and 
MTFS

The baseline 
budget is 
structurally 
compromised

The proposed budget is set using the 2020/21 baseline as 
amended for specific changes.  The 2020/21 forecast outturn 
shows a combination of overspend pressures and 
compensating underspends, the most significant of which 
have been accounted for as part of those specific changes, 
and where appropriate included within the MTFS.

Low / Low

Strategic Directors can use their 
delegated budgets flexibly

Structural budget issues are identified 
and tracked, and if appropriate reflected 
in MTFS and budget plans.  

Changes in school Three factors could lead to financial stress in schools, which, Medium/Medium

P
age 170



Risk Event Description and Mitigation in Place Residual Risk Rating 
(Likelihood/Impact) and Contingency
Likelihood: Low <20% <Medium < 50%< 
High<70%
Impact: Low <£2m< Medium < £3m < High < 
£5m

funding and in 
school structures 
created unforeseen 
and unfunded 
liabilities

under some circumstances, could create liabilities for the 
Council’s budget: the increasing gap between funding and 
inflation-driven costs; the impact of the National Funding 
Formula on individual schools; conversions to academies.  
No additional provision has been made in the budget for 
these risks

Support for/intervention in individual 
schools
On-going dialogue with Regional 
Schools Commissioner
Engagement with Bradford Schools 
Forum

Internal 
governance 
arrangements are 
not fit for purpose

Constitutional arrangements, internal delegations, and the 
financial control environment are in place and, from audit 
testing, are effective.  The Schools Forum and the 
supporting mechanisms are likewise effective at enabling a 
mature discussion about the use of local authority and DSG 
funds to support schools and pupils. Governance 
arrangements for health and social care are also well 
established. Internal governance supporting change 
management also reduces the risk of departmental silo 
mentality.

Low/low

Governance 
arrangements with 
external parties are 
not fit for purpose

The Health and Wellbeing Board and supporting 
arrangements are in place, though the pace of development 
is often overtaken by national NHS developments.  At 
regional level, Combined Authority governance is bedded in, 
though further changes may evolve in the wake of the fluid 
devolution agenda.  These factors do not increase financial 
risk as much as absorb leadership and management 
attention.

Low/Low

P
age 171



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report of the Director of Finance to the meeting of 
Executive to be held on 16 February 2021 
         Addendum to DOC “DI” 
 

 

Subject:   
 
Addendum to the s151 Officer Report on the proposed Council Budget 2021/22 
 

 

Summary statement: 
 
This report provides an update to the s151 Officer report on the proposed Council 

Budget 2021/22 following the Labour Group amended budget proposals.  
The report should be read in conjunction with the 2021/22 Budget Proposals and 
Forecast Reserves – s151 Officer Assessment (Document “DI”) presented earlier. 
 

 
EQUALITY & DIVERSITY: 

 
Equality assessments –  

there are no specific equality objectives arising from this report. Equality Impact 
Assessments for individual budget proposals have been completed and considered as part 
of budget considerations and budget consultation processes. 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

  

Chris Chapman 
Director of Finance & IT 

Portfolio:   
 
Leader 

 

Report Contact:  Chris Chapman, 
Director of Finance & IT 
Phone: (01274) 433656[Ext No]  
E-mail: chris.chapman@bradford.gov.uk 

 Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
Corporate 

Page 173



1. SUMMARY 

 
This report provides a s151 Officer Assessment of the Labour Group amended 

budget proposals.  
 
 
2. BACKGROUND 

 
The 2021/22 budget proposal was reported to Executive on 1st December 2020.  
 
A budget update was reported to Executive on 2nd February 2021, providing an 

update following the Local Government Finance Settlement, and including detailed 
consultation feedback.  
 
The Council’s Revenue Estimates 2021/22, Capital Investment Plan 2021/22 – 

2024/25 and Allocation of School Budgets 2021/22 are reported to this Executive 
(16th February 2021).  
 
These budget proposals have been subject to financial due diligence and my s151 

Officer report on this agenda provides a comprehensive assessment of these 
budget proposals and their robustness and adequacy of reserves.  
 
This report provides commentary on the impact upon my s151 assessment arising 

from the proposed Labour Group budget amendments. 
 
This report does not seek to replicate the details of my s151 assessment but should 
be considered as an addendum to that report.  

 
 
3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

 

The Labour Group proposed budget amendments are: 
 

 Proposed additional recurring investments of £1.2m per annum from 2021/22 
to be added into core budget 

o £600,000 investment in Street Cleansing; and 
o £600,000 in ward teams – support for communities  

 

 The removal of the proposed Youth Service saving of £513,000. This saving 

has already been proposed to be deferred from 2021/22 to 2022/23. This 
proposal would remove the planned saving in entirety.  

 
4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL 

 
The proposals generate an additional financial cost of £1.2m in 2021/22 rising to 
£1.713m in 2022/23.  
 

My s151 assessment concludes that the additional cost in 2021/22 can be met from 
reserves, without drawing upon the Unallocated Reserve or General Reserve, 
which are the specific subject of my s151 report.  
 

Page 174



The additional budget requirement from 2022/23 will be factored into the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy.  
 

Due to the uncertainties of future Local Government Finance Settlements, the Fair 
Funding Review, the Adult Social Care Green paper, the Business Rates Review 
and other unknown impacts e.g. the levelling up agenda, impact of Brexit, it is not 
possible to state with certainty the level of any potential budget gap from 2022/23.  

 
My s151 assessment is the additional budgetary impact is not material against the 
overall council budget, and the Council has evidenced ability to meet challenging 
budget targets in prior years through efficiencies, savings and income growth. The 

Council has additionally invested in early help and prevention activity, delivery of 
transformation in adult social care and has commenced a programme entitled 
Grip..Reset..Transform which should additionally drive future benefits and savings. 
 

 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 

 
 The budgetary risk is reduced as the 2021/22 budget is not predicated on the 

achievement of large scale costs. 
 Financial Governance processes are well established, and the Council has strong 

credentials in delivering within overall budget levels. These mitigate budget delivery 
risks.  

 
 
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL 

 

There are no specific legal issues arising from this report.  
A legal appraisal was included within the budget proposals as previously submitted 
to Executive Committee.  

 

 
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
None specific from this report.  

 
7.2 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS 

 

None specific from this report.  
 
7.3 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

 
None specific from this report.  

 
7.4 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 

 
 None specific from this report.  

 
 

Page 175



 
7.5 TRADE UNION 

 

None specific from this report 
 

 
7.6 WARD IMPLICATIONS 

 

None specific from this report 
 
 

7.7 AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS  
(for reports to Area Committees only) 

 
None specific from this report 

 
7.8 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING 
 

None specific from this report 

 
 
7.9 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT 
 

None specific from this report 
 
 
8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS 

 
N/A 

 
 
9. OPTIONS 

 
There are no options within this report.  

 

 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That Members have regard to this report in setting the budget, and in particular note 

the conclusions that:  
 

 the estimates presented to Council are sufficiently robust 
 

 the reserves are adequate for the 2021/22 proposed budget 
 

 the projected corporate reserves, on current estimates, are adequate in the 
medium term, subject to the implementation of the rest of the proposed 

financial plan 
 

 the Medium Term Financial Strategy will be updated and reported to 
Executive as clarity on future local government funding is received 

Page 176



 
 
 

11. APPENDICES 

 
N/A 

 

12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

 

 Medium Term Financial Plan and budget updates a reported to Executive 

 Budget Monitoring reports as reported to Executive 

 

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of the Director of Finance to the meeting of 
Executive to be held on 2nd February 2021.

Subject:  DE
2021-22 BUDGET UPDATE

Summary statement:

On 1st December 2020 the Executive approved budget proposals for consultation as 
required with the public, interested parties, staff and the Trade Unions.

This report provides the Executive with an update on national announcements and local 
decisions. It also identifies issues and uncertainties which could still have a bearing on the 
final size of the budget for 2021-22 and future financial years.

Executive will need to have regard to this report when considering the recommendations 
to make to Council at their meeting on 16th February 2021 in advance of Budget Council 
on the 18th February 2021

Chris Chapman
Director of Finance 

Portfolio:  

Leader of Council

Report Contact: Andrew Cross
Phone: 07870386523
Email: andrew.cross@bradford.gov.uk

 Overview & Scrutiny Area: 

Corporate

Page 179

mailto:andrew.cross@bradford.gov.uk


1. SUMMARY

1.1 This report provides an update to the 2021-22 Budget Proposals and addendum 
reported to the Executive on the 1st December 2020, with additional information 
derived from the Governments Provisional Local Government Settlement and other 
subsequent announcements and assumption changes.

1.2 The Provisional Local Government Settlement is itself subject to the outcome of a 
nationwide consultation which ends on 14th January 2021, and this will be followed 
by a Final Settlement shortly after that. This report is based upon officers’ 
assessment of the Provisional Local Government Settlement, informed by financial 
analysts. 

1.3 The overall impact of the Provisional Settlement and local funding issues is c£4.7m 
of reduced pressures and additional funding. 

1.4 When compared to the 1st December report this would reduce the call on reserves 
from c£12m to c£7.3m in 2021-22.

1.5 Appendix B also provides the outcome of the Budget consultation.

2. MAIN MESSAGES

2.1 The Provisional Local Government Settlement published on 15 December 2020 had 
several announcements that will improve the 2021-22 budget position by 
approximately £3.8m. The improvement is largely down to the following; 

+£1.7m from Settlement Funding Assessment Multiplier Compensation for 
underindexing the Business Rates multiplier. This is a basket of complicated 
things mainly linked to inflation on items that make up the Settlement 
Funding Assessment, but in short it benefits the Council more than expected.
+£0.9m from a one off ‘Local Tier Services Grant’ in 2021-22. In short it’s a 
new one off grant that helps avoid unintended consequences of funding 
formula, and the grant doesn’t come with restrictions.
+£0.8m as a result of the Bradford share of the new Social Care Grant being 
higher than estimated in the 1st December report addendum (£3.8m rather 
than £3.0m).
+ £0.4m increase in the Homelessness Prevention Grant from £1.1m to 
£1.5m.

2.2 Additionally there has been further assessment of local assumptions resulting in 
c£1.5m of increased pressures. These include;

£3.5m for pay award. £3.5m had been taken out of the 1st Dec addendum 
following the Chancellors announcement of a pay freeze for public sector 
worker earning more than £24k per year. Local Government pay is not 
however directly determined by the Government and the trade unions are 
submitting their claim to LGA for negotiation. On this basis, provision has 
been added back for a pay award of 2%.

Page 180



£1.5m of higher inflation. The inflation assumptions had reduced in the 1st 
December addendum as result of lower future expected CPI, however this 
has been revisited in light of additional inflation on Adult Social Care 
contracts.

The above have been partly counterbalanced by;

£3m of lower Capital Financing costs due mainly to lower PWLB borrowing 
rates announced as part of the Comprehensive Spending Review, and lower 
capital expenditure than previously planned resulting in lower borrowing. 
Further, the Council no longer has to fund the capital financing costs of 
housing stock that is now in a separate Housing Revenue Account.

£0.5m reduction in the demographic growth requirement for Adult Social 
Care following publication of national POPPI and PANSI older people 
demographic growth data.

2.3 Furthermore, following the provision of additional Covid related financial support 
from the Government, some Covid related proposals that were planned to be 
funded from the Council’s budget in 2021-22, can instead now be funded from the 
additional Covid grants as outlined in the Qtr 3 Finance Position Statement. These 
include 

 £2.4m for Raising Attainment in the next academic year (£1.2m in the 
2021-22 Financial Year)

 £1m for Skills House to help respond to increases in unemployment

2.4 Combined, the above changes result in a c£4.7m improved position, reducing the 
call on reserves from c£12m to c£7.3m in comparison to the 1st December budget 
proposals.

2.5 Additionally, the provisional settlement also provided;

2.6 £6.1m of Local Council Tax Support Grant for a discretionary scheme linked to 
Local Council Tax Reduction. Depending on the scheme design, some of this could 
be used to cover the increased cost of having more Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
claimants as factored into the Council tax base for next year, and could therefore 
have an impact on next year’s budget.

2.7 Confirmation of the 4.99% Council Tax Referendum limit (a Council Tax Precept 
limit of 1.99% and an Adult Social Care Precept of 3%). The financial impact of this 
was factored into the 1st December report. There is some flexibility in the application 
of the Adult Social Care precept to allow it to be applied over 2 years. 

2.8 Confirmation of the continuation of Bradford’s £14.1m allocation of Social Care 
Grant which was already assumed.

2.9 £18.5m of additional emergency Covid related grant from the Government for 2021-
22 to help cover Covid related costs and losses. The Government has also said that 
it will keep funding for Council’s under review and has indicated that it will provide 
more if required. 

Page 181



2.10 The continuation of the 75% Sales Fees and Charges income loss compensation 
scheme for the first 3 months of 2021-22. Compensation for Covid related income 
losses is received via a back dated claim, but the continuation of the scheme is 
expected to result in c£3.5m of compensation in 2021-22.

2.11 Although the above Covid related monies are very welcome and provide some 
much needed certainty and de risking of Council finances, the financial strategy 
associated with Covid related service costs and losses (which are hopefully time 
limited), has been to keep them as separate as possible from the general day to 
day Council business and budgeting. 

2.12 Consequently, the additional Covid monies outlined above (£18.5m and £3.5m) will 
be kept separate to pay for the myriad other Covid related costs and losses in 2021-
22 which remain very uncertain and dependent on how long Covid impacts for. For 
further detail about Covid related costs and losses, see the 2020-21 Qtr 3 Finance 
Position Statement which is also reported to the 2nd February 2021 Executive.

2.12 The Provisional Settlement also confirmed the eventual end of the New Homes 
Bonus scheme, with the final tranche received in 2023-24.   The saving to the 
Government from ending of the New Home Bonus nationally is the main funding 
source for most of the new grants, and uplifts for Local Government (excluding 
Social Care Precept).

2.13 The settlement is one year only. The expected implementation date for the delayed 
Fair Funding Review and the new Business Rates Retention scheme is still 
expected in 2022-23. However, their impact on the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
is difficult to predict with any certainty.

3. OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS

3.1 £98m of additional resource funding nationally has been announced (bringing total 
funding to £125m), to enable Local Authorities to deliver support to victims of 
domestic abuse and their children in safe accommodation in England. Bradford’s 
allocation for 2021-22 is currently unknown, but it is likely to be received in the form 
of a grant, and there will be matching costs.

3.2 Over £70m nationally for additional school transport capacity has been announced. 
How this will be allocated is currently unknown, but any Bradford related element 
may to be administered by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority.

3.3 £24m nationally in capital funding to start a new programme to maintain and expand 
provision in secure children’s homes. How the funding will be distributed is currently 
unknown, but there would be matching costs in the event that Bradford was a 
recipient.

3.4 £60m nationally for Social Housing Decarbonisation. How the funding will be 
distributed is currently unknown, but there would be matching costs. The Council 
has a relatively small and modern housing stock however, so any amounts are 
received are likely to be small.

Page 182



3.5 £1.7bn nationally in 2021-22 for local roads maintenance and upgrades to tackle 
potholes, relieve congestion and boost connectivity. This includes £500m for the 
Potholes Fund and £310m for upgrades to larger local roads. The allocation of 
funding for Bradford is currently unknown, but the additional monies will come with 
additional expenditure. 

3.6 £257m nationally for cycling, which will fund thousands of miles of safe, continuous 
and direct cycling routes. The allocation of funding is currently unknown and it’s 
unclear who would be responsible for delivery, but any additional monies for the 
Council would come with additional expenditure.

3.7 £621m nationally to regenerate high streets, town centres and communities through 
the Towns Fund. Shipley and Keighley will benefit from the previous Towns fund 
allocation, but further amounts have not been received as part of the second 
tranche of funding announced recently.

3.8 The Spending review also made new announcements about a new £4bn Levelling 
up fund – there is currently little detail on the fund, and it won’t impact on the 2021-
22 budget, but it will potentially result in new investment in the district. Efforts will be 
made to attract as much of the fund as possible. 

3.9 Individual Authority allocations for the Public Health grant are not yet known, 
however any increase is likely to be inflationary, and will be largely matched by an 
increase in costs associated with funding Agenda for Change pay increases linked 
to contracts with NHS providers.

 Schools 

4.0         The Prime Minister in his latest statement about the 3rd national lockdown said that 
additional IT equipment will be provided to children that can’t access remote 
learning, and the Secretary of State for Education made a further statement on this 
on the 6th of January. Depending on what resources are made available to the 
Bradford District, the Government’s provision could either supplement or substitute 
for the Council capital budget proposal to provide £2.2m of additional IT equipment 
to disadvantaged children. 

4.1         The Schools’ settlement headline increase figures (£2.2bn nationally in 2021/22) 
were already announced in December 2019. The Spending review 2020 simply 
confirms these commitments, but does confirm that the national school’s budget will 
not be ‘paired back’ in 2022/23 in response to COVID. The 2021/22 overall 
settlement for schools nationally is c3% increase, so above inflation. Pupil Premium 
Grant however, which is a significant funding stream for the Bradford District, is not 
increased for inflation in 2021/22 and the settlement for early years is lower than for 
schools at between 1.3% and 1.5%.

4.2         Subject to further detail confirming what is actually meant, a full pay freeze for 
teachers at September 2021 will reduce pressure on school and academy budgets 
which could provide capacity for schools to re-deploy for COVID catch up activity/ 
raising attainment for example. However, not all schools will be in a more 
comfortable financial position (not all schools are going to get 3% in 2021/22). 

Page 183



4.3         In the Chancellors Comprehensive Spending Review statement £300m of capital 
funding was announced for new Special Educational Needs and Disability 
placements in 2021/22. It is currently unknown how the funding will be distributed, 
but any funding received could possibly supplement or substitute for the £6m for 
SEND expansion included within the Councils proposed capital investment.

4.5         The Schools Forum will shortly agree its recommendations on the allocation of the 
2021/22 Dedicated Schools Grant. These recommendations will be presented to the 
Executive on 16 February.

5. LOCAL FUNDING ISSUES

5.1 At the meeting of the Executive held on 5 January 2021 the Council Tax base for 
2021/2022 was approved as a total number of Band D equivalent properties of 
142,000. This was already reflected in the 1st December report.

5.2 The provisional Business Rates Base was also approved at Executive on 5 
January. The final Business Rates Base will be completed for the end of January 
and the final budget documents updated accordingly. 

5.3 Discussions are taking place around the new West Yorkshire Business Rates Pool. 
The new Pool will redistribute within West Yorkshire a proportion of Business Rates 
that would otherwise be paid back to the Government. Values associated with this 
redistribution are currently unknown.

5.4 As outlined in the 1st December 2020 report addendum, a Council Tax and 
Business Rates collection fund deficit compensation scheme was announced as 
part of the Chancellors Comprehensive Spending Review statement in November.  
The details are still being worked through, but it now appears that 75% of qualifying 
irrecoverable losses will be paid in 2021-22, with the remaining deficit allowed to be 
spread over 3 years. The net benefit remains materially the same at c£5.5m as 
outlined in the addendum to the 1st December report. 

6 Other Issues

6.2 The Qtr 3 Finance Position Statement for 2020-21 identified the continuing and 
growing pressures on Children’s Social Care. The current budget proposals provide 
for £7.1m of budget increases in Children’s Social Care next year, with additional 
amounts for IT and Legal services to support Children’s Services. 

7 Potential Effect of Items Highlighted in this Report

7.1 The overall impact of the Provisional Settlement and local funding issues is c£4.7m 
of improvements, resulting in a reduction in the call on reserves in comparison to 
the 1st December report from £12m to c£7.3m 

Page 184



8. OTHER MATTERS TO TAKE INTO CONSIDERATION

Reserves

8.1 At 31st December 2020 reserves stand at £236.9m (Council £204.5m, HRA £0.5m 
and Schools £31.9m).  Unallocated reserves stand at £10.3m.

8.2 The Council has £15m of General Fund reserves, and £10.3m of unallocated 
reserves. These reserves are deemed to be the minimum level required to provide 
assurance about the ability to manage the Councils budget in a financial year given 
the high levels of uncertainty related to Covid, Brexit and future local government 
finance reforms.

8.3 There are however a number of other Earmarked reserves that could be re-
designated or part used in 2021-22 should it be required. These include the £54.9m 
Financing reserves that resulted from the change in Minimum Revenue Provision 
policy in 2018-19. Again, should they be used then they will either have to be 
reimbursed, or otherwise it will cause a budget pressure from 2036 onwards. A 
review of earmarked reserves has commenced.

Consultation

9.0 Appendix B provides the outcome of the budget consultation which includes 
feedback received from the public, interested parties and key stakeholders.  

9.1 In proposing the final budget the Executive will need to have due regard to the 
information contained within this report, the consultation feedback received, and the 
public sector equality duty as set out in section 149 Equality Act 2010.

10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

10.1 The uncertainties regarding the funding that will be available to the Council are 
considered within this report.

11. LEGAL APPRAISAL

11.1 It is necessary to ensure that the Executive have comprehensive information when 
considering the recommendations to make to Council on a budget for 2021/22 at 
their meeting on 16 February 2021. It is a legal requirement that Members have 
regard to all relevant information and the information in this report is considered 
relevant in this context.

1. S149 of the Equality Act 2010 (the Public Sector Equality Duty) provides as 
follows:
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions have due regard to the 
need to;

Page 185



a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is
prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010
b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it
c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it

(3) Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity between 
persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not 
share it involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to;
a) remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;
b) take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
c) encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in
public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is
disproportionately low.

(4) The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different 
from the needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take
account of disabled persons’ disabilities.

(5) Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves
having due regard, in particular, to the need to;
a) tackle prejudice, and
b) promote understanding.

(6) Compliance with the duties in this section may involve treating some persons 
more favourably than others; but that is not to be taken as permitting conduct that 
would otherwise be prohibited by or under this Act.

2. The Council must ensure that it has sufficient information to enable it to identify 
whether a proposal, if implemented, would disproportionately affect particular 
groups with relevant protected characteristics and if so whether any such adverse 
impact can be avoided or mitigated.

3.  The courts have established a number of principles which the Council should 
take into account in making decisions:

 the duty means that the potential impact of a decision on people with 
different protected characteristics must always be taken into account as a 
mandatory relevant consideration

 where large numbers of vulnerable people, many of whom share a protected
characteristic, are affected, consideration of the matters set out in the duty 
must be very high 

 even if the number of people affected by a particular decision may be small, 
the seriousness or the extent of discrimination may be great. The weight 
given to the aims of the duty is not necessarily less when the number of 
people affected is small.

4. There is also a duty on all Best Value authorities to consult when making 
changes to services or ending service provision.

Page 186



5. In addition to these specific legal duties, the Council has put out its proposals for 
public consultation and accordingly must have regard to the responses before 
making budget decisions.

6. In summary, it is necessary to ensure that Executive have comprehensive 
information when considering the recommendations to make to Council on a budget 
for 2021- 2022.
Case law has confirmed that, in order to fulfil the duty under S149 Equality Act 
2010, Elected Members need to read in full the EIA forms and consultation 
feedback as it is a legal requirement that Elected Members have regard to all the 
relevant information and accordingly Elected Members are referred to all the 
information at Appendix B and the Annex to Appendix B and to the equality 
assessments https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-
spending/budget-eias-2021-22/

12. OTHER IMPLICATIONS

12.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY

The equality implications are considered in Appendix B of this report.

12.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct sustainability implications resulting from this report.

12.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

There are no direct greenhouse gas emissions implications resulting from this 
report.

12.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct community safety implications resulting from this report

12.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

There are no Human Rights implications resulting from this report

12.6 TRADE UNION

Trade Union feedback is outlined in Appendix B.

12.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct Ward or area implications resulting from this report.

12.8 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

None identified.

Page 187

https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/budget-eias-2021-22/
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/budget-eias-2021-22/


12.9 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT

None identified.

13. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

None  

14. RECOMMENDATIONS

14.1 Executive are asked to note:

 the contents of this report and to have regard to the information contained within 
this report when considering the recommendations to make to Council on a budget 
for 2021/22 at their meeting on 16 February 2021.

That in accordance with Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Executive has 
regard to the information contained in Appendix B and the  Annex to Appendix B 
together with the equality assessments when considering the recommendations to 
make to the Council on budget proposals for 2021-22.

15. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Proposed Financial Plan 2021/22 and Addendum 1st December 2020 Executive

Calculation of Bradford’s Council Tax Base and Business Rates Base for 2021/22 
Executive Report 5 January 2021

2020-21 Qtr 3 Financial Position Statement Executive report 2 February 2021

16. Appendix A - SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Appendix B -  CONSULTATION FEEDBACK AND EQUALITY ASSESSMENT 
FOR THE 2021-22 COUNCIL BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 2021-22 

Page 188



APPENDIX A: SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
2021/22
Budget 

£’000
NET EXPENDITURE

2020/21 Budget brought forward 378,080
Reversal of non-recurring investment from 2020/21 (5,630)
Sub total 372,450

Proposed Recurring Investments in 2021-22 12,411
Funding Changes (5,107)

Inflation incl Pay Award 14,120

Base Net Expenditure Requirement 393,874

Demographic pressures in Adults, Children’s and Waste 1,850
One off investments 0
Capital financing and central budget adjustments (1,143)
Previously approved budget savings (9,142)
Amended prior Budget decisions 1,608
New Budget proposals for consultation (745)

Net Expenditure Requirement 386,303

RESOURCES
Localised Business Rates (62,458)
BR Collection fund deficit from 2020-21            924
BR Collection fund deficit compensation scheme (75%) (693)
Adj to enable remaining 25% deficit to be split over 3 yeas           (231)
Remaining forecast BR fund deficit repayment (£231k split over 3 years) 77
Top Up Grant (69,259)
Revenue Support Grant (34,800)
Council Tax    (212,874)
CTax fund deficit from 2020-21          6,400
CTax 2020-21 fund deficit compensation scheme        (4,800)
Adj to enable remaining 25% deficit to split over 3 years        (1,600)
Remaining 2020-21 CTax fund deficit repayment (£1.6m split over 3 years)             533
Pre-approved use of reserves (198)
Proposed use of reserves to balance 2021-22 budget (7,325)
Total Resources (386,303)

Budget (surplus)/shortfall 0

Page 189



Appendix B

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK AND EQUALITY ASSESSMENT FOR THE 2021-22 
COUNCIL BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 2021-22 

1. SUMMARY

On 1 December 2020 the Executive approved new budget proposals for 
consultation with the public, partners, local business, the voluntary and community 
sector, and other interested parties, staff and the Trade Unions. This appendix 
provides feedback from the public engagement and consultation programme. There 
is particular reference to the Council’s responsibilities under equality legislation to 
enable the Executive to have due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty when 
considering its recommendations to Council on proposals for the 2021-22 budget.

2. BACKGROUND

Best Value and the Equality Act 

2.1 Statutory guidance on Best Value introduced in September 2011 and reaffirmed in 
March 2015 reminds local authorities that they are under a duty to consult service 
users and potential service users, local voluntary and community organisations, and 
small businesses. 

2.2 There should also be opportunities for organisations, service users and the wider 
community to put forward options on how to reshape the service or project. Local 
authorities should assist this engagement by making available all appropriate 
information in line with the Government’s transparency agenda.

2.3 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from unlawful discrimination on the basis of 
‘protected characteristics’.  The Equality Act 2010 defines protected characteristics 
as age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, marriage and 
civil partnership, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. As outlined in 
the recently approved Equality Plan, the Council’s approach to equalities goes 
beyond this, by looking at equality more broadly and taking into account the impact 
of our decisions on people on low income or with a low wage.

2.4 The 2010 Act also introduced a specific Public Sector Equality Duty which requires 
local authorities, in the exercise of their functions, including when making decisions, 
to have due regard to the need to:

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited by the Act; 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it; and 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
people who do not share it.

2.5 In discharging this duty, local authorities not only need to understand how different 
people will be affected by their activities, proposals and decisions, they also need to 

Page 190



demonstrate that they have given due regard by publishing information that shows 
they have consciously discharged their responsibilities as part of the decision-
making process.

  
2.6 There is a range of guidance materials on the Public Sector Equality Duty from the 

Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) to assist the bodies that are 
subject to the duty, to understand the duty and meet their responsibilities.  This 
notes that a public body will only be able to comply with the general equality duty in 
relation to a decision, if the ultimate decision maker:

 Understands the body's obligations under the general equality duty.
 Has sufficient information.
 Demonstrably takes this information fully into account throughout the decision-

making process.

2.7 The EHRC emphasises the importance of ensuring that the duty is complied with 
before a decision is taken, while options are being developed and appraised, as 
well as at the time of the actual decision.  The duty cannot be used retrospectively 
to justify a decision.  

3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

3.1 The engagement and consultation programme in relation to the budget proposals 
for 2021 – 2022 was agreed by the Executive at its meeting on 1 December 2020. 
At the meeting the Executive reaffirmed its commitment to a public engagement and 
consultation programme designed to meet the legislative duties and to fulfil the 
following objectives:

 Support the 2021-22 budget setting process in as fair and as transparent a way 
as possible.

 Ensure that the Council meets its specific duties under equality legislation, in 
particular that the potential impact of the proposals on groups or individuals who 
share protected characteristics are considered, assessed and consulted upon. 
This would also be extended to those on low income/low wage.

 Ensure that Trade Unions and staff are consulted appropriately and in a timely 
manner.

 Meet Best Value Statutory Guidance regarding the way local authorities should 
work with Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) organisations and small 
businesses when facing difficult funding decisions. 

 Consult and engage with the VCS. 
 Ensure the Council complies with all other legal duties to consult.  

3.2 While the Council is not required under statute to produce or publish Equality 
Impact Assessment (EIA) forms specifically, a local decision has previously been 
taken to continue to use EIA forms.  Equality impacts are considered by officers and 
elected members as part of the development of the budget proposals, with 
assessments recorded through an EIA form. The forms can then assist members of 
the public and other interested parties to view potential equality impacts. This will 
show where a disproportionate impact has been identified, or where an impact 
affects a number of people or particularly vulnerable groups.  Mitigations will have 
also been considered, and where these have been possible, they have also been 

Page 191



captured on the EIA forms. 

3.3 Case law has confirmed that in order to fulfil the duty under S149 of the Equality Act 
2010, elected members need to have considered equality impacts and given due 
regard to the three aims of the Equality Duty as part of their decision making 
processes. 

3.4 EIA forms outlining identified equality impacts on the new budget proposals agreed 
by the Executive at their meeting on 1 December 2020 are available on the 
Council’s web site at https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-
spending/budget-eias-2021-22/ . A summary of these is also provided in Annex 1 to 
this document. Feedback from the consultation where respondents have identified a 
possible negative equality impact related to a proposal is also provided in Annex 1.  

3.5 Following a review and assessment of the consultation feedback, EIA forms will be 
updated then republished at the same time as the papers for the Executive meeting 
to be held on 16 February 2021.

 

4 Cumulative Equality Impacts on the 2021-22 Budget Proposals 

The budget proposals have been prepared to support delivery against the Council 
Plan and Equality Plan priorities that were approved by Council in December. A 
major thrust of the Council Plan is to support the District and its people through the 
COVID-19 pandemic and to support the District’s recovery. As such measures 
within the budget proposals aim to support our vulnerable and disadvantaged 
residents whilst supporting the District as a whole.  The proposals also contribute to 
fulfilling our equality duties to:

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it; (for instance through our 
proposals for education, skills, etc.) and 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
people who do not share it. (for instance though our proposals for culture, 
stronger communities etc.)

As the budget proposals are for investment no significant cumulative negative 
impacts have been identified across the proposals. This assessment is based on 
the draft budget proposals presented to Executive in December. All EIA forms will 
be updated where required and republished on the Council’s website at the same 
time as the papers for the Executive meeting to be held on 16 February 2021. This 
will include an overall assessment of equality impact of the final Budget proposals.

Table showing the total level of impacts across each protected characteristic 

Page 192

https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/budget-eias-2021-22/
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/budget-eias-2021-22/


group from proposals presented to Executive in December. 
 

Impact LevelsProtected 
Characteristic High Medium Low TOTAL
Age 0 1 3 4
Disability 0 1 1 2
Gender reassignment 0 0 1 1
Race 0 0 1 1
Religion/belief 0 0 1 1
Pregnancy/Maternity 0 0 1 1
Sexual Orientation 0 0 1 1
Sex 0 0 2 2
Marriage & Civil 
Partnership

0
0 1 1

Low Income/Low Wage 1 0 3 4

However, whilst no significant cumulative negative impacts result directly from these 
proposals we know that COVID-19 has had a disproportionate impact both on the 
District as a whole and specific groups within it. 

5 Consultation Process

5.1 The consultation provided the people, partners and businesses of the district along 
with Council staff and their Trades Unions with opportunities to provide their views 
on the budget proposals, to help shape and inform
final decisions. The budget consultation sought comments on proposals for the 
financial year 2021/2022.

5.2 The consultation was open from 1 December 2020 to 15 January 2021. The
consultation comprised of a survey enabling individuals and organisations to
comment on the proposals of their choosing. Online meetings to receive feedback 
were offered to all partners and a number of online open public consultation events 
were also offered.  However, there was no take-up of the public online events. 

5.3 The public and others responding to the consultation could provide their responses 
online or by writing to the Council using a freepost address. The Council’s website, 
press releases, social media (Twitter and Facebook), direct email to partners and 
organisations and the Council’s app were used to promote the consultation. The 
budget information was also provided in easier read and other accessible formats.  

5.4 The consultation has been promoted to: 

 Strategic partnerships and partnerships
 Partner organisations from across the district
 Parish and Town Councils
 Voluntary and Community Sector 
 Faith Groups

Page 193



 Business community – via Economic Recovery Board and the Chamber
 Organisations that advocate or represent specific groups or communities

5.5 Meetings with partners and other groups have taken place with:
  

 District Strategic Co-ordination Group 
 Bradford District VCS Assembly Steering Group
 Covid Youth Ambassadors
 Bradford, Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven CCG
 Anti-Poverty Co-ordination Group
 Economic Recovery Board
 Health and Wellbeing Board Equalities Group
 Equity Partnership Trustees
 Council Staff Directed Networks leads
 Local Council Liaison Group
 Bradford Talking Media work groups
 Trades Unions

Additional groups and partnerships, such as the Stronger Communities Partnership, 
have directly requested representatives to provide feedback. 

Some additional feedback is expected through the Covid Youth Ambassadors and 
the Looked After Children engagement. This has been delayed due to specific work 
taking place around COVID-19. If this becomes available in time, it will be 
presented to the Executive meeting of the 16 February 2021. 

5.6 The Appendix provides the consultation feedback on the budget proposals and 
feedback on their equality impacts for Executive’s consideration when considering 
the recommendations to make to the Council on budget proposals for 2021-2022.

6 Consultation – Responses and feedback received

6.1 At the close of the consultation on the 15 January 2021, the Council had received 
75 responses through its online survey, and 20 responses to Council social media 
posts. In total this had generated 77 comments to the budget proposals and a 
further 20 comments not related to the proposals 

6.2 Paper copies of completed survey were not submitted. 

6.3 The consultation also received six email responses related to the proposals and 
other issues, one from a member of the public, one from a not-for-profit organisation 
interested in one of the proposals, a further being a formal response from Bradford, 
Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven CCG and one from the Bradford Hindu Council. 
Bradford Talking Media also emailed feedback from their work groups to the 
consultation proposals.  
 

6.4 In addition, the following organisations provided feedback via consultation 
meetings: 

 District Strategic Co-ordination Group 

Page 194



 Bradford District VCS Assembly Steering Group
 Covid Youth Ambassadors
 Bradford, Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven CCG
 Equity Partnership Trustees
 Council Staff Directed Networks leads
 Local Council Liaison Group

6.5 The number of comments received through responses to the survey, social media 
and emails and through the partner and focus groups for each of the proposals was 
as follows: 

Ref Proposal
Survey/
Social 
media

Partner
Focus 

Groups
Total

Increase in Council Tax by 1.99% 48 1 49
Social care precept 1 1 2

CHR8.3 Skills House - Investment 0 2 2
CHR8.1 Children’s Services demand pressures & improvement 1 1 2
PR8.1 Waste Services demand & lower recycling income 4 2 6
CR8.1 Learning & Development and equalities 3 3 6
HWR8.1 Adults Commissioning Team expansion 2 1 3
PR8.2 Stronger Communities Team 2 2 4

Adult Social Care demographic growth to meet demand 
pressures
arising from population growth.

0 1 1

PR8.3 Culture investment 15 3 18
PR8.4 Housing First 1 1 2
CXR8.1 Safeguarding Pressure 0 1 1
CRR8.6 Continuing support for Community Asset Transfers 2 1 3
CHNR8.
1 Raising Attainment in schools 0 1 1

6X1

Welfare Advice & Customer Service
Fundamental change to the way the Council and its partners 
deliver customer facing Services, focussed on customers 
getting the ‘right support at the right time’.
Delay the full implementation of the £844k approved 
saving to 2022-23 as these services are critical to the on-
going response to Covid and continue to review their 
approach to delivery.

2 2 4

5E2.
Youth Services Saving
Delay the  £513k saving to 2022/23 at a cost of £513k as 
response to Covid has been critical 

5 3 8

PCS1

BACES
Additional Investment in Bradford & Airedale Community 
Equipment Service (BACES) is required beyond the currently 
approved funding period. The capital budget is an essential 
part of the BACES requirement for small and minor adaptations 
to people’s homes that are not Disabled Facilities Grant eligible 
or for larger items of equipment such as Stair lifts and Hoists. It 
is intended that there will be a future requirement of £350k for 
Learning Disability service users and £400k for more general 
BACES capital items.

1 1 2

PCS2
Great Places to Grow Old – Saltaire Residential Care Home
The Scheme is already in the CIP for the construction of a new 
50 bed short stay residential home on the site of Neville 

1 1 2

Page 195



Grange in Saltaire.

PCS4

Core IT Infrastructure
This is for SAP developments and the Digital Strategy capital 
innovation fund.  It will be funded by £0.4m already in the 20-
21 Programme, £0.2m revenue contribution and the remainder 
corporate borrowing.  

0 1 1

PCS5

SEND Expansion
This is the estimate of the additional budget need above 
current Basic Needs Grant. It would be funded by corporate 
borrowing and be used to complete SEND expansion in 
mainstream schools and SEN schools.

2 1 3

PCS6

IT Processes and Systems – End to End Review
A planned programme of work to systems and processes. The 
improvements to the systems are designed to promote better 
practice including facilitating improvements in the quality of 
analysis and the extent to which the child’s lived experience is 
captured. This in turn will contribute to enhanced planning and 
review, helping us to ensure that progress towards clear 
targets is monitored.

1 0 1

PCS7

Laptops for Children
Investment programme for raising attainment across the 
District. It includes continuing to invest capital funding in Digital 
Inclusion for Disadvantaged Children & Young People by 
investing in an infrastructure to support the programme.

2 3 5

Total 93 33 126

6.6 Consultation – Feedback on Proposals 

Support for the Council budget proposals 

District Strategic Co-ordination Group were supportive across all of the 
proposals. Whilst not providing feedback on specific proposals they welcomed 
that the Council intended to invest in the area and the proposed specific support 
in key areas. They also welcomed that there were no cuts planned to services. 

Bradford Talking Media work groups, provided feedback on specific proposals and 
were also supportive of the proposals and agreed that the Council needed to spend 
money on people and businesses that have been affected because of coronavirus.

Partners and focus groups were generally supportive of the proposals and made 
comments against specific proposals.  

Trade Union feedback

Trades Unions provided the feedback below following the Council’s consultation 
meetings with them through OJC Level 1. 

“The Joint Trades Unions recognise the difficulties facing the authority at the 
present time. We will continue to fully support our members in respect of any 
workplace issues they have. We note and appreciate that no Section 188 notice 
was issued and applaud the move to withdrawer the necessity for compulsory 
redundancies. As always we continue to work within the existing Industrial relations 

Page 196



framework to mitigate outstanding budget decisions.  and look forward to 
comprehensive and meaningful consultation through this difficult and challenging 
time”.  

Headlines from the feedback received 

The following provides some of the headline feedback made on the specific budget 
proposals.  These comments have come through the online questionnaire, social 
media, direct emails, and from online meetings with partners and focus groups.

Increase in Council Tax by 1.99%
Whilst there was support and understanding from a minority of respondents and some 
partners for this proposed raise, most of the comments were in regard to people’s ability to 
pay due to low income and the impacts of COVID-19 on families’ finances.  Suggestions 
were made to alleviate the burden on residents 

Culture investment PR8.3
There were mixed views expressed about this proposal with some respondents stating it 
wasn’t a priority and others seeking more funding to support what they see as being a vital 
sector for the district. Partners who considered this proposal were supportive. 

Youth Services Saving 5E2
Respondents to the online survey expressed support and suggested the proposed cut 
should be removed and more funding was needed as need will increase further post 
pandemic. Equity Partnership Trustees and the Youth Covid Ambassadors also welcomed 
the deferral of the cut and sought to have it removed completely. Equity also considered 
the Service to be key to safe guarding LGBTQ+ young people. Bradford, Airedale and 
Wharfedale CCG were supportive of the proposal. 

A summary of all responses is contained in Annex 1 - Consultation feedback and 
suggestions against the budget proposals and equality impacts of those 
proposals to this appendix.

 
7 Background documents 

Report to Executive on 1 December 2020: Proposed Financial Plan 2021-22 
https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=7340&Ver=4 

Equality Impacts for Budget Proposals 2021-22
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/budget-eias-
2021-22/

Page 197

https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=7340&Ver=4
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/budget-eias-2021-22/
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/budget-eias-2021-22/


Annex 1 –Consultation feedback and suggestions against the budget proposals and equality impacts of those 
proposals

All proposals are included in the tables below.  Where feedback has not been received for a proposal, this has been stated

Proposed revenue strategy 2021-22

As published December 2020Ref Proposal for 
change Equalities Impact Mitigation

Consultation feedback about the 
proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Increase in Council 
Tax 1.99%

Use of the funds raised 
through this proposal 
may have a positive 
impact on people who 
share a protected 
characteristic – as 
reflected in the report to 
Council Executive of 1 
December 2020 - 
Proposed Financial Plan 
and Budget proposals 
for 2021/22. 

Raising the amount of 
Council Tax payable on 
properties could have a 
disproportionate impact 
on people on low 
incomes.

Bradford is the 5th most 
income deprived local 
authority in England.

The Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme that 
provides between 70 and 
100% reduction for those 
eligible dependent on which 
criteria they meet – People 
on low income who are 
pensioners or working age 
can apply.

25% discount for single 
occupancy.

Exemption for care leavers 
up to age 21 and also 
disregarded for assessing 
number of adults in a 
property for Council Tax up 
to end of year when care 
leaver reaches age 25. 

Other discounts are 
available based on a range 

Forty-seven of those responding via 
the online survey or to Council social 
media posts commented on this 
proposal. 

All, but one, respondents were concerned 
about the impact of the proposed raise in 
Council Tax, some suggested ways the 
impact on families and on individuals’ 
finances could be offset. 

Of these, 22 two concerns were raised 
about residents not being able to afford to 
pay the proposed increase in Council Tax 
with low income, people being made 
redundant, people on furlough and unsure 
of their futures and businesses failing due 
the impacts of COVID-19 being cited most 
often. That the increase would be a further 
hardship on those struggling. 

Others were concerned about the impact 

Equality impact feedback

Respondents commented that 
there could be negative 
impacts from this policy on the 
following people:

 At risk of redundancy, 
 On furlough, 
 The unemployed 
 Those on low income
 Some pensioners on low 

income
 Those above with families 

to support
 Children in families who 

are on low income or in 
families where income has 
been reduced due to 
COVID-19 

Suggested changes from 

P
age 198



Proposed revenue strategy 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about the 
proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

of personal circumstances, 
such as reductions in the 
Council Tax payable on 
properties adapted to meet 
the needs of a disabled 
resident. 

the increase would have on their own 
families’ finances and that they were 
struggling to pay already. That yearly 
pension increase goes on the Council Tax. 

Some expressed the view that Keighley 
would not benefit from the proposal.

Other views expressed included reference 
to Council reserves, that the rise was year 
on year, issue was about collection rates. 

One respondent supported the proposal 
stating that the Council would not be able to 
do its work without the raise, that the 
Council had kept people well informed and 
provided great value during the pandemic.

Partners and focus groups feedback
Bradford VCS Assembly Steering Group 
expressed surprise at the level of increase 
and wanted the Council to consider further 
support to offset this increase for families in 
poverty and those affected by COVID-19 
(even those who would normally be 
considered as being better off). 

Bradford Talking Media Work Groups were 
concerned about the proposed rise in 

consultees to the 
proposals:

 Reduce or impose no or 
only a 1% increase in the 
Council Tax and the Social 
Care Precept or delay the 
increase for a year and 
collect all CT due. 

 Put more support into 
helping those who can’t 
afford to pay

 Target a support 
package at the poorest 
in the District.

 Increase efficiency in the 
Council and cut costs by 
imposing pay freezes, cuts 
to pay and allowance, 
reducing number of 
elected members, stop 
making cycle lanes and 
charge cyclists for their 
use.   

 Spend money across 
the district fairly and 
spend every penny in 
the District

 Apply a personal 

P
age 199



Proposed revenue strategy 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about the 
proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

Council Tax. Some people thought it was 
unfair as many people had lost their jobs 
and businesses due to COVID-19. However, 
one person thought it was fair that Council 
Tax would go up. As long as the money is 
spent well.
 

charge against all 
adults instead of the 
Council Tax

 Review Council Tax 
Bandings. 

Social Care Precept 
3%

This funding will support 
the continuation of 
social care services. 

Applying a Social Care 
precept on properties 
could have a 
disproportionate impact 
on people on low 
incomes

Bradford is the 5th most 

As above for proposal to 
increase Council Tax. 

One of those responding via the online 
survey directly commented on this 
proposal. Others commenting about the 
proposed Council Tax increase also 
mentioned the Social Care Precept or 
referred to the proposed ‘4.9 or 5%’ 
increase. 

Concern raised was about residents’ ability 
to pay especially mid-pandemic. Mention 
was also made to the expected increase in 
other levies too – such as parish council, 

Equality Feedback:

Respondents commented that 
there could be negative 
impacts from this policy on the 
following people:

 Those on low income and 
those whose finances had 
been impacted by COVID-19

Most people commenting on 

P
age 200



Proposed revenue strategy 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about the 
proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

income deprived local 
authority in England.

police. 

In addition, a comment was made that many 
won’t be able to afford the rise and won’t be 
able to get help in paying it. 

the proposed Council Tax 
Increase either mentioned or 
referred to the levy of the 
Social Care Precept, equality 
impacts identified in relation to 
the Council Tax proposal 
should also be considered in 
relation to this proposal. 

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals:

 No or only a 1% increase 

Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

As published December 2020Ref Proposal for 
change Equalities Impact Mitigation

Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

P
age 201



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

CHR8.1 Children’s Services 
demand pressures 
& improvement 

The additional resource 
will provide capacity to 
implement and sustain 
required improvements 
as part of our Ofsted 
improvement journey at 
a good pace; enable us 
to reduce staff turnover; 
ensure we have 
sufficient placement 
capacity to cope with the 
rising numbers of 
children in care; and 
support healthier and 
safer working cultures 
and environments to 
improve our quality of 
practice with more 
manageable workloads.

N/A No direct comments were received 
from those responding to the online 
survey or Council social media 
posts but two indirect comments 
were received in relation to other 
proposals.

One noted that Children’s Services 
were drastically impacted by previous 
cuts. The respondent wanted more 
details about the proposal. 

Partner and Focus Group feedback

Formal response from Bradford, 
Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven CCG

We welcome this allocation to 
children’s services. The CCG would 
welcome a discussion to consider how 
we address the following system 
challenges to increase timely access, 
enhanced quality and improved safety 
for our local service users:

1. Service related pressures placed 
on the health and care system by a 
disproportionate increase in the 
number of children looked after. 

No equality feedback was 
received

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals:

 Sell assets to raise funds 
needed. 

P
age 202



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

The CCG is particularly concerned 
about the safety and timeliness of 
services provided to these children 
and young people and is keen to 
explore how we ‘act as one’ to 
remedy this;

2. Children’s autism; developing a 
shared system solution to the 
lengthy waits that children 
currently experience regarding 
diagnostic and assessment

3. Education health and care plans 
(EHCP); addressing jointly, the 
quality and therapy issues that 
impact on children who require a 
EHCP.

CHR8.3 Skills House - 
Investment 

The intention of the 
scaling up of Skills 
House is to have positive 
impact on all people in 
the district and enhance 
equality of opportunity.  
However, to ensure this 
is successful continued 
equality assessments 
and judgements will 
need to be made.

A commitment has been 
made to provide a set of 
interventions to meet 
underlying local need.  From 
an equality perspective this 
includes people on low pay 
and facing social 
inequalities. It is also 
intended to build capacity of 
deprived communities and 
residents to be better able to 
access employment 

No feedback received from the online 
survey or to Council social media posts 

Partners and focus groups 
feedback

Bradford VCS Assembly Steering 
Group said that VCS and Council work 
in partnership to support skills and 
employability across the District. 
However, nothing in the budget papers 
to suggest how much allocation will be 

Equality feedback 

 LGBTQ+ young people 
may need more support in 
accessing employment 
support and employment 

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals:
 Ensure specific support is 

P
age 203



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

The programme’s 
intentions are to create a 
more diverse workforce 
(by age, geography, 
ethnicity and disability) 
which is better equipped 
to deliver on current and 
future economic 
demands, with greater 
resilience.  Skills House 
has the potential to be 
the enabler for system-
wide alignment and 
transformation to 
address poverty, social 
exclusion and inequality 
whilst also meeting the 
future workforce 
requirements of 
employers.  

This will be particularly 
necessary as a 
consequence of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 
The people most likely to 
hold vulnerable jobs and 
therefore be affected by 
a COVID-19 related 

opportunities and training to 
secure sustainable 
employment and careers.

It is also the intention of the 
wider programme of work to 
ensure there are suitable 
jobs (and terms and 
conditions) to meet the 
diversity of people in the 
district who are or will be 
seeking work.  That could be 
on-job training opportunities, 
flexible working hours, 
acceptance of cultural needs 
(clothing, prayer times), so 
as not to inadvertently 
exclude certain protected 
characteristic groups. 

To ensure suitable and 
sustained employment of a 
diverse range of people the 
programme will: 

 Have a focus on voluntary 
engagement to sustain 
clients’ engagement and 
commitment, though there 

used to support this partnership work. 
Also, do not want to see competition 
created around this in the (VCS) 
sector.
 
Would like to check what will be going 
to the VCS sector from this allocation?  
How the allocation will create capacity 
and reassurance that this won’t create 
competition?

Equity Partnership Trustees were 
concerned about youth unemployment 
during and following the pandemic. 
They fed back that some young people 
from the LGBTQ+ community in 
particular, may need tailored and 
targeted support to help build their 
confidence to seek and obtain 
employment support and jobs. Equity 
also said that they would be keen to 
work in partnership with the Council on 
this. 

in place to support groups 
with specific needs 

 Offer apprenticeships in 
areas/settings  aimed at 
people, and young people, 
from specific under 
represented identities or 
from specific 
underrepresented groups 

P
age 204



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

recession are: 

 People on low-wages 
and with low skills 
(Low income/low 
wage)

 Women (sex) 
 Young people (age) 

The ambition is to 
support the district as a 
whole, however certain 
support schemes/ 
activities may 
inadvertently only 
positively impact certain 
protected characteristic 
groups. For example, 
some of our programmes 
are likely to involve 
digital support, which will 
disproportionally impact 
on people who might 
have reduced access 
and capabilities with 
digital platforms and 
equipment – older 
people, disabled people 
and those on low 

might be targeted 
promotion of certain 
groups if needed.

 Ensure a seamless 
service to clients that meet 
their needs.

 Have an in-depth upfront 
assessment to understand 
the real barriers to work, 
which might include health 
issues or other sensitive 
personal circumstances.

 Use the assessment to 
develop a personalised 
journey into sustained 
work.  

 Make a good match with 
employment opportunities 
so that the work and its 
conditions are appropriate 
for the clients physical and 
learning disabilities and 
mental health, and a focus 
of the quality of work.

 Sustained support in work 
to ensure retention and 
career progression.

 Offer sector specific 
training and skills 

P
age 205



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

income. 

Disabled people are in 
some cases going to 
need more intensive or 
bespoke support, 
thereby making them 
less likely to progress.  
This will have an impact 
on the capacity available 
within Skills House and 
would need to be 
considered. 

development.
 Have opportunities from 

entry level to graduate 
level. 

Each SkillsHouse ‘support 
scheme’ will need to be 
assessed for who is 
accessing it and 
consequently being 
supported through to training 
and/or employment.  Should 
particular protected 
characteristic groups be 
identified as having 
proportionally low take up, 
then the schemes will either 
need to be changed, or 
additional ones set up to 
target those groups of 
people especially. 

This EIA will therefore be 
updated once the detail of 
those individual support 
schemes is known, and then 
regularly reviewed to 
support progress with 
developing the SkillsHouse 

P
age 206



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

offer. 

There is also system wide 
support to reach all our 
communities with community 
outreach capacity being 
available from all partners 
involved - Bradford Council, 
Bradford College, Shipley 
College, Keighley College, 
University of Bradford, 
Department of Work and 
Pensions, National Careers 
Service, West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority, 
Connexions, Incommunities, 
Cellar Trust.

PR8.1 Waste Services 
demand & lower 
recycling income

The proposal will have a 
positive impact on all 
residents of Bradford by 
allowing service 
continuation and 
improvements. By 
removing waste and 
keeping community 
areas clean, this may 
have additional benefits 
of removing potential for 

N/A Two respondents to the online 
survey commented on this proposal

Comments were made that the budget 
wasn’t enough as there is litter all over 
the District and that it was unclear how 
the funding would be used to reduce 
costs – if to fund incinerator projects, 
one respondent would be against the 
proposal

No equality feedback was 
received

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals:

 Measures to green Bradford 
City centre and Keighley 
town centre such as by 

P
age 207



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

harassment/victimisation 
due to the visible waste 
building up.

Two other comments were that streets 
should be cleaned regularly and that 
street cleaning had rarely been seen.  

Partner and Focus Groups feedback

Bradford Talking Media Work Groups 
fed back that as that services had not 
been so good during the pandemic 
such as bin collections etc. they 
agreed that money should be spent on 
them. Some in the Group said that 
having clean cities and towns was 
really important. Groups felt that as 
Keighley and Bradford City centre were 
dirty with lots of shops closing down 
the Council could make them greener 
by planting trees.  

At the Local Council Liaison Group, 
a local Parish Councillor welcomed 
the investment and commented that 
areas need regular cleaning to 
support local people and also 
tourism.

Email and letters 

A local parish councillor who over all 

planting trees and other 
measures

 Survey streetscape and 
assess resource needed to 
keep it clean and in repair 

P
age 208



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

supported the budget proposals, said 
that more should be done to keep he 
district clean, maintain the highways 
and grass verges and the public realm 
generally as it would improve the 
overall image and encourage more 
people to live, work, play, visit and do 
business here. This would also support 
active travel such as walking and 
cycling. 

.
  

CR8.1 Learning & 
Development and 
equalities

The Workforce 
Development Strategy 
and the Equality Plan 
identify a number of 
areas where the Council 
needs to take action to 
ensure that all people 
across all protected 
characteristics have a 
fair opportunity to: apply 
for jobs with the Council, 
be recruited to Council 
jobs, have training and 
promotional opportunities 

N/A Three comments were received via 
the online survey and in response to 
social media posts

This proposal appears to have caused 
some confusion in what it intended to 
achieve with a comment submitted that 
the amount is a lot if for advertising 

A further comment also gave evidence 
of this confusion with a respondent 
stating that the amount proposed won’t 
be enough to catch-up on education 
attainment. 

Equality impact feedback 

 Children - the respondent 
linking this proposal to 
education commented that it 
would have a negative impact 
on children as not enough 
was being spent.

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals

P
age 209



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

in line with their needs 
and abilities. That 
services are appropriate 
to meet the needs of 
residents, that all 
residents have fair 
access to services to 
support them, that they 
are able to use their 
voice to influence 
decisions, have a safe 
environment in which to 
live, learn, work, play 
and grow no matter who 
they are, what their 
background is or where 
they live in the District.

A number of actions 
within the Workforce 
Development Strategy 
and the Equality Plan 
aim to support people 
and communities to 
understand and respect 
people from cultures, 
backgrounds and with 
different protected 
characteristics to 

A final comment was a question as to 
why the council ‘seems to recruit staff 
in its own image?’ 

Partners and focus groups 
feedback

Bradford VCS Assembly Steering 
Group fed back that the Council also 
needs to be transparent about how 
things will be measured against the 
equality agenda and that dedicated 
Council equality staff resource was 
needed in this area.  

They also commented that many 
communities are labelled as ‘white’ 
masking their needs. A radical shift in 
how data is collected is required as it’s 
not nuanced enough except perhaps in 
regards to South Asian communities. 
Danger is that for others we don’t have 
the same level of data and therefore 
don’t assess needs. 

They suggested that the Anti-Poverty 
Co-ordination Group needs resourcing 
as do good work and are needed. 

 Fund the Anti-Poverty Co-
ordination Group to do more 
work to reduce inequalities

 Equality Impact Assessment 
to be used to reduce gaps 
and impacts on new 
communities

 Improve data capture to 
enable evidence of need to 
be identified for smaller, 
newer and ‘hidden’ groups

 Develop a community 
engagement strategy

P
age 210



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

themselves. There are 
also actions to address 
inequality of opportunity 
in terms of employment, 
training and promotion 
and access to services 
and support experienced 
by people who share 
specific protected 
characteristics and the 
local characteristic of 
‘low income’.

Equality Impact Assessments need to 
focus on not widening the gap and on 
assessing the impacts on new 
communities.  Also need to look at 
‘Community Assessment’. All funding 
to support the agenda has been short 
term which creates problems. They 
also mentioned a need for a 
Community Engagement Strategy.

The Council’s Staff Self-directed 
Network Leads Group suggested a 
dedicated equality staff resource is 
needed to support the equalities work. 

Formal response from Bradford, 
Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven CCG

The CCG supports this investment as 
workforce is at the heart of our shared 
success as a system. It would be 
helpful to have a discussion to 
consider how we can work together to 
understand how this additional 
investment helps contribute to system 
priorities for developing our workforce 
to best improve outcomes for our 
population.

P
age 211



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

CR8.2 IT requirements to 
support Children’s 
Services

The proposal and 
Programmes of work will 
advance equality as all 
those individuals 
requirements with a 
protected characteristic 
will be considered as 
part of any deployment 
process.   For example, 
an individual may have a 
disability – sight 
impairment which would 
require a larger size 
laptop or specific 
software.

It maybe that individuals 
who are of the Age 
Protected Characteristic 
will have a 
disproportionate impact.

Training guidance via IT 
Services Fundamentals 
Toolkits on Bradnet are 
available. 

Additional support would 
also be provided by 
individual’s line managers 
and the Children’s 
Workforce Development as 
required.   There are also 
Evolve training courses 
available to provide support 
and user guides will be 
supplied as part of any 
software changes which 
take place in Children’s 
Services.   The training 
issues for the changes in the 
Children’s IT End to End 
Programme and the Modern 
Workplace Programme will 
consider these as part of 
their EIA.   Employee Health 
and Wellbeing would also 
provide support where 
appropriate.   

No feedback received No equality feedback was 
received 

No suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals were received

P
age 212



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

There is also the additional 
option for colleagues to 
apply under the 
Apprenticeship Levy to 
undertake qualifications 
which may include IT 
courses.

CR8.3 SEND Transport 
Demographic 
Growth

Children who will benefit 
from the proposal share 
a protected characteristic 
under the Equality Act 
2010. The proposal will 
ensure that the Council 
is able to fulfil its 
statutory duty under the 
Act. 

The proposal benefits 
parents of children with 
special educational 
needs, a disability or 
mobility problems and 
facilitates their 
attendance at schools.

N/A No one responding via the online 
survey or to a Council social 
media post directly commented 
on this proposal but a comment 
was made about this proposal in 
connection to Council Tax as 
follows:

Is there a crisis in SEND in Bradford?

No equality feedback was 
received

No suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals were received

HWR8.1 Adults 
Commissioning 

Delivering an effective 
and high quality 

N/A One respondent to the online No equality feedback was 

P
age 213



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

Team expansion commissioning, contracts 
and quality function will 
ensure well designed 
and coproduced adult 
social care services for 
people with social care 
needs.

Social inclusion 
outcomes and 
addressing inequalities 
are considered a high 
priority in adult social 
care commissioning.

High quality and effective 
commissioning and 
contract and quality 
management supports 
delivery of services that 
meet individual needs 
and facilitates and 
sustains a vibrate social 
care market that offers 
choice and control to 
individuals. 

survey commented on this 
proposal (but the comment relates to 
proposal 6X1) 

The comment was about previous cuts 
to the welfare rights services and 
suggested funding was re-instated due 
the pandemic and some people’s 
worsening situations. 

Partner and Focus Groups 
feedback

Formal response from Bradford, 
Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven CCG

This investment is timely and well 
needed. The CCG is committed to 
working closely with the adult social 
care to ensure that we can augment 
our joint commissioning arrangements 
and move towards an integrated model 
of commissioning.

received (for this proposal) 

No suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals (received for this 
proposal) P

age 214



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

PR8.2 Stronger 
Communities Team 

The proposals within the 
strategy and delivery 
plan will make a positive 
contribution and impact 
on many protected 
characteristic groups. As 
a test and learn 
programme, the 
evaluation of the 
programme is already 
showing early signs of 
positive outcomes.  
There is no perceived 
detriment from 
undertaking any of the 
initiatives within the 
delivery plan.

Both the Government 
Green Paper and the 
engagement work 
undertaken locally 
recognise the importance 
of getting along in the 
District by increasing the 
size and diversity of 
social networks and 
bringing confidence and 
a sense of belonging. 

Review of the work being 
delivered is being effectively 
measured. Learning about 
what works, and equally 
important what doesn’t, will 
help to ensure that the 
District can take better 
informed investment 
decisions and target 
resources at those 
interventions that are likely 
to deliver the greatest 
benefits. This will be 
supported by a thorough 
communications and 
marketing plan, and an 
appointed marketing 
Executive and behaviour 
change marketing company 
and an internal Programme 
Monitoring and Evaluation 
group which will look to 
tackle any on-going risks 
and issues or negative 
impact on certain groups.

One of those responding via the 
online survey commented on 
this proposal

The respondent suggested that culture 
and stronger communities have the 
same goal and could be amalgamated 
to reduce costs. 

Partner and Focus Group 
feedback 

Equity Partnership Trustees were 
supportive and keen to learn how this 
would support bespoke community 
events – such as Bradford Pride?  

Formal response from Bradford, 
Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven CCG 
is that they are fully supportive of this 
proposal

Email and letters

Bradford Hindu Council would like to 
hear what would happen to the 
£250,000 from the Stronger 

No equality feedback was 
received 

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals 

 Amalgamate culture and 
stronger communities 

P
age 215



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

The local delivery plan 
places significant 
emphasis on bringing 
those furthest from the 
labour market into work. 
Proposals include 
indirect measures, such 
as better coordination 
and greater opportunity 
for learning English and 
more directly by 
engaging employers in 
changes to recruitment 
practice alongside work 
with the Department of 
Work and Pensions and 
Job Centre Plus.  It is 
intended to increase 
opportunities for people 
from different 
backgrounds to mix 
together, increase their 
mutual understanding 
and respect of each 
other by reducing 
misunderstandings and 
barriers through 
sustained interactions.

Communities Team if the government 
continues to fund this organisation, 
would they redirect the £250,000 or 
would that go back into the reserves. 

P
age 216



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

As an Integrated 
Communities Pilot area 
Bradford, and Bradford 
Council, will raise the 
profile of equality issues, 
and it has, amongst 
many of the protected 
characteristic groups 
during the course of the 
partnership with MHCLG. 
In particular, opportunity 
has been undertaken to 
review policies and 
procedures to determine 
whether they support 
integration and resource 
will be available to 
instigate change, where 
this is believed 
necessary or helpful. 
Raising the profile of the 
districts work on 
integration will raise 
awareness amongst staff 
and elected members 
through the events and 
activities that are 
contained in the delivery 
plan.  The proposal 

P
age 217



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

includes aspects of 
Feeling Safe as this can 
act as a barrier to 
people’s willingness to 
engage in activities that 
bring people together.  
The Delivery Plan 
intends to support 
campaigns to dispel and 
debunk myths as well as 
activities that encourage 
difficult conversations 
between different groups 
of people, challenging 
prejudices and 
stereotypes.

CRR8.4 Legal Services, to 
support children 
service demands

The proposal will support 
Children’s Social Care in 
ensuring the protection 
and welfare of children in 
Bradford.

N/A No feedback was received No equality feedback was 
received 

No suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals were received

P
age 218



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

Legal 
advice/representation will 
help support those 
children with a protected 
characteristic.

Adult Social Care 
demographic 
growth to meet 
demand pressures
arising from 
population growth.

The additional funding 
will enable the service to 
provide support to 
vulnerable people who 
share a protected 
characteristic to retain 
their independence 
within their own home (or 
supported living), while 
enabling them to 
continue to actively 
engage in their wider 
community. 

N/A No feedback was received 
through the online survey or to 
Council social media posts 

Partners and focus groups 
feedback

Bradford VCS Assembly Steering 
Group feedback was that additional 
investment is required after the impact 
on care homes of COVID-19, that care 
home providers are going out of 
business and that the Domiciliary care 
commission learn lessons from the last 
few months.  

They also said that they felt the VCS 
had performed well supporting the 
NHS yet there is nothing in the budget 
to strengthen the VCS sector?  

No equality feedback was 
received

No suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals were received

P
age 219



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

PR8.3 Culture investment The proposal will enable 
us to have more 
investment to be able to 
support pathways and 
projects that will lead to a 
more equitable cultural 
sector that is 
representative of our 
communities. 

It will help with ensuring 
more cultural 
representation enabling 
better understanding and 
education of the 
difference in cultures. 

N/A Twelve of those responding via 
the online survey or responding 
to Council social media posts 
either directly or indirectly 
commented on this proposal

There were comments in favour and 
against the proposal, some suggesting 
the funding proposed would not be 
enough to support the sector, that the 
proposal would help with the economic 
and COVID-19 recovery, others that it 
should not be a priority for spending, 
that it could be a waste if the bid is lost. 
Others were pleased to see the 
Council’s commitment to culture. 

Other comments were that this was an 
opportunity to invest in the City-wide 
cultural dynamic, that links could be 
made with business plans, that it 
offered an opportunity to nurture young 
people’s talent and creativity. Several 
suggested that the loss of the Events 
and Festivals budget would negatively 
impact the proposal. Some of those in 
favour of the proposal expressed views 
that culture and the arts were important 
to wellbeing, that Bradford had best 

No equality feedback was 
received 

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals 

 Join the budgets for culture 
and stronger communities to 
save money

 Increase the Cultural budget 
to allow for additional 
response funding and use 
reserves to support struggling 
cultural organisations

 Increase investment in 
museums, galleries and 
libraries, maintaining pre 
pandemic sites and opening 
times - especially for libraries  

 Re-instate, delete and 
prevent any saving to 
festivals/events 

 Secure ‘Levelling Up’ money 
or WYCA investment, to 
continue to invest in our 
cultural institutions

 Ensure ‘hidden gems’ such 

P
age 220



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

practice to share, that culture and arts 
would be vital for the future of our town 
and city centres, and that winning the 
bid would transform the District. 

Suggestions were also made that 
libraries, museums, and art galleries 
should also be invested in as part of 
the District’s cultural offer as they 
support well-being, especially to our 
vulnerable,  and are important in 
attracting visitors. 

Other comments covered a suggested 
amalgamation of the culture and 
stronger communities team, that the 
funding should be put into Youth 
Services or into Food Banks, 

The Chair of Saltaire Festival relayed 
their interest in seeing how the 
proposal might benefit the Saltaire 
Festival. 

Partners and focus groups 
feedback

Bradford VCS Assembly Steering 
Group questioned if this would be 

as Kala Sangam, South 
Square, Keighley Creative, 
the Peace Museum etc. are 
supported with their Capital 
redevelopment plans

 Secure funding from 
Government and Arts Council 
England 

 Cultural events to include live 
music and content from 
Eastern European 
Communities – and other 
minority communities and be 
staged in central places so all 
can take part.

 Events should include 
activities that young people 
can take part in such as 
dance

 Investment in Community 
centres used by communities 

 Put £80k to 125k into 
Breaking to fund 12 months’ 
activity 

P
age 221



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

enough to support the City of Culture 
bid?

Covid Youth Ambassadors fed back 
that cultural events should include live 
music and content from Eastern 
European Communities – and other 
minority communities and be staged in 
central places so all can take part. 

And should include activities that 
young people can take part in such as 
dance. 

They suggested that community 
centres used by communities should 
be invested in.

Equity Partnership Trustees were 
supportive and keen to learn how this 
would support bespoke community 
events – such as Bradford Pride?  

Emails and letters

Bradford Hindu Council asked to hear 
what additional support the £258k 
investment would cover from an Indian 
perspective? 

P
age 222



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

A local organisation that provides 
Breaking activities emailed that 
Breaking – urban street dance - has 
been confirmed as an Olympic sport 
for 2024, and a further £80-125k to the 
Culture investment would enable a 
year-long programme of ‘Breaking’ 
activity to be implemented across the 
District. 

A resident emailed to express their full 
support for the proposal. Expressing 
the importance of art and culture as a 
positive distraction and vital to people’s 
lives offering connection, celebration 
and elevation and support mental 
health issues and suggested that 
savings against events and festivals be 
removed. 

P
age 223



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

CRR8.5 Craft working 
review

EIA not required N/A No feedback was received No equality feedback was 
received

No suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals were received

PR8.4 Housing First In terms of advancing 
equality of opportunity. 
Housing First has a set 
of specific principles, 
meaning that good 
practice around equality 
and diversity in 
homelessness services 
will be promoted. 

All of the beneficiaries 
have a protected 
characteristic alongside 
multiple, complex 
support needs. Often 
marginalised, Housing 
First provides an 
overarching framework 
to deliver better 
homelessness and 
housing support services 

N/A One of those responding via the 
online survey commented on 
this proposal

The respondent asked the Council to 
exert pressure on Government to 
extend the ‘Everyone In’ funding and 
as considered it important to provide 
for homeless people. 

Partner and focus group feedback

Covid Youth Ambassadors wanted to 
see more support for young people 
who become homeless –which they 
said was increasing during pandemic -  
as young people need accommodation 
immediately not a week or two later

Equality feedback 
 Young people with 

safeguarding issues at 
greater risk of 
homelessness

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals 
 Pressure the government 

to extend the ‘Everyone in’ 
initiative

 Improve support and 
pathways to social housing 
for young people  

P
age 224



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

for all groups so that they 
have a better chance of 
being supported to 
sustain their tenancies 
and accessing specialist 
support.

The proposal aims to 
improve access to 
housing and support for 
those most in need, 
which could include 
those people who share 
a protected 
characteristic. Work to 
resolve people’s 
homelessness has the 
potential to eliminate 
discrimination and 
harassment as part of 
the process of providing 
solutions for vulnerable 
people.

CXR8.1 Safeguarding 
Pressure

EIA not required as 
funding to cover existing 
posts

No feedback was received from the 
online survey or to Council social 
media posts 

Partners and focus groups 

Equality Feedback

 Increase in demand 
unlikely to be met by 
this proposal leaving 

P
age 225



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

feedback

Bradford VCS Assembly Steering 
Group considered this to be a small 
proposed increase in the budget 
against the increase in demand in the 
area. 

They said that MARAC referrals had 
massively increased over the 
pandemic. Two full time workers were 
allocated to pick up the work. 

victims and survivors of 
domestic abuse in 
need of support. 

No suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals were received

CRR8.6 Continuing support 
for Community 
Asset Transfers 
(CATs)

There are no known or 
expected equality 
impacts arising from this 
project and, therefore, 
there will be no effect 
upon protected 
characteristic groups or 
the relationship between 
them.  

N/A Two of those responding via the 
online survey commented on 
this proposal

The Trustees of the Friends of Bingley 
Pool (FOBP) questioned whether, 
given the impact of COVID-19 this 
figure is adequate to meet the 
requirements of the consequential 
delays and asked if there is a priority 
list of CATs across the District? They 
also asked if the Council still intended 
to build the new pool on Squire Lane 
and about the budget to keep Bingley 
Pool open in the meantime.  

No equality feedback was 
received

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals:

 Use model Partnership 
agreement for CATs 
proposed by FOBP as 
would enable national 
funding to be raised

 Consider communities and 
places and not individual 

P
age 226



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

 
Partners and focus groups 
feedback

Bradford VCS Assembly Steering 
Group feedback that whilst this is on 
hold at the moment, the allocation is 
unlikely to support demand.

Need to support what is already in 
process. Also now need a review of all 
assets and buildings as so much time 
has passed. 

Most assets that come through need 
work and refurbishment for they can be 
used. Please don’t give us ‘duds’ – we 
want to work as partners.  

Also, can transition support (for those 
already in the process) be continued 
past March 2021
 

services when considering 
impacts of proposals

 The LA should prioritise the 
CATs and focus their 
funding and support on the 
ones where the local 
impact will be greatest.

 Provide transition support 
(for those already in the 
process) be continued past 
March 2021

HWR8.1 Financial Inclusion The proposal will further 
equality for opportunity 
as it will give an 
opportunity to further 
develop options on 

N/A No feedback was received No equality feedback was 
received 

No suggested changes 

P
age 227



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

financial inclusion for the 
diverse communities of 
Bradford district, in 
particular those on a low 
income.

It will provide increased 
access to bank accounts 
and affordable credit for 
people on a low income. 
This will, in turn, mean 
people who may face 
discrimination in being 
unable to open a bank 
account or access loans 
due to a poor credit 
rating will have an 
opportunity to do so and 
improve their credit 
score.

from consultees to the 
proposals were received

CRR8.7 Microsoft licences The proposal will provide 
equality of access to 
Council IT users to all 
the tools enabled by the 
new licence suite and 
provide additional 
support, functionality and 
tools for those with 

N/A No feedback was received No equality feedback was 
received 

No suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals were received

P
age 228



Proposed Recurring Investments for 2021-22

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and 

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

certain disabilities, over 
and above what would 
be provided through the 
current 
outdated/unsupported 
licences.

The licence will provide 
better enablement for 
some users with certain 
disabilities over and 
above that enabled by 
the current licence suite.

Proposed Non Recurring (Time limited) Investments for 2021-22 

As published December 2020Ref Proposal for 
change Equalities Impact Mitigation

Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

CHNR8.1 Raising Attainment 
in schools

Good educational 
outcomes for all our 

N/A Whilst no direct feedback was received 
in response to this proposal through 

P
age 229



Proposed Non Recurring (Time limited) Investments for 2021-22 

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

children is essential to 
boost opportunity for our 
disadvantaged groups.  
Success in education 
improves opportunities, 
brings society together 
and raises earning 
potential.  Through 
focussing on those 
elements in the provision 
of learning, through 
improvements in 
teaching and learning 
and through ensuring 
progress is tracked and 
improved for individual’s 
attainment outcomes will 
improve for relevant 
groups.

The proposal is expected 
to have a positive impact 
and help to eliminate 
discrimination as follows:

Through training for 
teachers and support 
staff they will 
communicate:

the online survey or social media posts 
feedback was made in relation to 
CR8.1 Learning & Development and 
Equalities has relevance here (albeit 
the funding figures for CR8.1 and 
CHNR8.1 are significantly different):  

The amount proposed (at CR8.1 - 
£1.25m) won’t be enough to catch-up 
on attainment as a problem will be 
getting children back into schools 
against a backdrop of COVID-19 
closures and existing high levels of 
truancy.

Partner and focus group feedback 

Covid Youth Ambassadors feedback 
that: ‘work spaces’ for students and 
pupils whose home circumstances 
might make it hard to study should be 
provide in public building otherwise it 
won’t matter having a laptop and 
dongle. 

Libraries should be open so students 
can study there too.

Education service consider use of l the 

No equality feedback was 
received

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals

 Provide work spaces for 
students/pupils in public 
buildings

 Open libraries
 Look at packages to help 

pupils catch up 
 Provide more social workers 
 Fund additional support for 

young carers
 Re-instate payments for 

university accommodation for 
Care Leavers. 

P
age 230



Proposed Non Recurring (Time limited) Investments for 2021-22 

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

high expectations of 
Black and Mixed 
ethnicity pupils, directly 
and frequently, in 
classroom, pastoral and 
disciplinary interactions; 
 draw on aspects of 
pupils’ identity related to 
race, ethnicity, 
nationality, culture and 
faith, in order to make 
them feel fully included 
and equally valued; 
 use appropriate 
teaching and learning 
strategies with EAL/WAL 
learners of Black, Mixed 
and other minority 
ethnicities; 

 

Through the Education 
based Emotional 
Wellbeing Practitioners 
Team social and 
educational inclusion will 
be promoted and hence 
equality of opportunity for 
children and young 

Up Learn education packages as 
provide all of the content needed to 
catch up for some courses. 

More social workers to support looked 
after children as need access to their 
social workers – especially at critical 
points such as around leaving school.

Fund additional support young carers 
during the pandemic.

P
age 231



Proposed Non Recurring (Time limited) Investments for 2021-22 

Ref Proposal for 
change

As published December 2020 Consultation feedback about 
the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and

Suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals

Equalities Impact Mitigation

people through enabling 
them to access 
education.  It will help 
promote good relations 
between children and 
young people with social 
emotional and mental 
health needs and their 
peers and adults who 
work in schools. 

As families from BAME 
heritage are more likely 
to be impacted by 
COVID-19, it is possible 
that this group will have 
greater access to the 
service.

New budget proposals for consultation 

Ref Proposal for change As published December 2020 Consultation feedback 
about the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts 
and

P
age 232



Equalities Impact Mitigation Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals

8CR1 Reduce added years 
pensions budget as 
saving already delivered

EIA not required N/A No feedback was received No equality feedback was 
received 

8CR2 Saving in Cash handling 
and transit as saving 
already delivered

EIA not required N/A No feedback was received No equality feedback was 
received 

8P1 Delete Vacant post - 
Programmes Delivery 
Officer  0.6 FTE

EIA not required N/A No feedback was received No equality feedback was 
received 

8P2 Fund contract manager 
post from European 
Structural Investment 
Programme 0.6FTE

EIA not required N/A No feedback was received No equality feedback was 
received 

8P3 Vacant post - delete 
vacant Housing 
Technician post

The Housing Operations 
Team based within the 
Economy and Development 
service is a statutory 
service responsible for 
inspecting property in order 
to ensure compliance with 
various housing and other 
legislation.  The service is 
largely reactive and 
particularly focuses on 
conditions in the private 
rented sector.

The Private Sector Stock 
Condition Survey 
undertaken for the Council 
in 2015 found that the 
private rented stock 
contains proportionately 
greater levels of properties 
in poor repair than other 
tenures with 26% of the 
stock having a Category 1 

Appropriate investment in 
officer capacity would 
enable the service to 
respond to service demands 
and undertake the 
necessary enforcement to 
ensure compliance with 
housing standards in a 
timely manner.

No feedback was received No equality feedback was 
received P

age 233



hazard with the highest 
concentrations of hazards 
being in some of the 
poorest wards, 
exacerbating and 
compounding poverty and 
health impacts.

Fuel poverty also affects 
28% of tenants in the 
private rented sector with 
over 11% of privately 
rented dwellings having an 
Energy Performance 
certificate rating below 
Band E.

Failing to improve housing 
conditions in the District will 
have a negative impact on 
those groups and 
individuals who suffer 
multiple disadvantages 
associated with poor quality 
and inadequate housing.

8P4 Fund post from HMO 
Licensing reserve and 
remove base budget

EIA not required N/A No feedback was received No equality feedback was 
received 

Amended prior year budget savings

Ref Proposal for change As published December 2020 Consultation feedback 
about the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts
and

Suggested changes from 

P
age 234



Equalities Impact Mitigation consultees to the 
proposals

4L1 Legal and Democratic 
Services – to reflect the 
reduced size and scope of 
the Council, reductions to 
Civic, Legal and 
Committee Services, 
including Overview and 
Scrutiny are proposed – 
Delete the saving as the 
work of the service has 
not reduced as expected

EIA not required N/A No feedback was received No equality feedback was 
received 

No suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals were received

4R14 Asset Management 
Saving -  "Seek to invest 
in non-operational property 
to generate surplus 
income" -  Defer the 
saving as the investment 
market is impacted by 
the current economical 
position created by 
COVID-19.

EIA not required N/A No feedback was received No equality feedback was 
received 

No suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals were received

4E8 Events and Festivals 
Saving - review to develop 
a more sustainable and 
balanced events 
programme – Delete 
saving as part of 
investment in City of 
Culture bid

The proposal supports the 
Culture Investment 
proposal, and overall it will 
assist in a wider range of 
people with different 
protected characteristics 
having access to cultural 
opportunities/experiences. 

N/A No direct feedback was 
received from the online 
survey or social media 
posts. However, feedback 
received in relation toaPR8.3 
is relevant here:

Comments were made that it 
was disappointing to see there 
had been a deletion in the 
Events and Festivals Fund as 
seen as key to supporting the 
investment in culture and that 
the saving be removed.

Partners and focus 
groups feedback
None received 

No equality feedback was 
received 

No suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals were received

P
age 235



  
5X1 5X1 - Reduce total cost of 

top management - the 
scope is the
senior management 
(Strategic and Assistant 
Directors) and
their PA structure – Delete 
saving as original  
proposal not valid

EIA not required N/A No direct feedback was 
received from the online 
survey or to social media 
posts but some suggestions 
made against the Council Tax 
proposal may be considered 
relevant to this proposal also.  

No equality feedback was 
received 

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals: See suggestions 
related to efficiencies against 
the proposal to raise Council 
Tax increase 

6X1 Welfare Advice & 
Customer Service - 
Fundamental change to the 
way the Council and its 
partners deliver customer 
facing Services, focussed 
on customers getting the 
‘right support at the right 
time’. - Delay the full 
implementation of the 
£844k approved saving 
to 2022-23 as these 
services are critical to 
the on-going response to 
COVID-19 and continue 
to review their approach 
to delivery

This proposal aims to 
maintain stability and 
continuity in a key sector at 
the time which it is most 
needed. It will advance and 
support a range of 
protected characteristic 
groups and also target 
households on low 
incomes. This allows 
families and individuals to 
maximise income through 
welfare benefits and other 
income support schemes, 
tackle personal debt, 
maintain their homes 
through landlord tenant 
advice, resolve immigration 
status and other issues all 
of which impact adversely 
on finance and more 
importantly individuals’ 
mental health. 

Having greater financial 
security and being free from 
the adverse mental health 
impacts that debt can incur 

N/A One of those responding via 
the online survey or to social 
media posts commented on 
this proposal

The respondent sought clarity 
about the budget. Citing that 
the document states £844000 
of cuts with £35000 put back 
for a year. They also posed a 
question about the plan 
regarding the welfare advice 
and customer services and the 
share of the cuts.  

Partners and focus 
groups feedback

Bradford VCS Assembly 
Steering Group said that whilst 
not cutting this year more 
needs to invested in this. The 
pandemic has made more 
families vulnerable in the 
district – those previously 
considered to be doing well, 
have also been impacted by 
the pandemic. 

Equality feedback

 Those on low incomes may 
not be able to access 
support 

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals:

 Invest and expand in 
provision to offset COVID-
19 impacts on individuals’ 
finances and increased 
need for support

 Continue funding beyond 
21/22

 Expand provision across the 
Sector

P
age 236



allows individuals and 
families to feel part of the 
wider community 

Concern that budget decisions 
made for short term but need is 
likely to grow. 

Need to expand the provision 
of welfare advice out across 
the sector again.

Formal response from 
Bradford, Airedale, Wharfedale 
and Craven CCG 

We recognise the 
indispensable role that welfare 
advice plays for some of our 
most disadvantaged 
communities. The CCG 
recommends that this funding 
is continued beyond 21/22 and 
is made recurrent.

5E2 Youth Services Saving – 
delay the  £513k saving 
to 2022/23 at a cost of 
£513k as response to 
COVID-19 has been 
critical 

The decision last year to 
defer this reduction enabled 
the Youth Service to be 
very responsive to 
emerging needs during the 
COVID-19 pandemic.   This 
included visiting care 
leavers who would 
otherwise not have had 
contact with a Council 
service, increasing street 
based detached work in 
response to COVID-19 and 
enabled the rapid 
development of digital 
support, Garden Gate visits 
to over a 1000 young 
people who were known to 
be particularly vulnerable.  

Post 2021/22, the Youth 
Service will attempt to raise 
external funds to continue 
the interventions the service 
currently undertakes.   

The Mental Health work 
currently is funded by 
Health and the plan will be 
to continue this.

Four of those responding via 
the online survey or to 
Council social media posts 
commented directly against 
this proposal, with a further 
indirect comment made 
against another proposal

Respondents supported the 
deferral of the saving to the 
budget, wanted the deferral to 
be permanent and suggested 
more investment was needed. 

Respondents also commented 
that more funding was needed 
for the Youth Service, that 
young people had suffered 
immensely through the 

Equality Impact Feedback 

 People who are young– if 
funding not secured

 People who are young and 
vulnerable

 people who are young with 
disabilities

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals:

 Put Culture investment into 
Youth Services 

 Stop any cut to Youth 
Services and invest in it 
heavily

P
age 237



This responsiveness was 
recognised by Public Health 
who made a further 
investment into the Covid 
Young Ambassadors 
project which has been 
active in the District’s 
response to the pandemic. 

The decision not to reduce 
Council base budget to 
Youth Services has also 
helped secure the 
continued support of Youth 
In Mind funding into the 
service which may have 
been withdrawn as the 
funding was for additional 
work.

The proposal means the 
Youth Service. That 
provides support to 13-19 
year-olds, will enjoy another 
year 2021-2 where it can be 
highly responsive to the 
COVID-19 crisis and also 
other emerging issues.

The service focuses on 
many of the most 
vulnerable young people 
and groups experiencing 
disadvantage.

The focus has ensured that 
for example Roma people 
have been engaged with 
during the pandemic.

pandemic, Youth workers and 
outreach was vital in engaging 
with disaffected youth, and that 
things will take time to 
normalise after COVID-19. 

Another respondent mentioned 
the Council’s legal duty in 
regards to provision stating 
that many young people, 
including those who are deaf, 
have no activities. That the 
pandemic had highlighted the 
adverse effect on physical and 
mental health.  

When pandemic restrictions 
are lifted, there will be 
Community Safety 
implications. 

A respondent suggested that 
the Council live up to its 
statement that children are at 
the heart of everything we do 
and remove future cuts to this 
budget and asked the Council 
to make its decisions based on 
Bradford being the youngest 
city

Partner and focus group 
feedback 

In line with comments from the 
online survey and in response 
to Council social media posts 
the Covid Youth Ambassadors 
fed back that: More youth 
service required not less, 
increase funding needed, and 

 Increase youth service 
 Remove the saving 

permanently
 Provide safe spaces for 

young people – especially 
during the pandemic 

 Read "Ten Steps to Mental 
Health", published by the 
Health Education Council. 
Implement it. It aligns 
closely with the Section 
507B legal duty.

 Council act as a broker to 
enable voluntary 
organisations to get ESFA 
funding (minimum contract 
too big for most at £500k) 
as would expand capacity

 Share Council staffs’ bid 
writing experience with the 
voluntary sector so they can 
win funding, expand and 
develop

 Volunteers could be used to 
increase the service

P
age 238



Maintaining funding means 
the Youth Service will be 
able to respond to 
emerging needs, continue 
preventative work such as 
around CSE, anti-social 
behaviour, community 
tensions, mental health, 
school holiday 
programmes. 

The proposed funding for 
2021-22 would defer the 
negative disproportionate 
impacts for a further year of 
the original decision made 
in 2018-19 to reduce the 
Youth Service base budget 
by £513k. 

the saving should be 
permanently removed. 

They also mentioned that safe 
spaces needed for young 
people to get away from 
difficult home situations, to 
enable them to get peer 
support and get help – 
especially during the pandemic

Equity Partnership Trustees 
welcomed the deferral of 
this saving, and sought to 
have it removed completely. 
They consider the service 
key to safe guarding young 
LGBTQ+ people. 

Formal response from 
Bradford, Airedale, Wharfedale 
and Craven CCG

The youth service plays an 
invaluable role in offering 
young people various sports, 
arts and cultural opportunities 
to take part in; the CCG 
recommends that this 
investment is continued 
beyond 21/22 as recurrent 
funding as it provides direct 
emotional wellbeing support to 
our local population. The need 
for such support post-COVID 
will be greater

P
age 239



Proposed capital investment plan

As published December 2020Ref Proposal for change
Equalities Impact Mitigation

Consultation feedback 
about the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts
and

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals:

PCS1 BACES
Additional Investment in 
Bradford & Airedale 
Community Equipment 
Service (BACES) is 
required beyond the 
currently approved 
funding period. The 
capital budget is an 
essential part of the 
BACES requirement for 
small and minor 
adaptations to people’s 
homes that are not 
Disabled Facilities Grant 
eligible or for larger items 
of equipment such as 
Stair lifts and Hoists. It is 
intended that there will be 
a future requirement of 
£350k for Learning 
Disability service users 
and £400k for more 
general BACES capital 
items.

The additional funding will 
enable the service to provide 
support to vulnerable people 
who share a protected 
characteristic to retain their 
independence within their 
own home (or supported 
living), while enabling them 
to continue to actively 
engage in their wider 
community. 

BACES provides a service 
based on equality of 
opportunity and clinical and 
social need. The proposal 
will continue to do so, the 
investment will also ensure 
the continuance of the 
service to meet the needs of 
its clients in a timely, 
effective and efficient 
manner. 

N/A No feedback received from 
the online survey or from 
Council social media 
posts

Partner and Focus Group 
feedback

Formal response from 
Bradford, Airedale, Wharfedale 
and Craven CCG 

Fully supportive but the CCG 
would welcome a system 
conversation in relation to the 
increasing demand for 
equipment for those individuals 
who are discharged from 
hospital or who require such 
support to remain at home.

PCS2 Great Places to Grow 
Old – Saltaire 
Residential Care Home

The Unit will provide a range 
of accessible services, 
opening broader options for 

N/A No feedback received from 
the online survey or from 
Council social media 

No equality feedback was 
received

P
age 240



Proposed capital investment plan

Ref Proposal for change As published December 2020 Consultation feedback 
about the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts
and

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals:

Equalities Impact Mitigation

The Scheme is already in 
the CIP for the 
construction of a new 50 
bed short stay residential 
home on the site of 
Neville Grange in Saltaire.

peoples’ on-going support.

The unit will provide 
accommodation, which is fit 
for purpose, that meets 
peoples assessed needs 
with: 

 All relevant protected 
characteristics being fully 
considered throughout the 
project development and 
implementation process.

 A consistent and 
coordinated approach and 
access to a range of 
services to promote 
independence. In turn, this 
will improve overall quality 
of support that individuals 
receive while also ensuring 
that there is a focus on 
wellness and recovery, and 
support for the individual to 
achieve their goals.

 A comprehensive learning 
and development 
programme building on 
existing good practice will 

posts

Partner and Focus Groups 
feedback

Formal response from 
Bradford, Airedale, Wharfedale 
and Craven CCG 

The CCG fully supports the 
vision that a new facility is 
needed that can integrate 
residential beds with a rehab 
wing. The CCG will work 
closely with adult social care to 
clarify demand and service 
needs of our population.

No suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals were received

 

P
age 241



Proposed capital investment plan

Ref Proposal for change As published December 2020 Consultation feedback 
about the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts
and

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals:

Equalities Impact Mitigation

be delivered to ensure staff 
are competent in all areas 
of quality and equality and 
are kind, helpful and 
provide support and 
encouragement.

 The provision of culturally 
sensitive support, as per 
individual requirements, 
and that the setting 
provides a welcoming 
environment to all.

 A robust performance 
management system will 
be able to demonstrate 
value for money, an 
equality service and an 
effective service.

PCS3 Marley Playing Field
Works to riverbank next to 
the playing field.

There are no known or 
expected equality impacts 
arising from this project and, 
therefore, there will be no 
effect upon protected 
characteristic groups or the 
relationship between them.  

N/A No feedback received from 
the online survey or in 
response to Council Social 
media post  but was 
mentioned as being the only 
leisure proposal in the capital 
programme in response to 
CRR8.6 CATs

No equality feedback was 
received

No suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals were received 

PCS4 Core IT Infrastructure
This is for SAP 

EIA not required No feedback received from the 
online survey

Equality feedback 
 Older people at greater risk 

P
age 242



Proposed capital investment plan

Ref Proposal for change As published December 2020 Consultation feedback 
about the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts
and

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals:

Equalities Impact Mitigation

developments and the 
Digital Strategy capital 
innovation fund.  It will be 
funded by £0.4m already 
in the 20-21 Programme, 
£0.2m revenue 
contribution and the 
remainder corporate 
borrowing.  

Partner and Focus Group 
Feedback
Equity Partnership Trustees felt 
that 
older people, and those older 
people who are from the 
LGBTQ+ community, are at risk 
of isolation and especially 
through digital exclusion.  

of digital exclusion
 LGBTQ+ older people

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the proposal
 Ensure includes provision 

for and to support older 
people’s digital inclusion 

PCS5 SEND Expansion
This is the estimate of the 
additional budget need 
above current Basic 
Needs Grant. It would be 
funded by corporate 
borrowing and be used to 
complete SEND 
expansion in mainstream 
schools and SEN schools.

Providing and expanding 
additional specialist places 
for children and young 
people with SEND alongside 
their mainstream peers, 
where appropriate, will help 
to eliminate discrimination 
and harassment by fostering 
a greater understanding of 
each other’s needs, and 
through early identification, 
assessment and intervention 
using specialists and high 
quality practitioners to 
improve outcomes for all 
children with SEND.

The Local Authority and 

N/A No direct feedback 
received from the online 
survey or in response to 
Council Social media 
posts except this feedback 
in other proposal 
responses  

In capital (2.12) expanding 
SEND places will cost an extra 
£6m over three years; what 
percentage increase is this and 
have we got a SEND crisis in 
Bradford? What are our rates of 
SEND children per head of 
population?

No equality feedback was 
received 

No suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals were received

P
age 243



Proposed capital investment plan

Ref Proposal for change As published December 2020 Consultation feedback 
about the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts
and

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals:

Equalities Impact Mitigation

strategic partners have made 
significant efforts to mitigate 
against any negative 
impacts; whilst continuing to 
use High Needs Block 
funding to intervene early 
and use this funding 
effectively to improve 
outcomes for Children and 
Young people with SEND. 

Partner and Focus Groups 
feedback

Formal response from 
Bradford, Airedale, Wharfedale 
and Craven CCG 

Fully supportive
 

PCS6 IT Processes and 
Systems – End to End 
Review (Children’s)
A planned programme of 
work to systems and 
processes. The 
improvements to the 
systems are designed to 
promote better practice 
including facilitating 
improvements in the 
quality of analysis and the 
extent to which the child’s 
lived experience is 
captured. This in turn will 
contribute to enhanced 
planning and review, 
helping us to ensure that 

The proposal will improve all 
business/core system 
processes within Children’s 
Services which will in turn 
result in an improved quality 
of practice for all children and 
young people within the 
district who require our input 
into their lives, this is 
regardless of their protected 
characteristic. 

An aim of the programme is 
to also eliminate any areas 
which may impact in terms of 
discrimination / harassment 
or victimisation.
All projects within the 

The programme is made 
up of 11 complex projects.   
All the projects are 
considering the 
requirement for a DPIA / 
EIA separately.   IT 
Services are in the process 
of ensuring that all the 
major systems used by 
Children’s Services have a 
DPIA / EIA undertaken to 
ensure that the linkages 
are made for the system.   
The EIAs will be signed off 
by the appropriate project 
sponsors.   Any mitigation 
required will be recorded 
on the appropriate action 

One respondent to the 
online survey commented 
on this proposal

The comment was for the 
Council to guard against putting 
everything online and making 
all applications via digital 
means as not everyone can 
access or use or are literate 
and this could result in 
unemployment or not being 
able to access services.

No equality feedback was 
received 

No suggested changes 
from consultees to the 
proposals were received

P
age 244



Proposed capital investment plan

Ref Proposal for change As published December 2020 Consultation feedback 
about the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts
and

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals:

Equalities Impact Mitigation

progress towards clear 
targets is monitored.

programme will undergo 
equality Impact Assessment 
and identify mitigating 
actions.  

log for each project.  

PCS7 Laptops for Children
Investment programme 
for raising attainment 
across the District. It 
includes continuing to 
invest capital funding in 
Digital Inclusion for 
Disadvantaged Children & 
Young People by 
investing in an 
infrastructure to support 
the programme.

Bradford’s disadvantaged 
children and young people 
will be empowered to actively 
participate in education 
through the use of 
technology provided to them 
as individuals. It is important 
that digital inclusion forms 
part of the raising attainment 
strategy, as access to digital 
devices and the internet is 
something that children from 
more affluent backgrounds 
enjoy. This proposal will 
ensure that no child is 
technologically 
disadvantaged.

N/A Two respondents to the 
online survey commented 
on this proposal

One questioned the provision 
of laptops if there is a lack of 
support at home to use them. 
Also felt that level of funding 
too much and that schools or 
parents should fund. The other 
questioned ‘buying stuff’ and 
suggested spending money on 
people to raise attainment and 
regenerate Bradford. 

Partner and Focus Group 
feedback

Equity Partnership Trustees 
commented that more than the 
provision of laptops and data 
was required and echoed 
comments made by the Covid 
Young Ambassadors that 
public space was needed along 

Equality feedback 

 LGBTQ+ young people
 Older people in terms of 

isolation and access to 
digital, especially those from 
the LGBTQ+ community

 Disadvantaged and 
vulnerable children

 Vulnerable children 
 Children whose families are 

asylum seekers and 
refugees

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the proposal
 Provide computers in public 

buildings and libraries for 
use by vulnerable children 

 Provide mobile devices for 
vulnerable children and 
older people who are 
digitally excluded to support 

P
age 245



Proposed capital investment plan

Ref Proposal for change As published December 2020 Consultation feedback 
about the proposal

Consultation feedback 
about equality impacts
and

Suggested changes from 
consultees to the 
proposals:

Equalities Impact Mitigation

with mobile devices that young 
people, especially from the 
LGBTQ+ community, could use 
to support their safety and 
safeguarding away from home. 
Also that children from asylum 
seeker and refugee families 
were particularly vulnerable 
without access to digital and 
mobile.

Bradford Talking Media Work 
Groups fed back that it was 
important that kids missing 
school were supported to learn 
at home and to be provided 
with the technology to be able 
to do this.

their safety
 Schools and pupils should 

use paper and go back to 
basics

 Set up a ‘not buying 
anything department’ to 
scrutinise and stop 
unnecessary spend and 
train staff to not spend 
anything.  

SUMMARY OF OTHER COMMENTS – NOT RELATING TO PROPOSALS 

Theme Comments
Children/education A respondent suggested that early help and prevention such as through teaching children life skills such as money management, healthy 

eating and cooking, jobs skills etc. would reduce issues in the future. That more SEND children would be able to access provision was seen 
as positive but the proposed mileage rate for SEND parents’ and carers’ was not considered to be enough. A further suggestion was to 

P
age 246



provide music education in schools, and especially in Primary schools.
 

Jobs and 
employment

A respondent questioned why there was more investment in Children’s provision due to COVID-19 than to adults seeking employment and 
suggesting that investing in adults to help them gain. There was also a call to invest in the District’s talented people post pandemic. The 
Council was also encouraged to work in partnership with the DWP to reduce unemployment. 

Adult Social Care Another respondent suggested that people seeking adult social care support should be means tested and that this department was receiving 
the least from these proposals. 

Planning A respondent requested that the Council doesn’t approve further takeaways. Others wanted the Council to be more joined up in its approach 
to works

Highways/Bridleways There were suggestions to better maintain the highways and paths to reduce costly remedial work required to deal with potholes, flooding etc., 
and that there is no provision for the upgrades or improvements of bridleways in the proposals. Comments made about cycle lanes were 
concerned with the need for a more coherent cycle lane policy with others suggesting that cycle lanes were not needed or used. A  suggestion 
was also made that A650 road scheme could be ‘parked for now’,  

Street cleaning A respondent commented that the “streets are becoming worse with litter”, and requested the Council provides grit boxes in Bierley and uses 
community service to clear roads and streets. A further respondent asked when the streets and gutters would be cleared of leaves as they 
were making it slippery. A detailed submission was made about places in Bradford South that needed cleaning as the respondent believed 
they were causing road traffic issues.

Council efficiencies Several comments were made about how the Council should conduct its business and how it could find the money to pay for the proposals, 
such as through cutting staff and senior management pay grades, providing more transparency about impacts of cuts already made. Several 
respondents asked the Council ‘Will you listen? Another respondent asked ‘Why are there no cost saving plans?’ Further comments were 
made that the Council should collect all the Council due. 

Museums, Libraries 
and industrial 
heritage

A respondent commented that the Council should acknowledge the needs of its own museums and libraries to support City of Culture bid and 
its own industrial heritage. A suggestion was made that library opening times post pandemic need to be normalised, 

Leisure services A respondent asked that the Council support leisure service provision in Bingley

Environment and 
flood prevention

Comments were received about a lack of environmental measures such as support for heating and alternative transport as well as energy 
generation. Another commented on ‘cut-backs to the environment department’s budget in the face of more house and flats being built. Another 
comment was made that suggested there was a lack of engagement, action and joined up working by the Council regarding flooding with the 
commenter suggesting the Council undid flood works and allowed properties to be flooded.  Two respondents asked the Council to oppose the 
expansion of LBA.

Climate Emergency Several comments were received about issues related to the Council’s action on this agenda and how this work could be improved such as: 
placing an emphasis on climate emergency, that all policies and spend should be assessed against damage to the environment, a need for a 
joined-up approach to climate emergency and health emergency along with a raft of measures to support active travel, accessibility etc., the 
need to ensure budget available to assess impacts of tree planting proposals on existing wildlife. A suggestion was made to not seek Green 
Flag status as considered not best value. Suggestions were made about switching off street lights overnight, increasing rate of improvements 
for cyclists and closing roads to motorists. Further suggestions were to create ‘Not Purchasing’ and ‘Greening’ departments. 

P
age 247



Use of Neville 
grange site

Respondent said they opposed to plans to build a 50 bed – hostel at Neville grange for ‘rough sleepers’, a further comment asks who the 
home is for? 

Provision for older 
people

Comment that the focus of the proposals is on children with nothing for ‘elderly who might ‘fall through the net’. Another comment suggests 
that to improve older people’s experience it should be compulsory for all new supermarkets/ big stores to provide a minimum of two working 
mobility scooters

Community/VCS A comment was made that there was a lack of support for the LGBTQ+ community and where support was available it was in the City centre 
and not for groups elsewhere such as Keighley. Another comment was about difficulty in accessing volunteering opportunities that volunteers 
had supported libraries and could support youth services.  A comment was made that the budget did not identify anything to support the 
voluntary and community sector. 

Abandoned 
shops/Empty 
premises

A suggestion was made that empty shops and premises could be used for community groups, do something to get the empty units in Bradford 
filled. 

Mental health A respondent asked for the Council to provide counselling for adults and children as was previously provided by schools for children but is 
ceasing.

PARTNERS AND FOCUS GROUPS - OTHER COMMENTS – NOT RELATING TO PROPOSALS 

Theme Comments
Accessible 
pavements

Bradford Talking Media Work Groups thought money should be spent making pavements accessible with dropped kerbs etc. as it was difficult for 
wheelchairs to get around. 

Procurement 
strategy 

Bradford VCS Assembly Steering Group welcomed the ‘Keep it local’ ambition in the Procurement Strategy and that social value element will be used 
to support the VCS. 

VCS Funding Bradford VCS Assembly Steering Group couldn’t see any proposals to fund the VCS. At the very least, the Council needs to commit to funding the 
VCS at the existing level.
And stated that none of the test and trace or vaccination programme funding had gone to the VCS. Asked that Flag that if funds made available (via 
government) how this will be awarded in future for the levels of engagement needed?   
Bradford VCS Assembly Steering Group feedback that mental health is an issue with suicides increasing throughout the pandemic. Some temporary 
provision, such as around bereavement loss therapy has been extended but expecting to be wound up quickly. Need investment into mental health 
and prevention and support services as all VCS seeing increase in people coming through. VCS have put own resources into supporting – but this is 
short term. Need something in the budget to support mental health. 
Covid Youth Ambassadors commented that support was needed for young people and everyone – pandemic making mental health issues worse.

Mental 
Health

Some in the Bradford Talking Media Work Groups suggested the Council should spend money on having more outdoor exercise facilities that 
everyone could use. Running tracks were suggested. People thought this was especially important at this time because gyms and leisure facilities 

P
age 248



were closed and it was having an impact on people’s mental health. 

Consulting 
Young 
People 

Bradford VCS Assembly Steering Group suggested that consultation should be more than just through the Youth Service.

Environment Bradford VCS Assembly Steering Group fed back they were pleased to see environmental (sustainability plans) in the Council Plan but feel it is 
Council centric. VCS do loads in this area and there needs to be something about partnership delivery.

Budget 
papers

Bradford Hindu Council felt that the details and information provided is very sparse and hence difficult to provide constructive feedback.

Part of the formal response from Bradford, Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven CCG
Other 
Feedback 
on the 
consultation

Observations CCG response

Public Health The impact of the costs savings in 2019 in 
relation to school nursing and health 
visiting are still reverberating across the 
system

Recurrent investment into early help and prevention for 0-5’s to address some of the gaps left by the 
cost saving programme in 2019 is essential for the population of Bradford District, particularly given 
the impact of COVID-19 which will have further deepened already deep-seated inequalities leaving our 
children who live and grow up in vulnerable and disadvantaged families without the support they need. 

Substance 
misuse

The impact of the cost savings to SMS was 
highlighted as a concern by the CCG in 
2018 and the fact that a reduction in early 
help and prevention in SMS had resulted in 
patients reverting to practices. 

The impact of COVID-19 on the social, emotional and mental health of our vulnerable and 
disadvantaged communities has been marked. The resulting dependency on substance misuse could 
be high. The CCG would welcome attention on SMS and the need for funding to address areas that 
may be under-resourced. 

P
age 249



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report of the Director of Human Resources to the 
meeting of the Council to be held on 18 February 2021

E

Subject:  

Pay Policy Statements for 2020/21 and 2021/22

Summary statement:
In accordance with the Localism Act 2011 Local Authorities are required to produce and 
publish a Pay Policy Statement for each financial year.  The Pay Policy Statement must be 
approved by full Council before publication.

Equality & Diversity:
This Pay Policy Statement is a confirmation of existing policies, documents and relevant 
terms and conditions of employment therefore there are no diversity and equality 
implications arising.  

An Equality Impact Assessment is not required as the Pay Policy Statement does not 
include proposals for new or changing policies, services or functions.  The changes which 
arise from the Restriction of Public Sector Exit Payments Regulations 2020 are regulatory 
and therefore it is not appropriate to do an EIA on those changes.

Anne Lloyd
Director of Human Resources

Portfolio:  

Corporate

Report Contact:  Tim Barker
Employee Relations Manager
Phone: (01274) 432031
E-mail: tim.barker@bradford.gov.uk 

Overview & Scrutiny Area: 

Corporate

Page 251

Agenda Item 8/

mailto:tim.barker@bradford.gov.uk


1. SUMMARY

1.1 Sections 38 – 43 of the Localism Act 2011 require the Authority to  produce a policy 
statement that covers a number of matters concerning the pay of the Authority’s 
staff, principally its Chief Officers and the Authority’s lowest paid employees.  

1.2 The Pay Policy Statements for the year 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 and for the 
year 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 have been produced taking into account the 
relevant requirements of the Localism Act 2011 and having regard to the statutory 
guidance issued by the then Department for Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) in February 2012 and the supplementary guidance issued in February 2013 
both entitled ‘Openness and accountability in local pay: Guidance under section 40 
of the Localism Act 2011’ (“the Guidance”) together with the Local Government 
Transparency Code 2015 where applicable. 

1.3 The Pay Policy Statement should be approved by a resolution of the Authority 
before it comes into force but because the 17 March 2020 full Council meeting did 
not proceed due to the pandemic, it was not possible to achieve this last year.  
Hence the Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 2020/21 is brought to this 
meeting of Council.

1.4 This report provides details of the proposed Pay Policy Statements for the financial 
years 2020/21 and 2021/22.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 requires local authorities to publish a Pay 
Policy Statement for each financial year.  

2.2 The Pay Policy Statement must:

 Be produced annually in time for the start of each financial year and be 
approved by a resolution of full Council (the power cannot be delegated). The 
2021/22 Pay Policy Statement must be prepared and approved before 31 March 
2021.  Any amendments required to the Pay Policy Statement in year must also 
be considered by full Council.  

 Be published which must include publication on the Council’s website, as a 
minimum, soon after approval or amendment.

 Set out the Authority’s policies on a range of issues particularly relating to its 
chief officers and lowest paid employees.

 Be complied with.

           The Guidance also states that:

 Full Council be offered the opportunity to vote on salary packages of £100k pa 
or more in respect of new appointments and severance packages of £100k or 
more.

Page 252



2.3 The Pay Policy Statement must set out the Authority’s policy relating to:

 The level and elements of remuneration for each Chief Officer, which includes 
salary, any charges, fees or allowances, benefits in kind, bonuses, the use of 
performance related pay, increases and additions to remuneration, 
remuneration on recruitment and the approach to the payment of Chief Officers 
ceasing to be employed by the Authority.

 The remuneration of the lowest paid employees in the workforce.

 The relationship between the remuneration of Chief Officers and other 
employees.

 The publication of and access to information relating to remuneration of Chief 
Officers.

2.4 The provisions of the Localism Act 2011 do not apply to employees of schools 
maintained by the Authority and therefore they are not within the scope of the Pay 
Policy Statement.

2.5 Chief Officers are defined in the Pay Policy Statement as the posts of Chief 
Executive, Strategic Directors, Directors, Deputy Directors, City Solicitor and 
Assistant Directors. 

2.6 The Pay Policy Statement must be approved by a resolution of the full Council 
before it comes into force.

2.7 The proposed Pay Policy Statement for 2020/21 can be found at Appendix 1. 
The proposed Statement is based on the approved 2019/20 statement (as 
amended by resolution of Council at the meeting on 14 January 2020) which had 
been updated with some minor wording clarification (not affecting the policy itself) 
and the removal of the reference to European Elections in Appendix A. 

The following should be noted and that the information contained within that poilcy 
statement was the position at March 2020:

2.7.1 The pay multiple had been recalculated and remained unchanged. From 1 April 
2019 the value of the ‘pay multiple’ between the highest paid salary and the median 
earnings figure of the whole of the Council’s workforce remained at 8.9:1

NB. The pay multiple is not based on the lowest paid employee nor the simple 
average salary but it is based on the median earnings figure ie the ‘mid-point’.

2.7.2 The national pay awards effective from 1 April 2020 had not been agreed and 
therefore all salaries quoted in the pay policy statement are based on salary levels 
at 1 April 2019. 

2.7.3 Revised salary bandings for the application of LGPS employee pension contribution 
rates from 1 April 2020 in Appendix A of the Pay Policy Statement had also not yet 
been officially approved and therefore are the rates at 1 April 2019.

Page 253



2.8 The West Yorkshire Pension Fund has seen significant growth in both the volume 
and complexity of administration required for the increased membership of around 
287,000 for 450 employers and of the investment funds under management which 
total over £13 billion. The fund manages a number of other local authority Local 
Government Pension schemes and Fire & Rescue Service Pension schemes. An 
independent report in 2018 recommended a structural review of staffing and the 
creation of new Assistant Director posts to manage the investment funds. The 
report was considered and endorsed by the Joint Advisory Group.  These new 
posts are required to ensure the pension schemes are managed effectively within 
the complex statutory framework and that investment funds are effectively managed 
to ensure the financial viability of the pension schemes which otherwise would 
result in increased employer contributions and would add significant costs to local 
authority and fire & rescue authority budgets. These posts were approved by the 
Chief Executive under delegated powers in accordance with article 14.20.3 of the 
Council’s constitution. The costs are funded from the allowable administration costs 
that are met from the fund itself and there are no costs to the Council. The new 
posts have been included in Appendix B of the Pay Policy Statement.

2.7 The proposed Pay Policy Statement for 2021/22 can be found at Appendix 2. 
The proposed Statement for 2021/22 is based on the proposed Statement for 
2020/21 at Appendix 1.

The following should be noted:

2.7.1 The pay multiple has been recalculated based on the pay awards effective from 1 
April 2020 that have now been agreed and implemented. The value of the ‘pay 
multiple’ between the highest paid salary and the median earnings figure of the 
whole of the Council’s workforce has reduced slightly to 8.8:1

NB. The pay multiple is not based on the lowest paid employee nor the simple 
average salary but it is based on the median earnings figure ie the ‘mid-point’.

2.7.2 The full Council meeting on 20 February 2020 adopted the then current level of the 
Living Wage Foundation voluntary living wage rate of £9.30 per hour with effect 
from 1 April 2020. This will benefit around 1,500 employees paid on SCP1 or 
equivalent as the NJC rate of pay for SCP1 is £9.25 from 1 April 2020.

2.7.3 Revised salary bandings for the application of LGPS employee pension contribution 
rates have been updated from 1 April 2020 in Appendix A of the Pay Policy 
Statement.

2.8 The Executive on 18 February 2020 approved the consultation process for the 
preferred option to commence on ambitious plans for the introduction of a Clean Air 
Zone (CAZ) in the Bradford District to reduce air pollution in the shortest possible 
time, which will also result in reduced greenhouse gas emissions in line with the 
Council’s Climate Emergency declaration, backed by £4m of government funding. 
In order to secure the continued resourcing through to completion of this complex 
programme involving numerous public / private stakeholders and ensure the 
Council meets this ambitious objective, a temporary post of Air Quality Programme 
Director has been established for the duration of the implementation plan. The post 
was approved by the Chief Executive under delegated powers in accordance with 

Page 254



article 14.20.3 of the Council’s constitution. The costs will be met from the 
government funding and there are no costs to the Council. The post has been 
included in Appendix B of the Pay Policy Statement.

3. FULL COUNCIL CONSIDERATION

3.1 Full Council will consider this report and the draft Pay Policy Statements at 
Appendix 1 and Appendix 2 on Tuesday 18 February 2021.

4. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 The Council may, by resolution of the full Council, amend this Pay Policy Statement 
during the course of the year to which it relates. 

4.2 The Restriction of Public Sector Exit Payments Regulations 2020 came into force 
on 4 November 2020 and apply to all parts of the public sector, with limited 
exceptions. The Regulations provide that any relevant authority must not make an 
exit payment to a person which exceeds the exit payment cap in respect of a 
relevant public sector exit. The exit payment cap is currently £95 000.  There are 
circumstances in which the cap must be relaxed eg where the obligation to make 
the payment arises as a result of the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Employment) Regulations 2006, in relation to payments made arising from certain 
employment tribunal claims.  There are also circumstances where the cap may be 
relaxed, for example in cases of undue hardship or to give effect to urgent 
workplace reform.  Details of such decisions must be published by the relevant 
authority at the end of each financial year.  It should be noted that these regulations 
currently conflict with certain pension regulations, but it is understood the MHCLG is 
currently taking forward legislation to make the correspondingly amendments to the 
pension regulations.  

4.3 Regulations are also to be introduced requiring those earning £80,000 pa or more 
who leave public sector employment and then return to work in the public sector 
within 12 months, to repay some or most of their redundancy payment, depending 
on how soon they gain new employment. When introduced this will necessitate 
changes to the Appendix to the Pay Policy Statement (the section entitled “Re-
employment of Chief Officers in receipt of a LGPS Pension or a 
redundancy/severance payment”.)
Exact details and when these provisions will be brought into force have yet to be 
announced.

5. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT & GOVERNANCE ISSUES

No significant implications have been identified.

7. LEGAL APPRAISAL

Page 255



7.1 The Authority is under a statutory duty to prepare and publish a Pay Policy 
Statement for the financial year 2021/22 and each subsequent financial year 
pursuant to the requirements set out in sections 38-43 of the Localism Act 2011.
The Pay Policy Statement should be approved by a resolution of the Authority 
before it comes into force but because the 17 March 2020 full Council meeting did 
not proceed due to the pandemic, it was not possible to achieve this last year.  
Hence the Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 2020/21 is brought to this 
meeting of Council. The Authority must have regard to the Guidance referred to in 
this report in preparing and approving the Pay Policy Statement together with the 
provisions of the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 where applicable.

7.2 The Restriction of Public Sector Exit Payments Regulations 2020 came into force 
on 4 November 2020 and apply to all parts of the public sector, with limited 
exceptions. The Regulations provide that any relevant authority must not make an 
exit payment to a person which exceeds the exit payment cap in respect of a 
relevant public sector exit. The exit payment cap is currently £95 000.  There are 
circumstances in which the cap must be relaxed eg where the obligation to make 
the payment arises as a result of the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Employment) Regulations 2006, in relation to payments made arising from certain 
employment tribunal claims.  There are also circumstances where the cap may be 
relaxed, for example in cases of undue hardship or to give effect to urgent 
workplace reform.  Details of such decisions must be published by the relevant 
authority at the end of each financial year.  It should be noted that these regulations 
currently conflict with certain pension regulations, but it is understood the MHCLG is 
currently taking forward legislation to make the corresponding amendments to the 
pension regulations.  

8. OTHER IMPLICATIONS

8.1 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

Not applicable.

8.2 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

Not applicable.

8.3 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

Not applicable.

8.4 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT

Not applicable.

8.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

No implications arising from this report.

8.6 TRADE UNION

Page 256



There is no formal requirement to consult about this Pay Policy Statement however 
it will be shared with the recognised Trade Unions for information.   

The Pay Policy Statement brings together the Authority’s existing policies which 
have been subject to consultation where required.

8.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS

Not applicable.

9. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS
 

None

10. OPTIONS

10.1 The production and publication of a Pay Policy Statement is a statutory requirement 
under the Localism Act 2011 for the financial year 2020/21 and 2021/22 ad each 
subsequent financial year.  

11. RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 2020/21 as set out at 
Appendix 1 to this report and the Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 
2021/22 as set out at Appendix 2 to this report, be approved.

12. APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Proposed Pay Policy Statement 2020/21
Appendix 2: Proposed Pay Policy Statement 2021/22

13. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

 Openness and accountability in local pay: Guidance under section 40 of the 
Localism Act 2011, February 2012. Openness & Accountability in Local Pay - 
Feb 2012   

 Openness and accountability in local pay: Guidance under section 40 of the 
Localism Act 2011 (Supplementary Guidance) February 2013. Openness and 
Accountability in Local Pay - Feb 2013    

 Local government transparency code 2015 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/4
08386/150227_PUBLICATION_Final_LGTC_2015.pdf

Page 257

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5956/2091042.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5956/2091042.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/85886/Final_Supplementary_Pay_Accountability_Guidance_20_Feb.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/85886/Final_Supplementary_Pay_Accountability_Guidance_20_Feb.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/408386/150227_PUBLICATION_Final_LGTC_2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/408386/150227_PUBLICATION_Final_LGTC_2015.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



PAY POLICY STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 

2020/2021

Page 259



Pay Policy Statement

Draft Page 2 of 10

Statement of Pay Policy for the year 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021

1. Introduction

Sections 38 – 43 of the Localism Act 2011 require the Authority to produce a policy 
statement that covers a number of matters concerning the pay of the Authority’s staff, 
principally its Chief Officers and the Authority’s lowest paid employees. This pay policy 
statement meets the requirements of the Localism Act 2011 and takes account of the 
guidance issued by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government in 
February 2012 and the supplementary guidance issued in February 2013 both entitled 
“Openness and accountability in local pay: Guidance under section 40 of the Localism Act” 
together with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 where applicable.

This pay policy statement does not apply to employees of schools maintained by the 
Authority and is not required to do so.
In accordance with the provisions of the Localism Act 2011 this pay policy statement is 
required to be approved by a resolution of the Authority before it comes into force.
Once approved by the full Council, this policy statement will come into immediate effect, 
superseding the 2019/20 pay policy statement (as amended in January 2020), and will be 
reviewed annually.

2. Definitions used in this Pay Policy Statement

All the posts below are collectively referred to as Chief Officer.

 Chief Executive, who is the Authority’s Head of the Paid Service under section 4(1) 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989.

 Statutory Chief Officers, which in this Authority are:- 
Strategic Director - Children’s Services
Strategic Director - Health & Wellbeing who is the Authority’s designated 
Director of Adult Social Services.
Director of Finance who is the Authority’s Chief Finance Officer under section 151 
Local Government Act 1972 and section 6 Local Government and Housing Act 1989
City Solicitor who is the Authority’s Monitoring Officer under section 5 Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989.
Director of Public Health

 Non-statutory Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers, which in this Authority are:-

All other Strategic Directors, Directors, Deputy Directors and Assistant Directors.

The Lowest Paid Employees are defined as employees paid on Spinal Column Point 1 of 
the National Joint Council (NJC) for Local Government Services pay scales. This definition 
has been adopted as it is the lowest level of remuneration attached to a post in this 
Authority (see section 5 below). 

Page 260



Pay Policy Statement

Draft Page 3 of 10

3. The Overall Approach to Pay and Remuneration

The Authority’s overall approach to pay and remuneration for its employees is based on:
 Ensuring that the overall remuneration aligns with:-

o The responsibilities and accountabilities of particular posts
o Market norms for the local government and public sectors
o Pay levels in the local area, including neighbouring public sector employers. 

The Authority seeks to maintain this overall approach by carefully monitoring pay data 
provided by the Joint Negotiating Committees (JNCs) for Chief Officers and Chief 
Executives of Local Authorities, Local Government Association/Employers and other pay 
surveys.

4. Policy on Remunerating Chief Officers

Policy on Remunerating the Chief Executive
The Chief Executive is employed pursuant to the terms and conditions of employment of 
the Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Executives of Local Authorities as 
amended and supplemented by local agreements, decisions and the rules of the Council.

The Authority recognises that the role of Chief Executive is to lead the Authority’s 
workforce, has the greatest level of accountability and so warrants the highest pay level in 
the Authority.

When setting the remuneration for the Chief Executive the Authority will compare the 
current salary of the post with comparable salaries for Chief Executives at councils of a 
similar size, type and location. Specialist advice will normally be sought on an appropriate 
starting salary.

The Chief Executive is employed on a defined salary (not a grade range) and this salary is 
increased in accordance with any nationally agreed pay awards as determined by the 
national Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Executives of Local Authorities.

Salary of the Chief Executive as at 1 April 2019 is £189,419 p.a. which has been increased 
in accordance with the nationally agreed pay award as determined by the national Joint 
Negotiating Committee for Chief Executives of Local Authorities.

Policy on Remunerating other Chief Officers
Chief Officers are employed pursuant to the terms and conditions of employment of the 
Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Officers as amended and supplemented by 
local agreements and decisions.
Grades for Chief Officer posts are determined through job evaluation which is a systematic 
way of determining the value of a job in relation to other jobs in the organisation and 
provides an analytical approach to evaluating the job value through allocating points to 
different factors (responsibilities and duties) of the job role, the total score of which 
equates to a grade range within the Authority’s pay and grading structure for Chief 
Officers. These grade ranges are set out below.

Page 261



Pay Policy Statement

Draft Page 4 of 10

A grade range consists of a number of incremental salary points through which employees 
may progress until the top of the grade is reached. Progression within each grade range 
will normally be by annual increment at 1 April each year until the top of the grade range is 
reached.
The grades and salary ranges as at 1 April 2019 are:
Strategic Director 1 £138,163 - £144,847 (SD1) 
Strategic Director 2 £113,652 - £124,793 (SD2) 
Director 1 £106,131 - £116,744 (Dir 1) 
Assistant Director 1 £ 96,603 - £102,287 (AD1)
Assistant Director 2 £ 85,238 - £ 96,603 (AD2)
Assistant Director 3 £ 73,874 - £ 85,238 (AD3)

All the posts referred to as ‘Chief Officer’ for the purpose of this pay policy statement and the 
respective salary ranges are attached at Appendix B.

Other Aspects of Chief Officer Remuneration
Other aspects of Chief Officer remuneration covered by this pay policy statement include 
the policies in respect of recruitment, pay increases, performance related pay, earn back 
(withholding an element of base salary related to performance), bonuses, ex gratia 
payments, honoraria (payment for increased duties and responsibilities), termination 
payments and re-employment when in receipt of a Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) pension or a redundancy/severance payment. These matters are addressed in the 
schedule that is attached to this pay policy statement at Appendix A.

Public Health
Following the transfer of responsibility for public health to local authorities on 1 April 2013, 
those employees of the NHS assigned to the area transferring, transferred to the 
employment of the Authority and remain on their current terms and conditions of 
employment including salary and membership of the NHS pension scheme.

There are a number of the Public Health Consultants who report to the Director of Public 
Health on NHS pay rates which fall within the pay ranges assigned to JNC Chief Officers 
within the Council. As such, some or all of this pay policy statement may not apply to them.

Tax Avoidance Measures
All chief officers are remunerated via monthly salary payments through PAYE. Appropriate 
tax and national insurance deductions are made in accordance with HMRC regulations 
and there are no arrangements in place for the purpose of minimising tax payments.

Where the Council is unable to recruit senior managers, or there is a need for interim 
support to provide cover for a substantive Chief Officer role, the Council will, where 
necessary, consider engaging individuals under a “contract for service”. These will be 
sourced through a relevant procurement process ensuring the Council is able to 
demonstrate the maximum value for money benefits from competition. In these cases, 
appropriate tax and national insurance deductions will be assessed and deducted as 
required in accordance with HMRC regulations. 

Page 262



Pay Policy Statement

Draft Page 5 of 10

5. Policy on Remunerating the Lowest Paid Employees in the Workforce

Pay levels for specific posts are determined through a job evaluation system. Job 
Evaluation is a systematic way of determining the value of a job in relation to other jobs in 
the organisation. The job evaluation scheme provides an analytical approach to evaluating 
the job value through allocating points to different factors (responsibilities and duties) of 
the job role, the total score of which equates to a grade within the Authority’s pay and 
grading structure. The Authority uses the National Joint Council Local Government 
Services Job Evaluation Scheme (the NJC Scheme) to evaluate all posts on Bands 1 to 8 
(this covers spinal column points 1 to 22 of the NJC pay spine.)
The pay levels are increased in accordance with any nationally agreed pay awards as 
determined by the National Joint Council (NJC) for Local Government Services.

Remuneration of Lowest Paid Employees
a. The lowest pay point in this Authority as at 1 April 2019 is spinal column point 1 

which relates to an annual full time salary of £17,364 p.a. and can be expressed as 
an hourly rate of pay of £9.00. This pay point and salary is the lowest pay point 
routinely used by the Authority for its substantive roles determined by the Authority 
as part of its pay and grading structure for employees employed on Local 
Government Services Terms and Conditions. This is the definition of the “lowest 
paid employees” adopted by the Authority for the purposes of this Pay Policy 
Statement and is only increased in accordance with any nationally agreed pay 
awards as determined by the NJC for Local Government Services. 

b. There is no bonus pay.
c. Additional allowances or other payments are made in connection with an 

employee’s pattern of hours e.g. shift work, but these are only paid in accordance 
with the terms and conditions of employment that have been negotiated and agreed 
through appropriate collective bargaining mechanisms (national or local) or as a 
consequence of Authority decisions.

d. There are no benefits in kind.
e. Redundancy payments are paid in accordance with the Authority’s Discretionary 

Compensation Policy. Discretionary Compensation Policy.doc
f. Based on the application of the job evaluation process, the Council uses the 

nationally negotiated, National Joint Council (NJC) pay spine as the basis for its 
local grading structure for all posts graded up to and including Band 8 (this covers 
spinal column points 1 to 22 of the NJC pay spine.)

6. Policy on the Relationship between Chief Officer Remuneration and that of 
Other Staff

This section sets out the Authority’s overall approach to ensuring pay levels are fairly and 
appropriately dispersed across the organisation, including the current pay multiple which 
applies within the Authority.

The Authority believes that the principle of fair pay is important to the provision of high 
quality and well-managed services and is committed to ensuring fairness and equity in its 
remuneration practices. The Authority’s pay policies, processes and procedures are 
designed to ensure that pay levels are appropriately aligned with, and properly reflect, the 
relative demands and responsibilities of each post and the knowledge, skills and 
capabilities necessary to ensure that the post’s duties are undertaken to the required 

Page 263

https://www.bradford.gov.uk/media/1111/discretionarycompensationpolicy.pdf


Pay Policy Statement

Draft Page 6 of 10

standard, as well as taking account of relevant market considerations, if necessary. This 
includes ensuring that there is an appropriate relationship between the pay levels of its 
senior managers and of all other employees.

The Local Government Transparency Code 2015 requires the Authority to publish its ‘pay 
multiple’, i.e. the ratio between the highest paid salary and the median average salary of 
the whole of the Authority’s workforce. Guidance issued under the Localism Act 2011 
recommends that the ‘pay multiple’ is included in the Authority’s pay policy statement.

From 1 April 2019 the highest paid salary in this Authority is £189,419 p.a. which is paid to 
the Chief Executive. The median average salary in this Authority (not including employees 
in schools maintained by the Authority) is £21,166 p.a. The ratio between the two salaries, 
the ‘pay multiple’ is 8.9:1. This Authority does not have a policy on maintaining or reaching 
a specific ‘pay multiple’, however the Authority is conscious of the need to ensure that the 
salary of the highest paid employee is not excessive and is consistent with the needs of 
the Authority as expressed in this pay policy statement.

7. Approval of New Posts with a Salary Package of £100,000 p.a. or more

All the posts referred to as ‘Chief Officer’ for the purpose of this pay policy statement and the 
respective salary ranges are attached at Appendix B.
 
The Authority will ensure that full Council must approve any salary package of £100,000 p.a. 
or more before it is offered in respect of a new post not listed in Appendix B or if it is 
proposed to pay more than the top of the salary range for an existing post in Appendix B 
(excluding pay awards) unless paragraph 9 of this pay policy statement applies. This does 
not apply to offers of appointment made to employees employed in schools maintained by 
the Authority. The salary package will be defined as base salary, routinely payable 
allowances and any benefits in kind that are due under the contract. 

8. Severance Payments for Chief Officers
If the Council is considering making a severance payment to a Chief Officer the decision 
as to whether such a payment should be made will be taken by Staffing Committee or a 
sub-committee of Staffing Committee both of which are sub-committees of full Council 
provided that if the proposed severance payment is £100,000 or more, (excluding accrued 
pension rights) then the decision as to whether the payment should be made will be taken 
by full Council.

9. Flexibility to Address Recruitment Issues for Vacant Posts
In the vast majority of circumstances the provisions of this pay policy statement will enable 
the Authority to ensure that it can recruit effectively to any vacant post. There may be 
exceptional circumstances when there are recruitment difficulties for a particular post and 
where there is evidence that an element of the overall remuneration is not sufficient to 
secure an effective appointment. This pay policy statement recognises that this situation 
may arise in exceptional circumstances and therefore a departure from this policy can be 
implemented without having to seek full Council approval for a change of the pay policy 
statement. Such a departure from this pay policy statement will be expressly justified in 
each case and will be approved through an appropriate Authority decision making process.

Page 264



Pay Policy Statement

Draft Page 7 of 10

10. Amendments to the Policy

If a major change to this pay policy statement is considered to be appropriate during the 
year, then a revised draft pay policy statement will be presented to full Council for 
consideration.

11. Policy for Future Years
This pay policy statement will be reviewed each year and will be presented to full Council 
each year for consideration in order to ensure that a policy is in place for the Authority prior 
to the start of each financial year.

12. Publication
The Authority will publish this pay policy statement on its website (www.bradford.gov.uk) 
as soon as is reasonably practicable after it has been approved by Council. Any 
subsequent amendments to this pay policy statement made during the financial year to 
which it relates will also be similarly published. The Authority currently publishes 
information on Chief Officer Remuneration in its Annual Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with the requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and the 
Local Government Transparency Code 2015 Statement of Accounts | Bradford Council

Page 265

https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/statement-of-accounts/


Draft Page 8 of 10

Pay Policy Statement

Appendix A  
Other Aspects of Chief Officer Remuneration

Aspect of Chief Officer 
Remuneration

Authority Policy

Recruitment The post will be advertised and appointed to at the appropriate approved 
salary grade and salary range for the post in question (as set out in Section
4 and Appendix B) unless there is good evidence that a successful 
appointment of a person with the required skills, knowledge, experience, 
abilities and qualities cannot be made without varying the overall 
remuneration. In such circumstances a variation to the remuneration 
package may be appropriate under the Authority’s pay policy statement 
and any variation will be approved through the appropriate decision making 
process. The Authority has a relocation scheme that provides assistance to 
all new employees including Chief Officers meeting the relocation criteria 
up to a maximum of £5,750.

Pay Increases The Authority will apply any pay increases that are determined by relevant 
national negotiating bodies.

Performance Related Pay The terms of the contract of employment do not provide for performance 
related pay.

Earn-Back
(Withholding an element of 
base salary related to 
performance)

The terms of the contract of employment do not provide for an element of 
base salary to be withheld related to performance. Any areas of 
underperformance are addressed in accordance with relevant Authority 
procedure.

Bonuses The terms of the contract of employment do not provide for the payment of 
bonuses.

Ex-Gratia Payments The Authority does not make ex gratia payments.

Honoraria Honoraria payments are additional payments paid to employees for 
increased duties and responsibilities. Honoraria will only be considered 
where employees take on additional duties and responsibilities beyond the 
remit of their substantive role and would be subject to approval through the 
appropriate decision making process.

Expenses The Authority pays reasonable out-of-pocket expenses actually incurred.

Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS)

The Authority provides access to the Local Government Pension Scheme 
for Chief Officers in accordance with the statutory provisions of the 
scheme.

The employer’s contribution rate for all Authority employees who are 
members of the LGPS is currently 17.5% (from 1 April 2019) of salary and 
is set by actuarial valuation of the West Yorkshire Pension Fund every 3 
years. How much employees pay themselves in pension scheme 
contributions depends on how much they earn. The employee contribution 
rates from 1 April 2019 are:

Employees earning up to £14,400 contribute 5.5%
Employees earning between £14,401 and £22,500 contribute 5.8% 
Employees earning between £22,501 and £36,500 contribute 6.5% 
Employees earning between £36,501 and £46,200 contribute 6.8% 
Employees earning between £46,201 and £64,600 contribute 8.5% 
Employees earning between £64,601 and £91,500 contribute 9.9% 
Employees earning between £91,501 and £107,700 contribute 10.5%. 
Employees earning between £107,701 and £161,500 contribute 11.4%. 
Employees earning more than £161,501 contribute 12.5%.

Page 266



Draft Page 9 of 10

Pay Policy Statement

Aspect of Chief Officer 
Remuneration

Authority Policy

Termination Payments and 
payment of pension benefits 
on termination

There are no separate provisions for termination payments for Chief 
Officers. Redundancy payments will be paid in accordance with the 
Authority’s  Discretionary Compensation Policy.doc

The Authority has agreed written policies on how it will apply any 
discretionary powers it has under the LGPS regulations. The Authority’s 
policies are provided at LGPS Pension Discretion Policy Statements.  
There are no separate policies for Chief Officers.

Other than payments referred to above the Authority’s policy is not to make 
any other termination payments, other than where it has received specific 
legal advice to the effect that a payment may be necessary in appropriate 
cases to eliminate risk of successful legal claims or to settle legal 
proceedings against the Authority.

Election Fees The Chief Executive receives fee payments pursuant to his/her 
appointment as Returning Officer at national elections. The fees paid in 
respect of national elections vary according to the size of the electorate 
and number of postal voters and are calculated in accordance with an 
allowance set by central government. Fee payments for national elections 
are, in effect, not paid by the Authority as the fees are reclaimed.

The Chief Executive does not receive any additional payment for the role 
of Returning Officer for local government elections.

Separate payments set by the Authority are made to the City Solicitor as 
Deputy Returning Officer, in accordance with the same principles for the 
Returning Officer as described above.

The amounts paid are published on the Authority’s website in the Annual 
Statement of Accounts in accordance with the requirements of The 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. Statement of Accounts | Bradford 
Council

Re-employment of Chief 
Officers in receipt of a LGPS 
Pension or a redundancy/ 
severance payment

The Authority is under a statutory duty to appoint on merit (section 7 Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989) and has to ensure that it complies with 
all appropriate employment and equalities legislation. The Authority will 
always seek to appoint the best available candidate who has the skills, 
knowledge, experience, abilities and qualities needed for the post. The 
Authority will therefore consider all applications from candidates to try to 
ensure the best available candidate is appointed. If a candidate is a former 
employee in receipt of a LGPS pension or a redundancy payment this will 
not rule a candidate out from being re-employed by the Authority. If a 
former employee leaves the Authority by reason of redundancy the 
individual cannot be reappointed to their old post as it will not exist. The 
Authority will apply the provisions of the Redundancy Payments (Continuity 
of Employment in Local Government, etc.) (Modification) Order 1999 
regarding the recovery of redundancy payments where appropriate. 
Pension Regulations also contain provisions to reduce pension payments 
in certain circumstances to those in receipt of a pension who return to work 
within the local government service.

Car allowance payment Chief Officers will be paid Car Allowances in accordance with HMRC rates.

Provision of Mobile 
Telephones/Communication 
device/ICT equipment

Where appropriate these will be provided for business use and any work 
related costs will be met by the Authority.

Professional subscriptions A professional subscription is only paid if membership is required by 
statute.

Page 267

https://www.bradford.gov.uk/media/1111/discretionarycompensationpolicy.pdf
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/media/1113/lgpspensiondiscretionpolicystatements.pdf
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/statement-of-accounts/
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/statement-of-accounts/


Draft Page 10 of 10

Pay Policy Statement
Appendix B

SENIOR MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE AT 1/4/20 (SALARY RANGES AS AT 1/4/19)

JOB TITLE GRADE SALARY RANGE

Chief Executive CEX £189,419

SD Corporate Resources SD1 £138,163 - £144,847

SD Children’s Services SD1 £138,163 - £144,847

SD Health & Wellbeing SD1 £138,163 - £144,847

SD Place SD1 £138,163 - £144,847

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S OFFICE
Director of West Yorkshire Pension Fund Director 1 £106,131 - £116,744

Deputy Director of Investments AD2 £85,238 - £96,603

Assistant Director of Investments (UK, 
Overseas, Alternatives) (3)

AD3 £73,874 - £85,238

Assistant Director Finance, Admin and 
Governance

AD3 £73,874 - £85,238

AD Office of the Chief Executive AD2 £85,238 - £96,603

CORPORATE RESOURCES
City Solicitor AD1 £96,603 - £102,287

Director of Finance AD1 £96,603 - £102,287

Director of Human Resources AD1 £96,603 - £102,287

AD Revenue & Benefits AD3 £73,874 - £85,238

AD Information Services AD3 £73,874 - £85,238

AD Estates & Property AD2 £85,238 - £96,603

CHILDREN’S SERVICES
Deputy Director Children’s Social Care AD1 £96,603 - £102,287

Deputy Director Education & Learning AD1 £96,603 - £102,287

AD Performance, Commissioning & 
Partnerships 

AD2 £85,238 - £96,603

HEALTH & WELLBEING
AD Operational Services AD2 £85,238 - £96,603

AD Commissioning & Integration AD2 £85,238 - £96,603

Director of Public Health AD1 £96,603 - £102,287

PLACE
AD Waste, Fleet & Transport Services AD2 £85,238 - £96,603

AD Sport & Culture AD2 £85,238 - £96,603

AD Neighbourhoods & Customer Services AD2 £85,238 - £96,603

AD Economy & Development Services AD2 £85,238 - £96,603

AD Planning, Transportation & Highways AD2 £85,238 - £96,603

Page 268



PAY POLICY STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 

2021/2022

Page 269



Pay Policy Statement

Draft Page 2 of 10

Statement of Pay Policy for the year 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022

1. Introduction

Sections 38 – 43 of the Localism Act 2011 require the Authority to produce a policy 
statement that covers a number of matters concerning the pay of the Authority’s staff, 
principally its Chief Officers and the Authority’s lowest paid employees. This pay policy 
statement meets the requirements of the Localism Act 2011 and takes account of the 
guidance issued by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government in 
February 2012 and the supplementary guidance issued in February 2013 both entitled 
“Openness and accountability in local pay: Guidance under section 40 of the Localism Act” 
together with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 where applicable.

This pay policy statement does not apply to employees of schools maintained by the 
Authority and is not required to do so.
In accordance with the provisions of the Localism Act 2011 this pay policy statement is 
required to be approved by a resolution of the Authority before it comes into force.
Once approved by the full Council, this policy statement will come into immediate effect, 
superseding the 2020/21 pay policy statement (as amended in January 2020), and will be 
reviewed annually.

2. Definitions used in this Pay Policy Statement

All the posts below are collectively referred to as Chief Officer.

 Chief Executive, who is the Authority’s Head of the Paid Service under section 4(1) 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989.

 Statutory Chief Officers, which in this Authority are:- 
Strategic Director - Children’s Services
Strategic Director - Health & Wellbeing who is the Authority’s designated 
Director of Adult Social Services.
Director of Finance who is the Authority’s Chief Finance Officer under section 151 
Local Government Act 1972 and section 6 Local Government and Housing Act 1989
City Solicitor who is the Authority’s Monitoring Officer under section 5 Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989.
Director of Public Health

 Non-statutory Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers, which in this Authority are:-

All other Strategic Directors, Directors, Deputy Directors and Assistant Directors.

The Lowest Paid Employees are defined as employees paid on Spinal Column Point 1 of 
the National Joint Council (NJC) for Local Government Services pay scales. This definition 
has been adopted as it is the lowest level of remuneration attached to a post in this 
Authority (see section 5 below). 

Page 270



Pay Policy Statement

Draft Page 3 of 10

3. The Overall Approach to Pay and Remuneration

The Authority’s overall approach to pay and remuneration for its employees is based on:
 Ensuring that the overall remuneration aligns with:-

o The responsibilities and accountabilities of particular posts
o Market norms for the local government and public sectors
o Pay levels in the local area, including neighbouring public sector employers. 

The Authority seeks to maintain this overall approach by carefully monitoring pay data 
provided by the Joint Negotiating Committees (JNCs) for Chief Officers and Chief 
Executives of Local Authorities, Local Government Association/Employers and other pay 
surveys.

4. Policy on Remunerating Chief Officers

Policy on Remunerating the Chief Executive
The Chief Executive is employed pursuant to the terms and conditions of employment of 
the Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Executives of Local Authorities as 
amended and supplemented by local agreements, decisions and the rules of the Council.

The Authority recognises that the role of Chief Executive is to lead the Authority’s 
workforce, has the greatest level of accountability and so warrants the highest pay level in 
the Authority.

When setting the remuneration for the Chief Executive the Authority will compare the 
current salary of the post with comparable salaries for Chief Executives at councils of a 
similar size, type and location. Specialist advice will normally be sought on an appropriate 
starting salary.

The Chief Executive is employed on a defined salary (not a grade range) and this salary is 
increased in accordance with any nationally agreed pay awards as determined by the 
national Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Executives of Local Authorities.

Salary of the Chief Executive as at 1 April 2020 is £194,628 p.a. which has been increased 
in accordance with the nationally agreed pay award as determined by the national Joint 
Negotiating Committee for Chief Executives of Local Authorities.

Policy on Remunerating other Chief Officers
Chief Officers are employed pursuant to the terms and conditions of employment of the 
Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Officers as amended and supplemented by 
local agreements and decisions.
Grades for Chief Officer posts are determined through job evaluation which is a systematic 
way of determining the value of a job in relation to other jobs in the organisation and 
provides an analytical approach to evaluating the job value through allocating points to 
different factors (responsibilities and duties) of the job role, the total score of which 
equates to a grade range within the Authority’s pay and grading structure for Chief 
Officers. These grade ranges are set out below.

Page 271



Pay Policy Statement

Draft Page 4 of 10

A grade range consists of a number of incremental salary points through which employees 
may progress until the top of the grade is reached. Progression within each grade range 
will normally be by annual increment at 1 April each year until the top of the grade range is 
reached.
The grades and salary ranges as at 1 April 2020 are:
Strategic Director 1 £141,962 - £148,830 (SD1) 
Strategic Director 2 £116,777 - £128,225 (SD2) 
Director 1 £109,050 - £119,954 (Dir 1) 
Assistant Director 1 £ 99,260 - £105,100 (AD1)
Assistant Director 2 £ 87,582 - £ 99,260 (AD2)
Assistant Director 3 £ 75,906 - £ 87,582 (AD3)

All the posts referred to as ‘Chief Officer’ for the purpose of this pay policy statement and the 
respective salary ranges are attached at Appendix B.

Other Aspects of Chief Officer Remuneration
Other aspects of Chief Officer remuneration covered by this pay policy statement include 
the policies in respect of recruitment, pay increases, performance related pay, earn back 
(withholding an element of base salary related to performance), bonuses, ex gratia 
payments, honoraria (payment for increased duties and responsibilities), termination 
payments and re-employment when in receipt of a Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) pension or a redundancy/severance payment. These matters are addressed in the 
schedule that is attached to this pay policy statement at Appendix A.

Public Health
Following the transfer of responsibility for public health to local authorities on 1 April 2013, 
those employees of the NHS assigned to the area transferring, transferred to the 
employment of the Authority and remain on their current terms and conditions of 
employment including salary and membership of the NHS pension scheme.

There are a number of the Public Health Consultants who report to the Director of Public 
Health on NHS pay rates which fall within the pay ranges assigned to JNC Chief Officers 
within the Council. As such, some or all of this pay policy statement may not apply to them.

Tax Avoidance Measures
All chief officers are remunerated via monthly salary payments through PAYE. Appropriate 
tax and national insurance deductions are made in accordance with HMRC regulations 
and there are no arrangements in place for the purpose of minimising tax payments.

Where the Council is unable to recruit senior managers, or there is a need for interim 
support to provide cover for a substantive Chief Officer role, the Council will, where 
necessary, consider engaging individuals under a “contract for service”. These will be 
sourced through a relevant procurement process ensuring the Council is able to 
demonstrate the maximum value for money benefits from competition. In these cases, 
appropriate tax and national insurance deductions will be assessed and deducted as 
required in accordance with HMRC regulations. 

Page 272



Pay Policy Statement

Draft Page 5 of 10

5. Policy on Remunerating the Lowest Paid Employees in the Workforce

Pay levels for specific posts are determined through a job evaluation system. Job 
Evaluation is a systematic way of determining the value of a job in relation to other jobs in 
the organisation. The job evaluation scheme provides an analytical approach to evaluating 
the job value through allocating points to different factors (responsibilities and duties) of 
the job role, the total score of which equates to a grade within the Authority’s pay and 
grading structure. The Authority uses the National Joint Council Local Government 
Services Job Evaluation Scheme (the NJC Scheme) to evaluate all posts on Bands 1 to 8 
(this covers spinal column points 1 to 22 of the NJC pay spine.)
The pay levels are increased in accordance with any nationally agreed pay awards as 
determined by the National Joint Council (NJC) for Local Government Services.

Remuneration of Lowest Paid Employees
a. The lowest pay point in this Authority as at 1 April 2020 is spinal column point 1 

which relates to an annual full time salary of £17,842 p.a. and can be expressed as 
an hourly rate of pay of £9.25. This pay point and salary is the lowest pay point 
routinely used by the Authority for its substantive roles determined by the Authority 
as part of its pay and grading structure for employees employed on Local 
Government Services Terms and Conditions. This is the definition of the “lowest paid 
employees” adopted by the Authority for the purposes of this Pay Policy Statement 
and is only increased in accordance with any nationally agreed pay awards as 
determined by the NJC for Local Government Services. The full Council meeting on 
20th February 2020 adopted the then current level of the Living Wage Foundation 
voluntary living wage rate of £9.30 per hour with effect from 1st April 2020. This will 
impact on any employee paid on SCP1 or equivalent as the NJC rate of pay for 
SCP1 is £9.25 from 1st April 2020. 

b. There is no bonus pay.
c. Additional allowances or other payments are made in connection with an employee’s 

pattern of hours e.g. shift work, but these are only paid in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of employment that have been negotiated and agreed through 
appropriate collective bargaining mechanisms (national or local) or as a 
consequence of Authority decisions.

d. There are no benefits in kind.
e. Redundancy payments are paid in accordance with the Authority’s Discretionary 

Compensation Policy. Discretionary Compensation Policy.doc
f. Based on the application of the job evaluation process, the Council uses the 

nationally negotiated, National Joint Council (NJC) pay spine as the basis for its local 
grading structure for all posts graded up to and including Band 8 (this covers spinal 
column points 1 to 22 of the NJC pay spine.)

6. Policy on the Relationship between Chief Officer Remuneration and that of 
Other Staff

This section sets out the Authority’s overall approach to ensuring pay levels are fairly and 
appropriately dispersed across the organisation, including the current pay multiple which 
applies within the Authority.

The Authority believes that the principle of fair pay is important to the provision of high 
quality and well-managed services and is committed to ensuring fairness and equity in its 

Page 273

https://www.bradford.gov.uk/media/1111/discretionarycompensationpolicy.pdf


Pay Policy Statement

Draft Page 6 of 10

remuneration practices. The Authority’s pay policies, processes and procedures are 
designed to ensure that pay levels are appropriately aligned with, and properly reflect, the 
relative demands and responsibilities of each post and the knowledge, skills and 
capabilities necessary to ensure that the post’s duties are undertaken to the required 
standard, as well as taking account of relevant market considerations, if necessary. This 
includes ensuring that there is an appropriate relationship between the pay levels of its 
senior managers and of all other employees.

The Local Government Transparency Code 2015 requires the Authority to publish its ‘pay 
multiple’, i.e. the ratio between the highest paid salary and the median average salary of 
the whole of the Authority’s workforce. Guidance issued under the Localism Act 2011 
recommends that the ‘pay multiple’ is included in the Authority’s pay policy statement.

From 1 April 2020 the highest paid salary in this Authority is £194,628 p.a. which is paid to 
the Chief Executive. The median average salary in this Authority (not including employees 
in schools maintained by the Authority) is £22,102 p.a. The ratio between the two salaries, 
the ‘pay multiple’ is 8.8:1. This Authority does not have a policy on maintaining or reaching 
a specific ‘pay multiple’, however the Authority is conscious of the need to ensure that the 
salary of the highest paid employee is not excessive and is consistent with the needs of 
the Authority as expressed in this pay policy statement.

7. Approval of New Posts with a Salary Package of £100,000 p.a. or more

All the posts referred to as ‘Chief Officer’ for the purpose of this pay policy statement and the 
respective salary ranges are attached at Appendix B.
 
The Authority will ensure that full Council must approve any salary package of £100,000 p.a. 
or more before it is offered in respect of a new post not listed in Appendix B or if it is 
proposed to pay more than the top of the salary range for an existing post in Appendix B 
(excluding pay awards) unless paragraph 9 of this pay policy statement applies. This does 
not apply to offers of appointment made to employees employed in schools maintained by 
the Authority. The salary package will be defined as base salary, routinely payable 
allowances and any benefits in kind that are due under the contract. 

8. Severance Payments for Chief Officers
If the Council is considering making a severance payment to a Chief Officer the decision 
as to whether such a payment should be made will be taken by Staffing Committee or a 
sub-committee of Staffing Committee both of which are sub-committees of full Council 
provided that if the proposed severance payment is £100,000 or more, (excluding accrued 
pension rights) then the decision as to whether the payment should be made will be taken 
by full Council.

9. Flexibility to Address Recruitment Issues for Vacant Posts
In the vast majority of circumstances the provisions of this pay policy statement will enable 
the Authority to ensure that it can recruit effectively to any vacant post. There may be 
exceptional circumstances when there are recruitment difficulties for a particular post and 
where there is evidence that an element of the overall remuneration is not sufficient to 
secure an effective appointment. This pay policy statement recognises that this situation 
may arise in exceptional circumstances and therefore a departure from this policy can be 
implemented without having to seek full Council approval for a change of the pay policy 
statement. Such a departure from this pay policy statement will be expressly justified in 
each case and will be approved through an appropriate Authority decision making process.

Page 274



Pay Policy Statement

Draft Page 7 of 10

10. Amendments to the Policy

If a major change to this pay policy statement is considered to be appropriate during the 
year, then a revised draft pay policy statement will be presented to full Council for 
consideration.

11. Policy for Future Years
This pay policy statement will be reviewed each year and will be presented to full Council 
each year for consideration in order to ensure that a policy is in place for the Authority prior 
to the start of each financial year.

12. Publication
The Authority will publish this pay policy statement on its website (www.bradford.gov.uk) 
as soon as is reasonably practicable after it has been approved by Council. Any 
subsequent amendments to this pay policy statement made during the financial year to 
which it relates will also be similarly published. The Authority currently publishes 
information on Chief Officer Remuneration in its Annual Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with the requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and the 
Local Government Transparency Code 2015 Statement of Accounts | Bradford Council

Page 275

https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/statement-of-accounts/


Draft Page 8 of 10

Pay Policy Statement

Appendix A  
Other Aspects of Chief Officer Remuneration

Aspect of Chief Officer 
Remuneration

Authority Policy

Recruitment The post will be advertised and appointed to at the appropriate approved 
salary grade and salary range for the post in question (as set out in Section
4 and Appendix B) unless there is good evidence that a successful 
appointment of a person with the required skills, knowledge, experience, 
abilities and qualities cannot be made without varying the overall 
remuneration. In such circumstances a variation to the remuneration 
package may be appropriate under the Authority’s pay policy statement 
and any variation will be approved through the appropriate decision making 
process. The Authority has a relocation scheme that provides assistance to 
all new employees including Chief Officers meeting the relocation criteria 
up to a maximum of £5,750.

Pay Increases The Authority will apply any pay increases that are determined by relevant 
national negotiating bodies.

Performance Related Pay The terms of the contract of employment do not provide for performance 
related pay.

Earn-Back
(Withholding an element of 
base salary related to 
performance)

The terms of the contract of employment do not provide for an element of 
base salary to be withheld related to performance. Any areas of 
underperformance are addressed in accordance with relevant Authority 
procedure.

Bonuses The terms of the contract of employment do not provide for the payment of 
bonuses.

Ex-Gratia Payments The Authority does not make ex gratia payments.

Honoraria Honoraria payments are additional payments paid to employees for 
increased duties and responsibilities. Honoraria will only be considered 
where employees take on additional duties and responsibilities beyond the 
remit of their substantive role and would be subject to approval through the 
appropriate decision making process.

Expenses The Authority pays reasonable out-of-pocket expenses actually incurred.

Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS)

The Authority provides access to the Local Government Pension Scheme 
for Chief Officers in accordance with the statutory provisions of the 
scheme.

The employer’s contribution rate for all Authority employees who are 
members of the LGPS is currently 17.1% (at 1 April 2020) of salary and is 
set by actuarial valuation of the West Yorkshire Pension Fund every 3 
years. How much employees pay themselves in pension scheme 
contributions depends on how much they earn. The employee contribution 
rates from 1 April 2020 are:

Employees earning up to £14,600 contribute 5.5%
Employees earning between £14,601 and £22,800 contribute 5.8% 
Employees earning between £22,801 and £37,100 contribute 6.5% 
Employees earning between £37,101 and £46,900 contribute 6.8% 
Employees earning between £46,901 and £65,600 contribute 8.5% 
Employees earning between £65,601 and £93,000 contribute 9.9% 
Employees earning between £93,001 and £109,500 contribute 10.5%. 
Employees earning between £109,501 and £164,200 contribute 11.4%. 
Employees earning more than £164,201 contribute 12.5%.

Page 276



Draft Page 9 of 10

Pay Policy Statement

Aspect of Chief Officer 
Remuneration

Authority Policy

Termination Payments and 
payment of pension benefits 
on termination

There are no separate provisions for termination payments for Chief 
Officers. Redundancy payments will be paid in accordance with the 
Authority’s  Discretionary Compensation Policy.doc
The Authority has agreed written policies on how it will apply any 
discretionary powers it has under the LGPS regulations. The Authority’s 
policies are provided at LGPS Pension Discretion Policy Statements.  
The Restriction of Public Sector Exit Payments Regulations 2020  now 
apply to prohibit local authorities and other public bodies from making an 
exit payment which exceeds the exit payment cap, currently £95 000.
Other than payments referred to above the Authority’s policy is not to make 
any other termination payments, other than where it has received specific 
legal advice to the effect that a payment may be necessary in appropriate 
cases to eliminate risk of successful legal claims or to settle legal 
proceedings against the Authority.

Election Fees The Chief Executive receives fee payments pursuant to his/her 
appointment as Returning Officer at national elections. The fees paid in 
respect of national elections vary according to the size of the electorate 
and number of postal voters and are calculated in accordance with an 
allowance set by central government. Fee payments for national elections 
are, in effect, not paid by the Authority as the fees are reclaimed.

The Chief Executive does not receive any additional payment for the role 
of Returning Officer for local government elections.

Separate payments set by the Authority are made to the City Solicitor as 
Deputy Returning Officer, in accordance with the same principles for the 
Returning Officer as described above.

The amounts paid are published on the Authority’s website in the Annual 
Statement of Accounts in accordance with the requirements of The 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. Statement of Accounts | Bradford 
Council

Re-employment of Chief 
Officers in receipt of a LGPS 
Pension or a redundancy/ 
severance payment

The Authority is under a statutory duty to appoint on merit (section 7 Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989) and has to ensure that it complies with 
all appropriate employment and equalities legislation. The Authority will 
always seek to appoint the best available candidate who has the skills, 
knowledge, experience, abilities and qualities needed for the post. The 
Authority will therefore consider all applications from candidates to try to 
ensure the best available candidate is appointed. If a candidate is a former 
employee in receipt of a LGPS pension or a redundancy payment this will 
not rule a candidate out from being re-employed by the Authority. If a 
former employee leaves the Authority by reason of redundancy the 
individual cannot be reappointed to their old post as it will not exist. The 
Authority will apply the provisions of the Redundancy Payments (Continuity 
of Employment in Local Government, etc.) (Modification) Order 1999 
regarding the recovery of redundancy payments where appropriate. 
Pension Regulations also contain provisions to reduce pension payments 
in certain circumstances to those in receipt of a pension who return to work 
within the local government service.

Car allowance payment Chief Officers will be paid Car Allowances in accordance with HMRC rates.

Provision of Mobile 
Telephones/Communication 
device/ICT equipment

Where appropriate these will be provided for business use and any work 
related costs will be met by the Authority.

Professional subscriptions A professional subscription is only paid if membership is required by 
statute.

Page 277

https://www.bradford.gov.uk/media/1111/discretionarycompensationpolicy.pdf
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/media/1113/lgpspensiondiscretionpolicystatements.pdf
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/statement-of-accounts/
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/statement-of-accounts/


Draft Page 10 of 10

Pay Policy Statement
Appendix B

SENIOR MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE AND SALARY RANGES AT 1/4/20

JOB TITLE GRADE SALARY RANGE
Chief Executive CEX £194,628
SD Corporate Resources SD1 £141,962 - £148,830
SD Children’s Services SD1 £141,962 - £148,830
SD Health & Wellbeing SD1 £141,962 - £148,830
SD Place SD1 £141,962 - £148,830

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S OFFICE
Director of West Yorkshire Pension Fund Director 1 £109,050 - £119,954
Deputy Director of Investments AD2 £87,582 - £99,260
Assistant Director of Investments (UK, Overseas, 
Alternatives) (3)

AD3 £75,906 - £87,582

Assistant Director Finance, Admin and Governance AD3 £75,906 - £87,582
AD Office of the Chief Executive AD2 £87,582 - £99,260

CORPORATE RESOURCES
City Solicitor AD1 £99,260 - £105,100
Director of Finance AD1 £99,260 - £105,100
Director of Human Resources AD1 £99,260 - £105,100
AD Revenue & Benefits AD3 £75,906 - £87,582
AD Information Services AD3 £75,906 - £87,582
AD Estates & Property AD2 £87,582 - £99,260

CHILDREN’S SERVICES
Deputy Director Children’s Social Care AD1 £99,260 - £105,100
Deputy Director Education & Learning AD1 £99,260 - £105,100
AD Performance, Commissioning & Partnerships AD2 £87,582 - £99,260

HEALTH & WELLBEING
AD Operational Services AD2 £87,582 - £99,260
AD Commissioning & Integration AD2 £87,582 - £99,260
Director of Public Health AD1 £99,260 - £105,100
Air Quality Programme Director (Temporary) AD3 £75,906 - £87,582

PLACE
AD Waste, Fleet & Transport Services AD2 £87,582 - £99,260
AD Sport & Culture AD2 £87,582 - £99,260
AD Neighbourhoods & Customer Services AD2 £87,582 - £99,260
AD Economy & Development Services AD2 £87,582 - £99,260
AD Planning, Transportation & Highways AD2 £87,582 - £99,260

Page 278


	Agenda
	1 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST
	ccl18FebDocDappdx1
	ccl18FebDocDappdx2

	71 RECOMMENDATION FROM THE EXECUTIVE - BUDGET 2021/22
	Exec18Feb - Budget Recommendation to Council
	ccl18FebDocF-Updated Revenue Estimates 2021-22
	Exec16FebDocDG
	Exec16FebDocDH
	Exec16FebDocDH Appendix 1
	Exec16FebDocDH Appendix 2
	Exec16FebDocDH Appendix 3
	Exec16FebDocDI
	Exec16FebDocDI - Addendum to s151 report
	Exec2FebDocDE

	8 PAY POLICY STATEMENTS 2020/21 AND 2021/22
	ccl18FebDocEappdx1
	ccl18FebDocEappdx2


